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- (121,294) (289) (121,583)
(38,268) (631,428) - (669,696)
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BBB 60,043 68,636
BB 42,492 40,575
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135,772 121,583
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6.1 (891 ) 5.6 (818 )
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12
2024 2023
$10,035  \1,465,411 $10,861  \1,586,082
2,148 313,672 1,886 275,413
_ _ 1,443 210,721
12,183 1,779,083 14,190 2,072,166
11,118 1,623,562 9,234 1,348,441
13,685 1,998,421 12,304 1,796,753
(10,131) (1,479,430 (10,753)  (1,570,261)
(16,629) _ (2,428,333) (13,773)  (2,011,271)
(1,957) __ (285,781) (2,988) __ (436,335)
5 10,226 __ 1,493,303 11,202 1,635,828
6 (6,553)  (956,935) (6,136)  (896,040)
3,673 536,368 5,066 739,788
9 (874) (127,630 (915)  (133,617)
$2,799 _\ 408,738 $4,15]__\ 606,171
@
12
2024 2023
$2,799  \ 408,738 $4,151  \ 606,171
14 3 438 8)  (17,232)
19 @D (,527) (183)  (26,723)
L5 5 -0 85 12,413
3 438 @ (146)
o) (,921) Q1) (31,689)
$ 2,779\ 405,817 $3,0 _ \ 574,482
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2024 2023

24 $ 11,601 \ 1,694,094 $ 35,689 \ 5,211,665

10 192,546 28,117,492 262,817 38,379,167

11 76,886 11,227,663 72,888 10,643,835

65,392 58,352 12 826,082 120,632,754 828,362 120,965,703

0
o5 13 3,759 548,927 3,799 554,768

$1,110,874 \162,220,930 $1,203,555 \175,755,137

17 $ 169,696 \ 24,780,707 $ 215,476 \ 31,465,960

18 107,164 15,649,159 115,201 16,822,802
12 711,221 103,859,603 737,610 107,713,188
19 76,811 11,216,710 90,267 13,181,690
20 5,765 841,863 4,882 712,918

1,070,657 156,348,042 1,163,436 169,896,559

21 598 87,326 598 87,326
5,568 813,095 5,568 813,095
22 5,500 803,165 5,500 803,165
28,911 4,221,873 28,800 4,205,664
(360) (52,571) (347) (50,672)
40,217 5,872,889 40,119 5,858,578

$1,110,874 \162,220,930 $1,203,555 \175,755,137

2025 20
N . 5 F
A ‘f'-K§{;=w?‘é€3

L.A.

2025 21

02263951
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$ 598 \ 87,326 $ 598 \ 87,326
598 87,326 598 87,326
5,568 813,095 5,568 813,095
5,568 813,095 5,568 813,095
5,500 803,165 8,300 1,212,049
Tier 1 22 - - (2,800) (408,884)
5,500 803,165 5,500 803,165
28,800 4,205,664 27,870 4,069,856
2,799 408,738 4,151 606,171
19 a (1,022) 3 438
Tier 1
22 - - 527 76,958
Tier 1 22 (495) (72,285) (643) (93,897)
23 (2,186) (319,222) (1,684) (245,915)
23 - - (1.,424) (207,947)
8 385 56,222 334 48,774
8 (385) (56,222) (334) (48,774)
28,911 4,221,873 28,800 4,205,664
(347 (50,672) Qazn (18,546)
(20) (2,921) @17 (31,689)
19 7 1,022 (©)) (438)
(360) (52,571) (347) (50,672)

$40,217 \5,872,889 $40,119 \5,858,578
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24 $(20,688) \(3,021,069) $27,672  \4,040,942

3 438 1 146
(543) (79,294) (515) (75,205)

(21,228)  (3,099,925) 27,158 3,965,883
(@75) (40,158) (223) (32,565)

©)) (438) - -

133 19,422 17 2,483
(145) (21,174) (206) (30,082)
Tier 1 24 - - (2,273)  (331,926)
MREL 24 1,700 248,251 - -
2% ; - 1,500 219,045
Tier 1 2 (495) (72.285) (643) (93,897)

MREL y

(1,828)  (266,943) (1,623)  (237,007)
23 (2,186)  (319,222) (1,684)  (245,915)
()] (292) (@) (292)
(2,811) __ (410,490) (4,725) __ (689,992)

(24.184)  (3,531,590) 22,227 3,245,809

35,452 5,177,056 11,639 1,699,643

307 44,831 1,586 231,604

24 $ 11,575 \ 1,690,297 $35,452  \5,177,056

2023 27
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2024 2023
$11,656 $14,260
(1.621) (3,399)
2,148 1,886
- 1,443
12,183 14,190
11,118 9,234
13,685 12,304
24,803 21,538
(10,131) (10,753)
(16,629) (13,773)
(26,760) (24,526)
(1,957) (2,988)
$10,226 $11,202
2023 14.2
2024
2023 2023
557

557
11.3
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IFRS 15
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2024 2023
$1,181 $ 806
589 573
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$2,148 $1,886

144/424
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12
2024 2023
$2,761 $2,188

1,692 1,651
60 54
143 137
264 264
146 159
Gs
1,050 1,139
803 863
6,919 6,455
GS
(366) (319)
$6,553 $6,136

IFRS

GS

15

145/424

GS
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12

2024 2023
$6.1 $5.6
2.6 2.3
1.3 1.2
3.9 3.5
$10.0 $9.1

GS
GS
12

2024 2023
696 700
FIcC 694 690
710 730
322 357
1,052 947
3,474 3,424

2024 12 3,614 2023 12 3,332
12

2024 2023
$2,364 $1,882
347 262
48 42
2 2
$2,761 $2,188

2024 747 2023 216

146/424



2021

RSU

2021 29

2021

RSU

1999
SIP

2021
30

RSU

GS

1471424
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2021 SIP

SIP 2021 SIP

2025

2024 385 2023

RSU

RSU

150%

oOoOooodn

334
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2024

RSU
2024 12
556,279 3,335,927 $287.15 $276.32
457,423 697,768 $364.65 $341.92
(125,176) (102,387) $275.02 $298.70
- (1,477,487) $ - $276.53
(452,143) 452,143 $317.26 $317.26
(687) 1,186 $252.26 $231.23
435,696 2,907,150 $341.47 $297.56
2023 12
872,454 3,700,126 $277.97 $261.02
574,879 572,878 $308.43 $317.83
(81,263) (25,112) $292.33 $284.72
- (1,729,787) $ - $263.88
(741,438) 741,438 $289.42 $289.42
(68,353) 76,384 $292.45 $295.29
556,279 3,335,027 $287.15 $276.32
RSU 2024 350.92 2023 313.12
2024 4.13% 2023 5.01%
2024 2023
2024 471 2023 423
RSU 2024 12
2023 12 65,942 RSU
12 57,836 2023 12 98,914
RSU 2024 12 192,550
2023 12 240,909 RSU
12 288,825 2023 12 361,364

148/424
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Ooooooog
12
2024 2023
$ 672 $493
42 158
328 250
1,042 901
(165) 14
(©) -
(168) 14
$ 874 $915
2024 28.0% 2023
27.75% 2023
27.75% 2023 2023 31 27.0% 2023
2023 12 31 28.0%
12
2024 2023
$3,673 $5,066
28.0% 2023  27.75% 1,028 1,406
8 4
- (395)
AT1 (139) (178)
(76) (80)
(C)) ®)
18 5
39 158
$ 874 $ 915
2023 2023 OECD
2024 GS
15%
OECD
2025

149/424
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10
12
2024 2023
$117,873 $126,309
74,673 136,508
$192,546 $262,817
1
12
2024 2023
$12,574 $14,536
64,312 58,352
$76,886 $72,888
2024 12 226
12 114
12

150/424

28

oOoOooodn

2023
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12

2024 2023
$ 11 $ 20
55,892 48,747
191 225
29,550 25,998
60,971 57,360
100 312
146,715 132,662
478,883 509,246
19,706 20,668
110,177 95,575
8,324 9,002
62,277 61,209
679,367 695,700
$826,082 $828,362

12

2024 2023
$ 19,172 $ 27,935
6,516 4,868
29,372 32,936
199 11
55,259 65,750
457,629 486,163
17,460 18,200
108,112 97,849
8,138 8,826
64,623 60,822
655,962 671,860
$711,221 $737,610

151/424
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13

15

12
2024 2023
$ 523 $ 706
278 403
1,502 1,515
2,303 2,624
3 5
530 518
5 7
659 456
40 35
214 150
5 4
1,456 1,175
$3,759 $3,799
IFRS

GS
GS

152/424

GS
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oOoOooodn

2022 12 $12 $ 6 $18
2 - 2

2023 12 14 6 20
- 1 1

@ @ (6))

2024 12 12 6 18
2022 12 13
2

2023 12 10 15
_ 1

— @ (€D)

2024 12 $10 $5 $15
2024 12 $ 2 $1 $3
2023 12 $ 4 $1 $5
2022 12 $1,087 $260 $1,347
258 37 221

* - (©)]

2023 12 1,341 223 1,564
225 49 274

@D - @

2024 12 1,565 272 1,837
2022 12 787 - 787
261 - 261

()] — ()]

2023 12 1,046 - 1,046
261 - 261

2024 12 $1,307 $ — $1,307
2024 12 $ 258 $272 $ 530
2023 12 $ 295 $223 $ 518

153/424



14

2008
31

2024
89%
91%

IFRIC

31

14

UK

2024 12

%

IAS 19

59%

31

11%

IFRS

41%

154/424
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65

2016

2024 12
2023 12
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GS
AA
12
% 2024 2023
5.70 4.70
RPI 3.35 3.22
CPI 2.95 2.72
1996 11 30 3.15 3.02
1996 11 30 2.95 2.72
2009 4 5 2.50 2.50
65 65
23.8 23.8
25.3 25.2
45 65
25.0 25.0
26.6 26.5
2024 12 SAPS S3
2013 CMI 2023
1.25% 0.50%

155/424
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2024 12
2024 $1,273 $(1,353) $ (80)
- (6)) (©)
60 (63) ®)
@57) - (@57)
- 3 3
- 256 256
- 1 1
(13) 13 -
(20) 20 -
2024 12 31 $1,043 $(1,126) $ (83)
2023 12
2023 $1,233 $(1,193) $ 40
- (©)) (©))
62 (60) 2
an - an
- (€39) (€39)
- (26) (26)
_ 16 16
@15) 15 -
70 1) @
2023 12 31 $1,273 $(1,353) $ (80)

156/424
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2024 12
$ 178 $ — $ 178
1,105 (551) 554

_ 3 3
107 - 107
131 70 201
$1,521 $(478) $1,043

2023 12
$ 9 $ - $ 9
1,259 (526) 733

— 11 11
183 - 183
133 117 250
$1,671 $(398) $1,273
12
2024 2023
$ 3 $ 3
3 Q)
6 1
257 77
®) 31
(256) 26
() (16)
) 118
$ 3 $119

157/424
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Oooooooo
% %
2024 12
0.25% $(59) (5.2) $63 5.6
0.25% $50 4.4 $(48) (4.3)
$28 2.5 $(29) (2.6)
2023 12
0.25% $(77) (5.7) $83 6.1
0.25% $65 4.8 $(61) (4.5)
$37 2.7 $(39) (2.9)
2016 31
2021 12 31
356 2024
2023 12 36 2024 12 44
2024 12 31 2025
2024 12 31
2024 12 2025 11 2023 12
2024 13
2024 12 23 2023 12 25

158/424
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EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn

159/424

12
2024 2023
$ 735 $ 544

23 22

142) (139)

27 21

16 8

$ 659 $ 456

12

2024 2023

$ 544 $ 576

161 32)

30 -

$ 735 $ 544

$ 22 $ (11)

2 _

) 33

$ 23 $ 22

$(139) $(149)

@) 10

$(142) $(139)

$ 21 $ (31)

6 52

$ 27 $ 21
$ 8 $ -

8 8

$ 16 $ 8

$ 456 $ 385

168 14)

5 85

30 -

$ 659 $ 456
GS
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ooooooo
16
2024 12 2023 12
100% 250
*
2024 12
KY1-1104 PO Box 309
2198 6th
46
12

2024 2023

$4,130 $4,237

$ 580 $ 571

$ (60) $ (58)

$3,447 $3,938

160/424
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17
12
2024 2023
$116,503 $124,125
34,805 76,018
7,924 7,884
425 2,004
1,153 71
8,886 5,374
$169,696 $215,476
18
12
2024 2023
$ 1,797 $ 1,305
105,367 113,896
$107,164 $115,201

161/424
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ooooooo
19
12
2024 2023
$ 100 $ 100
26 237
- MREL 18,700 32,474
— MREL 18,489 16,791
20,949 25,022
6,919 6,924
11,628 8,719
$76,811 $90,267
2024 12 2023 12 68.8 GSG UK
Tier 2
PRA 2024 12
2029 12 26 2030 2025
GS
DVA
12
2024 2023
$(76) $ 111
&) (183)
10 @
$97) $ (76)
DVA
12
2024 2023
DVA $(D $3

162/424
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ooooood
EURIBOR
12
2024 2023
$7 $ 2
$3 $—
12
2024 2023
- $ 477 $ -
- 27 532
- 697 1,070
878 1,411
$2,079 $3,013
2024 1.18% 2023 0.97%
2024 12
$ 506 $ O
$1,392 $(164)
2023 12
$ 530 $ -
$2,227 $(201)
2024 12 16 2023 12
12
2024 2023
$ 4 $ 85
(20) (99)
$(16) $(14)

163/424
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20
12
2024 2023
$2,637 $1,981
353 294
6 7
1,837 1,877
4,833 4,159
281 197
478 371
14 83 80
1 _
89 75
932 723
$5,765 $4,882
2024 12 2023 12
2022 12 s _
2023 12 $ -
15
14)
2024 12 $ 1

164/424
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21
2024 12 598,182,053 $598
2023 12 598,182,053 $598
2022 12 598,182,053 $598
22
AT1
AT1
AT1
2017 3,000 $3,000 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2024 12 5,500 $5,500
2017 3,000 $3,000 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2023 12 5,500 $5,500
AT1 GSG UK AT1
GSG UK CET1 % AT1
2023 AT1 28 22.7
527
AT1 2024 495 2023 643
23
2024 GSG UK 21.9
2024 24 10.2 1.71
2024 12 11.6 1.94
2023 GSG UK 16.8
2023 31 655 1.09
2023 11 30 10.3 1.72

165/424
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2023 GSG UK 14.2

166/424
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24
12
2024 2023
$11,601 $35,689
19 (26) (237)
$11,575 $35,452
2023 12 22.3
12
2024 2023
$ 3,673 $ 5,066
264 264
3 2
14 6 1
@G1D (1,566)
1,240 606
20 15 -
MREL 1,821 1,657
42) (25)
- (1,424)
6,669 4,581
70,271 (27,021)
(3,998) 6,079
2,280 44,448
160 (93)
68,713 23,413
(45,780) 90,741
(8,037) 4,218
(26,389) (106,703)
(14,970) 12,178
(894) (756)
(96,070) (322)
$(20,688) $ 27,672
225.4 2024 249.4 2023
2023

167/424

2024 12
2024 244.6
210.9

27.8

oOoOooodn

2023
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Ooooooog
MREL MREL AT1
MREL
MREL
AT1
2022 12 $22,181 $8,300 $30,481
- 2,273) (2,273)
1,500 - 1,500
1,657 643 2,300
(1,623) (643) (2,266)
- (527) (527)
2023 12 23,715 5,500 29,215
1,700 - 1,700
1,821 495 2,316
(1.828) (495) (2.323)
2024 12 $25,408 $5,500 $30,908
2023 AT1 28
25
12
2024 2023
$122,370 $143,596
69,340 45,173
2,759 3,372
$194,469 $192,141
2024 12 2023 12

168/424



2014 12

BoP

2015 12

2016

2023 12 15

11

2017

S.A.
2015 2015 12
2018
54
2018 10
104
11 GSI
2015 11
2016 2018
2018 11 20
2019
2019
GSI
GS
2014 11 25
15
2020
2023
2023 12

2023

21

169/424

S.A.

20

BoP

BES

22

29

BoP

13

27

BES

15
2018

BES

EDINETOOOO
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ooooooo
BoP
S.A. BES
835
S.A.
BoP 2015 12
BES
50
222
BoP 2015
2013
2008 2012
2013 2016
2023 12 28
2024
GSI
2025



17

2023
24
2015
2024
GS

2022

2023 11

26
2014

LLC

30

EDINETOOOO
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2024

2021 30

2021 11 15

2024

2024 23

GS

170/424
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oOoOooodn
26
2024 12
$ - $ 11,601 $ 11,601
913 191,633 192,546
- 76,886 76,886
- 826,082 826,082
1,735 2,024 3,759
$ 2,648 $1,108,226 $1,110,874
$ 71,763 $97,933 $169,696
- 107,164 107,164
- 711,221 711,221
56,631 20,180 76,811
1,669 4,096 5,765
$130,063 $ 940,594 $1,070,657
2023 12
$ - $ 35,689 $ 35,689
1,249 261,568 262,817
- 72,888 72,888
- 828,362 828,362
1,851 1,948 3,799
$ 3,100 $1,200,455 $1,203,555
$ 55,225 $160,251 $215,476
- 115,201 115,201
- 737,610 737,610
71,100 19,167 90,267
1,128 3,754 4,882
$127,453 $1,035,983 $1,163,436

12

12

171/424
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ooooood
27
GS
GS
EMC PRA FCA
12
2024 2023
$105 $146
1 1
355 162
$461 $309
2024
215 2023 72

172/424
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oOoOooodn
2006
2008 410
12
2024 2023
$5 $7
$5 $7
12
2024 2023
$2 $3
$ $
$ $
2024
2023
2024 2023
2024 2024 1.2
2023 1.4
2024
0.1 2023 0.2

173/424
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Ooooooog
GS
2024 12 $530,188 $507,872
2023 12 $508,547 $490,225
2022 12 $585,390 $582,060
2024 12 2023 $ 21,641 $ 17,647
2023 12 2022 $(76,843) $(91,835)
GS
12

2024 2023

$11,730 $11,483

$11,613 $10,927

GS
2024 12 35.5 2023 12 130.0
GS
2024 12 80 2023 12 121
GS
GS GSG UK
AT1 19 22 GS
13
GS

174/424
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ooooood
GS
12
2024 2023
$94,929 $103,469
55,377 36,514
- 218
$150,306 $140,201
2023 12
80 2024 2023
GS GS
GS
GS
GS GS 2024
251 2023 231
@
Q)
2023 GSAMI GSAMI
2023 14.2
GS
2024 12
$ - $ 1,368 $- $ 1,368
- 124,300 - 124,300
249 25,758 4 26,011
1,889 535,940 1 537,830
162 1,762 — 1,924
$ 2,300 $689,128 $5 $691,433
$ - $101,215 $- $101,215

175/424
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oOoOooodn
17 32,446 - 32,463
1,205 506,744 - 507,949
29,915 18,023 - 47,938
2,476 1,661 - 4,137
$33,613 $660,089 $— $693,702

2023 12

$ - $ 1,359 $— $ 1,359
- 187,769 - 187,769
148 15,459 11 15,618
2,048 514,404 - 516,452
263 1,856 - 2,119
$ 2,459 $720,847 $11 $723,317
$ - $148,582 $— $148,582
100 31,535 - 31,635
929 489,370 11 490,310
32,384 27,257 - 59,641
1,950 1,530 - 3,480
$35,363 $698,274 $11 $733,648

176/424
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6S
2024 12
$ 4 $ 12,389 $ $ 12,463
(2.,266) (12,909) - (15,175)
- (1,067) - (,067)
$(2,192) $ (1,587) - (3,779)
$ - $ 29 $ $ 290
GS - 1,050 - 1,050
6s
() (364) — (366)
_ 568 - 568
® $ 1,544 - $ 1,542
2023 12
$ 270 $ 8,634 - $ 8,904
(2.234) (11,406) - (13,640)
_ 350 - 350
_ 19 - 19
$(1,964) $ (2,403) _ $ (4,367)
$ - 218 - $ 218
GS - 1,140 - 1,140
6s
) (315) - (319)
1 575 - 576
$ (3 $ 1,618 - $ 1,615
IFRS 15

1771424
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28
2024 12
$ - $ 11,601 $ 11,601
71,594 120,952 192,546
- 76,886 76,886
826,082 - 826,082
429 1,874 2,303
$898,105 $211,313 $1,109,418
2023 12
$ - $35,689 $35,689
138,889 123,928 262,817
— 72,888 72,888
828,362 - 828,362
610 2,014 2,624
$967,861 $234,519 $1,202,380
2024 12
$ — $ 86,015 $ 83,681 $ 169,696
- - 107,164 107,164
711,221 - - 711,221
- 44,706 32,105 76,811
— — 4,833 4,833
$711,221 $130,721 $227,783 $1,069,725
2023 12
$ - $106,784 $108,692 $215,476
- — 115,201 115,201
737,610 — - 737,610
- 54,653 35,614 90,267
- — 4,159 4,159
$737,610 $161,437 $263,666 $1,162,713
2023 12 283
29

178/424



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

ooooood
IFRS
2024 12 45.3 42.5
2023 12 38.3 41.8
2024 12 2023 12
2024 EMEA
2023 12
352.9 351.1
2024 12
$ 320,509  $(127,963) $ 192,546 $(65,699) $ (382)  $(123,338) $ 3,127
94,689 (27.804) 66,885 (10,081) (26,239) (11,066) 19,500
21,109 (10,051) 11,058 @.211) .774) (5,480) 593
695,795 (16,428) 679,367 (608,922) (34,285) (10,416) 25,744
716,904 (26,479) 690,425 (611,133) (37,059) (15,896) 26,337
1,899 Q@.21m) 682 (158) - Q1) 407
1,134,001 (183,463) 950,538 (687,071) (63,679) (150,417) 49,371
158,880 - 158,880 - - - 158,880
$1,292,881  $(183,463) $1,109,418  $(687,071)  $(63,679)  $(150,417)  $208,251
$287,843  $(127,997) $159,846 $(68,649)  $ (2,502) § (85,198)  $ 3,497
124,100 (27,280) 96,820 (10,081) (37,440) (23,433) 25,866
672,914 (16,952) 655,962 (605,961) (23,381) (4,902) 21,718
672,914 (16,952) 655,962 (605,961) (23,381) (4,902) 21,718
21,482 (11,020) 10,462 @,222) (356) - 7,884
862 14) 648 (158) - - 490
1,107,201 (183,463) 923,738 (687,071) (63,679) (113,533) 59,455
145,987 - 145,987 - - - 145,987
$1,253,188  $(183,463) $1,069,725  $(687,071) (63,679)  $(113,533)  $205,442

179/424
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Ooooooog
2023 12
$ 387,810 $(124,993) $ 262,817 $ (95,063) $  (112)  $(165,128) $2,514
91,084 (30,182) 60,902 (7,432) (27,560) (13,338) 12,572
18,910 (7,711) 11,199 (1,491) (3,070) (5,593) 1,045
705,666 (9,966) 695,700 (629,932) (37,504) (9,179) 19,085
724,576 (17,677) 706,899 (631,423) (40,574) (14,772) 20,130
2,072 (1,426) 646 (93) - ain 436
1,205,542 (174,278) 1,031,264 (734,011) (68,246) (193,355) 35,652
171,116 - 171,116 - - - 171,116
$1,376,658 $(174,278)  $1,202,380 $(734,011) $(68,246)  $(193,355) $206,768
$328,763 $(125,016) $203,747 $ (96,100) $ (2,212)  $(103,096) $2,339
135,726 (30,207) 105,519 (7,432) (40,686) (29,490) 27,911
681,801 (9,941) 671,860 (627,986) (25,263) (3,928) 14,683
681,801 (9,941) 671,860 (627,986) (25,263) (3,928) 14,683
14,540 (9,066) 5,474 (2,400) (85) - 2,989
669 48) 621 (93) - - 528
1,161,499 (174,278) 987,221 (734,011) (68,246) (136,514) 48,450
175,492 - 175,492 - - - 175,492
$1,336,991 $(174,278)  $1,162,713 $(734,011) $(68,246)  $(136,514) $223,942
12
2024 2023
$722,040 $702,507
$660,537 $655,008
12
2024 2023
$65,392 $58,352
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ooooood
$ - $ 25
$35,766 $38,255
$ - $ 20
2024 12 623.2 2023 12 678.4 2024 12
550.4 2023 12 468.3
29
IFRS
GS

181/424



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

iTraxx CDX

182/424



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

0TC 0TC
0TC 0TC

10
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oTC
0TC

CVA
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2024 12
$ — $ 71,594 $ - $ 71,594
105,539 40,826 350 146,715
141 675,997 3,229 679,367
105,680 716,823 3,579 826,082
1 367 61 429
$105,681 $788,784 $3,640 $898,105
$ — $ 85,570 $ 445 $ 86,015
47,093 8,145 21 55,259
51 653,636 2,275 655,962
47,144 661,781 2,296 711,221
- 40,580 4,126 44,706
$ 47,144 $787,931 $6,867 $841,942
$90 $ 22,361 $ 954 $ 23,405
2023 12
$ - $138,777 $ 112 $138,889
92,278 39,739 645 132,662
1 691,614 4,085 695,700
92,279 731,353 4,730 828,362
4 503 103 610
$ 92,283 $870,633 $4,945 $967,861
$ - $106,295 $ 489 $106,784
59,775 5,955 20 65,750
37 669,492 2,331 671,860
59,812 675,447 2,351 737,610
- 48,990 5,663 54,653
$ 59,812 $830,732 $8,503 $899,047
$ (36) $ 22,122 $1,754 $ 23,840
2023 12 283 28
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2024 12 2023 12
$ 44 $ 41
8.0%  19.4% 9.8% 4.0%  26.1% 11.9%
23.3%  69.2% 50.9% 35.5%  76.0% 44..6%
2.0 4.3 2.3 1.4 7.0 4.2
$296 $573
6.4%  35.9% 15.4% 5.0%  46.0% 12.8%
7.3%  73.0% 31.3% 7.3%  95.9% 26.6%
1.5 3.3 2.0 0.9 27.0 3.4
$ 10 $ 31
N/A N/A 4.8 4.8 4.8
$350 $645

2024 12 2023 12

2024 12
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2024 12 2023 12
$ 165 $ 151
0%  95% 34%/25% Q)% 26% 13%/25%
bps 52 71 60/59 4 682 48/48
$ 1,284 $1,835
bps 17 1,328 146/105 1,750 134790
@) 73 14/8 90 18/7
0%  70% 46%/50% 20%  50% 43%/40%
$ (33) $ (104)
20%  23% 21%/21% 20%  90% 24%/23%
$ (454) $ (140)
5% 100% 550/52% @0)%  100% 66%/69%
2% 84% 12%/7% 0% 80% 14%/13%
$ $ 12
$ 954 $1,754
$4,126 $5,663
)% 26% 13%/25% 25%  26% 25%/25%
bps 201 201 201/201 183 183 183/183
20%  68% 34%/23% 20%  68% 34%/23%
@)% 100% 54%/50% @a6)%  96% 51%/52%
4% 100% 23%/19% 2% 106% 18%/15%
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2023 12

2024 12 2023 12

2024 2023
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12

2024 2023

$ 35 $102

294 399

$329 $501

$ 12 $ 15

147 191

$159 $206
2024 12 2023 12
2024 12 2023 12

2024 2023

$260 $206

203 311

(262) (257)

$201 $260
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12
2024 2023
$ 4,945 $ 4,728
669 849
371 608
(298) (302)
(1,306) (928)
136 262
(877) (272)
$ 3,640 $ 4,945
$(8,503) $(7,875)
(669) (1,074)
1 36
(243) (310)
(1,740) (2,246)
3,488 2,956
(312) (571)
1,101 581
$(6,867) $(8,503)
2024 2023
2024 669 648
21 2023
10.7 988
86
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12
2024 2023
$ 112 $118
- 3
- ®
112) -
$ $112
$ 4,730 $4,485
661 836
370 600
(246) (301)
(1,305) (900)
134 262
(765) (252)
$ 3,579 $4,730
$ 103 $ 125
8 10
1 8
52 @D
(€)) (19
2 —
— (20)
$ 61 $ 103
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2024 2023
$ (489) $ (395)
4 (52)
(58) (322)
141 280
(43) —
$ (445) $ (489)
$(2,351) $(2,332)
(768) 476)
11 36
(243) (310)
841 617
(85) (151)
299 265
$(2,296) $(2,351)
$(5,663) $(5,148)
95 (546)
(1,682) (1,924)
2,506 2,059
(184) (420)
802 316
$(4,126) $(5,663)

2024 12

2023 12
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2024 12

2023 12

2024 12 2,113.1 2023 12 2,345.2
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12
2024 2023
$154,410 $198,224
73,373 65,442
$227,783 $263,666

2023 12

30

283

195/424
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2024 12
$ 11,601 $ - $ - $ - $ — $ - $ 11,601
65,332 112,744 7,643 5,914 893 20 192,546
76,886 - - - - - 76,886
826,082 - - - - - 826,082
1,581 185 4 16 230 1,024 3,040
$ 981,482 $112,929 $ 7,647 $ 5,930 $ 1,123 $ 1,044 $1,110,155
$ 14,336 $ 47,166 $16,722 $20,097 $ 70,811 $ 956 $ 170,088
107,164 - - - - - 107,164
711,221 - - - - - 711,221
1,528 3,233 4,419 11,242 32,927 36,969 90,318
1,890 1,433 7 6 1,480 17 4,833
$ 836,139 $ 51,832 $21,148 $31,345 $105,218 $37,942 $1,083,624
$ 1,040 $118,682 $ 508 $ 2,140 $ - $ - $ 122,370
8 66,388 2,107 837 - - 69,340
2,758 - - 1 - - 2,759
$ 3,806 $185,070 $ 2,615 $ 2,978 $ — $ — $ 194,469
2023 12
$35,689 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $35,689
121,502 129,502 7,218 3,346 1,103 146 262,817
72,888 - - - - - 72,888
818,880 106 7,391 1,985 - - 828,362
1,667 10 40 74 452 1,325 3,568
$1,050,626 $129,618 $14,649 $ 5,405 $ 1,555 $ 1,471 $1,203,324
$38,460 $ 47,584 $39,789 $34,759 $ 53,654 $ 1,573 $ 215,819
115,201 - - - - - 115,201
737,610 - - - - - 737,610
2,372 1,775 4,854 10,728 51,565 35,665 106,959
1,891 1,202 6 13 1,015 32 4,159
$ 895,534 $ 50,561 $44,649 $45,500 $106,234 $37,270 $1,179,748
$798 $139,390 $ 1,301 $ 2,107 $ - $ - $ 143,596
6 44,606 2 559 - - 45,173
3,369 1 - 2 - - 3,372
$ 4,173 $183,997 $ 1,303 $ 2,668 $ — $ — $ 192,141
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2024

2023
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12

2024 2023
$ - $ 20
38,112 36,444
168 192
10,339 10,331
52,539 49,620
101,158 96,607
— 45
$101,158 $96,652
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2024 12
$ — $ -
404 1,181
404 1,181
$404 $1,181
$ - $ -
(60) 708
(60) 708
$(60) $708
2023 12
$ — $ -
120 1,005
120 1,005
$120 $1,095
$ - $ -
7 693
(7) 693
$(57) $ 693
2024 12
$ - $133
85 378
85 511
$ 85 $511
$ - $ 1
(40) ()
(40) (50)
- @)
$(40) $(51)
2023 12
$ - $133
6 293
6 426
$ 6 $426
$ - $ 1
(25) (10)
(25) ©
— (1)
$(25) $(10)
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2024 12

2006 414A

2006 414C(11)

GS
GS
FRC

GS
GS

GS 14

GS
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GS

2024 12

GSI GSI

GS

GSI GSI

GS

GSI GS
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GSI
GSI _
GS
GS
6S
)
(i) (iii)
(iv) (v) GS
(vi)
GSI
GS
6S
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- GS
GS
GS
GS
- GS
GS
GS 2030 7,500
2024 12 GS 80%
Corporate Planning and Management GS
- GS Office of

Corporate Engagement

IFRS

IFRS

172(1)
2006 172
172

172
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GS

GSI

2024 GSG UK

2023 GSG UK

GSG UK
2024 2023
2024 30
2024 12
2024

2021

GSI
GS
21.9
16.8
14.2
32
2023 30
1.2774
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GSI

2023 12 1.2746
1.2469



2006

ESEF

1606/2002

2019/815 ESEF

205/424

EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

IFRS

1606/2002 IFRS



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

1606/2002 IFRS

KBE 2024 21
M_M.
C.G.
L.A.
2024 31
R.J.
S.P.

T.L. OBE
N. 2025 14

2025 21

2006 234

= : {E- /}'/-.{ )..-f.-_--‘éé’}:/f

L.A.

2025 21
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED CONPANY}
Income Statement

Wear Ended Deoomber
5 in milong Hode s dtad
Gairns of loskes rom hidncaal st reiments measuied af faer value thisugh peall of oss 5 10,035 & 10,861
Fees and commissians 2,148 1,886
Deher income — 1,443
Non-nlerest incoma 12,183 14,150
Interest income fram financial instruments measured at fair value through profil o loss. 11,118 9,234
Inlerest income rom linancial insbrumenls measured al amonised cost 13,685 12,304
Irtereest expiande from finandal inslruments maeasured al fair value thiough prafit o lass {10,131) (10, 753)
Inlerest expense from finandal imstrumants maasured &l amadtsed cost {16,629) (13,773)
Nel inberest cupense {1,857) {2.988)
Met revanues 5 10,226 11,202
Nel oparating expenses i {6,553) 5.135)
Profit bafora taxation 3,673 5.086
Incom Lax expansea E] [BT4) [915)
Prafit for the financial yoar 5 2,799 & 4,151
Hat mevenues and profil bafons laxeion of the company &m defesd from contifuing opemtion in e cumen and e years.
Statement of Comprehensive Income
ik B Dbl
% in mifons Note e o v ]
Praf fior the financial year 5 2,199 5 4,151
Diher comprahansive incoma
Items that will not be reclassified subsequantly to profit or loss
Actuaral gainiloss) relating 1o the pensson schama 14 3 (118)
Dabt valualon adjusiment 19 {#) (183)
LLE. defored Lax atiributablo o the companents of alhar comprohensie incomo 15 5 85
LLE. currend b altirbatable o ihe components of othar comprehansing income El {1}
Ciher comprahansive loss for the financial year, net of tax {20) (217)
Total comprohensive income for the financial year 5 2778 5 3634

The accompanying noies am an iregral par of (hewe Snancal suatements,
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A5 of Decomber
5 i andEons Mote 024 ekl
Asgoks
Cash and cash equivalents 4 H 11,601 5 35,680
Collderalised agresmeants 10 192,546 H2 BT
Custemar and othar mcaivatles 1| 6086 72,008
Trading assats (ncludes $65,392 and $58 352 pladged as collalaral) 12 826,082 B8 362
Other assats (includes §nil and 525 pledgad as collateral) 13 3. 789 A8
Total assots $ 1,110,874 § 1203555
Liakilities
Collaaralisad Sicncings 17 H 169,698 § 215476
Custormar and other payables 18 107,164 115201
Trading lishilitises 12 Ti1.2H TAT B0
Unsecured borrowings 14 TE 811 a0 26T
Cther Eabilities 20 5,T6S 4 BE2
Tolal liabiitias 1.070,657 1,163,458
Shamtholder's equity
Share capital 2 598 So8
Shars primium account 5,568 5568
Cither equity nsburments 22 5,500 5500
FRetainad eamings 28,911 2880
Accurulated clher comprahensive incoma (3604 {347}
Talal sharmhoidars iquily 40,297 a0113

Total liabilities and sharcholder's equity

§ 10ard § 1xases

The finandal stalaments were approved by the Board on March 20, 2025 and signed on its behail by

The aocompamying noles are on inlegrad part of these Enancinl satements.
Comonmy mamiser; DEIS3551

208/424

X .,.,.fz;
L. A Donnelly
Dircctor

March 21, 2025



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Statement of Changes in Equity

Year Ended Deoembor

5 in mifong Hote 4 23
Share capital

Baginming balanca 5 598 5 558
Ending batancs 548 558
Share premium aceount

Baginning balance 5,568 5.568
Ending batance 5,564 5,568
Ciher equity instruments

Baginming balance 5,500 8,300
Ropwchase of Additonal Tier 1 noles 22 — {2.800)
Ending batance 5,500 5,500
Retained aarings

Baginning balanca 28,800 2T 870

Fralil Iof the Bmancsl year 2,799 4,151

Transier of realised debl valuabion adjustment inbo retaingd sarmings, nat of tax 19 7 3

Dilleence BEbwean cinrying vinlue and Gir walue of repurchised Additional Tier 1 nales 22 — 52T

Imarest on Additional Tier 1 nales 2 [435) (B43)
Cash dividends paid 23 2, 1846) {1.684)
Non-cash distrlution 23 -— {1.424)
Share-basad payments | s a4

Managemant recharge relaled 1o shang-based payments a {3485) [334)
Ending balance 8,911 28,800

Accumulated other comprehansive income

Beginning balance {347} {127}
Other comprehansig loss {20) [217)
Transier ol realised dobl vaksaton adjustment inbo retansd eamngs, noel of tax 19 T {3)
Ending balance {360) (347}
Tabal shareholders squily 5 40,217 5 40,119

Hen Mote 23 for informacion about dividends and dis ributions.

The accompanying noies amm an iregral par of (hewe Snancal Laements,

1]

209/424



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Statement of Cash Flows

Yoor Endod Doosmibss
5 in mifong Hote 4 23
Cash flows from aparating activities
Cash generated from/{used in) operalions 24 5 {20,688) 5 2T ET2
Tl festanntd 3 1
Taxation paid {543 (515}
Mel eash from[used in) operabing acivilies {21,228) 2T.158
Cash Nows from investing activities
Capial expenditung for property, leaschald impravements and equipment and intangible assats {275) [223)
Purchasa of invesimanis 13 —
Procaods from sales of invesimants 133 LEs
Nel eash usad in mesting actilies {145) (205)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repurchase of Additonal Tier 1 noles 24 . {2.273)
Recaipis from =suing MREL-elgible inlarcompany loans 24 1,700 —
Recoipls from Ssuing subordinaled oans 24 — 1,500
Inlarest pasd on Additional Tear 1 notes 24 {495) (B43)
Interest pand on Subsddinated kang and MREL-cligble inlercampary loans 24 {1.828) {1.623)
Cash dividends paid 23 {2,186) (1.684)
Payments for lease liabdties 12) {2)
et carsh used in firancing acliviies 12.811) 14.725)
Nel ncreasai{decnase ) in cash and cash equivalents, nel of overdrafts {24,184) 22,227
Cash and cash equralanis, nel of overdrafls, beginning balanca 35,452 11629
Fargign exchinge gaing on cash and cash equivakents, el of averdralls T 1,585
Cagh and cash aquivalents, net of averdrafts, ending balance 24 3 11,575 5 33452

Seiete Mool 2T fior informacion ihoul fon-cash acivities rdated o (he ransfer of he company™s UK. adsel maragenien] busiress in 2023,

Thas accampanying notes s & iregral per of these Trancial satements,
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Note 1.
General Information

The company 15 a private unbimited company and Is
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address
of its registered office s Flumtree Court, 25 Shoe Lane,
London, EC4A AL, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking is Goldman
Sachs Group UK Limited (G5G UK), a company incorporated
and domiciled mn England and Wales. G3G Uk together with
its consolidated subsidianes form “G8G UK Grow™.

The ultimaste controlling undertaking and the parent compamy
of the smallest and largest group for which consolidated
financial statements are prepared i The Galdman Sachs Group,
Ing., a company incorporated m the United States of Amenca,
Copes of s consolidated Dmancal statements, as well as
certain regulatory filings, for example Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-0) and the Anmual Report on Foem 10-K, that provide
further information abowt G35 Group and its business activities,
can be obltamed from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New
York, NY 10282, United States of America, GS Group's
poncipal place of business, or at www poldmansachs com/

Basel Il Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company & included in the consolidated Pillar 3
disclesures of G3G UK, as required by the UK. capital
framework. G3G UK's December 2024 Fillar 3 disclosures will
be made available in conjunction with the publication of it=
conzolidated financial information at www. goldmansachs com,’
disclosures.

Country-by-Country Reporting

The company s included in the comsolidated country-by-
country reporting disclosures of GSG UK, as required by the
Capital  Requirements  {Country-by-Country  Keporting)
Regulations 2013, GEG UK's December 2024 Country-hy-
Country Reporting will be made available by December 31,
2025 an www goldmansachs, com disclosures.

EDINETOOOO
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Note 2.
Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared m accordance
with UK. -adopted intemational accounting standards, the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, as applicable to
companies reporting under those standards, and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopled pursuamt to
Regulation (EC) Mo 1600672002 as it applies in the E 11, (IFRS
as it applies in the L)

Az of and for the vear ended December 2024, UK -adopied
intermational sccounting standards, applicable 1o the company,
were consistent with IFRS as it applies in the ELL

These fnancial statements love been prepared wunder the
hastorical cost basis (modified as explained in “Financial Assets
and Liabilities™ and *Pension Amangements”™ below).

Golng Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The directors are satisfied that the company has
sufficient capital and resources to continue 1o operate for a
period of at least twelve months from the date of authensation
of 1sue of these financial statements In reaching this
conclusion, the directors have considered the financial results
of the company, its capital management activities and liquadity
as set out in Pan 1 of this armual repon.

Consolidation

The company has elected not to prepare consoladated financial
statements a5 permitted by Section 402 of the Comparnes Act
2006 as its subsidiaries are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view. These financial statements are
separate financial stalements.

211/424
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED CONPANY}
Motes to the Financial Statements

Note 3.

Material Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Met revenues include the net profit
ansing from transactions, with both third partses and GS Group
affiliates, in  denvatives, securities and other financial
mstruments, and fees and commissions. This is inclusive of
associated interest and dividends.

Financial Assets and Liabllitles Measured at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised at fair value with realised and
unrealised gains and losses, as well as associated interest and
divedend income and expenses included in met revenues, with
the exception of changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss attnbutable 1o
own credit spreads (debt valuation adjustment or DVA), which
15 recogrised in other comprehensive income, unbess this would
creste or enlarge am accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Financial assets are marked 1o bad prices and Ninancial liabilites
are marked 10 offer prices. Fair valie measurements do ol
include transaction costs, The company measures certain
financial assets and liabilittes as a portfolio (Le., based on 1=
net exposure to market and/or credit nisks).

Unrealised gains and losses related to the change in fair value
of financial assets and labilites measured at fair valwe through
profit or loss are recognised from trade date in net revenues or
other comprehensive iIncome m the case of DVA

Contractual interest is mcluded in interest income and expense
for all irstruments other than hybnd fnancial instruments at
far value through profit or loss, for which comtractual interest
15 included im gains and lesses from financial instruments
measured at faar value through profin or loss,

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenues eamed from contracts with customers for services,
such as vesiment banking., investment management, and
execution and cleanng  (contracts with customers)  are
recognised when the performance obligations related 1o the
underlying transaction are completed.

Where the company recognises revemues in ils capacity as
principal to @ ransaction and incurs expenses (o satisfy some or
all of its performance obligations under these transactions, it is
requred by IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’ (IFRS 15) to report these revenues gross of the
asaociated expenses. Such revenue 18 included m net revenues
and such expenses are included in transaction based and other
expenses (known herealler as “IFRS 15 expenses™).

The company 15 principal 1o the transaction if it has the primary
obligation o provide the service to the cistomer. The company
satisfies the performance obligation by nself, or by engaging
other G5 Group affilistes to satisfy some or all of us
performance obligations on its behalf,

54
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Met revenues are recognised as follows:

* Financial Advisory and Underwriting
Fees from financial advisory and underwnting engagements
are recognised in profit and less when the services related to
the underlyving transactions are completed under the terms of

the engagement

Execution and Client Clearing Transactions

Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
cleanng client trarsactions on stock, options and futures
markets, a5 well as OTC transactions 5 recognised in net
revenues on the day the trade & executed.

Investment Management Services

Marmgement fees are recognised on an accnual basis and are
generally calculated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset valee. All management
fees are recognised over the period that the related service 1s
provided

Incentive fees are calculated as a percentage of a fund's
felurn of 4 percentage of a fund's excess retum above a
specified benchmark or other performance target. Incentive
fees carmed from a fund o a separately managed account are
recognised when it is probable that a significant reversal of
such fees will not occur, which s generally when such fees
are no longer subject to fuctuations in the markel value of
investments held by the fund or separately managed account.

Segment Reporting. The directors manage the company's
business activities as a single operating segment  amd
sccordingly no seemental reporting has been provided.

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Shor-term emplovee
benefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an
undiscounted basis and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the emplovee renders the service 1o the company
Prowision s made for discrelionary year-end compensation
whether 1o be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past practice, a constructive
cbligation exisis at the balance sheet date.
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Share-Based Payments. Group Inc. issues awards i the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) to the company’s
emplovees in exchange for emplovee services. Group Ine.
generally ssues new shares of common stock upon delvery of
share-based awards and the company has no obligation 1o senle
the awards. The awards are therefore classified as equity
seitled. As a result the cost of share-based transactions with
emplovees 1s measured based on the granmt-date fair value of the
award. The company recognises the grant-date fair value of the
award in compensation and benefits in the mcome statement,
with a corresponding credit dwectly to equity. For share-based
awards that do nod require future service (e, vested awards,
which include awards gramted 1o retrement  eligible
emplovees), the grant-date far value 1s expensed immediately.
For share-based awards that require future service, the grami-
date fair value s recognised over the relevant service period
Expected forfeitures are included in determining the amount of
awards expected o vest and thes the share-based emplovee
compensation expense, Cash dividend equivalents, unless
profibited by regulation, are generally paid on outstanding
R&ls,

The company has also entered mto a chargeback agreement
with Group Inc. under which it is committed to pay to Group
Ine., at the delivery date of the shares, an amount in cash equal
to (a) the grant-date far value of those awards and (b)
subsequent movements in the far value of those awands
between the date and ultimate delivery to emplovees
(subsequent 1o the vesting date). The company accounts for (a)
by recogmizing a pavable to Group Inc. in other habilities based
on the grant-date fair value of the award, with a comesponding
debin directly to equity and for (b) by recopmising the
subsequent movement in the fair value of awards between the
grant date and ultimate delivery to emplovess in compensation
and benefits in the income statement, with a comresponding
increase or decrease in other liabilities. As a result, the share-
based pavment transaction and chargeback apreement, in
aggregate, gives nise to a todal charge to the income statement
based on the grant-date fair value of the awards adjusted for
subsequent movements m the fair value of those awards up 1o
delivery,
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Current and Deferred Taxation. Current iax is caleulaied
on the basis of the tax laws cnacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the countries where the company
operales and generates taxable income.

Dreferred tax is recogrised in respect of all temporary
differences that have ormimated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result i an obligation to pay more tax or a mght
1o pay less tax in the future with the following exceptions

» Deferredd tax assets are recognised only 1o the extent that 1t s
mere likely than not that there will be suntable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of the underlying temporary
differences can be decucted

+ Dieferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
eracted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Current tax and deferred tax s generally recognised in the
income statement or direcily in other comprehensive income
secording 1o where the associated gain or loss was recognised
The income tax on interest on AT] notes is recognised in the
income statement.

Dividends and Distributions. Final cash dividends are
recognised & a liability and deducted from equity in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the company's
shareholder. Intenm  cash dividends are secopnised and
deducted from equity when paid Non-cash distribubions are
recognised and deducted from equity when approved by the
company”s sharcholder.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. This mcludes cash at bank
and highly liquid overnight deposits held in the ordinary course
of business.

Foreign Currencles. The company's financial statements are
presemted in U5, dollars, which is alo the company's

functaonal currency.

Transactions denominated n foreign cwrencies are translued
mnte US, dellars at rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occurred. Monetary assets and habihties, and non-
monetary  assets and  liabdlities measwed at Far wvalue,
denominated i foreign currencies are transkated into LS.
dollars ot rates of exchange ruling ot the balance sheet date.
Forelgn exchange gains and losses are recogrised o profit
before taxation.
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Financial Assets and Liabilitles

Recognition and Derecognition

Financial assets and habilities, other than cash instruments
purchased or sold m regular way transactions, are recognised
when the company becomes party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the
coniractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or if the company transfers the fnancial assel and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition A transferred financial
asset qualifics for derecognition if the company transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset; or if the company neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset but does not retain control. Financial liabilities
are derecognised only when they are extinguished, 1.e., when
the abligation specified in the contmct is discharged or
cancelled or expires,

Cash instrusments purchased of so0ld in regular way thamsictions
are recognised and derecopnised using  seftlement  <date
aceoumnling.

Classification and Measurement: Financial Assefs
The company classifies financial asseis as  subsequently
measured st amortised cost o fair value through profit or loss
on the basis of both the company’s business model for
managing financial assets and the contractual cash fow
charactenstics of the financial assets The business model
reflects how the company manages particular groups of assets
in order to generate future cash flows. Where the company’s
business maodel is 1o hold the assets o collect contraciual cash
flows, the company subsequently assesses whether the financal
assels’ cash lows represemt solely payments of principal and
interest. Financial assets with embedded derivatives (hybnid
instruments) are also subject 1o the same assessment,
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Financlal assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows and have cash flows that represent  solely
payments of principal and mterest are measured at amortised
cost. The company considers whether the cash flows
represent basic lending amangements, and where contractual
terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility inconsistent with
o basie kending asrangement, the financial asset 1s mandatonily
measured st fair value through profit o loss (see below)
Fmancil assels measured ol amortised cost are wmtally
measured at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
effective interest method s a method of caloulating the
amaortised cost of a financial instrumem and allocating the
interest income over the relevant period. The effective mterest
rate & the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or,
when appropriate, a shorter pericd 1o the net carrvig value of
the financial asset When calculating the effective mierest
rate, the company estimates cash flows considering all
contraciual terms of the financial asset but does not consider
futwre credit losses. Foance revemue is recorded m net
revenues. Financial assets measured at amortised cost
include:

+ Cash and cash equivalents,

# Certain collateralised agreements, which consisis of certain
resale agreements, and the majonty of securities bomrowed,

= Customer and other recevables: and

« Certain other assets, which consists of cemtain loans, and
miscellaneous receivables and other,

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss, Financial assets that are not held
for the collection of contractual cash flows and/or do not have
cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and
interest are mandatorly measured st fair value through profit
or loss, Financial assets mandatonly measured a1 fur value
are initially measured at far value with transaction costs
expensed in the income statement. Such financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses
recognised i mel revenues, Financial assets mandatonily
measured at fair value include:

» Certain collateralised agreements, which consists of the
majority of resale sgreements, and certain secunties
borrowed;

* Trading assets, which consigts of trading cash instruments
and derivatives,

« Certain other assets, which consists of certain loans, and
investments.
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Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities
The company classifies its financial liabilities into the below
categornies based on the purpose for which they were acquired
or orginated.

+ Financial liabilities held for trading. Firmncial liabilities
held for trading are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at fair value through profit or boss, with gaing or
losses recognised n net revenues. Financial labalities held for
trading include trading liabalities, which consists of:

* Trading cash instruments; and
* Derivatives.

+ Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. The company designates certain financial
lmbsilities at fair value through profit or less Financial
lmbilities designated a fair value through profit o loss are
initially measured a1 fair value and subsequently at fur value
through profit or loss, with DVA being recognised in other
comprehensive income, if it does not create or enlarge an
acoounting mismatch, and the remaming changes in the fair
value bemg recogrised in net revenues, Amounts recognised
in cther comprehensive income attnbutable to own credit
spreads are not subsequently transferred to the income
statement, even upon derecognition of the financial hability.
The prmary reasons for designating such financial labilities
1 fair value throasgh profit or loss are:

* To elimmate or significantly reduce a measurement or
recognition meonsistency that would ctherwise anse from
measiring assels of liabaities of recogmsing the gans and
losses on them on different bases, and

* The group of financial liabalities, or financeal assets and
liabilities, s managed and its performance evaluated on o
fair value basis,

Financial habilities designated at fair vahse through profit or
Joss inchade:

+ Certain collateralised financings, which consist of the
majority of repurchase agreements, certain securities
loamed, and debt secunties issued, bank loans and other
borrowings, which consists of hvbrid financial instruments,
transfers of assets accounted for as fmancmgs rather than
salbes; and

« Certain unsecured borrowings, which consists of cenain
debt securities 1ssued, substantally all other borrowings,
certain  intercompany  loans, and prepard  commodity
contracts.

Ay
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Hybnd financial mstruments are instruments that contain
embedded derivatives that are able to be bifurcated The
company can ¢ither bifurcate the embedded denvative from
the associated debt or designate the entire hybrid financial
instrument at fair value through profit or loss. If the company
bifurcates the embedded dervative from the associated deba,
the denivative is accounted for at fair value and the host
contrect is accounted for ol amortised cost.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Fmanceal habilities measured at amortised cost are mntally
measired at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective imlerest
method. See “Financial assets measured al amortsed cos”
above for further information on the effective interest method.
Fmance costs, mcluding discounts allowed on issue, are
recorded 1n met interest income and inlerest  expense.
Fmancel habihities measured at amortised cost melude:

+ Certain collateralised financings, which consists of certain
repurchase agreements, the majority of secunties loaned,
and intereom pany loans;

= Customer and other pavables.

+» Cerfain unsecured borrowings that have not been designated
at fr value through profit or loss, and

» Cther hishilities, which pimarily consists of compensation
and benefits and accrued expenses and other.

Impairment
The company assesses the expected credit losses associated
with financial asseis measured at amortised cost on a forward-
looking basis in accordance with the provisions of [FES 9
Expecied credit losses (ECL) are recorded in net revenues, As
of both December 2024 and December 2023, the company's
expected credit losses were not material,

The company s impairment model 15 based on changes in credst
quality since initial recognition of financial assets measured at
amortised cost and meorporates the following three stapes:

+ Stage 1. Financial assels measured at amortised cost that are
neA credit-mmpaired on inatial recognition and where there has
been no significant increase in credit nisk since nitial
recognition, The ECL iz measured at an amount equal to the
expected credit lesses that result from default events possible
within the next twelve months.

« Stage 2. Financial assets measured at amoriised cost where
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, however not yel deemed io be credii-impaired
The ECL 15 measured based on expected credit losses on a
lifetime basis.

= Stage 3. Financial assels measured a1 amortised cost that are
i defoult, of are defined as credit-impaired The ECL s
measured based on expected credit losses on a hifetime basis.
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Dretermination of the relevant staging for each financial asset 1=
dependent on the definition of *significant increase in credit
nsk’ (stage 1| to stage 2) and the defimtion of ‘credii-
mpatred” (stage 3). The company considers a financial asset 1o
have expenienced a sigmificant increase in credit nsk when
certain quantitative or gualitative conditions are met. The
company considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when
it meets Credit Risk's definition of default, which is enther
when the company considers that the obligor is unlikely 10 pay
its credit ohligations to the company in full, without recourse
by the company 1o actions such as realising security (if held), or
the obligor has defaulted on a payment and'or = past dug more
than 90 days.

The ECL iz determined by progecting the probabality of default,
loss given default and exposure at default for each individual
exposure. To calculate expected credit losses these three
components are multiphied together and discounted back to the
reporting date, The discount mte wsed inthe ECL caleulation is
the ariginal effective interest rate, The probability of default
represents the likehhood of a bormower defaulting on s
financial obligation. The loss given default is the company’s
expectation of the extent of loss on the default exposure, and
takes into consideration, amongst other things, collateral on the
financial asset. The exposure at default is the amount the
company expects to be owed at the time the financial obligation
defaulis. The company uses intemal credit nisk ratings that
reflect the amessment of the probability of default of individual
counterparties. The company uses multiple macroeconomic
scenanos within the ECL calculation, the weightmgs for which
are subject to ongomg intemal review and approval

The ECL maodel takes into accoum the weighted avernge of a
range of forecasts of future economic conditions, The forecasts
include baseline, favousable and adverss economic scenarios
over a three-year pericd To the extent the company has
financial assets m stage 2 or stage 3 which have an expected
life beyvond three years, the model revents to histoncal loss
informateon based on a non-linear modelled approach. The
company applies judgement in weighing mdividual scenarios
each quarter based on a variety of faciors, including internally
derwed  cconomic  outlook, market consensus, recent
m ic conditions and industry trends

Forward-looking imformation, such as key economic vanables
impacting credit risk and expected eredit losses, 12 incorporated
into bodh the assesement of staging and the caleulation of ECL.

The company wnites off fimancial assets, in whole or in part,

when it has concluded that there is ro reasonable expectation of
MECOVery
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Classification of Financial Liabilitles and Equity
Financial liabaliies and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the coniractual arrangements. A
financial liabality 15 any habality that 15 a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or another financeal asset 1o another entity; or to
exchange financial assets or financial Labilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the
entity. An equily instrument i any contract that evadences a
residual interest in the assets of the entity afler deducting all
liabilities. Instrumemts are evaluated to determine of they
contain both lisbility and equity components. The wnitial
carrving value of a compound firancial instrument s allocated
first 1o the liability component, measured at fair value, and the
equity 15 assigned the residual amount.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities
Fimancial assets and lmbilities are offset and the net amount

presented in the balance sheet where there 15

* Currently a legally enforceable right 1o set-off the recognised
amounts, and

+ Intent to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously,

Where these conditions are not met, fnancial assets and
liabilities are presented on a gross basis in the balance sheet.

Fair Value Measurement
See Mote 29 for details about the far value measurement of the

company’s financial assets and liabilities,

Falr Value Hedges

The company applies bedse accounting under IAS 30
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” for
cerfain interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate
exposure of certain fixed-rate unsecured long- and short-term
borrowings. To qualify for hedge accouniing. the denvative
hedge must be highly effective at reducing the nisk from the
exposure being hedged  Additionally, the company must
formally document the hedging relationship at inception and
assess the hedging relationship at least on & quarierly basis to
ensure the derwvative hedge contimues 1o be highly effective
over the life of the hedaing relationship.
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The company applies a statistcal method that utilizes
regression analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in achieving offsetting changes in
the fair values of the hedging instrument and the nsk being
hedged (1, nterest rate nsk). An interest rate swap 1s
conzidered highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value
attributable to changes in the hedged risk when the regression
amalysis results in o coeflicient of determination of 8% or
greater and a slope between 8% and 125%. Possible sources
of ineffectivensss on these hedges include:

+ Differences in timing of cash flows between the hedged item
and hedging instrument.

+ Differences in discoamting between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, as cash collateralsed derivatives are
discounted wsing Overnight Indexed Swap discount curves,
which are re consistently applied 1o the hedged fem,

+ Counterparty credit nsk impacting fair value movements on
uncollateralised inerest rate swaps but not the underlying

hedged item.

For qualifying fair value hedges, gains or losses on denivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item attributable 1o
the hedged risk are included in net revenses. When a denivative
15 no longer designated as 2 hedge, any remamng difference
between the camying value and par value of the hedged item is
amortised over the remaining life of the bedged item using the
effective interest method,

Collateralised Agreements and  Collateralised
Financings

Collateralised agreements mnclude resale agreements and
securities borrowed.  Collateralised  financings  include
repurchase  agreements, securitics loaned, sccured debt
securities ssued, intercompany loans and other borowings.
See “Classification and Measurement: Financial Assets™ and
“Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilites™ above
for details on the classification and measurement of these
instruments. Collateral received or posted can be in the form of
cash or securities. Cash collateral is recognised/derecognised
when recerved/pard. Collateral posted by the company in the
form of secunties 1s not derecognised from the balance sheet,
whilst collateral received in the form of securities 13 mot
recognised m the balance sheet. IF colloeral receved is
subsequently sold, the obligation to retum the collateral and the
cash received are recognised n the balance sheet.
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Penslon Arrangements. The company is a sponser of a
diefined contribution pension plan, and a hybnd pension plan
for the benefit of certain emplovees. The hybnd pension plan
has both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
coniribution section. These are sccoumted for as follows:

* For the defined contribution pension plan and the defined
coftribution  section  of the hybeid pension plan,  the
contnibutirons  pavable for the period are charged o0 net
operating  expenses.  Differences  belween  contributions
payable for the peried and contnbuwtions actually paid are
shown as either accruals of prepavments in the balance sheet,

For the Flan, the amounts charged 10 net operating expenses
are any past service costs, sdm mistration costs and any pams
or losses on settlements and curtallments. These amounts are
included in compensation and benefiiz. The interest s
ingluded in interest incomef{expense). Actuarml gains amd
losses are recogrised mmedmiely m other comprehensive
income. Plan assets are measured at fair value and Flan
lishilities are measused on an actuarial basis wsing the
projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate
equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-gquality
corporate bond of equavalent currency and term to the Plan
lisbilities. Full actuanal valwations are obtamned at least
triernially and updated a1 each balance sheet date. Amy
surplus o deficit of Plan assets over Plan liabilities s
recopnised in the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or
liability (deficit).

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
sccumulated amortisation and  provision for  impairment.
Subgect to the recognition critenia in LAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’
being met, costs incwrred dunng the persod that are directly
atiributable to the development or improvement of new
business application software are capitalised as assets m the
course of construction Assets in the course of construction are
transferred to computer software once completed and ready for
their intended use.

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful hfe. which is three vears. No amortisation 15
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amortisation is
included in net operating expenses and the amortisation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis,

Intangible assets are tested for mpaiment whenever events or
changes in circumstances suggest thal an asset’'s or assel
group's carrying value may not be fully recoverable,
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Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Agsets. Provisions are recognised in the Nmancil statements
when it is probable that an cutflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle a present (legal or constructive) obligation,
which has ansen as a result of past events, and for which a
rehable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Legal obligations that may arise as a result of proposed new
laws are recognised s obligations only when the legislation is
virtually certain to be enacted as drafied.

A contingent liabality 15 o possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed enly by the
occurrence of non-ocourrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that arises from past events but i3 mot
recognised because either an outflow of economic benelits 1s
not probable or the amount of the oblipation cannot be relisbly
measured.

A contingenl assel s a possible assel that anses from past
events and whose existence will be confinmed only by the
occurrence of non-occurrence of one or more uncertain fuiure
events nol whelly within the control of the company.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised
in the financial statements. However, disclosure is made for
contingent liabilities unless the probability of senlement is
remote.

Equity Instruments. The company’s AT notes have been
classified as equity instruments. Associated interest =
recognised directly in retained earnings when paid,

Mew Standards, Amendments and Interpretations Mot
Yet Adopted By The Company

The following new standards and amendments that are relevant
to the company’s operations have been isswed by the
International  Accounting  Standards Beard but, with the
exception of the Amendments to 1AS 21 “The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ (Amendments 1o TAS 21,
have not yet been adopted for use within UK. international
accounting standards by the UK. Endorsement Board.

*  Amendments to [TAS 21,

* JFRS 18 ‘“Presemtation and Disclosure
Statements”; and

in Financial

*  Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
(Amendments to IFRS 9 *Financial Instruments” (IFRS @)
and [FRS T “Financial Instruments: Disclosures™)

The company does nol expect fuwre adoplion of these
standards and amendments to have a material impact,

&)
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Hote 4.
Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recognised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimstion means that actual outcomes could differ from those
estimates. The [ollowing estimates have had the most
sigmificant effect on amounts recognised in the financial
stalements:

Fair Value Measurament

Certan of the company”s financial assets and labilities mclucbe
significant unohservable inputs (Le., level 3). See Mote 29 for
information about the camying value, valuation techniques and
sigrificant inputs of these instruments,

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Flan and the value of the Plan habilities are
determined using actuanal valuations. This mvolves making
assumptions abowt discount rates, future salary increases,
mortality rates and future pension increases. Due o the
complexity of the valuation, such estimates are subject to
sigmificant uncertainty. See Note 14 for funther information
about the company*s Plan.
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Nota 5.
Net Revenues

Met revenues include net interest expense and non-interest
income. Met interest expense includes interest and dividends on
financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or
loss and amortised cost and retumns on the company”s GCLA.

The table below presents the company”s net revenues.

Vit Eratid Doz st
§ it milfoess 2024 2023
Hon-interest income
Firancial Faunen s mandaionly messund al
fair yalos throwgh profe or lss 1M 5 14, )
Srancial Fstumants designisd &1 i vaks
through peolit or loss [1,621) 13.359)
Fsfi Arg COMMERINS 2,148 1,886
Crhar if oo — 1,443
Hon-interast income 1318 14, 160
Interest Income
Sranoial Fsuments memsuned at fair e
thrmagh peafi o loss 11,118 0,334
Frar cial P e AL AT ST 13,885 2,304
Taotsl intarast incamas 4,80 21,53
Intarest axperise
Firancial irstruments measured at fair e
thmugh profit or loss [e1M) {10, 7E3)
Firan cial ISTLNEN!S MARSLEY A7 ANCsRd cos! (16829 {13773
Tatsl ntarost wap [26,760)  (34.508)
Kot | xpanag [1.857) {2088,
Ao omanus, LGRS LT,
In the table above:

+ Nom-interest income from financial mstruments mandaonly
measured st fair value through profit or loss primanly rebates
to non-irterest gains and losses on radmg assets, trading
lmabilities, cerain collateralised agreements and certain other
nsls,

Mom-mnterest income from financial mstrumends designated at
fair value through profit or loss relates to non-interest gains
and losses on certain unsecured borrowings and collateralised
financings.

Fees and commussions primarily relates to net revenues from
certain financial advisory and underwriting engagements,
executing and clearing  clent trancactions and  certain
invesiment marmgement services.

» Caher income primarily ingluded the gain of $1.42 hilhon for
2023 related to the transfer of the company’s UK, asset
management business,

Financial mstruments designated at far value through profit
or loss are frequently economically hedged with financial
instruments measused mandnatosily at fair value theough profit
of loss, Accordingly, gains or kesses that are reponted in
financial instruments desmrnated at faar valwe through pralit or
loss can be partially offset by gains or losses reported in
financial instruments measured mandatoraly at fair value
through prafit or loss.

Gl
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* Due to the nature of the company’s business activities,
fevenue feported in non-imerest income can be partially
offset by revenue reported n anterest incomef{expense). For
example, cash imstruments that generate inleres! incom« are in
some cases hedged or funded by denvatives for which
changes in fair value are reflected in non-interest income.
Alza, certain activities produce non-interest income but incur
interest expense related 1o the fumding of the related
Inventory.

Durning 2024, net revenues relating to cenmin short-term
foreign currency  swaps used in connection with the
company's funding strategy are classified within non-interest
ineame from financial instruments mandatonly measured at
fair value throwgh profit or loss to better align with the
classification for smilar foreign  currency  derivatives.
Previously, such net revenues were incheded within interest
income/expense) from financial instruments measured at fair
value through profit er loss. This change m presentation did
nit change the company’s net revenucs and 15 consistent with
the com pany s regulatory filings.

Amounts previcusly reported for 2023 have been conformed
te the current period presentation. The mpact of this change
for 2023 was an increase in non-interest income  from
fimancial instruments mandatonly measured at fair value
through profit or loss of $557 million, with a corresponding
increase in net interest expense of $357 millien, of which:

+ Interest income from fmance] instruments measured at fair
value through profit or loss decreased by 51,13 billion; and

* Interest expense from financial instruments measured at fair
value through profit or loss decreased by $570 million.

For 2024, the impact of this change was an increase in non-
interest income of 5147 hallion, with a corresponding
inerense in nel imterest expense of 51,47 billicn

Geographic Information

[nze 1o the highly integrated nature of intemational financial
markets, the company manages its bisinesses based on the net
revenues of the enterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating net revenues to geographic regions is dependent on
estimates and management judgement.
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Geographse results are generally allocated as follows:

« Investment Banking: location of the client, investment
bankirg team and underlying rsk,

+ FICC and Equaties: location of the market-makimg desk or the
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Hote 6.
Met Operating Expenses
The wble below presents the company's nel  operating

primary market for the underlving security. e ’
+ Investment  Management: location of the irvestent ¢ it %
mandgement leam. Compansation ard barsits $ 761 5§ zuea
Transaction basad 1,632 1881
The table below presents the company’'s nel revenues by LIV —— &b B4
geographic region allocated based on the methodology referred e e e mctes bows b
to above. Profeesioral faes e 10
Wanapsmert charges from G5 Group afilates 1,050 1038
Yo Erciied Concmm bar Char wog EOY 253
§ iy milfers 7024 2023 Opeming #ap 6319 BALS
EMEA $ B2 5 TETS Merggermre: dhaigen w65 Groagp 't (] [IE]
AncmicEs 4,804 .78 M & G553 5 R ]
Asis 1,53 1784
Total 3 oz 5 ang

Revenue from Contracts With Customers

The table below presents the company s revenue from confracts
with customers subject to IFRS 15, which are included in fees
and commissions within non-interest income.

Wiassar [Erazies Dusezsam bt
& v milfoes 2024 2035
Firuncial advitsry arc urdenweiing engagements % 1,18 § A
Exsouion end clisnt clearing Iarsacions £ a5l
Irrems et manag E ] s BT
Total 5 2748 5 1,885
— E—

Im the table above:

+ Management charges mcludes charges relating to operational
and administrative support and management  services,
recewved from and provided 1o GS Group atfiliates,

* Caher  expenses  primanly  includes IFES 15 expenses,
miscellaneous taxes, provisions for liabilities, regulatory fees
and chantable contributions,

The table below presents the fees pavable 1o the company's
audiors, which are included in professional fees.

Yaur Ended Decsnshar

i malficins: 2024 e
Al Feas 5 61 5 [X]
At related assumnos serdos FA 3
Crther assuranos services 1.3 1.2
“Total e O For-mUtE services 18 R
Tetsl Taas ] 100 § 5.1
—_— — —

Im the table above:

= Avdit related sssurance services primanly related to chent
money and assel reporing.

+ Other assurance services included the company’s share of
fees related to certain services provided by a network firms of
the company s auditors 1o vanous G35 Group affilates, These
fees were apportioned o the vanous GS Group affihiates,
including the company, by reference to each entity’s asset
312,
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Mote T.
Compensation and Benefits

The table below presents the company’s average monthly
emplovee headeount, mcluding executive directors,

Average for e
il [Eraied Duiszan biar
Numnber 2024 2023
s Tiven Banking GOE 700
FICC [0 [2e]
Ecuims Eal] T30
Irremitneent Maragesman! a2 6T
Support Funciions 1,062 far
Toksl aesmge headoount 374 Adzd

In the table above, support functions include Legal, Tax,
Internal  Audit, Risk, Compliance, Conflicts Resolution,
Controllers, Engincenng, Corporate Treasury and certain other
corporate functions.

Total headeount was 3,614 as of December 2024 and 3,332 as
of December 2023

The table below presents compensation and benefits costs
incurred by the company, incheding those relating to directors.

Wikaief [EPatied Dieaadvi biad

# in milform 2024 sl
‘Whages ard selares £ 234 5 1882
SHocial wecurily costs T 2
Pansion costs:

Dwfinad corTibudon plam ard calined

eormibsos sacich af e Pybid panisn plas 48 42

Do bana ) sacion of the kybdd pecsion plan F P
ot i Ge §  Gae

In the table above, total compensation and benefits included a
charge of 3747 mullion for 2024 and a charge of 5216 million
for 2023 representing changes in the far value of share-based
pavment awards recharged from Group Inc. during the vear,

63
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Hote 8.
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Flan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incemtive Plan (2021)
(2021 51, which provides for grants of RSUs, reatricted stock,
dividend  equivalent  rights, ncentive sk oplions,
nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, and other
share-based awards, each of which may be subject to terms and
conditions, incheding performance of market conditions, On
Apnl 29, 2021, Growp Inc.’s shareholders approved the 2021
SIP. The 2021 SIP is a successor to several predecessor stock
incentive plans, the first of which was adopted on Apnil 30,
1999, and each of which was approved by Group Inc’s
sharehalders. The 2021 SIP is scheduled to terminate on the
date of Group Inc.'s 2025 Annual Meeting of Sharcholders.

The company recorded share-based compensation in respect of
the amorisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
5385 millwon for 2024 and 5334 million for 2023, The resultant
credit to equity arnsing from these share-based payments has
been offaet in equity as a resull of the recogrition of a liakility
for amounts ansing under the terms of the chargeback
spreement with Group Ine. under which the company s
committed to pay to Group Inc. the grant-date fair value, as
well as subsequent movements in the fair value of those awands
to Group Ine. at the time of delivery 1o its emplovess,

Restricted Stock Units

Group Inc, grants RSUs (including RSUs  subject to
performance  or market conditions] to the company’s
emplovees, which are generally valued based on the closing
price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after taking
into account o Liquidity discount for any applicable post-vesting
and delivery wransfer restirictions. The value of equily awands
also consaders the mpact of matersal non-public information, 1f
any, that G5 Group expects to make available shortly fnlluwing
grant. RSUs not subject to performance or market conditions
generally vest and underlying shares of commen stock are
debivered (net of required withholding tax) over a three-vear
penod as outlined m the applicable award agreements. Award
agreements generally provide that vesting i accelerated in
certain circumstances, such as on retirement, death, disabality
and, 10 eertain cases, conflicted emplovment. Delivery of the
underlying shares of common stock 15 conditioned on the
graniees safisfying certain vesting and other requirements
outlined in the award agreements.

R5Us that are subject to performance or market conditions
generally are settled after the end of a three- 1o Ove-vear period
For awards that are subject to performance or market
condrtions, generally the final award 1s sdjusted from zero up to
150%% of the original grant based on the extent 1o which those
conditions are satisfied. Dividend equivalents that accrue on
these awards are paid when the awards setthe
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The table below presents the activity related to RSUs.

Wisighted Average
Grant-Dats Fasr Vs of
Restrcind ok Foai et Sk
Urits Outsiancing LUrits Ouistanding
Pt Fix Fuiturn Fuure Mo Future
Serdm Setmrvicm Service Sarvisoe
Reguied  Reguied Reguied  Recuired
Year Endad December 2014
Bagirring balance BSGZTE  AMASIT 5 ZETAE 5 ITAR
Grarsd AETAZY BITTERE 5 G465 5§ 1192
Fofaiid (125478)  (162337) § P § AT
Dediedres —  ATTART) 3 — & ImE
e (EA214K) A5rA43 3 e § W
Trans'ers BT 1986 % e 5 IHD
Ending balance AMSERE  ZOOTASE 5 MI4T § 9050
Yoar Erced Decamber 2023
Bagirring balarcs BIZAM 3 F00AZE 5 IOTAT 5§ B
Grarteg ar4ETD GrLATE 5§ M43 5§ 3nEd
Forfaitec 1 265} a1 8 M2 5 M
Dilivarsd - [LTXEar - £ Ham
astad (741 428) THIA3E 5 28542 5§ 34D
. S - .
Erdin: balanca BEEZTO 3 AMLOZT S FATIE S PR32
In the table above:

+ The weighted average grant-date faar valee of ESUs granted
was 3353092 during 2004 amd 531312 dusing 2023 The
grant-date fair value of these RSUs included an average
Isquidity discoumt of 4.13% duning 2024 and 5.01% during
2023, to reflect post-vesting and delivery transfer restrictions,
generally of 1 vear for both 2024 and 2023,

The aggregate fair value of awards that vested was 5471
million during 2024 and 3423 mallion during 2023

The ending balance included RSUs subject to future service
requirements and performance or market conditions of 38,557
RSUs as of December 2024 and 65,542 for December 2023,
and the maximum amount of such RSUs that may be carned
was 57,836 as of December 2024 and 98,914 for December
2023,

The ending balance also included RSUs not subject to future
sefvice requirements bt subject to performance conditions of
192,550 R51Us as of December 2024 and 240,909 R51Us as of
December 2023, and the maximum amount of such ESUs that
may be carned was 288 825 RSUs as of December 2024 and
361,364 R5Us as of December 2023,
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Hote 9.
Income Tax Expense

The able below presents an analysis of the company™s income
AN expense.

st Endid Ducanbar

5 iv milfions: ik i (2]
Current tax

UK. wantior 3 E72 & 453
Asqpusienaes i peape! of price pariods 43 iz
Crvarmari lAxatior pro ] i)
Total current tax 1042 ol
Deferred tax

Griginaton and reversal of temporany 0ifsmnoes [165] 14
ACpUSTANSRS i pespec of prior pariods &1} =
Totsl difedrad tix (1E8] 14
Totsl incoma tax axpacas 3 T4 5 [1F]

The table below presemts a reconcilition belween income tax
expense and the amount caleulated by applying the weighted
average combined UK. corporation tax rate (meluding banking
surcharge) applicable (o the company for 2024 of 28.0% (2023
2175%) o peofit before tavation. The company’s weighted
average combined UK. corporation tax rate for 2023 of
27.75% meluded three months from January 1, 2023 to March
31, 2023 at 27.0°% and nine months from Aprl 1, 2023 to
December 31, 2023 at 28.0%.

aar Endmd Duosmbar

§ i mdlions 2024 2023
Preafiy Baafore taxation 4 XETI 5 LnEE
Prafit bafore taxafion rulipied by combined UK.

CofpErmion B rale of 20.0% (20X 27 TN 1,028 1408
Changes in Moogritin and nsasursmant of

ST K ERaE B 4
N -lanibls § A falinsd b raraler of UK. asial

rarppenaent busraes — (RN
Tax deducibls on inlemst on AT1 rotes (138 LFL]
Hon-mcabde oome on bnse-enked

govemEnert bones (76] {200
Char pieTinan ciTamroe 4] 1=
Exchurgs ciferancet angd olar 18 &
Acqusteer’s i reipec] of prioe periads B 153
Total Income tax nxparse § ard £ Bils

In 2023, the Firance (Noo I) A 2023 enacted certain
provisions of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECDY) Global Anti-Base Erosion Mode] Rules
(Fillar Twa), including a Domestic Minimum Top-Up Tax,
which applied 10 G5 Group from January 2024, Pillar Two
aims 10 ensure that multinational companies pay @ minimum
effective corporate tax mte of 15% in each jursdiction in whach
they operate, The OECD released transitional safe harbours
rules that, if satishied, deem top-up taxes to be zero. Given the
company satisfies and mtends o apply the safe harboar rules,
there was no impact to the company’s effective tax rate as a
result of Pillar Two rules. The company &lso does not expect a
material impact to its 2025 annual effective tax rate, absent a
sigmficant change m s proftability, mix of eamings or
material discrete income tax events. The company continues to
apply the mandatory exception to recogrising and disclosing
information about deferred i assets and linbilites related o
Pillar Twe income taes
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In sccounting for taxes, the company recognises tax posibions
in the financial staternents only when it is probable that the
taxing authonty will accept an uncertain tax treatment based on
the techmcal ments of the posmtion. The company uses
estimates 1o recognise current and deferred taxes m the
Jurnischictions i whach it operates. The mcome tax laws n these
jurisdictions are complex and can be subject to different
interpretations  between  taxpavers and taxing  authorities.
Dnsputes may arise over these interpretations and can be seutled
by audit, admmistrative appeals or judicial proceedings. The
company’s interpretateons are reevaluated quarterly based on
gusdance cwrrently available, tax audit experience and the
opinions of legal counsel, among other factors. The company
does not expect that the resolution of any such dispute will
have a matenial impact on its total sharcholder’'s equaty, but it
may be material 1o the operating resulis for a particular period,
depending. in part, on the operating results for that periad,

MNote 10.

Collateralised Agreements

The table below presents the comparny's  collateralised
agresments

Az of Decsnbar
§ it millorm 2024 a0E3
ik agrasmeny $ 1TATm § 1R
Sacuriias bormowsd TAETY 108,508
Lot § tsases § i
MNote 11.

Customer and Other Receivables

The table below presents the company’s customer and other
receivables.

A of Dacssrbsse
& iy milfen 2024 2023
Recaivables from Broker/'dealers and deaning
cegmRisEiors $ 1ZATE 5 ndEM
Racatvables from cusiomers and counterpariss 64312 eA3sd
el 3 __TEESE S5 iraon
In the table above:

+ Total customer and other receivables primanly consists of
receivables resuling from collateral posted in connection
with certain derivative transactions, customer margin loans

and balances related to histed dervative activity.

+ Receivables from customers and counterparties  includes
receivables from contracts with customers, which were 5226
million as of December 2024 and 5114 mullion as of
December 2023,

L]

Hote 12,
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Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabalites include trading cash instruments
and derivatives held in conmection with the company’s market-
making or risk management activities, includng securities held
for liguidity risk mansgement purposes. Trading assets includes
assets pledged a5 collaternl. See Note 23 for  further

nformation.

The table below presents the company s trading assets.

A of Db

§ iy mdlliges 2024 023
Trading cash Instruments

oy marks! resnunenis 5 11 & o0
Gowmmmant and agency chigaions 5582 48 T4T
Maripagn snd obar assat-backas kans ard

Al RE 3] i

Comporats Sl BLrumen 0,550 5998
Ecnity saourims 60,571 S0
Commodties 100 Rl
Todsl tradirg cash instrumants 146,715 132 B52
Dafvatives

et PR 4THEERY 0k 248
Crdin 15, 7bE 0EEE
Cumercies. Mearr S5 ATS
Commodties B Q002
Ecuities BZITT 51309
Totnl derivetives 673,367 s, 00
Totsl trading snssts §  BIBOEF §  ArA 5D
The table below presents the company”s trading liabilites

As of Dz basr

§ i malions 2024 2023
Trading cash instruments

Govarrnan snd sgency shigeiors AT 8 Iveas
Comaorate ceb! insruments. (51 Ey ]
Eoudty securies 8T A3 B0k
Commodtiaes REE] 11
Tosl iradirg cash inatrumerts 55,253 £, TED
Derfvathoes

iR raias 45T 4D A, 16
Crdit 17 AB0 180
Cumercies 108,112 =T -]
Commodtias BAXE 3o
Eities B4,623 £ 222
Totsl derhvstives B55,567 ET1.880
Total vadiog isbilies ERELCF (I MET
In the tables above:

* Corporate debt imstrumemts includes corporate leans, debt
securities, convertlble debentures, prepaid  commodity
transactions and transfers of assets accounted for as secured

loans rather than purchases.

* Equity securities includes public eguities and exchange-

tradied funds.
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Note 13,
Other Assets
The table below presents the company”s other assets by tpe,
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
The table below presents the movements in property, leaschold
improvements and equipment during the current and prier vear,

As of O b & = el mprovements  equpment Total

it miles 2024 2023 Cost
Lodra 3 &5 o8 Az of December 2022 % 12 % [ L]
rreninverts ) 4003 AgditorsTrars as ] - 2
Nisonllarsous recehvabies and offer 1,802 15105 Disposals — — —
Total Ananceal assets. 2,43 2624 A of Dacaerbese 2023 14 L] B
Frogearty, baasahol EMprovsnseos and aouipmmn: 3 5 AdsieraTrarslars —_ 1 1
< AREE0E A &1 _Diposaly [ ] 1 %
Righ-oluis axasts -] ¥ A of Deceenber X024 12 [ 13

Defered tax assets (sae MNots 15) (5] 458
Frepayments ard acorusd incoms A an ::;mnm! d:;éd'hﬂ o n -
Tax-relaind assais Al ) 150 Charge for fs 3 3 2
BiiscalMr s s FRcsiabis and ciher 5 4 i et _ _ -
:nui Pt Trancial aaanis , 1,458 ; ;::u Fa oD EoTFE] 0 3 Ty
o] L738 =%, Charge for th yeer - 1 1
Cisposals - 1) [
In the table above: As of December X004 ] 0 5 [ ] 15
) . . it book valus

* Loans mncludes boans held for investment and interoom pany Aoxod Eracammbege ST 3 23 i3 3
loans. Aol eceiber i) 3 i3 13 =

¢ Investments includes corporate debt instruments and equity
segurities held for investment, and the company’'s mvestment
in subsidiary which has been measured at far value in
accordance with IFRS 9.

Miscellaneous receivables and other included in financial
assets  primartly  includes receivables from G5 Group
affiliates, including recervables for allocation of net revenues
among G35 Group affilates for thew participation in G5
Group's business activities,

In the prior period, leans held for investment were presented
directly on the balance sheet as “Loans’, and corporate debt
instruments and equity securities held for investment as
‘Investments’. In the curremt peniod, the company has
presemied these in “Orher assets’. As a resull, comparatives
have been conformed to the current penod presentation.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the
useful econcaic life of the asset or the remaining life of the
lease when the asset 15 brought into we. Fixtures, fitlings and
equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over ther
estimated use ful lives, which s between 3 to 7 vears.

Intangible Assets
The table below presents the movements in imtangible assets,
related 1o computer software, during the cusrent and peior year.

Apaat e e
Coorgaber coirss of
§ i rllicas sofware  conerucion Total
Coat
A of Decermber W2 ] ey § b0 § 1y
agditiorsTranses Fi) A7) Frdl
(4} e 14
Ag of Dacesnba D023 1344 223 1,584
AgdineeaTraralans 5 48 274
Draprricaby i) — [t}
As of Decermber X024 1568 For 1837
Accumulated amort sathan
Az of Dacemb=r 2022 TR - [T
Charge for th yaar 51 - 1
— {3
A of Decerber 2005 1046 - 1
Charge for the year Fi o] - Fi ol
A of Dacernbar 2024 5 1307 & - i 1,387
et book valee
A of Dacernber 2024 5 758 5 ITE & -500)
S S
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MNote 14,
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a pension plan with a hvbnd stnscture,
having both a defined bemefit section (the Plan) and a defined
contribution section. The Plan provides retirement benefits on
the bagis of members’ final salary, with a normal retirement age
of &5 for most members. The Plan 15 funded, with the assets of
the scheme held sepamtely from those of the company, in
separate trustes-adm inistered funds.

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnl 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contnibution plan. As of
Masch 31, 2016, the Plan was closed to future benefit accruals
for existing partcipants.

The PFlan cperates under trust law and is mamaged and
administrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Limited (the Trustee) on behall of the members and
beneficiaries in sccordance with the terms of the Trust Deed
and Rules and relevant legislation. The Trustees act on betalf
of the members and beneficiaries and have the respomsibility
for seting the investment strategy and agreeing funding
requirements with the company throagh the valuation process.

A full actuarial valuation of the Plan, for accounting purposes,
was camed ol by a qualified independent actuary as of
December 31, 2024 wsing the projected unit credit method
based upon membership data as of July 31, 2024 As of
December 2024, Plan habilines consmsted of 8% in respect of
future beneficiaries and 11% in respect of current beneficiaries.
Az of December 2023, Plan liabiliies consisted of 91% in
respect of future beneficianies and %% in respect of current
beneficiaries,

There 15 no asset ceiling imposed on the amount of pension
surplus recognized in the financial statements as the company is
able to utiise the Plan surplus in the scenarnos set out in
“[FRIC 14 - IAS 19 - The Linit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minmum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”.

Several valuations are prepared for the Plan, mcluding
valuations on an accounting basis (in lne with IFRS), on a
funding basis {used by the Trusiees to manage the funding of
the: Plan) and on a discontinuance basis (used to determine the
funding level if the Plan were 1o wind up mmediely and the
liabalities bought out with an rsurance company). The two
main differences between the accounting valuation and funding
valuation is the method used to determine the discount rate
assumption and the margins of prudence required to be
included in the funding valuation.

a7
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Investmaent Strategy of the Plan
The Plan may make use of three key types of mvestments as
considered appropriate at various stages of the Plan's life:

* A range of instruments that provide a broasd match o changes
in liability values.

* A portfolio of secure Income assets.
+ A diversified portfolio of retume-secking assets.

The Plan Trustees monstor the labality profile of the Plan and
regularly review the appropriatencss of its investment stralegy
in relation to the nature and duration of the Plan’s habilities,

The Plan Trustees have a long-term asset allocation strategy 1o
invest 41% of assets In retum secking investments (such as
equity funds'indices, alternative investments and Mived income
securities) and 9% in habality matching assets (such as Gilis,
swaps amd resalerepurchase  agreements). The primary
objective of the Plan's hedging programme 5 to hedge the
majority of the Plan’s interest rate and inflatson exposure based
on the funding valuation of Plan labilities,

Rilsks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

« Funding Shortfall. Additional coninbutions will  be
required if the investment retums are not sufTicient to pay for
benefits. The level of equiiy refums will be a key determ inant
of overall investment return; the investment portfiolio s also
subject to a range of other nsks typical of the asset classes
held, in particular interest rate nsk and inflation nsk on
bonds,

+ Asset Volatllity. A consequence of the Plan's investmient
strategy, with a significant proportion of the assets invested n
equities and other retum-secking assets, 1s that the difference
between Plan assets and Plan labilities may be volatle. In
addition, whilst labality matching instruments contribute 1o
velatility in Plan assets due 1o changes in market conditions
(see below), they seck to minimise the difference between
Plan assets and Plan liabilities. In the event of market
volatility, the Flan has put in place a revalving credit Gacility
with & G5 Group affilmte 1o mitigate the risk of having to sell
assets in distressed markets 1o meet collateral calls.

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan labilities are sensitive to
the assumptions made sbout future nflation and  Dife
expectancy. 1t 1s also sensiive to the discount rate, which
depends on market wvields on sterling-denominated A&
corporate bonds
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Financial and Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the significant financial and mortality
assumpiions wsed to determine the present value of the defined
benefit obligation.

A5 of Dazamibiar

o avnum, ronpl manmsliy s sumplicns 024 20z
Finarcial fssumpsions
Discunt e a.rh 4.7
Rata of price inflasior = RF .38 1m
Rats of prica iflatior = CP1 235 m
Rans of noranss in parsions in paymsnis

ipans-Plarasnsbar 30 1996 aceral 315 .02
Rame of increass in persions in delemen!

[posi-Movember M0, 1558 acoual) 255 ]
Fate of increass in persions in defsment

(porst=Apel 5, 2009 accrual) 250 280
Manality Asaumptons
Life g oy Al 66 for @ drir ey & G4

[T A yeary XA years

Eamales. 25 years .2 years
Life axpeciancy at 55 for @ member ourmerdy at 48

Mralas, 50 years 5.0 years

Faniks TEE years 195 paars

In the table above, the morality assumptions adopled as of
December 2024 were the “SAPS 53 very light {All Pensioners)
series” base table with an allowance for fuhwe improvemenis
from 2013 onwards in line with the CMI 2023 core projections
with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25% per annum and
an initial addition to monality improvement pamameter of
01.50%% per annum and default weighting parameters

Reconclllation of Pension Surplus/(Deficit)

The table below presents a reconciliation of Plan assets, Plan
ligbalities and the net persion surplus{dehein).

Lo
[ ]
Plar Pan  sumplusd
3 in milorm ERad Rabdita {Eaf)
Yanur Ended Decam b 2024
As of Jariary 1, 2024 5 1,273 5 {1,353 % {80y
Adrmin rathe cou = &1} (EH
Ireres! Incomal [expanss} (7] Y] (111
Ratum on Flan asssts less than
cEonunt mts {25T) - 35T)
Actusial gairkas) = kabdity sopearare - 3 3
Actusisl gairdls) — irarcial asaumphoes. = 56 256
2, il gain — raphic W - 1
Banafis paid {13 13 -—
inf{loss) {20} 0 -
As of December 31, 7074 5 1043 5 (1765 (B3}
Yo Erced Deember 2021
s of Jaruary 1, 2023 £ 1233 § (1,193} § A0
Agmeni ralive cost - 3k 3
Irraren! incomad(sapania) 62 L1 F
Rt on Man addats leid tkan
chscount rate Ty -— {r1y
Actuarisl gainiloss) = kabidity sxperence -_ [=1}} {31
Aciuariel gairdloas) = fnarcial assumpions - (26} {26)
Actuadial Gain - Semographic ARLMPIoNS - 18 16
Banafi paid {145} 14 -_
Farsign awchange gainilinss) L I 14)) 1)
Az of December 1120001 $ 1273 & (1 8 by

it
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Fair Value of Plan Assets
The table below presents the far value of Plan assets.

5 i mallions Guoied  Unguotsd Total
As of Decwmbere 2024

Euity furiaffioe ¥ 17 § — % 178
Gt snd mesdrapurohase ag 1,108 (5451 i
Evemyr - 3 3
Cazh and cash squivalents 10T - 167
Char 1 T 21
o] 58 (T3 e
A5 0f Daceenbar 2023

Bty fuirdiandicad 5 9 5 - 5 -]
Gita and msEbirepurchasn mgrsnants 1250 (B2} (<]
Soweipra — L] LE]
Cash and cash squivalens 1 - kL=
Cehar 13 LT 280
Total 5 1571 5 @Al 5 1273

Im the table above, other pnimanly conssts of mnvestments in
altemative investments and fixed income secunities.

Defined Benefit Cost

The table below presents the defined benefit loss{{gain) related
to the Plan recognised in the income statement and in other
comprehensive income.

“fnmr Ended Decembar
£ in millions FI T For=]
Incoms statement
Acrrn s iraTye cost 5 3 g bl
WA, S s i | 3 12
Teasl eharged to tha L t [ 1
Othar comprebenaive income
Ratum on Plar asists less Fan ciacoun! mts F= 1 w
Acthuarial lossf{gain) = kabikly sxpaience (k1] n
Aciuanial loss/igain} = financial assumpdons (25E] -3
Astuarial gain = demographic assumptions 1] {18)
Teasl losai{gain] recegnised in ather

prak v | (k1] L[]
Totsl defined becft iove i 3§ e
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Sensitivity Analysis
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Flan liabilities
for each significant actuanal assumption.

Imgact 1o Flan Lishilties

Incraass in Discrenss in
f Assumpdon
& in millicns % £ mdfons %
As of Gecember 2024
0.24% change in dsoount e 5 % (53] § [ 5] 6.6
025% change in peica inlation  § 50 44 5 45 (4.3
1 ywar charge in Be w0 3 W 253 (2% 8
Az f Decembsr 2023
025 change in SHeunt Mo 5 {7 (5T} S a3 6.1
0.&40% change in poice inlaion H] L3 48 3 [ F I L 1]
1 ymar changs in s sopectancy  § ) ir % [ I ]

In the table above, the sensitivities are based on a change in
each assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.

There are inheremt Imitations n the sensitivity analysis, as such
wosyncratic  movements  are  unlkely 10 occur.  The
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities 15 consistent
across the two periods presented in the table above

Mature of Future Cash Flows

Since the Plan's closure 1w future accruals from March 31,
2006, the company has ceased to make regular comrnbutions
mto the Plan but will continue to assess the funding
requirements of the Plan with the Trustees on a periodic basis.

On a tnennial basis, & formal funding valuation of the Plan s
performed for the Trustess 1o assess the Nnding needs of the
Plan. Thiz valustion differs from the actuarial valuation
required for sccounting purposes due to the use of different
asumplons.

The most recent trienmal funding valuation of the Plan was
performed by a qualified independent actuary as of December
31, 2021, which showed that the Plan had & funding surplus of
5356 millsan, Since then, the funding position has deteriorated
and duning 2024, the estimated funding valuation of the Plan
decreased from a deficit of 336 million as of December 2023 to
a deficit of 544 million as of December 2024 The next full
tnenmial funding valwation of the plan will be as at 31
December 2024 with the preliminary results expected o be
available in the thard quarter of 2025, If the funding valuation
shows there is a deficit as of December 31, 2024, the company
and the Trustee will agree on a plan 1o remediate any deficit,

As of December 2024, the company expected 511 milleon of
benefits 1o be paid out of the Plan to members in 2025 and as of
December 2023, the company expected 313 mallion to be paid
out of the Plan to mem bers in 2024,

The weighted aversge duration of Plan  habilities was
approximately 23 wears as of December 2024 and
approciimately 25 years as of December 2023,
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Note 15.
Deferred Tax Assets

The table below presents the components of the company's
deferred tax assets.

A of Drecamber

5 in malficns ik i (2]
(Db Coraec] oo s 3o 5 75 5 [T F)
Postrasnaert beraiis n »
[Pezspiaity, b bk i ard L ]

nd inlangible asaats (142 (135
(D! itk Eon acpsimani Fa Fal
Drhar saypoary Sfamercns 18 &
i S -

The table below presents changes in each component of the
company s deferred tax asseis

il o cdad Dl

§ iy g 2034 sl
Dafarred compansation

Beginring balancs 5 B4 £ =111
Trans'sr io the ircoma sasment 161 {3
Dithar emponry difeneroes kL -
oty ety : N3 oS
FostreSrement benalits

Begirrieg balancs 5 s 1)
TiranaSer 1o tha ircome Latemen| T =
Transfer 1o othar compeshsnsive incons [k} X3
Endirg balance | 23 % kel

Froparty, leasshobd improvements and squipmesnt
wnd iptargible nssats

Baginrang Balanod ¥ 13 5 (1485
Transler 1o the rcoma i3 (=]
$ (143§ [LEET)
Dubt walusticn sdjustmart
Beginring balance § i EELH]
Transler o other compeshsnshe noomes & a2
EHI‘.IH |balange 5 27 5 21
Other temporary differences
Eaginrang balanos 5 |- -
Tiranster 5 the inoome sAtement 8 -]
Endirg balanes ] 18 5 -]
Total
Beginring balance § a5 £ s,
Trans'sr o tha ircoma sSaisment [see MHols 9) 168 {14
Tiranster o othar compeshsnsive noovs & -
Drher Sporasy STaierce 3 =
Jngieg Delence I__ 893 a8

Im the tables above, deferred compensation s mainly in respect
of share-based compensation. In the current penad, the
company recognised a deferred tax assel on share-based
compensation transferred from a GS Growp affihate.
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Note 16,
Interests in Other Entities

The table below presents the subsidianies over which the
company exercised control as of both December 2024 and
December 2023,

Hulgng
and
proporion  Class of
Blama o Courtrpof  of voing  shares Shares  Matues !
G BT rightis ] hald  busiress

Golldman Sacks
{Caymam} Cayman Orclinary Fnancial
Liriitiesd llanss 1007 shares 250 SRNACES
Finmncial
Gt Trus! Semth Africa * - © aeRcas

* This subsidiary undertaking = controlled other than through
votmg rights attached 1o shares.

The registered office addresses of the company’s subsidianes
as of December 2024 are:

¢ Goldman Sachs (Cayman) Limited: the offices of Maples
Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland Howse,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

+ Giniffin Trust: 46 Gth Street, Houghton Estate, Johannesburg,
Gauteng, 2198, South Africa

The company has inferests in a number of special purpose
emtities and capital guaranieed funds which de net meet the
defmition of a legal subsidiary, but give nise to the nsks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsidianes. The activities of these special purposs
entitses and capital guaranteed funds consist of the ssuance of
notes Macked by financial assets primarily wnder the terms of a
repackaging programme. These special purposes entities and
capital guaranteed funds are consolidated in the financial
statements of Group Inc.

Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has interests in structured entities. that it does mot
control (uncensolidated structured entities), which primanly
includes: semor and  subordinated debt, derwatives and
guarantees. Structured entities generally finance the purchase of
assets by issuing debt securities that are either collateralised by
or indexed to the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities issusd by o structured emtity may include tranches of
varying levels of subordination. The company’s involvement
with structured entities primarily includes the purchase and sale
of beneficial interests issued by morgage-backed structured
entities 1 connection with markel-making sctivities and
dervatives the company has entered into with structured
entities, such s total return swaps. In certain instances, the
company provides guarantees, including derivative guaraniees,
o uncansolidated structured entities or holders of interests in
unconsalidated struciured entities.
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The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities in which the company holds interests.

Ad of Dacanbid
3 i s 2024 20

Azsets In struciuned erites 5 4130 5 L%t
Camying walus of irlenesis - assats & 58D 5 LT
Camying valus of inierests - abidizes 1 [60) 5 =1
Wi LR 19 ks % 34T 5 ]
In the table above:

*+ The carrying values of the company’s interests are inchuded in
the balance sheet in trading sesets or trading liabalities.

+ The company's maximum exposure 1o loss 15 mainly a resuli
of derivatives, commitments and guaramees, for whach the
maimum exposure o loss is the notional amount, which
does not represent anticipated losses and also has not been
reduced by unrealised losses already recorded. As a result, the
maximum exposure to boss excesds habilities recorded for
derivatives, commitments and guarantees.

Note 17.
Collateralised Financings

The table below presents the company™s  collmeralised
financings.

Az of Cacmmber
L 2024 2023
Rapfchits Agnesnsns 5 16503 § 124925
Sezfitict I 3505 TEME
Ferconigary bars Tak * AAd
Dbl sacurities issusd 425 2004
Bark loars 1,153 [k ]
Oehar b ] 8,586 5374
Totsl 5 ‘Iw 5 215:?&

In the table above, ntercompany loans, debt secunties ssued,
bank loans and other borrowings are secured by securities
which have been pledged as collateral. This pledged collateral
15 either recognised in trading assets or  collmerahsed
aETECments.

Hote 18.

Customer and Other Payables

The table below presents the company’s customer and other
payables,

A 0F ey et
§ i e 2024 2025
Papntien o broketidealens e clearrg
organisations 5 1,787 % 1,26
[Paggabidas 10 DUSIOMaNS Bnd COUNIEariss AD5,367 113858
Teasl §_tried 5 isand

In the wable above, iotal customer and other payables primarily
consists of cash collmeral received in connection with cemain
denvative transactions, customer credit balances related 1o the
company’s prime brokerage activities and balances related to
listed denvative activity.
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Note 19,
Unsecured Borrowings
The table below presents the company”s unsecured bormowings.
A of Dacaerbes
£ iy milfors 2024 ]
Bark loans £ 100 5 L[]
Drvardrats 26 ar
Irsrenmpany Bars = nor-hWREL -k gkl 18,700 32474
Irsrenmpanry kzars — WREL sligibi 18,459 16,791
Dok speuriios e 20,540 0
Subordirated bars 5518 8504
Athar bommeings 11,62 B.7ag
Tobsl 5 TN S5 coZer
In the table above:

+ Payments on debt secunties ssued and other h-cr.ra-wingg
instruments are twpically referenced 1o underlving Gnancial
assets, which are predominmtely interest rates, equities and
currencies-related.

Subordinated loans consists of long-term loans of 36.88
ballion as of both December 2024 and December 2023 from
GSG UK and associated acerwed mterest. These loans are
unsacured and carry mierest m g vanable rate. These loans
constitute Tier 2 regulatory capatal adjusted for amortsation,
where applicable, and are repayable subject to PRA approval,
As of Decernber 2004, these loans were repayable between
December 26, 2029 and September 9, 2030, In February
2025, the matunty of these loans was extended by 5 years.

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company calculates the fair value of debt securities issued
that are designated at fair value through profit or loss by
discoamting future cash flows at a rate which incorporates GS
Group's eredit spreads. The table below presents information
about the company’s cumulative net pre-tax DVA  pams’
(losses) on debt securities issued that ase designated at fair
value through profit or less, which is included in accumulated
other comprehensive income

i [Eratied Dhiszidi hisd
3 in mlform F{TL] pursl
Bagirring balarce % [76) & m
Db valuation adjstmant for the year (kL] quaay
Trans'er o ratAired samings 1t 14
Ending balanca 3 [@T 5 {T6)

The table below presents information about the company’s
DVA gains(losses) net of tax, fealised wpon early redemplion
of cenain debt securities issued that are designated at fair value
throsigh prafit o loss, which are transferred from accumulated
other comprehensive income to retained eamings.

Waar Ended Decenber
& i milons 204 Faire]
Rsalised G gainsflosses) nel of e ] 7] 5 3

[
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Hedge Accounting

The company designales certain interes] rate swaps as fair valus
hedges that are used to manage the interest rale exposure of
certain fixed-rate unsecured long- and short-term debt. These
interest rate swaps hedge changes in fair value attnbutable to
the relevant benchmark interest rate (eg., EURIBOR),
effectively converting fixed-rate obligations into floating-rate
obligations.

The 1able below presents  informanon  abowt  hedging
mstruments, which are classified i derivatives within trading
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.

Az of Decamber
& it mallicins 2024 FFE]
At SR vakin 5 T 5 z
Liabdity camying valua ;] 3§ —

The table below presents the notional of hedging instruments
by contractual maturity date,

s 0f Doaezinmibar
¥ i malliaeg 2024 2023
1 =3 marita H 4rr 5 -
A moerka - 1 year r 532
1 =& ynars [+ 1608
Creater Than & years TH 1411
Toanl i 2073 5 EXIE]

The average fived rate of the company’s hedging insiruments
was 1.18% for 2024 and 0.97% for 2023,

The table below presents the carrying valwe of hedged items
that are dezigmated in a hedging relationship and the related
cumulative hedging adjustment (increase/{decrease)) from
current and prior hedging relstionships included m such
carrymg values.

Cuniudisen

Camying Fedging
£ in milfions walue  adpaiment
As of December 2024
Unsscunag shan -Dm Bomowings - 506 5 ]
Ungscunad long-em Borrming ¥ 1.2 § (32
Az of Cecembser 22N
Unsacuned shor-fenm bomowings ] 50 § -—
‘Uinsaouned |ong: e borrraings 5 TET & (201}

In sddmion, cumulative hedzing adjstments for stems mo
longer desipnated m a hedging relatonship was 516 million as
of December 2024 and 36 million as of December 2023,

The table below presents the company's gamns/({losses) from
interest rate derivatives accounted for as hedges, the related
hedged borrowings and the hedge ineffectiveness on these
denvatives recognised in nel revenues

Ykt Ended Dacsnibar
5 i s 2024 20
Iierest rate hadges. 5 4 5 [
_Hudped bomovings 20 L]
Hodgs noffectiveniss 3 (16 5 114

229/424

oOoOooodn
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Nota 20.
Other Liabilities

The table below presents the company’s other labilities by
type.

As of December

3 in milform 2024 ]
Covparsation and barars 5 ZE1T 5 1,58
rzewmia el e Babiihas pk ] 04
Lease labdites 8 7
A snpaniad and other 1,537 1,877
Tolal irancs| istdies 450 4150
roome laxrelsied Babikies o oy
thar xes and sookal seourty costs 478 ar
Pansion dafol {ses Hoe 14) a3 Bl
Prerdaka 1 -
A P and athar a% 5
Tolal por-francial kabiiies sk a
Tatal 3 nmes 5 4
In the table above:

+ Accrued expenses and other includes comtract labilities,
which represent consideration received by the company in
connection with ks contracts with cuslomers prior 1o
providing the service. As of both December 2024 and
December 3023, contract liabilities were not material,

In the curremt period, the company has presented certain
accrued expenses and other babilitics a5 mon-financial
liabilities. As a result, comparatives have been conformed to
the current period presentation to more appropriately present
these balances.

Provisions

The table below presents provisions, which are in respect of
legal and regulatory proceedings in which the company is
imvolved.

L ]

Az 0! December D02 5

Chargs during She year

Uilsad during the year

A o Daosvber 20273 5

Charga dufing tha yaar 14

Uiliiad dufing the yaar (L]
1

oot Dacarber 3034 :

Mot 21.
Share Capital
The table below presents the company s share capital.

Ordicary shanes
aT81 dach  £in mBns
SREAERBS § 534
SERELGE S 506
SORIACE) 5 850

Rolied, cplad up sndl ity pald
A of Decambar 2024
Aa of Decsmber JOIY
A o Deoember HEE
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Hote 22,
Other Equity Instruments

The table below presents information aboul the company's
unsascured AT notes.

Mumber of
Manth of Escancs AT rotes LA L e e
Juna HAT ionn % 3000 5.00% po.
M bar 2012 2,500 2,500 B.67% pn.
As of D bar 20124 5500 § 5,500
Jura 2HTF T A000 D00
Havanshar 2018 2500 2A00  BETS pa.
Az of Cacembeer 2023 bt § 5400

The company’s AT1 notes of 51 million each have been 1ssued
to G50 UK. These AT1 notes have no fixed matunty date amd
are not callable.

The AT1 notes will be imevocably written-down in the event
that the CET1 capital ratio of the company or the GSG UK
Group [alls below T,

Durmg 2023, the company repurchased and cancelled 3280
ballion of its AT1 notes at their fair value of $2.27 bilhon. The
difference between the camying value and fair value of these
repurchased notes of $527 million was recognised in retained

CAMINGs,

In addition, the company paid interest of 5495 million for 2024
and 5643 million for 2023, on its AT notes, which was
recognised directly in retained eamings. The asocmted
effect was recognised in income X expense.

Wote 23,
Dividends and Distributions

During 2024, the company paid cash dividends of 32.19 billion
o G3G UK

* §1.02 ballion on June 24, 2024, representing $1.71 per share.

* 51.16 billion on December 2, 2024, representing 31.94 per
share.

Durmg 2023, the company paid cash dividends of 51.68 ballion
o GEG UK:

= 36355 million on May 31, 2023, representing $1.09 per share.

+ 51.03 hallion on Movember 30, 2023, representing 51.72 per
share,

In addition, during 2023, the company made a non-cash
distmbution of $1.42 billion to G3G UK, for the consideration it

recerved from the transfer of ms Uk asset management
business.
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Note 24,
Statement of Cash Flows Reconciliations

The wble below presents the company’s cash and cash
equivalents, net of overdrafts for the purpose of the statement
of cash flows. Overdrafts have been included as they ane a part
of the company™s cash mansgerment.

A3 0f Duceernber
3 it milforms 204 ozl
Cash and cash sguivalers 5 11BN 5 28BS0
Ormrdra’ts {sea Noe 19} 26 {237y
Tatsl £ 11&7!- 5 El&!

In the table above, cash and cash equivalents included cash that
is restricted for use By the company of 5278 billion as of
December 2004 and 5223 billion as of December 2023

Reconciliation of Cash Flows From Operating
Activities

The table below presents o reconcilintion of cash flows from)
(used in) operating sctivilies,

Yauar Ended Decembar

£ iy milorm 3324 2023
Proit hafone mxaEn $ 26T 5 A0E6
Adjustments for
Depraciation ard anocsation [ses Nols §) D4 Fot ]
Loss on cisposal of propety, keasshold improvesments

and scuipman Bnd inlang bl asies 3 Fi
Charga for dafired Barafil plin (18s Nots 14) L] 1
Forsign exchangs gairs ¥11) (1.688)
Share-b Lo o 1,240 B
Prodskens (sae Mot 20) 15 -
roaniil o SUboedinatid lnans and MREL-sligibla

Ny Ehi 1,821 1.657
Gaini on Fnsimerts 2] {26}
Gaen relaled o rarsfer of LK. assel maragemen!

b ess - {14285
“Cash genamied before changes in opem ing asses

ar habdlisies 6,568 4,531
Changes in operating asasts
Decreazaiingranis]) n ool mlemised sgreements 0,71 [F iR 1)]
Decregsaiinmrenss) n ousin ard cthar receivabl {2,558) B O
Dwscraase i Tading asses 220 FEREL)
Chiscr waza) in oiher assats 160 {63y
Char i i oparairg Axies 68,713 23,413
Changes in oparating labilties
Forsasa![decreais) in collalsralzed mancirgs 8, TEO) LR
Irorsasel{decreais} i cusiomer and offer payables. §0NT) a2
Dwcraaza in Tadng Kabiites (26,209) {108,700
Irreasal[decraass} i unseoured bormowings 14, 5T0) iz1Mm
Drcraass it olfa Rabliies Qﬂj {756}
Chargens in opsenieg kabdicie {96,070) 13225
Lavh geremted fromijused in) apsrations § (06EK) & ardr2
In the table above:

+ Cash generated fromiused in) operations included imerest
paid of $24.46 billion for 2024 and 52254 hillien for 2023,
and interest received of 52494 hillion for 2024 and $21.09
ballion for 2023, Comparatives have been restated to update
intereat paid and interest received for 2023 (see Mote 5).

« Foreign exchange gains prmarily relate 1o the non-cash
revaluation of Brtish pounds and Buwro cash balances,
primanly held m central banks for liquidity management
purposes. The revaluation of cash balances and other
monetary assets and habilities is recognised in profit before
tasEton.

[E]
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Reconcillation of Cash Flows From Financing
Activities Excluding Lease Liabilities

The company includes MEEL-cligible borrowings as financing
setivity for the purposes of s statement of cash flows, whach
consists of s AT1 notes, subordinated loans and MREEL-
cligible mtercompany loans. Both the prncipal and interest
related 1o these borrowings are classiflied as financing activities.
The table below presents @ reconciliation of cash flows from
financing activities excluding lease liabilites.

SuherSinee lans

and MREL-alk;itda
$ i alficns: ntsrcompany loans AT rotes Total
Az of Dacembeer 2022 [ F-RTIE 8300 % L]
Rapurchass -_ 2273 (2273
LT 1,500 - 1,500
krsrns: changss 1,867 43 200
Irierns paid {1.823) L] (2268
Cehar - [rtid [l 4]
A of Ducember 2023 715 b 500 HIE
Rapirchase - - —_
LT 1,700 —_ R
Frgrns changes 1,821 495 e
Irfierns paid 1,828} e (2333
Char - - -
As of December 2028 § 25,408 § 5,500 § 10908

In the table above, other relates to the difference between the
carrving value and fr value of the 5280 billien of AT netes
that the company repurchased darmg 2023,

Hote 25.

Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments
The 1able below presents comm itients
s o Dusezimm bisr

§ i malliong 2024 2023
Colalaakind agmanana § 122370 § 1435568
Colaaralund francirgs 6,340 FERFE]
iz 2,788 2372
Todnl 5 1A 5 19241

Collateralised agreements commitments includes  forward
starting resale and secunties borrowing agreements, and
collateralised  financings commitments  includes  Forward
starting repurchase and secured lending apreements that senle
al a futre date, penerally within three business days.
Collateralised  agreements commitments abko  imclude
transactions where the company has entered into commitments
to provide contingent Nnancing 1o its clients and counterpanties
through resale agreements, The company’s funding of thess
commitments depends on the satisfzction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commitments can
expie unsed,

Orther commitments primarily relate to collateral commitments
as of December 2024 and collateral, underwmiing and lending
commitments &s of December 2023

In addition, there are regisiered charges on the company’s
assats which have arisen in the ordinary course of business.
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Legal Proceedings

The company is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbifration proceedings (including those desenbed below)
CONcerming matlers ansing in connection with the conduct of
the company s business. For any matter where a provision has
not been recognised and for which there 15 a possible financial
impact, it s not practicable 1o reliably estmate the possible
financial impact, excepd as noted mn the first matter below,

Banco Esplrite Samto 5.A. and Oak Finance. In
December 2014, September 2015 and December 20135, the
Bank of Poriugal {BoP) rendered decisions 1o reverse an earlier
transfer to Novoe Banco of an 3835 million facility agreement
(the Facility), structured by the company, between Oak Finance
Luxembourg 5.4 (Oak Finance), a special purpese vehicle
formed in connection with the Faaility, and Banco Espinto
Santo 5.A. (BES) prier to the failure of BES. In response, the
company and, with respect w0 the BoP's December 2015
decision, Goldman Sachs Intermational Bank  commenced
actions beginning m February 2015 against MNovoe Banco 3.4,
(Move Banca) m the English Commercial Court and the BoP in
the Portuguese Administrative Court. In July 2018, the English
Supreme Couri found that the English couris will not have
jurisdiction over the company™s action unless and until the
Poruguese  Administrative Court finds agamst BoP i the
company’s parallel sction. In July 2018 the Liguidation
Committee for BES 1ssued a decision secking to claw back
from the company 554 million pad 1o the company and 350
millicn allegedly paid 1o Oak Finance in connection with the
Facility, alleging that the company acted i bad fwth in
extending the Facility, including becawse the compamy
allegedly knew that BES was at risk of immiment failure, In
Oetober 2018, the comparny comemenced an action in the Lishon
Commerceal Court challenging the Liquidation Committes’s
decision and has since also iswed a clam  aganst the
Portupuese  State  seeking  compensation  for  losses of
apprasamately 3222 million related to the fmlure of BES,
together with a contingent clamm for the $104 mallion seupht by
the Liguidation Commimee. On Apnil 11, 2023 GSI
commenced  adminisirative  proceedings against the BoP,
seeking the mullification of the BoF's Seplember 2015 and
December 201 5 decisions on new grounds

T4
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Interest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company s
among the defendants named in a putative antitrest class action
relating to the trading of interest rate swaps, filed in November
205 and consolidated m the US Disinct Cowrt for the
Southern District of New York. The company 1= also among the
defendants named in two antitrust actions relating 1o the trading
of interest rate swaps, commenced in April 2016 and June
2018, respectively, in the U5, District Court for the Southern
District of Mew York by three operators of swap execution
facilities and certain of their affilistes. These actions have been
consolidated for pretrial proceedings. The complaints generally
assert claims under federal antitrust law and state common law
in connection with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants
to preclude exchange trading of interest rate swaps. The
complaints in the individual actions also assert clums under
state antitrust law, The complaints seek declaratory  amd
junctive reliel, as well as weble damages in an unspecified
amount. Defendants moved 1o dismiss the class and the first
indivsdual action and the district court dismissed the state
common law cluims asserted by the plantiffs in the first
mndivsdual action and otherwise himited the state common law
claim in the putative class action and the antitrust claims in
both actions to the period from 2013 to 20016, On November 20,
2008, the cowt granted in part and denied in part the
defendants’ motion 1o dismiss the second individual action,
dismssing the state commen law clams for unust enrchment
and tortious interference, but denyving dismissal of the federal
and state antirust claims. On AMarch 13, 2019, the court denied
the plaintiffs’ medion in the putative class action 1o amend their
complaint to add allegations related to conduct from 2008 10
2012, but granted the motion to add limited allegations from
2013 to 2016, which the plantiffs added i a fourth
consolidated amended complaant filed on March 22, 2019, On
December 15, 2023, the court densed the plaintifls’ motion for
class certification, and on December 28, 2023, the plainuffs
filed & petition with the 1.5, Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit seeking mterlocutory review of the distnet count's
denml of class certification. On July 11, 2024, the court
prelminanly approved a settlement among the plantffs and
certain defendants, including GSI and certain of s affiliates, to
resolve the class action. GS Group has paid the full amount of
its propesed contribution fo the seitlement imlo an escrow
secount, GS1 s not required 1o contribute to the setlement. The
indivadual actions remain pendmg,
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Commeodities-Related Litigation. The company is among
the defendants named in putative class actions relating to
trading in platinum  and palladium, fled beginning on
Movember 25, 2014 and most recently amended on May 15,
2017, in the US District Cowrt for the Sowthern Distnict of
Mew York., The amended complaimt generally alleges that the
defendants violated federal antitrust laws and the Commodity
Exchange Act in connection with an alleged conspiracy 1o
manipulate a benchmark for physical platinum and palladium
prices and seek declaratory and mjunctive relief, as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. On harch 29, 2020,
the court granted the defendants” motions to dismiss and for
reconsideration, resulting in the dismissal of all claims, and on
February 27, 2023, the U5, Count of Appeals for the Second
Circuit reversed the disirict court’s dismissal of certain
plunufls’ anttrust clums and vacated the district court’s
dismissal of the plaintiffs” Commodity Exchange Act clam, On
April 12, 2023, the defendamis’ petition for rehearing or
rehearing ¢n banc with the U5 Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit was denied On July 21, 2023, the defendants
filed a motion for judgement on the pleadings. On Jamary 17,
2025, the court approved a setilement 1o resolve this action
The company paid the full amount of its contribution 1o the
settlement into an escrow account 1n 2024,

(]
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Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company 15
among the defendants named in a putative antitnest class action
relating to the settlement of credit default swaps, filed on June
300 2021 inhe US Dastnet Court for the Distnet of New
Mexico. The complunt generally assents clams under federal
antitrust law and the Commaodity Exchange Act in connection
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants to manipulate
the benchmark price woed to valee credit default swaps for
setilement. The complaint also asserts a clim for unjust
ennchment under state common law. The complaint secks
declaratory and mjunctive relief, as well as unspecified
amounts of treble and other damages. On November 15, 2021,
the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the complamt. On
February 4, 2022, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint amd
voluntanly dismissed Group Ine. from the action On June 5,
2023, the court dismissed the cluims against certain foreign
deferddants for lack of persomal junsdiction but densed the
defendants’ motion to dismiss with respect to Goldman Sachs
& Co. LLC, the company and the remaining defendants. On
Jamuary 24, 2024, the court granted the defendants” motion to
stay the proceedings pending the resolution of the motion filed
by the defendants on November 3, 2023 i the US. Distnct
Count for the Southern Dhstrict of New York to enforce a 2015
settlement and release among the parties. On January 26, 2024,
the U5, District Court for the Southem District of MNew York
granted the defendants’ motion to enforce the seitlement and
release and enpomed the plainuffs from purswng any clams
against the defendants in the New Mexico action for amy
alleged violation of law based on conduct before June 30, 2004,
and on February 23, 2024, the plaintiffs appealed to the LS.
Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit.
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its affilmtes, including
the company, are subject to a number of other investigations

and reviews by, and in some cases. have received subpoenas
and requests for documents and information from, various
governmental and regulatory  bodies and  self-regulatory
organisations and litigation relating to various matters relating
1o G S Group's busmesses and operations, including:

* The securities offering process and underwriting practices,

+ Investment management and financial advisory services;

+ Conflicts of miterest;

+ Transsctions involving government-related financings and
other matters;

The offering, auction, sales, trading and clearance of
corporate and government securities, currencies, commeodities
and other financial products and related sales and other
communications and activities, as well as G5 Group's
supervision and controls relating to such activities, including
compliance with applicable shor sale rules, algonthmic,
high-frequency and  quantitstive trading, futures trading.
options  trading, when-ssued  trading,  transaction  and
regulatory  reporting, technology  svstems and  controls,
securities  lending  practices, prime brokerage activities,
trading and clearance of credit dervative mstruments and
interest rate swaps, commodities activities and metals storage,
private placement practices, allocations of and tradmg in
securities, and trading activities and communications in
connection with the establishment of benchmark rates, such
5 CUITEney rates,

Compliance with the UK. Brbery Act and the U3, Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act,

Hirng and compensation practices,

Systern of sk management and controls; and

+ Insider trading. the potential misuse and dissemination of
matenal non-public mformation regarding  corporate  and

governmental developments and the effectiveness of insider
trading controls and information barrsers,

In addition, investigations, reviews and lingation involving the
company's affilates and such affiliates’ businesses amd
operations, including vanous matters referred to above but also
other matters, may have an impact on the company”s businesses
and operations.
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Hote 26,
Maturity of Assets and Liabilities

The table below presents the expected maturity of the
company”s assets and liabilites.

& i mdlins Mor-aarment Caaran! Toial
s of Decembar 2074

Asssls

Cash and cask aquivalars 5 o 11,6001 5 11,881
Collalaakand agraamanis x 181,6%3 192 548
Cuntorme e ober daos sl - TEEEL TE S
Tirading mgats - HRhO6E p ot v
her assets A, T 2024 3.7
Todal asseis 5 ZB4E 5 1.10BZ76 3 1110374
Linbdiies

Colataralied rarcirgs 3 T, TES § ITAX 3 1EREE
Cunionme mra plber pipabdes = 107,164 10T
Tirading Eshiiiex - Eak 1
Unsscured borosirgs SEEN 20100 TEA
Ochar Bakdiies 1563 4,0 5785
Totsl lisbilitiss i 3 534 5 1 7
iz 0f Daceenber 2023

Assds

Cash ang cask squivalens 5 — 5 ELE XhESD
Collataraliied agrasmants 1240 261563 AT
Custonsr ard other recsiy sbiss - frd i
Trading assais - BB BEE Lot
ithar assets 1851 1543 3759
Tedal Eisas 5 3,100 1 200 455 1
—_—

Liabiliies

Colalaraliied francirgs ] Shidh 3 160EH1 §F  2154TE
Cusioner ard other payables - 11630 11830
Trading Eabdiias - TAT B [Tt ]
Unsacurad bodroradngs 1,100 18,167 Sl AT
Oehar Rebdiims 1,128 e 4 233
Tl f bl i 12F 1055 Dk 1,163

In the table above:

« Cyrrent assets and  liabdlities  include amounts that the
company expects o realise or settle in s normal eperatng
cycle and includes assets and labilities held for trading
purposes and cash and cash equivalents.

« Won-current assels are amounts that the company expecis o
be recovered after more than twelve months and primanly
includes  certain collateralised  agreements,  certamn
investments, certain loans, imtangible assets, deferred tac
assels, pension surplus and certain mtercompany loans,

= Mon-current lighilities are amounts that the company expects
to be settled afier more than twelve months and primanly
includes collateralised financings and unsecured bormowings
with contractual maturities greater than one year, with the
exception of comracts that have tnpeer events that are not in
the contrel of the company, which are classified as current.
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Mote 27,
Related Party Disclosures

Parties are considered 1o be related if one party has the abality
to directly or mdirectly control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the party in making financial or
operational decisions, The company s related parties include:

+ The com pany s parent entities,
» Cahver G35 Group affilmtes,
+ Key management personnel of the company;

« Key mampenent personnel of the company’s parend entilies,
amd

+ Caher related partics, which includes the company™s defined
bemelit scheme and associates of G5 Group.

Key management personnel are defined as those persons having
awhority and responsibility  for planning, directing  and
controlling the activities of the company. Kev mansgement
personnel of the company include the directors of the company,
members of the EMC who are employees of the company and
members of senior management who are designated as
managers under the PRA and FCA's Senior Managers and
Certification Regime.

Key Management Compensation

The table below presents the compensation paid or pavable by
the company for emplovee services to key management
persannel of the company and fs parent entities

Yo Eraed Cacambar
3 it mlfors 2024 2023
Saliries ang odhar shor-leem barsin 3 s 5 148
Po-asnaplagria! banafis 1 1
Shars-hassd companation s LT
Total 3 ae s oo
In the table above:

+ Salaries and other short-term benefits includes fees paid to the
nen-goecutive directons of the com pany,

+ Share-based compensation included a charge of $215 million
for 2024 and a charge of $72 million for 2023 representing
changes in the fair value of share-based payment awards
recharged from Group Inc, during the vear,

n
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Directors’ Emoluments:

In accordance with the Compantes Act 2006, directors’
emoluments represent the proportion of total emoluments paid
of payable in respect of qualifying services only. This total cnly
ncludes the value of cash and benefits m kind, and does not
nclude the value of equity awards in accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 5 of the Statutory Instruments
20084100 Directors also receive  emoluments for  non-
qualifying services which are not required to be disclosed

The table below presents the company's direciors’ emolumenis.

Yinmr Ended Decenbar
§ i mllzons 2024 2023
Ageragine eerlumaniy -3 5 5 ¥
Company (M corfbuine 15 money
prachass schemas — o
Total ¥ [ ] i

The table below presents emoluments for the highest paid
company”s director.

Yasr Erded Demanbar
§ i mallics 0id i
AgOreg s smlmen & i ]
Company (s oorbuans o mansy
prurchucin schemas | = § —
Agrruad affusl pansion al and of ha year 3 — % =

Two directors were members of a defined contribulion pension
scheme and one director was a member of both a defined
contribution penston scheme and a defined benefit pension
scheme for 2024 (2023 two directors were members of a
defined contnibution pension scheme and one director was a
member of both a defined contnbution persion scheme and a
defined benefit pension scheme). Three directors including the
highest paid director for 2024 (2023: three directors including
the highest paid director) have received or are due 1o receive
Group Inc. shares in respect of long-term incentive schemes

The aggregate emoluments of the seven non-exscutive directors
for 224 (2023 nine non-execwtive directors) who were
members of the Board for all or pant of 2024 was
approstimately  S1.2 million {for all or part of 2023
approximately 31.4 mallion), Additional engoing fees in respect
of advisory services provided by certain AoR-eNecutive
directors was approximately 501 million for 2024 (2023
approximately $0.2 million).
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Transactions with Related Parties
The company’s transactions with related parties pnmarnly
include the following.

Risk Management and Market-Making Activity

The company routinely enters into denvatives and buys and
sells secunties and leans with related parties for nsk
management  and market-making  purposes, which  are
recognised 1n trading xssets and trading labalities.

The table below presents the company s outstanding derivatives
with related parties, substantially all of which are with other G3
Group affilmtes, The change in derivative assets and denvative
ligkalities 15 driven by new trades tlerminations, expiries and
gmns or hesses, including any associated cash Nlows,
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Interest-bearing irstruments are typacally priced based on the
term, currency, size, subordination and whether the instrument
15 secured of unsecured.

Cash Management Services

The company receves cash management services from other
(35 Group affiliates and places cash deposits with them m the
normal course of business which is recognised in cash and cash
equivalents

Commitments and Guarantees
The table below presents the company's commitments with
other G5 Group afTilistes

A ol Db

Dadvadve Do 5 iy reallicnas 2024 0E3
i milorm assals Erkilins Colateralsnd agremants $ IR 5 10d4ss
As of Gecamber 2024 § 530,188 § 507,872 Colatarakized francirgs 55377 a4
45 of Decsnibar 2023 § mOBAAT 5 450228 Crhar _ P
A5 ol D b 0EE S SESIG0 5 BAZ 060 Toasl 3 IS0EBE 5 140201
Deamibar 2024 vers Dacember 2023 5 A& § 17547 . _
Db B visfiacs Docienber 2022 § (PB4 5 (90.825) Cither commitments related to an underwnbing commitment as

The table below presents the company s groas cutstanding buys
and sells of regular-way securities and loans fromfAo other G5
Group affiliztes.

As of Decamber
_& i milfons Firdd s
Dhistarcing mgulsrevey buys of secundes and loars. § 11,730 5 10480
Ouistandng mgulsrwey sells of sscurides and losns § 11612 § 10507

The company alko holds securities in, and makes corporate
loans to cther GS Group affiliates, which are classified in
trading assets. The company also exchanges cash and secunty
collsteral in conmection with derivative transactions. Cash
collsteral recewed 15 recopmised in customer and other
pavables. Cash collateral prd is recognized in customer and
other receivables. The company posted security collateral 1o
related parties of 53,55 billion as of December 20024 and 513,00
billion as of December 2023,

In addition, the company alse executes and intermediates listed
dervatives with other G5 Group affiliates, resulting in the
exchange of margin, which is recognised in customer and other
receivables and customer and other payables.

The company has also received securities of 380 million as of
December 2024 and $121 million as of December 2023 from a

subsidiary under a secunities lending agreement.

Funding Activity

The company reutinely emters into collateralsed agreemenis
and  collmteralized financings with G5 Group  affiliates,
primarily to source securities and fund inventory on a secured
basis

In additton, a sigrificant portion of the company’s unsecured
borrowings s from G5 Group affibates, including the
company's AT1 notes 1ssued 1o G356 UK. See Notes 19 and 22
for further details. The company has also made loans to certain
G5 Group affiliates. See Note 13 for further details.

T8

of December 2023

The company has received a guarantee from Group Inc. related
to transactions entered into with certain of it counterparties. for
up 10 58 billion of exposure at defaalt. During 2024 and 2023,
the guarantes was unutilised.

Transfer Pricing and Management Charges

The company participates in the allocation of nel revenues
among G5 Group affiliates for ther mvolvement m G3
Group's business activitics, In addition, the company incurs
receives management charges to'ffrom GS Group affilistes
relating o operational and  administrative  support  and
MANAZEMEnt ServIces.

Taxation

The company receives group relief from other GS Group
affiliates. The company received tax-cifected losses from other
G5 Group affiliates of 3251 million for 2024 and 5231 million
fior 2023 for which consideration will be paid in full.

Share-Based Payments

The company has emtered o a chargeback agreement with
Group Inc. under which it is committed to pay to Group Ine. (a)
the grant-date fair value of those awards and (b) subsequent
movements in the fir value of those awards between the grant
date and wumate delivery 1o emplovees (subsequent (o the
vesting date). See Motes Tand 8 for further information.

Transactions with Key Management Personmnel

Certain key managemen personne]l and their close famaly
membsers have brokerage and’or discretionary accounts at the
company. They are provided services in the ordinary course of
business on commercial terms, and m ¢ach case in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

236/424

oOoOooodn



GOLOMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANT}
Motes to the Financial Statements

Close family members of certain kev management personnel
are employed by the company. The amount of compensation
paid to the family members was determined in accordance with
the company’s standard compensation practices applicable 10
similarly -siuated employees.

Transfer of UK. Asset Management Business

On Aprl 1, 2023, the company transferred s UK. asset
manzagement  business to GSAMI and received a non-
controlling interest in GSAMI's mmediate parent undenaking,
which was measured at fair value through profit or loss, As a
result, in 2023, the company recognised a gain of $1.42 billion
in net revenues and made an equivalent distribution of the total
conzideration received.

Related Party Assets and Liabllities
The table below presents the company’s assets and liabilities
with related parties,

Crhi Cehar

Parert G5 Goup  relmed
& i milfors B afiliates  paries Total
s of December 2024
Assats
Cash and cash sguiwalers § = § 18 § = § 1,388
Collatsralnn apraamas — 124,300 = 124,300
G ard ather il 40 25,758 4 001
Tradirg azssia 1,849 S35540 1 37,430
ther ases 62 1,762 - 1,524
Totsl asssts 5 2300 & GESIZE § 5_§851,433
Liabilites
Collateralizsd fnancings § - & 101,215 § - S, 2E
Castomar ard othar payables ir J2 446 - 32,483
Tradieg Rabilties 1,305 506,744 — 547,940
Urminourad bamowirgs 915 18,623 — 47,93
{rher Babilities. LATE 1661 e 4,137
Totsl liabilities 53611 5 GGOOER § = 365170
s of Dpcannbar 2023
Asaats
Cish and cash aguivalenss 5 — § 1350 § — § 1,250
Collateralneg sraemars —  1hFED — 137760
L= ard pthar receivabl LE1) 15450 mw 15,400
Tradirg asseds 2048 B4 0 - B 4E2
rthar assas %3 1455 - 2,198
Toital Assacs 5 T4E0 ! FIIEF E 1 ;FE:I-I]'
Linbilites
Collateraline nancings g — 5 148582 § — Si428a3
Camtamed ard odher puyakiea Ll a1 535 — 3,535
Tradicg Eabilties 2t ABDIT0 1 480300
Ursacursd bomowirgs R84 Fi et — i
Crhar kabilites. 1.5 1530 - 3.480
Toial Rabdiias 5§ & 250 i FORZTd 5 11 5?3‘-3..!48_
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Related Party Income and Expense
The table below presents the company’s income and expenses
related to transactions with related parties other than Key

Maragement Personnel.

Crhar Oiker
Parers  GF Group  relajed

& iy ey Bndes afflines paries Total
Mt revinuss
Iriaast Incoee g T4 8 12M89 % = § 12483
Irrseas: i [2.288)  {12.909) —  sATsy
Tranutes priing rveues — e —  [eem
Char incomes e - i —
TMnnmfl 513.1“: ] 111!n 5 — & m
Mot opersting sxpanses
Transsction hassd 5 - § = 5 - § I
Managenen: chafpas from

G5 Gemip sTilates = 1,050 = 1850
anagenmr: chemes o

G5 Group aflkates 2 (4] - (168
Othar sapanses - BES - 5£3
Todsl nast [ i 5 Eﬁ & 1 544 5 — § "IML
Yaar Ended December 3023
Mt P
Irnarass Incoene 5§ Id % 86EH 3 — & a50d
Imenst snpris (EIM) (11408 — R
Transter pricing mevenues — 0 — 0
Gthar income - 19 - 19
Tootal row] rwyeeryas 5“3_54] 5 2 A0 5 = 5 (4387
Hat eparsting expoenies
Tiransaction basad § — % M8 F — 5 8
Managenwr: chames fmm

G5 Geoup afilkaiex - 1140 - 10408
Nanagemart changas o

GE Group afilaies {4 (315} - 218
Cehar dogiar s i Ll —_ ETE
Total ral cqwraling dcjiariss 5 i3S iRE S — 5 1Ais

In the table above, transaction based and other expenses
primarily include IFRS 15 expenses.
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MNote 28,

Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camrving vabue of company’s
financial assets and liabilities by category.

Finsnalal Assets
Mandmoily  Anorses
F iy e at fair value ot Toal
As of Decamber 2024
Cash and cash squivalents § = § 118 5 1160
Collateraled sgrasmenis 71,554 130,952 192,546
Customar and odhar reosvables - TE 2265 TE,836
Temdieg assais B DEY —_ 3% 03z
Orhar g A 1,874 2,383
m ] M $  H1 R XE]
A o Dicanibed IS
Cash and cash squivalens ] — § M 5 Al
Collateralised agresments FELET -] pFral-r: o H
Customar ard othaer receivables -— frd T2.Raa
Tradieg Assass H2AIEZ = 838,082
rehar axiacs B0 014 2,624
Tolal 5 TRE1 &1 1
—_
Financial Liab
Hals for Denlighined  Amoriusd
& i milfors trading  af fuir vabue [ Total
g af Decamber 20324
Collateralissd fnancings 5 = & RS § BMEE § 163,696
Customar ard other payables - = 107164 107,164
Tradieg Rabilthes 71,21 -_ = ™1,2H
Urmincurad homowirgs - 44,708 32,105 TEA1
(rhar Rabilities — — 4853 4,43
Tokal $7i1.Em § 1387 §EaT.7E) 60068.7i8
i o Deosmber 2023
Collatsralsad nancings -4 = § UDETE4 SIDBEDZ § ZIB4TH
Caalomad ard othar payabiea — — 11520 152
Tradieg habikies TATBIG - - [N
Urmiacurad bamowirgs — 54852 J5E4 o0 T
rther Rabilites - - ERE] 4.158
Total ETATEID § ABNA0T S IEI RS £1 162710

In the wable above, certain of the company's unsecured
borrowings that have been measured at amomised cost were

previously disclosed as designated at fair value, As of

December 2023, 3283 mullien of unsecured borrowings have
been moved from designated at fair value to amaortised cost 1o
more appropriately present these balances. These financial
mstruments were previously presemted m level 2 in the fairr
value hierarchy and kave now been appropriately presented in
non-gurrent financial liabilities that are not measured a1 fair
value in Note 29
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The tables below present financial assets and liabilities that are
subject to enforceable netting agreements and  offsetting.
Amounts are only offset in the balance sheet when the com pany
currently has a legally enforceable rght 10 set-off the
recogmised amounts and an imtention either 1o settle on 3 net
basis, or to realise the assct and settle the labilny
simulaneously. [n the tables below

+ Gross amounts exchade the effects of both counterparty
netting and collateral, and therefore are not represemtative of
the company”s economic exposure.

= Amounts not offzet in the balance sheet include counterparty
netting (e, the netting of Hnancial assets and habilites for a
given counterparty when a legal nght of sct-off exists under
an ¢nforceable netting agreement), and cash and security
collateral received and posted under enforceable credit
support agreements, that do not meet the erteria for offsetting
under IFRS.

+ Gross amounts for the company included dernivative assets of
5453 billion and derivative liabilities of $4.25 billion as of
Decemnber 2024 and dervative assets of $3.83 hillion and
dervative liabiliies of $4.1% billion as of December 2023
which are not subpect to an enforceable netting agreement or
are subject to a netting agreement that the company has not
vet determined to be enforceable. The collateral received or
pested in conmection with such denvative agreements has not
been mcluded in the amounts not offset in the balance sheet.

Substandially all resale agreements and securities borrowed
within eollateralised agreements and repurchase agreements
and secunities loaned withm collateralised financings are
subject to enforceable neting agreements as of both
Diecernber 2024 and December 2003

Durning 2024, as permitted under the rules of a clearing
orgamsation in EMEA, the company elected to seitle iis
transactions with this cleanng organisation on & daily basis.
The mmpact of reflecting transactions with this clearmng
ongamsation as settled would have been a reduction n gross
derivative assets of 33529 hillion and a reduction i gross
derivative Labilities of $35.11 billion as of December 2023,
and a comesponding decrease in counterparty and cash
collateral netting. with no impact 1o the net amount in the
table below.
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Aanizaurts nod o sat in the balanocs shest

Gross balance  the baliros Courderpany Cash Sacuriny et
& iy o amounts shaal Lt naing el taral collaieeal anioun)
Az of Decamber 2024
Finarcisl asseis
Collateralineg aranmarns 5 10509 § (1ETSE3) 3 192548 §  (B5,680) § (362 § (123,338) § LR
© ars athar bl 94,885 {27,804} 8,545 {10,081} (26,73  {91,084) 19,500
Trading cash irsinments 1,109 {10,081} 11,058 2} (2.774) %480} ELE]
Dnrivatives 5,705 (16 AZH) GTRMGT (608,0822) (M. 285) (96A416) 20744
Tradirg assets. THRS04 (26.478) GRS 1611,133) (37083 (15, 896) 26,237
Orhar assats 1,889 {1,217) (=] {158) - {117} &07
Frbr il A5AatS LDt 10 anToranbie PTng B e 1,134,001 {1B3,463) B50,533 {887,071} (BLETH)  (180,417) £0,371
Firuar cigl asiats fo? subjeat 1o ank s allinng Agr 154,880 = 153,840 o = e 158,650
[X] 1.1 1 417 1
Finarcial labilitios
Collateralissd nancings § ATHI 5 (12TEAT) S 1MMME 5 (SBG40) S (2500 §  (As108) § 2dar
Cusiomar and othar payables 124,100 {27,280) 8,820 {40,081} (37 440 (23,433} 25.BGE
Trading cash irsinmanis _ - —_ —_ - —_ -
Dirivatives £72,914 (16,852)  B5S5943  (BOS061)  (F3.3&1) 4,902} 21,718
Trnuirg Babikios T md {16,852) LN {805,061} (23.361) 14, 902} FAA ]
Unsacured bommwirgs 1,402 {11.020) e AET [Efen] (358) -
Char Kabilities. .1+ (214) [ZE] {158} - -
Firancial kabdiss SLbgot i o raTING AQ [ 1,107,201 {1B3463) 97,738 {687,071} (BLETH) (112,533}
Francial kabdlides not subjec o an alibs raiting &g 145987 — 45 58T —_ — —_ 5,
Jatsl finavcial i bitsias 383188 3 (13A6N S VOENTIS 3 (SATOVI)S  (EMETY 3 (1135303 BOAged
A i Dcaniber 00N
Finarcisl asnsty
Collateralmed sgrasments £ MTMG § (M00A S M7 5 (56.083) % 115§ (isaa) § 814
Castomar ard other recstvables G 0d {30, 1825 [ X ir T 432) {27 B0 {93, 338) 12872
Tracing cash irsuments 1250 [EELET] 11,190 {1,481} (2070} {5,568) 1045
Diativatives 05,656 {0066} 05,700 {620,002} (37504} LKL ] 19,085
Temitieg assals 3516 (N TBTF) 05, fep {61 A23) (40574} [LEN ] 20,130
Crher axues 07 {1426} (L] {03} - [LLEN] L]
Brancial assats subjsct 1o an natting &g 1206 842 (ITA2TRy 10N {FM) (BA248)  {150.388) LLY ¥
Franclal assais rof subject io snfrosable nating agr iz 17118 - 170118 - - - 171,116
Total financial & 5 VIEEER § (IT437ALE 1IN0 § (TS (A8 245} § (150,065 206 T6R
Finarcial labilitios
Collteralissd nancings £ WMTEI S (A0} S 2N £ (600} 2212 S5 [(I00nod) § 3%
Customar and othaer payables 138728 {30,207} 108515 {7.432) {40 B |25, 460) 27011
Tradng cash irsinumanis —_ - —_ — - —_ -
Dirivatives £21.801 (041} BTIERD  (BIT.0RE) (5263} {3.928) 14683
Trngirg kadikios 31,801 D1} LALE. (62T 006} e [EE ] 14,683
Umsacured bommwings 1 5y {0.066) Bk {2.400) B8} - L0809
Cher Kabilities. (i) [ :)) (7] [LER] - - F.]
Firancial kabdises sLbot i o raTING Ap = 1161455 (174278} o872 (T 1) (62248}  (1D6BH) £8.450
Francial kabdises no! subject b snfonceabls reting sgp 178,452 - 178,462 - - - 175402
Tortal i e | Bt i 5 1338001 5 (IT427ALE 1162713 5 (PAIME  (RA 4R 5 (138814 S 223042

1]
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Callateral Recelved and Pledged

The company receives cash and securities (eg., govemment
and agency obligations, cosporate debt secumities, equity
securities) as collateral, prmanly in connectson with resale
agreements, securities borrowed, dervative transactions and
customer margin leans. The company obtamns cash and
securities as collateral on an upfront or contingent basis for
dervatives and collneralised agreements 1o reduce its credit
exposure to individual counterparties.

In many cases, the company is permitted 1o deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering into
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primanly in connection with secured client ﬁmm:ing activity.
The company is also permitted to deliver of repledge these
financial instruments in connection  with  other  secured
financings, collsteralizad denvative transactions and mecting
company of customer seitlement requirements.

The company also pledges cerlain trading assets i conmection
with repurchase agreements, securities lending sgrecments and
other secured [inancings to counterparties who may or may not
have the right 1o deliver or repledge them

The table below presents the fair valwe of financial instruments
received as collaternl that were available o be delivered or
repledged, and that were delivered or repledged.

Az of Ducssrbe
& in m o 2024 S0
[ ailabie 0 be celhnenes of mepHecged §  TIZEMD 5 TORBOT
Collateral at was delvamd or epiadged %  BBDSIT 5 Eas 098

The table below presents mformation about the far value of
assets pledged

A3 of Dwosmber
§ in milons 024 223
Pladged to counterparties that had the right 1o delfves of repledge
Tradng kst 4 65M¢ § salE
HFar gty L) — & 25
Pedged to cownterparties that did not have tha right te deilver or mpledge
Trading assets $  ames 5§ Al
rhar assats 5 = § 20

The company has received cash collateral of 86232 hillion as
of December 2024 and 367 84 ballion as of December 2023,
and posted cash collateral of $55.04 billion as of December
2024 and 34683 hilbon as of December 2023 Amounts
received and posted are mainly in respect of rading assets and
trading leabilities.
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Note 29.
Fair Value Measuremant

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amownt that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a labliy
in an orderly trarsaction between market participants at the
measurement date, Fimancial assets are marked to bid prices
and financial habilies are marked 1o olfer prices. Fair value
mieasurements do not include transaction costs. The company
micasures certain financial assets and habalities as a portfolio
(i.e., based on its net exposuse to market and'or eredit risks),

IFRS has a three-level hierarchy for disclosure of far value
measurements. This hierarchy prioritises inpais to the valwtion
techrigques used 1o measure fair value, giving the highest
priority io level 1 inpuis and the lowest prionty to level 3
inputs. A financial mstrument’s level in this hierarchy is based
on the lowest level of mput that is significant to its fair value
MEAsUrement

The tair value hierarchy isas follows:;

Level 1. Inputs are unadjusted quaeted prices in active markets
to which the company had access at the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets or liabalities.

Level 2. Inputs to valuation techmiques are observable, either
darectly or indirectly,

Level 3. One or more mpuls to valuation techniques are
significant and unobservable.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financial
assets and liakalities that are faer valued on a recurring basis are
based on observable prices and mnputs and are classified in
levels 1 and 2 of the far value hierarchy. Certain level 2 and
level 3 financial assets and liabilities may require valuation
adjustments that a market participant would require 1o amive at
fair value for factors such as counterpanty and the company's
and G5 Group's credit qualty, funding nsk, transfer
restictions,  liquidity  and bad/affer spreads.  Valuation
adjustments are generally based on market evidence,
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Valuation Technigues and Significant Inputs

Trading Cash Instruments. Valution technigues and
significant mputs for each level of the far value hierarchy
include:

Level 1

Level 1 instruments are valued usmg quoted prices for identical
unrestricted  instruments in active markets. The company
defmes active markets for equity imstruments based on the
average daily trading volume both in absolute terms and
relative 1o the market capitalisation for the instrument. The
company defines active markeis for debt instruments based on
both the average daily trading volume and the number of days
with trading activity.

Level 2

Level 2 instruments can be venified to quoted prices, recent
trading activity for identical or similar instrumsents, broker or
dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable
levels of price transparency. Consmderation 15 given fo the
nature of the guotations (eg, mdicative or fum) and the
relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided
from allemative pricing sources.

Vahstion adjustments are typacally made to level 2 instrumenis
(1) if the instrument & subject 1o wansler restrictions and'or (i1
for other premivms and liguidity discounts that a market
participant would require to arrive at fair value. Valuation
adjuiments are generally based on market evidence,

Level 3

Level 3 instruments have one of more significant valuation
inputs that ase pot cbaervable. Absent evidence to the contrasy,
level 3 instruments are imitially valued at transaction price,
which 15 consadered to be the best imitial estimate of fair value.
Subsequently, the company uses other methodologies to
determine fair value, which vary based on the type of
instrument. Valuation imputs and sssumplions are changed
when comoborated by substantive  observable  evidence,
including values realized on sales of financial assets

B3

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Valuation technigues of level 3 instruments vary by instrument,
but are generally based on discounted cash flow technigues.
The vahwmton techniques and the nature of sigmficant mputs
used 1o determine the farr values of each type of level 3 trading
cash mstrument are described below:

« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Swmmificant inputs are generally  determined
based on relative value amalyses and include:

= Market viclds mplied by transactions of smilar or related
assels;

* Transaction prices m both the underlving collateral and
instruments with the same or similar underlving collateral,

+ Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumptions if a default ocours; and

« Timing of expected future cash flows (duration) which, in
certain  cases, may  ncorporate the ampast of  other
unobservable inputs (¢g , prepayment speeds),

« Corporate Debt Instruments, Government and
Agency Obligations. Sigruficant inputs are penerally
determined based on relative value analyses, which
inearporate comparisens both to prices of eredn defaull swaps
that reference the same or zimilar underlying instrument or
ertity and to other debt instruments for the same of similar
issuer for which observable prices or broker quotalions are
available. Significant inputs mclade:

+ Market yields mplied by transactions of smilar or related
asqeld;

« Current levels and changes in market indices. such as the
iTrasx and CDX (indices that track the performance of
corporate eredit),

= Current performance of the borrower of loan collateral amd
recovery assumptions il a defaull oecurs,

+ Maturity and coupon profile of the mnstrument; and

* Market and transaction multiples for corporate  debt
instruments with convertibility or paricipation options

*

Equity Securities. Equity securities consists of private
equity securitics. Recent third-party completed o pending
transaclions (e.g. merger proposals, tender offers, debt
restructurings) afe considered 1o be the best evidence for any
change n farr value. When these are not available, the
followmg valuation methodologies are used, as appropriate:

* Industry multiples and public comparables,
* Transactions mn similar instruments; and

+ Discounted cash flow techniques.
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY)

Motes to the Financial Statements

Derivatives. Denvatives may be traded on an exchange
(exchange-traded) or they may be privately negotiated
coniracts, which are usually referred to as OTC denivatives.
Centain of the company’s OTC denvatives are cleared and
setthed through central clearmg counterparties (OTC-cleared),
while others are balateral comracts between two counlerparties
(balateral OTC),

The company’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
derwative pricing medels (e.g., discounted cash fow models,
correlation models, and models that incorporate oplion pricing
methedologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations). Price
transparency of derivatives can generally be characterised by
product type, as described below.

+ Interest Rate. In general. the key mnputs used to value
interest rate derivalives are transparent, even for meost long-
dated contracts. Interest rate swaps and options denom inated
in the cumencies of leading industrialised rations are
characterised by high trading volumes and tight bid'offer
spreads. Inerest rate derivatives that reference indices, such
a= an mflation index, or the shape of the vield curve (eg, 10-
year swap rale vs. 2-year swap rale) are more complex, but

the key inputs are generally chservable,

+ Credit. Price transparency for credit default swaps, including
both single names and baskets of credits, vames by market
and underlyimg reference entity or obligation. Credit default
swaps that reference indices, large corporates and major
sovereigns generally exhibit the most price transparency. For
credit default swaps with other underliers, price transparency
vartes based on credit rating, the cost of borrowing the
underlving reference obligations, and the availability of the
underlving reference obligations for delivery upon the default
of the 1ssuer. Credit default swaps that reference loans, asset-
backed securitics and emerging market debt instruments tend
to have less price transparency than those that reference
corporate  bomds, In addition, more  complex  credit
dervatives, such as those sensitive to the comelation betwaen
two or more underlymg reference obligations or 1o secured
fmbdirsg spreads, generally have less price transparency.
Currency. Prices for cwrency denvatves based on the
exchange rates of leading ndustnialised natiens, including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent The
primary difference between the price transparency of
developed and emenging markel cumency derivatives is that
emerging markets tend to be only observable for contracts
with shorter tenors.

* Equity. Price transparency for equity derwvatives vanes by
market and wnderher. Options on mndices and the common
stock of comporates included In major equity indices exhibit
the most price transparency, Equity denvatives generally
have observable market prices, except for contracts with long
temars or reference prices thal differ significantly from current
market prices More complex equity denvatives, such as
those sensitive 1o the correlation between two or more
indwvidual stocks, generally have less price transparency.

B
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Liquidity 15 essential to the observability of all product types.
If transaction volumes decline, previously transparent prices
and other inputs may become unobservable, Conversely, even
haghly structured products may at tmes have trading volumes
large encugh to provide observabality of praces and other
nputs.

Level 1

Level 1 denvatives include shori-term contracts for future
delivery of securities when the underlying security is a level |
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and are valued a1 their quoted market price.

Level 2

Level 2 derivatives include OTC dervatives for which all
significant  valuation inputs are comoborated by market
evidence and exchange-traded dervatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to
market-clearing levels of OTC dervatives. In evalaating the
sigmificance of a valwation inpul, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolio’s net nsk exposure to that
ik

The selection of a particular model to value a denvative
depends on the coniractual terms of and specific risks inherent
in the mstrument, as well as the availability of pricing
information in the market. For denvatives that trade in liquid
markets, model selection does not  iavelve  significant
manmagement judgement because ocutputs of models can be
calibrated to market-clearing levels,

Valuation models require a vanety of inputs, such as
contractual terms, market prices, vield curves, discount rates
(inchading those derved from interest rates on collateral
recenved and posted as specified m credit support agreements
for collateralised derivatives), crednt curves, measures of
volatility and correlations of such mputs. Significant inputs to
the vahmtions of level 2 denvatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer quotations er other aliemative
pricing sources with reasonahle levels of price transparency.
Conssderation is given o the mature of the quotations (eg.,
indacative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity
to the prices provided from altemative pricing sources.

Level 3

Level 3 denvatives are walued using models which utihize
observable level 1 andor level 2 inputs, as well as
unchservable level 3 inputs. Unobservable mputs include
certain comelations, illiquid eredit and secwred Tunding spreads,
recovery rates andd cenam equuty and interest rate volatliies.
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Subsequent to the initial vahsation of a level 3 denvative, the
company updates the level 1 and level 2 inputs to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting gains and losses
are classified in level 3. Level 3 inpats are changed when
correborated by evidence such as similar market transactions,
third-party pricing services andor broker or dealer quotations
or other empirical market data. In circumstances where the
company cannol verify the model value by reference 1o market
transaclions, it is possible that a different valuation model could
produce a materially different estimate of fair value. See below
for further information about significant unchservable inputs
used in the valuation of kevel 3 derivatives.

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the fair value caleubated by intermnal models, a gain or loss
15 recognised after inatial recogmition only 1o the extent that nt
ar=es from a change moa factor (including tme) that market
participants would consider in setting a price.

Valuation Adjustments

Valsation adjustments are integral 1o determining the fair value
of denvative porifolios and are used to adjust the mad-market
valuations produced by denvative pricing models to the exit
price vahumtion. These adjusiments incorporate  bid/offer
spreads, the cost of lquidity, CVA and funding valuation
adjustments, which account for the credit and funding risk
inherent in the uncollateralised portion of derivative portfolios.
The company also makes funding vahmtion adjusments 1o
collsteralized derivatives where the terms of the apreement do
not permit the company to deliver or repledge collateral
received.  Market-based nputs are generally used when
calibrating valuation adjustments to market-cleanng kevels

In additien, for denvatives that  include  significant
unobservable inpats, the company makes model or exat price
adjustments 1o account for the valustion uncedainty present in
the transaction.

Other Financlal Assets and Liabilities. Valustion
technigues and significant inputs of other financial assets and
liabalities inclede:

» Collateralised Agresments. The siznaficant inputs to the
valuation of resale agreements and securiies borrowed are
fumding spreads, the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows and interest rates,

+ Other Assets, Other assets measured at fair value consist of
loams and investments. The significant inputs to the valustion
of these loans and investments are consistent with those
diselosed for the rading cash instruments, See “Trading Cash
Instruments” above,

B
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« Collateralised Financings. The significant inpuis to the
valuation of repurchase agreements and securities loaned are
funding spreads, the amount and teming of expected future
cash flows and interest rates. The sigmficant nputs 1o the
valuation of secured debt securities 1ssued, other borrowmgs
and ntercompany loans measured a1 fair value are the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows, interest rates,
funding spreads, the fair value of the collateral delivered by
the company (which is determined using the amount and
tming of expected future cash flows, market prices, market
vields and recovery assumptions), the frequency of additional
collateral calls and commodity prices for prepaid commodity
Iransactions.

* Unsecured Borrowings. The sigmbficant inputs o the
valuation of unsecured borrowings measured at fair value are
the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, imterest
rates, the credit spreads of G3 Growp and commodity prices
for prepard commodity transactions. The inputs used to value
the embedded dervative component of hybnd financial
instrusients are consistent with the inputs wsed (o value the
company s other derivative instruments

Fair Value of Financlal Assets and Liabilities by Level
The table below presents, by level within the far valws
hierarchy. the company’s [(mancial assets and  lmbalnies
measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

3 in s Lyl 1 Lewvel 2 Lowel 3 Total

A of Decembar 2024

Finafncisl sssets

Col Isag A 5 — 5 M5 5 — & TS5
Traging cash irainmants 105,530 40,526 350 146,715
vt 141 ETE ST p o) ETRET

Tirading mscals A08.880  TIGEEY 14T8 pro -

Othar aswets 1 BGT (3] A7

Toanl SI0563 5 TEETBA 5 3B4D 5 B3E005

Financisl liibiltias

Coll Eund franciegs § — § BSETD § 445 § B8NS
Traging cash irsirumants 47,090 BA4S fal S525%
D Twrs. 81 GHNEIG 2ETE X562

Tradir babsdias AT A4 BE1,TEY 2,286 EEEE3]

Uinsaounes Bommairgs - 40,550 4126 44,708

JTeasl § 47144 § TETHM 5 BSAT §  B41043

Hut detivatives a0 361 54

A3 of Deceenbay 205

Financlsl siiets

Colateralised agresments  §  — % 130777 § 112 § 13888
Traging cash rsinmants s2.xm 30,10 [T g A
Crarvarives. 1 691514 4 B S 00

Tradies; et 82278 731353 4,730 [k

Drbhad araas 4 503 103 A1)

Teval 3 [ 4 ¥ AR

L

Financisl labilities

Colalaraluad francirgs § — § D605 § 4ED § 0 TEd
Trading cash rsinmants EEREY & fibh =0 [N
CrarrvaTves R L ) ] [-Tal-" ]

Trading absdies BBIZ  ETSAT FETT] 737 B0

Unsacumsg homoairgs - 4RS00 5 B3 54 B83

Teial § 80,817 § R3TI2 5 ASNG § 20407

i cefieativacs 35 22132 1,754 3840

I the table above, level 2 unsecused bosrowings as of
December 2023 has been decreased by 3283 million See Mote
28 for further details.
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Significant Unobservable Inputs Used In Level 3 Fair
Walue Measurements

Trading Cash Instruments. The table below presents the
company’s level 3 trading cash instrument assets and ranges
and weighted averages of significant unobservable mputs used
to value kevel 3 trading cash instruments.

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Derivatives and Unsecured Borrowlngs. The table
below presents the company's level 3 net dervatives amd
unsecured borrowmgs and ranges, averages and medians of
sigmificant unobseryable inputs used to value level 3 dervatives
and wsecured bomowings,

_ AsofDecomber 2624 As of Decenber 2023
& i milfom. Amount or Welghted Amount or  Wasighted As of Decembasr 2024 As of Decembar X022
oo s Range Average Rargs  Aversge §in mallinas, Amaun e Averagal Afcanl of  Avaragel
Mardgages and othar seset-backed loane and sacurities ANCEET RS Fange  Madian Fangs Wadan
Level ) asnats ] a4 ] 41 Dardvetives
iedd B.0% to 10.4% AN 0% B% 11.5% Interast mtss. nt § 165 ] 151
Rscovery raie 22.3% o B8.2% S09% 358% to TE.0% A4.6% Comslation (10]% to B5% WS (0% o 3% 1NEE%
Chration (ears) 20043 23 14070 42 Volailey [bpsh 52 to 71 [0 &1 62 4848
Corp dub i and ge snd agency obBgations Credit, pet 5 1,284 B 1,835
Level 3 st H 206 H 573 Cradil spresss (Bpa) 17181328 148105 74 1,750 1450
fhedd B.4% fo 15.8% A84% 50 0 BB (X Lipfran! i peints 18] 1 73 148 [ °E ] 187
Facovery rate T.3% o TRO% % T.3% 10 60.0% 26.6% Rscovery rams 20% to TOW  A6%AS0% 20% 0 60% AN
Dhration (years) 1,513 13 20 0.8 10 27.0 34 Currenclas, nat ] [EE] [} 1904)
Exuity sscurites Comelaton 0% bo 23% 21NN 20% 0 50%  24%N2I%
Laval 3 amsecs ] it H Bl Exqjuities, rt 5 1454) -] {14
Chration (years) ik [0 dlmdl 4k Comelatioe (TH% te 100%  SSNS2%  (TOP. s 100%  EEME0N
Totsl 5 as0 [ s Visliliny Mato b 1IN 0% b 0% 14%13%
Commoditles, net  § (L1} - [
In the table above: ot 5 Bod -] —
Unssoursd bosrowings
+ Ranges represent the sigrificant unobservable inputs that Lovel 3 akaliins § 4128 L1 6,563
were used m the valustion of each tvpe of cash instrument Irierees ruien
s - sops : amalyion 101% to 26% 1NN 5% 0 W% BN
and weighted averges are caleulated by weighting each input Cradh apresds (bps) ‘ .]2111 WA 2o e
by the relative fair value of the instrument. Gumercies
comalaton 0% b0 BN JAWDIN 20N o EANW  BMW2IN
+ The ranges and weighted averages of these inpuls are mot Ezuites comalason (2% 1 100%  S4%M0%  (16)% 0 O06%  SINUSIN
represeniative of the appropriate inpuis 1o use when itias oty Aot AL
caleulating the fuir value of any one trading instrument. For
e ¥ " In the table above:

example, the highest vield for mongages and other asset-
backed loars and securities 15 appropriate for valume a
specific mortgage but may not be appropriate for valuing any
other morgages. Accordingly, the ranges of nputs do not
represent uncentainty n, or possible ranges of, fair value
measurements of bevel 3 trading cash instruments.

+ Increases m yield or duration used in the valuation of level 3
instruments would have resultad in oa bower far value
measurement, while mcreasss in recovery rate or muluples
would have resulted in a higher far value measurement as of
December 2024 and December 2023 Due to the distinctive
nature of exch level 3 instrument, the ntesrelationship of
inpats is not necessarily uniform within each product type.

Morgages and other asset-backed lcans and securities,
corporate debl instruments and govemment and agency
obligations are valued using discounted cash flows, and
equity secunties are valued using market comparables and
discounted cash flows,

The fair value of any one insirument may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
to determine fairr value. Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these technigues.

* Dueration was ot signi ficant 1o the valuation of level 3 equity
securities as of December 2024,

« Met derivative assets are shown as positive amounts and net
derivative labilities are shown as negalive amounts,

* Ranpes represent the sipmificant unchservable inputs that
were wed in the valwtion of each tvpe of derivative
Averages represent the arithmetic average of the inputs amd
are nol weighted by the relatve fair value or netional of the
respective financial instruments. An average greater than the
median ndicates that the majority of inputs are below the
ﬂ'.-'\clﬁs,:.
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+ The ranges, averages and medians of these inpuls are not
represestative of the appropriate mputs t© use when
caleulating the fair value of any one derivative, For example,
the highest correlation for equity dervatives 15 appropnate for
valuing a specific equity denvative but may not be
appropriate  for valung any  other equity  denvative.
Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not represent uncertainty
in, or possible ranges of, fair value measurements of level 3
derivatives,

Interest rates, currencies and equities derivatives are vahsed
using option pricing models, and credit derivatives are valued
using oplion pricing, correlation and discounted cash flow
ediels

The far value of any one instrument may be determmed
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, option
pricing models and  discourted cash fMows models are
ivpically used together 1o determine fair value, Therelore, the
level 3 balance encompasses both of these techmques,

« Correlation withan cwrrencies and equities incluedes cross-
product type correlation.

Range of Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following provides information aboul the ranges of
significant unchservable inputs used 1o value level 3 denvatives
and unsecured borrowings:

» Correlation. Ranges [or corelation cover a wanely of
underliers both within one product type (eg., equity mndex
and equity single stock names) and across product types (e.g..
correlation of an inferest rate and a currency), as well as
BEFOSS PERHONS.

Volatility. Ranges for volatility cover numerous underliers
across a variety of markets, maturities and strike prices. For
example, volatility of equity indices 13 gencrally lower than
velatility of single stocks,

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The ranges for credit spreads, upfront credit points and
recovery rates cover a variety of underliers (index and single
names), reglons, seclors, matunities and credit qualities (high-
vield and investment-graded and alse includes secured
fumiding spreads. The broad range of this population gives rise
to the width of the ranges of significant unobservable inputs.

87
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Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The tollowing s a desenipiion of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measurements 1o changes in
rgmificant unebservable mputs, in solation, as of each year-

end:

= Correlatlon. In general. for comtracts where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlving asset or
index prices (eg., imterest rates, credit spreads, [oreign
exchange rates, inflation rates and equity prices), an Increase
if cofrelation results in a higher fair valee messurement,

Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
volatility results in a hagher fair value measurement.

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. In general, the fair wvalue of purchased credit
protection mereases as credit spreads or upfront credit poants
increase of recovery rates decrease, and the far value of
secured funding capacity increases as secured Nunding spreads
increase. Credit spreads, updront credit points and recovery
rutes are stromgly related o distinctive risk factors of the
underlying reference obligations, which mclude reference
entity-specific factors such as leverape, volatility and
industry, market-based nsk factors, such as borrowing costs
or hguidity of the underlving reference cblipgation, amd
macroeconomic conditions.

Dhse o the dstinctive nature of each of the company’s level 3
denvatives and unsecured bormowings, the interrelationship of
inputs 15 not necessarily uniform within each product type.

Collateralised Agreements. Az of December 2023, the
significant  unobservable mputs used to wvalue level 3
collateralmed agreements are incorporated intoe the trading cash
instruments disclosures related 10 unobservable inpuis. See
“Trading Cash Instruments™ above,

Collateralised Financings, As of December 2024 and
December 2023, the sigraficant unobservable inputs used 1o
value level 3 collateralised financings are incorporated into the
dervatives disclogures related to wnobservable inputs, See
“Derivatives and Unsecured Borrowings™ above,

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Falr
Value Hlerarchy

Dnarmg both 2024 and 2023, there were no significant transfers
between level 1 and level 2 financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
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Fair Value Financlal Assets and Liabilitles Valued
Using Technigues That Incorporate Unobservable
Inputs

The far value of fmancial assets and habalities may be
determined in whole or part using a valeation techmque based
on assumptions that are not supported by prices from
observable cusrent market transactions in the same instrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumptions will change the resuhant esumate of fair
value.

In determining reasonably possible allemative unfavourable
assumptions, & detailed business and position level review has
been performed to identify and quantify instances where
potential uncertainty exists. This has taken imto account the
positions” farr value as compared to the range of available
market information.

The table below presents the potential mmpact of using
reasonable possible alternative assumptions for financial assets

and labilities valued using techmigues that are unobservable.

Az of Dwosember

£ it miloes 2024 2023
Favoumble changes

Tradirg cash insrumen 3 R L e
Oeharm o4 0
Total 3 = 8 B0
Unfawourable changes

Tradirg cash nsirements 5 12 5 1]
Gichars 147 191
Toisl 5 18 § 206
A — —
In the table above:

« Cihers include the favousable and unfavoursble changes
related to denvatives, unsecured borrowings, collateralised
agreemenis, collateralised fmancmgs and other assets. Where
applicable, these have been presemted net, consistent with
their net risk being used m the calewlation of favourable and
unfavourable changes due 10 economic hedging between

these instruments.

As of both December 2024 and December 2023, the impact
for favourable changes was primarily driven by changes in
valuation adjustments related 1o equity and fixed income
denvatives and changes m assumptions related w0 the
valuation of secured funding spreads and equity securities.

Az of bath December 2024 and December 2023, the impact
for unfavoarable changes was primarily driven by changes in
the assumptions related to the valuation of secured funding
spreads, volatility and correlation inputs, and credit spreads.

BE
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The table below presents the amounts not recognised m the
income statement relating to the difference between the fair
value of financial assets and labilities at wibial recognition
using the vahmtion technigues and the ransaction price (day 1
P&L)

Yaur Ended Decambar

£ in rlfions 2024 2023
Esginrng bulanos 5 60 5 S
i trar s 0] 31
Anourls iecngrised in the insime e

shuaing e yuer 6z @50
Ending balanse 3 FI) Fil
Level 3 Rolforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for all level 3 financial assets and labilites measured at
fair value on a recurring basis.

Yiesr Ended ecember

i s 2028 2023
“Totsl firancisl sssets

Baginring balance $ 4mE § 47
Gainilaasa) £ED g
Purchases E ] B
Ealas (Z8) ey
Eaclamants (1,206 [i=rei]
TransSers into level 3 136 v
Transters st of kvl 3 [t 272
Endirg balarzs 3 REib 5 4ndE
Total financial Eabllites

Baginring balance 5 (s 5 (TR
Gainslssas) L2 {1ordy
Purchases 1 a5
R, (243) 310
Bsuanss (1,740 [2.248)
Savlemanis A4 2558
Transters nio lwewl 3 M3 (T8 1]
Transters o of kival 2 1,901 B
Endirg balancs 5 (BEEM S [BE0E
Im the table above:

« If a financial asset or financial lability was transferred to
level 3 dunng & reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the
period s classified 1n level 3. For level 3 financial assets,
increases are shown as positive amounts, while decreases are
shown as negative amounis. For level 3 financial liabilities,
increnses arg shown as negative amounts, while decreases are
shown as positive ameunts,

* Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
recognised ai the beginning of the reporting period in which
they oocur, Accordingly, the tables do not include gains or
losses for level 3 financial assets and liabalities that were
transfierred out of level 3 prior to the end of the period.
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+ Level 3 financial assets and labilities are  frequently
ceenomically hedged with level 1 and level 2 financial assets
and liabilsties. Accordingly, level 3 gains or losses that are
reported for a particular class of financial assel or financial
leability can be partially offset by gains or losses aunbutable
to level 1 or level 2 in the same class of financial asset or
financial liability or gains or losses attributable to level 1,
level I or level 3 in o different class of financial asset or
financial liability. As a resull, gains or losses included in the
level 3 rollforward do not necessarily represent the overall
impact on the company’s results of operations, liquidity or
capital resources.

« Gains{lasses) are predomanately attribagable to changes in
unrealised gains or losscs relating to level 3 fimancial assets
and financial liabilities.

* The net gains{losses) on level 3 fimancial assets for both
2024 and 2023 are reported in “Met revenues™ in the income
statement.

The net losses on level 3 financial labilities of 3669 million
for 2024 mcluded lesses of 5648 million repented in “Met
revenues” in the income statement and losses of 321 million
reported in “Debt valuation adjustment™ in the statement of
comprehensive income. The net losses on level 3 financial
leabilities of 51,07 hillion for 2023 included losses of 5988
million reported i “Met revenses” m the income statement
and losses of 586 million reported i “Debt valustion
adjustment” in the statement of comprehensive meome.

The table below disageregates, by the balance sheet line tems,
the mformatson for the company’s financial assets included in
the summary table above,

Yol [Eraiaed Dz bar

& irr millFovs 2024 2023
Collateralised agresmenta
Begirring balirce ¥ 1M § 11
Gansijoasas) - 3
Ealtherner s - fi:H]
Trmns'ers out of level 3 (112) =
EHI: balunca 5 — & 112

—
Trading sdiate
Bagirring balarcs ] 4730 § d.dids
Gainailossas} (4] 111
Purchases. wn B0
Sales. [248) {301}
ki [1,308) {900)
Transers into bval 3 134 -
Transters out of livel 3 (s {3525
Erding balance ] 357§ o4, M
(ither anaats
Bagirring balarcs £ 193 5 LF..]
Gana/(lossas) -3 in
Purchases 1 8
Sales 152y 'Ll
et herrer s i [
Trans'ers inio bvel 3 i -
Tran=ters out of level 3 - {20
Erding balanzs 5 [T 10
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The table below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for the company s financial liabilities included
in the summary table above.

Yaur Ended Decenhaer

§ it el 2024 2023
Collateralined financirgs

Beginring balancs -3 kR 5 [Hesy
Gainslosses) 4 L]
IssUANCeS [58) (&)
SaTlamens 141 80
Tiransters o lewl 3 (43 -
JEngie; balency -
Trading lishilitiss

Beginring balance ¥ (2:351) § (2358
Gainwlosas) L] L]
Purchazss 1" wn
Salas 243 [llei}
EaTlamans B4 87
Tivansters i bl 3 (85 (154}
Transfers ol of livel 3 Figd i)
Endirg balane ] (220 § )
Unsscured bomrowings

Bapinning balance 5 (5,663 § 5,043
Gainylaiss) a5 (548)
lsuansaa (1,653 [1.524)
Sarlamaniy 2,506 2055
Transbers into leesl 3 {1d) [LFan]
Transters out of levael 3 B0 il
Endirg balance 5 (4PE S [(sEEw

Transfars Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Transfers between level 2 and level 3 generally cccur due to
changes in the ransparency of level 3 inputs, A lack of market
evidence leads o reduced transparency, whereas an increase in
the availability of market cvidence leads to an increase in

trans| PArCancy.

Financial Assets

Year Ended December 2024

Trading Assets. Transfers mto level 3 trading assels
primarily reflected transfers of centain credit dervatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced trarsparency of certain credit
spread inputs, and transfers of certain cash mstruments from
level 2, principally due to reduced wransparency of cemain vield
iR,

Transfers out of level 3 irading assets primanly reflected
transfers of certamn ety dervatives 1o Jevel 2, principally dus
to increased transparency of certain volatility and correlation
inputs, transfers of cemain credit derivatives to level 2,
principally due 1o increased tramsparency of certain credit
spread inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments to level
2, pancipally due to increased transparency of certain yvield
nputs.
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Year Ended December 2023

Trading Assets. Transfers into level 3 trading assets
primartly reflected transfers of certain equity derivatives from
level 2, principally due 1o reduced price transparency of certain
volatility and cerrelation mputs, transfers of certain credit
dervatives  from  level 2, proncipally due o reduced
transparency of certain credit spread mputs, and transfers of
certain cash nstruments from level 2, principally due 10
reduced transparency of ceriaim vield inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 trading asets primanly reflected
transfers of cemain equity derivatives to level 2, principally due
to increased transparency of certain volatility and comelation
inputs, and transfers of certain cash nstruments to level 2,
principally due to increased transparency of certain wvield
inputs.

Financlal Liabllitles

Year Ended December 2024

Trading Liabilities. Transfers into level 3 trading liabilities
primartly reflected transfers of certam credit denvatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of certain credit
spread mputs,

Transfers out of level 3 wading linbilities primarily reflected
transfers of certain equaty denivatives to level 2, principally due
to increased transparency of cenain volatility and correlation
inputs, and transfers of certain interest rates derivatives to kevel
2, prmncipally due to increased tramsparency of certam swap
rates.

Unsecured Borrowings., Transfers imlo level 3 unsecured
borrowings primarily reflected transfers of centain hybrid
financial instruments from level 2, principally due o reduced
transparency of certain volatibty mputs.

Transfers out of level 3 unsecured bommowings pnmanly
reflected transfers of certain hybnd financial mstruments 1o
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs.

Year Ended December 2023

Trading Llabilities. Transfers into level 3 trading habilities
prmanly reflected transfers of certain equily derivatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs, and tranafers of cenain credit
dervatives  from  level 2, prncipally due o reduced
transparency of certain credit speead inputs

Transfers out of level 3 trading habilities primarnly reflected
transfers of certain equity derivatives to level 2, principally due
to reduced transparency of certain credit spread inputs.

Unsecured Borrowings. Transfers into level 3 unsecured
borrowings primarily reflected transfers of certin hybnd
financial instruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
transparency of certain valatility and cormelation inputs.
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Transfers out of level 3 unsecured bommowmes primanly
reflected transfers of certain hybrid fmancial instruments to
level 2, prncipally dwe to increased tramsparency of certain
volatility and comelation mputs.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities Not
Measured at Falr Value

The company had financial assets of 521131 billion as of
December 2004 and 323452 billion as of December 2023 that
are nol measured at fair value. Given that substantially all of
these balances are short-term in nature, their carrying values in
the balance sheet are a reasomable approximation of fair value,

The table below presents the company s financial liabalities that
are not measured at fair value by expected matunty,

A o Dozt bttt
§ i mallineng. 2024 2023
Currers $ 184410 §  16EIN
Won-pument 73373 [
Total 5 _irrved § b ses

Im the table above:

* Currert financial lhabilities are short-term in nature  amd
therefore their carrving values in the balance sheet are a
reasonable approximation of fir value,

» Mon-current financial labilities prmanly related to long-term
intercompany loans and repurchase agreements. The imterest
rates of these mstruments are wvanable in nature and
approximate prevailing market interest rates for instruments
with similar terms and characienstics. As such, their carrying
values in the balance sheet are a reasonable approximation of
fair value,

= Mon-current firmncial liabilites as of December 2023 has
been mereased by 5283 mallion. See Mote 28 for further
details,

Hote 30.

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclosures m relation 1o the company’s financial nsk
management and capatal management have been presented
alongside other risk management and regulatony information in
Part [ of this annual report and are identified as audited, where
relevant,
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Maturity of Financial Assets, Financial Liabilities and
Commitments
The table below presenis an analysis of the cash flows of the

company’s  financial  assets,  fnancal  habalities  and
commitments by contractual matunty except for rading assels

Trasingion

Lass har
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and liabilitees held for tradmg, which are classified as tradmg/
on demand, reflecting the company s role as o market maker.

T mesn s

£ b milors camand 1 otk 1= monihs = | ymar 1 -6 yoars & yoans Told
Az of December 2024

Finarcisl asssls

Ciah and cash aquivalenss 3 11601 § — % — % — 5 — % — 3 11,601
Collaeralned s aemers LR R 113,744 T84 Sa14 3 Eed 1PLSE
Caslomer ard other receivables TG ARG —_ —_ — - - Th.BAG
Trading assats B26,083 - - - - - B2G08E
Cthar assa’s 1,581 185 4 16 Fa1] 1,024 1040
Tatsl 3 OBi4BY § 112070 3§ TE4T § 5030 § 147§ Apdd 5 1410488
Finarcisl labilitias

Collasralnad nancings 5 14,336 § 47,168 % 16,722 § AT 5 TRE1 § 58 3§ 1T0,0BE
Casiliafind are othed piyabld 107,164 - - - - - 107,164
Tradicg Esbilties M - - - - - TAE
Unsacured bomoewirgs 1,828 321 4,418 19242 W bk o] BB
Orther Rablites 1,580 1433 L L 1,480 v 4831
Totsl 5 B35139 5 61B30 5§ 148 § 39345 5 06218 § 3742 5 1083634
Commitmaris

Collatalsnd apraams 5 1040 5 118,882 § BOB § TH40 § o — § 122370
Cellavaleng Wwarorgs B 86,388 2,407 837 -— — BI,340
rher 2,758 = = 1 = = LT
Tatsl ] 1506 5 105,070 5 FAEEE] 297 % - § = ] 1 AGH
Ai {f December I0ET

Finarcial aaasty

Cmsh and cash squivalens - AR % - % - 3 -3 - 3 - % 35680
Collateralicad agraaments V21 02 125502 ran aun 1 148 Eamy
Castomar ara other recstvables T2 B8R - - - - - TLRBA
Tradiey assets B18,880 106 7,30 1505 - - 20,362
Cihar axsac 1 66T 10 A0 4 453 1,335 356
Total g 1m 5 IE_I‘HH E] IIIHE 5 Sﬁ H] Iiﬂ- g 1#1 F 1ﬂﬁﬁE
Finarcisl liabilitos

Collaialned arcrgs H] 3RAED 3 47504 3 He Al § M 5 H}ES § 1573 8 215810
Crslomer ard other payables LB —_ —_ — - - 116,201
Trading kshiktios FAT 10 - - - - - TAT 10
Ursaoured bomowirgs 23712 1776 4,854 Ll 1N ) 106 855
Ochar habdibes 18501 1,202 B 13 1015 2 4,159
Total 5 abhiu S RO5E1 % 44,540 % dEEMD §  WEzW § 3720 § 1,470,748
Commitmants

Collateralizsd sgraamants -3 8 130300 § 1.1 % 2o 8 - 5 - & 143406
Collateralmsd fnancings [ 44,608 2 BAG - - £b173
Cithar 3,368 1 - 2 - - aarz
Total 5 4173 § 183007 % 1,303 % 2A53 S — 5 — 5 {02141
In the table above: » Liguidhty risk on denvatives 15 mitigated through master

+ Cazh flows by contraciual maturity include interest that will
secrue on mntercompany loans (ncluded in other assets,
collateralised financings and unsecured bomowings), and debt
securities 1ssued messured st amortised cost (meluded i
unsecured  bomrowings), Al other financial assels and
financial liabilities, which are primanily measured s fair
value through profit or loss, have been disclosed st ther
camying values, consstent with the values used in the
lequidity risk management of these instruments.

Cash collateral received and paid has been clissified as
trading/on demand, consistent with the derivatives that it
primarily relates to.

b

netting agreements and cash collateral arrangements,

Unsecured borrowings include certain debt securities issued
that have irigger events that are not in the control of the
company and could be repaid earlier than their contractual
maturities.

The company manages hgquidity nsk according o three
peinciples: (1) hold sufficem excess lquidity an the form of
GCLA to cover outflows during a stress persod, (11) maintain
appropriate Asset-Liability Management, and (iil) maintam a
viable Contingency Funding Flan, See “Liquidity Rk
Marmgement — Ligquidity Bisk Management Principles” m Part
1 of this annual report for further details.
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Note 31,
Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. Dunng
2024 and 2023, the company transferred certain fnanceal assets
where the transfers failed to meet the derecognition criteria, &s
contained m [FRS 9, and as a result of which the company
continues 1o recognise these assets in full in the balance sheet.

The company transfers assets owned o counterparties in the
orhnary  course of business to collateralise repurchase
agreements and other secarities lending tmnsactions. In these
transactions the transferred assets continue to be recogrsed by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
require the financial instruments to be repurchased al matunity
of the agreement and the company remains exposed to the
price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
asset, a [nancial liability iz recognised in respect of the
consideration  received and  recorded i collateralised
financings. When the company receives non-cash collateral (in
the form of securities) no lability is inially recognised If
collateral received is subsequently sald, the obligation to return
the collateral is recogrised as a lability in rading labilities.

In addition 1o repurchase agreements and secwsities lending
agreements, the company oblains funding through the use of
ather arrangements that fail 1o meet the derecognition crileria.
For example, sales of secunties with related denivatives, such as
total refum swaps, through which the company refains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the transferred assets.
A financial liability 1s recognised in such cases for the procesds
received

Other financial assets transferred that continue to be recognised
on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate to pledpes of
securities as collateral, primanly for derivative transactions.
The ebligations under such denvatives are recorded in trading
liabilities,
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The table below presents the company”s Nnancial assets which
have been transferred but which remain on balance sheet for

ACOOUNLING pUIPOsSes.

As of Dacembsr
F i mallions 2024 2023
Moy muarkal FRinmens 5 — % m
Governman and agency obligiors Wz M
Worigags snd oter nssatbacosd lnans and securnites 168 152
Corporate cebt nsTuments 1,335 10,334
ity sacurises 52,530 A0 EI0
Tiractityg cash manunwens 161,158 5 507
Char asaets - %
Total ERRRII TR

The carmving value of the associated Nnancial liabalnies
generally  approximate the camving value of the assels
transferred.

Derecognised Assets With Ongoing Exposure. The
company has continuing involvement in the form of derivative
fransactions  and puarantees with ceriain  unconsclidated
structured entities to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These dervatives may be credit-linked to the
asset transferred and result in the company retamning specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company o make
payments to the structured entity 1o compensate losses on the
assel il cenain contingent events occour,

In addivon, the company transfers (mancial assels Lo
securitisation vehxles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets bt may have contimuing
involvement with the transferred assets, including ownership of
beneficial interests i the securitised financial assets, primarily
n the form of debt nstruments. The company may also
purchase senior  or subordinated securiies dssued by
securitisation vehicles in connectson with secondary market-
making activities.

Where the company’s continuing involvement in transfermed
assets is through derivatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure o loss is the notonal amounts of the denvative or
guaraniee. For retained or purchased interests in securitised
assets, the company’s risk of loss is limited to the fair value of
these interests, In all cases these retained interests are carmed at
fair value,

The company accounts for assets pending transfer at fair value
and therefore does not typically recognise significant pains of
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
continuing nwvolvement that could require the company Lo
repurchase derecognised financial assets.

250/424

oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Motes to the Financial Statements

The tables below present mformation about the company's
exposure through continuing involvement and the gains or
losses related to those transactions.

Mairrm
Camying BROELTE
3 in milform walus 1o boss
Az of December 2024
Asses
Trading cash nsruments ] - § =
Dertvativas 404 1,18
Tentirg Asecs 404 1,181
Jotal 3 it 3 __Lam
Liabilitie
Tradirg cash insrumens 3 — § =
Deriaatives L] oi
Tradirg kahilktiss (L] o8
Total £ H 708
A3 f Decsanber J023
Apusia
Teadieg cail malfanit L] — & —
Dertiatives 12 1066
Trading assats 120 1.066
Total 5 17 5 1,056
Linbilites
Tradieg cash nsrmens % = 5§ -
Dartiatihias 87} B03
Tratieg hatikies 157] ]
T 3 LIFEH A,
Ircomel  Cumulative
[Bxpanis) [le==n
& e milors inthe ysar  {anpanss)
g of Decambar 2024
HAssels
Trwdieg cash s k3 - § 1313
Drrhiathias 5 R ]
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Directors’ Report

The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended Diecembser 2024,

Introduction

In accordance with Section 4144 of the Companies Act 2006,
the direciors have prepared a strategic report, which = included
in Part [ of this anmaal repont and which contains a review of
the company's businesses and a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the company. The direclors have
chosen to disclose the company's risk management objectives
and policies (including exposures 1o hquadity risk, market risk
and credit risk), Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting.
elements of corporate governance, and the future outlook of the
company 1n the strategic report in accordance with Section
4140011 of the Companies Act 2006,

Corporate Governance

The company has a robust comporate govemance framework
which 15 embedded m 1ts approach to runmang its business. This
framework & designated to align with legal and regulatory
requirements and guidance ssued by vanous bodies as relevant
to the company and as appropriate for iis business and
shareholding structure, As a whollv-owned subsadiary within
G5 Group, the company also aligns its corporate govermnance
with that of G5 Group. While the company does not formally
apply any single corporate govemance code, fis governance
amangements are  broadly consistent with the Financial
Reporting Councal (FRC) Wates Corporate  Governance
Principles for Large Private Companies.

Rale of the Board. The Board has overall responatbility for
the management of the company. As part of this role, the Board
approves and oversees implementation of the company’s
stratepic ohjectives, risk stiategy and intemal govemance, The
Board momtors the integrity of the company”s accounting and
financial reporting systems inchading fmancial and operational
controls and regulatory compliance and has oversight of senior
management,

Purpose, Values and Culture. Whilst some of these areas
of responsibility are delegated to Board commiitees, the Board
s a whole = resporsible for overseeing the company's
strategic direction and culture.

The purpese of GS Group as a whole 15 to advance sustaimble
economic growth and financial opportunity. [ts values which
underpin this purpose are partnership, client service, integrity
and excellence. As a subsidiary within G5 Group, the company
is aligned to this purpoese and these values,
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The company sirives to maintain a work environment that
fosters professionalism, excellence, high standards of business
ethics, teamwork and cooperation among employees. The
company recogmises that il needs the most talented people 1o
deliver outstanding resulis for clients, and that the diversity of
its workforce, including a diversity of perspectives, enhances
its performance-based culure and is critical to its commercial
SUDCEES,

The Beard recognises the imporiance of maintaining and
developing the culture of the company, and does =0 by selting
the “tene from the top’ and overseeing how culture and values
are fostered by the management of the company. The Board
recenves regular updates on culture, conduct and diversity and
inclugion from management.

G5 Group maintains a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
supplemented by 14 Business Principles, and a compendium of
internal policies to inform and guide emiplovees m their roles.

Strategy. G35 Group's fecus is on delivering sustainable, long-

term retuns for its sharcholders through a strategy that

revolves around its cliemis. Its strategy compnses three core

objectives:

* To grow and strengthen fs existing businesses: to capture
higher wallet share across a wider range of clients;

+ To diversifiy its products and services: to build a more durable
source of earnings, and

* To operate more efficiently: so that it can drve higher
margins and retumns across the organisation.

The company’s strategy, aligmed with that of G35 Group, s
impkmented by the executive management of the company
with Board oversight The chiel executive officer of the
company updates the Beard on the company’s performance
againgt its strategic objectives at Board meetings.

Composition of the Board. The directors collectively
possess @ broad range of skills, backgrounds, experience and
knowledge appropriate for the effective oversight of the
company”s business. The roles of the chair of the Board and the
chief executive officer ane held by different individuals.

The Board considers that the size and structure of the Board 1s
appropriate to oversee the busmesses conducted by the
company. As of December 2024, the Board i comprised of
nine directors, si< of whom are independent. The company has
Audin,  Risk, Nomminations and  Eemuneration  Board
Commitizes.
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Directors’ Report

The Board Nommatons Committee 15 responsthle for
identifying and recommending qualified candidates for Board
membership and uiilises a Succession Flanning Framewerk.
This sets oat the process and omteria, which ncludes the
consideration of Board diversity, for the selection of new
directors. The use of a skills matnx enables the experience and
expertise of the Board both individually and as a whole 10 be
assessed. New directors are provided with a compeehensive and
bespoke induction programme. The chair of the Board oversees
an ongomng trainng and development programme for the
directors to enhance their knowledge and engagement.

The Board Mominations Committee oversees the effectivensss
of the Board, its committees and their chairs and members, and
evalmtes this anmually. It also reviews the size, structure and
composition of the Board, including the balance of independent
and non-independent directors.

The approach to directors’ comflicts of interest and the
anticipated tme commitment required 15 discussed with each
director on their joinng the Board and reviewed annually as
part of the fiiness and propricty assessment process. All the
directors meet the applicable regulatory requirements for the
number of directorships they are permitted to hold.

Responsibilities and Accountabllity. The company's
govemanece model fully incorporates the Senior Managers and
Centification Regime.

The Board 15 supported by vanows Board commilees, each
with a charter setting out its duties and the responsibilities
delegated 1o . The commitiees are comprised of non-
executives only to enable them to provide oversight and
challenge to managememt. The chairs of these Board
committees report o the Board on the proceedings amd
recommendations of the committees. Certain matters are
reserved for decision by the Board alone.

Further details of the GSI Board Risk Committee and GSI
Board Audit Commitiee are sel ot i the “Overview amd
Structure of Risk Management — Structure” section of the
Strlegic report.

Opportunity and Risk. Effective nsk management 1s critical
1o the company’s success, Accordingly, the company utilizes
GS Group's centerprise risk management framework that
emplovs a  comprehensive, integrated  approach to sk
managemient and is designed to enable comprelensive risk
management processes through which the nisks associated with
the company’s businesses are wentified, assessed, monitored
and managed The company’s risk management structure 1=
buili around three core compenents: govemance, processes, and
people.
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Risk management governance starts with the Board, which both
directly and through its committees, including the GSI Board
Risk Committee and the GSI Risk Commuittes, oversee the
company’s  risk  management  policies  and  practices
mplkmented  through the enterprise nsk  management
framework. The Board 1s responsible for the annual review amnd
approval of the company's risk appette statement, which
describes the levels and types of nsk it is willing 1o accept, in
order 10 achieve the objectives included in its strategic business
plan, while remammg in compliance with regulatony
requirements. The company’s sirategy set out above is aligned
with that of G3 Group and the Beard is ultimately reaponsible
for oversezing and providing direction about the company’s
strategic business plan and nsk appetite.

The chiel nsk officer reports to the GSI Board Risk Commttes
and GS Group's chief nisk officer. As part of the review of the
fimwide nsk portfolio, the chief nsk officer regularly advises
the GSI Board Risk Committee of relevant risk metrics and
muterial exposures, including msk limits and  thresholds
established mi the company's nisk appetite statement.

Further detmls of the G5I Board Risk Commiltes are sl out in
the “Owerview and Siruciure of Risk Management —
Structure™ section of the sirategic report.

Remuneration Framework. Atracting and retaining talent
is fundamental to GS Group’s long-term success as a fimm.
Compensation, when structured appropriately, = an important
way of altracting, retaining and incentivising talent and in
reinforcing G5 Group’s <ulture, G5 Group's remumeration
phulosophy 5 reflected in the Goldman Sachs Compensation
Principles as posted on the Goldman Sachs public website. In
particular, effective rennmeration practices  sheuld: (i)
Encourage a real sense of wamwork and communication,
banding inchividizl short-tenm interests 1o the mstitution”s long-
term interests; (it) Evaluate performance on a multi-year hasis,
(i) Dhscourage excessive or concenirated nsk-taking. (iv)
Allow an institution (o attract and retain proven talent, {(v)
Align aggregate compensation for G5 Group with performance
ower the cvele; and (vi) Promote a strong nsk management amd
control environment.

The company develops remuneration policies and practices in
sccordance with applicable regulatory rules whilst ensurimg that
these are aligned so far as possible with the Goldman Sachs
Compensation Principles.

The GSI Board Remunerstion Commillee oversess the
development and mplementation of these  remumeration
policies and practices.
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GOLDMAN SACHE INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)

Directors’ Report

Stakeholder Engagement. The company's stakeholders
include its sharcholder, employees, suppliers, clients, regulators
and the environment and commurties in which it operates

Engagement with Shareholder

The company is a wholly-owned subsidiary al"l.'imup Inc. As
such its purpose, culture, values and strategies are aligned with
those of its ulumate shareholder. The Board receives regular
updates on G5 Group strategy. Chairs of Board committees
meet regularly with their counterparts on Group Ine.’s board of
directors. The compamy™s chiel executive officer 15 a member
of G5 Group's Management Committee and one non-executive
director is a member of Group Ine."s board of directors.

Engagement with Employees

The company considers its emplovees as its greatest asset and
the Board is resporzible for overseeing the company’s
engagement with them. This includes regular updates from
management on various metrics, including on diversity and
mclusion. See “Non-Fmancml and Sustanability Information
Statement — Employee Matters™ for further detals.

Engagement with Other Stakeholders
Chients - the chief executive officer of the company regularly
meets with clients and hosts and panicipates in client events.
The Beard as a whole regularly recewves updates from
management en client engagement

Suppliers — G5 Group has plobally consistent standards and
procedures for the on-boarding, use and pavment of external
suppliers {(vendors). In partnerming with G5 Group to deliver on
s objectives, suppliers are required to meet business,
compliance and financial stability requirements and adhere to
G5 Group's vendor code of conduct, which desenbes s
expectations thal suppliers conduct business responsibly. See
“Won-Financial and Sustainabiity Informateon Statement —
Human Rights” for further details

Regwlators — the company has an active dialogue with it=
regulators.  Senior management and  directors meet  with
regulators on o frequent bass.

Environment G5 Growp has a global approach 1o
sustainability through s platform for sustminable finance, G3S
Group's approach (o sustammable finance 15 focused on two
long-term  imperatives: advancing the climate transition by
helping  industries usher in, and thrive in, a low-carbon
ecconomy, and driving inclusive growth by leveraging its
business capabilities to improve access and affordability and 10
advance economic empowerment G5 Group  announced a
target to deploy 3750 billion in sustainable financing, investing
and advisory actvity by the beginning of 2030, As of
December 2024, GS Group achieved over 0% of that goal, in
which the company has played a part.

38
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Corporate Planming and Management 5 responsible for the
sustainahility strategy for G5 Group's global workplace and
supply  chain.  See  “Non-Fmancel and Sustamabiliy
Information Statement — Environmental Matters™ for further
details.

Conmmnnities - the company suppors ils COmmunities in many
ways, with global mitiatives coordinated through G5 Group's
Office of Corporate Engapgement. See “Non-Financial smd
Sustainability Information Statement — Social Matters” for
further details,

Imternal Control over Financlal Reporting, Management
of the company s responsible for establishing and maintming
adequarte  antemal  control  over  fimancial reporting. The
company’s intemal control over fimancial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabality of
financial reporting and the preparation of the company's
financial statements for extermal reporting  purposes  in
secordance  with UK -adopted  intemational  sccounting
standards and IFRS as it applies in the E.U

The company’s mtermal control over financial reporting
includes policies and procedures that pertain to the mamtenance
of records tha, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
transactions and  dispositions of assets, provide reasonable
assurance thal transactions are recordad as necessary o permit
preparation of financial statements i accordance with UK .-
adopted intemational accounting standards and IFRS as ot
applies in the EUT, and that receipts and expendituses are being
made only in accordance with authorisations of management
and the directors of the company, and provide reasonable
assurance regarding  prevention or tmely  detection  of
unsuthofsed sequisiion, use of dsposition of the company's
assets that could have a materal effect on the company's
financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

Section 172{1) Statemeant

Under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, the directors of
the company are required to act in the way they consider, in
good faith, would be most likely 1o promede the suceess of the
company for the benefit of s stakeholders as a whele. In doing
this, Section 172 requires a director to have regard, among
other matiers, to: the likely consequences of any decision in the
long=term; the interests of the company’s emplovees, the need
to foster the company’s business relationships with clients,
suppliers and others; the impact of the company s operations on
the community and the environment; the desirability of the
company maintaining a reputation for high standards of
business conduct; and the need 1o act fairly with stakeholders of
the company.

The directors give careful consideration to the factors se1 oul
above in dischargmg their duties under Section 172 and they
inform the directors’ decision-making as a board. The company
endorses G5 Group's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics set
out on the Goldman Sachs public website and seeks 10 concduct
its business in aceordance with the highest ethical standards and
in com pliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The directors are committed o effective engagement with all of
the company’s stakeholders. They recognise that building
strong relationships with these stakeholders will help the
company deliver s strategy an line with itz long-term values,
and operate the busmess in a sustainable way. The Board seeks
to understand and balance the relative interests and prionties of
each group and to have regard to these, as appropriate, in their
discussions and in the decision-making process. As part of this,
the Board receves regular updates from the chiel executive
oflicer of the company on his inderactions with chents and how
these are shapmg the company’s strategy. It also receives
feedback from the company’s shareholder. The agenda setting
process for Boasd meetings i3 designed to ensure Lopics
relevant to stakeholders are brought to the Board in a frequent
and timely manner.

In addition, the Board may receive traming and other
imformation to further develop itz understanding of key 1ssues
impacting the company’s stakeholders. The Board 15 further
supported by the G5l Board Audit Committee, the GSI Board
Risk Commimtee and the GSI Beard Remuneration Commaities
whe consider in more detwil the systems and controls in place in
relation to engagement with stakeholders.

More details about the company's engagement with s
stakeholders can be found in “Corporate Govermance —
Stakeholder Engagement” above,
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Employment of Disabled Persons

Applications for employment by disabled persons are fully and
farly considered with regard to the aptitudes and abilities of
each applicant. Efforts are made 1o enable any emplovees who
become disabled during employment 10 continue therr carcers
within G5 Group. Traming, career development and promotion
of disabled persons are, to the extent possible, identical 1o that
of cther emplovees who are not disabled

Dividends and Distributlons
Druarmg 2024, the company paid cash dividends of 32.19 billion
o G506 UK

Drarimeg 2023, the company paid cash dividends of 31.6% killion
o GBG UK and made a nen-cash distribation of $1.42 billion
to G35 UK for the consideration it received from the transfer
of its UK. asset management business.

Charitable Contributions

The company made donations 1o charity of $32 million for both
2024 and 2023, This included donations of 530 million for both
2024 and 2023 o Goldman Sachs Gives (UK), a registerad
charity, for general chanitable purposes in England and Wales.

Exchange Rate

The Briush poundU_5. dollar exchange rate was £351.2510 as
of December 2024 and £5%1.2746 as of December 2023, The
average mate for 2024 was £51.2774 and for 2023 was £/
§1.2460,

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the
company al the date when this repon was approved:

*+ So far as cach of the directors s aware, there 1s no relevant
audit information of which the company’s awditors are
unawars, and

+ Each of the directors has taken all the steps that they ought to
have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the company's
auditors are aware of that information.

Independent Auditors

The company has passed o resolution 1o re-appont
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as awditors of the company for
fimancial periods commencing on or after January 1, 2021,
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Directors' Report

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in Respect of
the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng ihe annual repost
andd the financial satements m accordance with applicable law
anwd regulation

Comparry faw requires the directors to prepare  financial
staterments for each financial vear. Under that law, the directors
have prepared the financisl statements in accordance with
UK. -adopted imternational accoamting standards.

The compamy has also prepared financial statements in
accordance with Imtermational Financial Reporting Stamdards
(IFRS) adopled pursuant to Regulation (EC) Mo 1 6062002 =
® applics n the ELL

Under company law, directors must not approve ihe financial
statearwenits umless they are satisficd that they give a true and faar
view of ihe stale of affairs of the companmy and of the profit or
boss of the company for that peried. In preparing the financial
statesyvents, the directors are required 1o

* Select mutable accounting policies and them apply them
consistenthy;

* State  whether  agplicable UK -adopted  international
accounting  dandards and  IFRS  adepled pursuant 1o
Regulation (EC) Mo 16062002 as it applies in the EU, have
been followed, subject to amy material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statemments;

» Make judgements and estrnates that are reasonable and
predent;, and

* Prepare the financial statements on the going concemn basis
unless it is imappropriste to presume that the company will
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
companry and  hence for taking reasonmble steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other iregularitics.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate
accomting records that are sufficie to show and explain the
comyany's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any timee the financial position of the company and enable
iem to ensure that the financial Aatements comply with the
Compranies Act 2006,

The directors are responsible for:

» The maimenance and mtegrity of the compamy s financial
statements on the Goldman Sachs website; and

= Presentmg the financial statements in compliance with the
requiremients set out in the Delegated Begulation 201981 5 on
European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Legislation in the UK. goveming the preparation and
dissermination  of financial statements may  differ  from
legislation m other jurisdictions.
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Directors’ Confirmations
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed in
“Directors” below, confirm that Lo the best of their knowledge:

* The fimancial statements, which have been prepared m
accordance with UK -adopted  intermational  accounting
standards and IFRS adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) Mo
1606/ 2002 22 it applies in the EU., give a true and fair view
of the assets, habilities, fnancial position and profit or loss of
the company; and

* The strategic report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the businesz and the posttion of the
company, together with a description of the principal nsks
and uncertainties that the company fices.

Directors
The directors of the company whe served throughout the vear
and 1o the date of this report, except where noted, were:

Mairme

Lord Paws Dsgrinn KBE, Char {appoiiied May 21, 2024}
AL AL Bures

G G Cefpps

L. A Donneiy

Sir Bragiey Fried fresignes Maeh 31, 224
R L Gnodde, 5h el exeoulive offcer

5. P Gyimah

M. M

T L Aser OBE

M Felibmarsbhan (resigned March 14, 2005)

The appaintments of Anthomy Gutman and Kunal Shah to the
Board and as co-chiefl executive officers were approved by the
Board on Jamuary 21, 2025, subject to regulatory approval,

Mo direcior had, &t the vear end, amy interest requiring node
herein

Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provisions

An indemmity provision, as defined by Section 234 of the
Companies Act 2006, is provided to the directors of the
comgrarty under the by -laws of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
This mdemnaty was in force throughout the vear and to the date
of this report.

Date of Authorisation of Issue
The directors’ report and financial statements were authonsed
fior issue by the Board on March 20, 2025,

s A-.M..{é

On behalf of the Board
L. A, Donnelly
Director

March 21, 2025

256/424

oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

OooooOodd
2023 12 31
@
12
2023 2022
$10,304  \1,504,693 $10,372  \1,514,623
1,886 275,413 2,058 300,530
1,443 210,721 - -
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10,362 1,513,163 4,013 586,018
12,304 1,796,753 3,968 579,447
(11,324)  (1,653,644) (4,834) (705,909)
(13,773)  (2,011,271) (4,775) (697,293)
(2,431) (354,999) (1,628) (237,737)
5 11,202 1,635,828 10,802 1,577,416
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www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures
2013 GSG UK
GSG UK 2023 12 2024 12 31
www .goldmansachs.com/disclosures
2006
EU 1606/2002 IFRS
EU IFRS
2023 12 EU

IFRS
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12

2006 402

IAS 1 IFRS IAS 12
IAS 12
1AS IFRS

IAS 12
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IFRS 15 IFRS 15

IFRS 15

GS

RSU

RSU

@
(b
@
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(b)

AT1
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DVA

IFRS
ECL 2023 12 2022 12
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ECL 12

ECL

ECL

90

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL

ECL
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30

IAS 39

80%
80% 125%
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IAS 38

AT1

30

15
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12

2023 2022
$13,703 $ 2,948
(3,399) 7,424
1,886 2,058
1,443 -
13,633 12,430
10,362 4,013
12,304 3,968
22,666 7,981
(11,324) (4,834)
(13,773) (4,775)
(25,097) (9,609)
(2,431) (1,628)
$11,202 $10,802

2023 14.2
| —
FICC
12
2023 2022
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ENEA $ 7,675 $ 7,451
1,763 1,712
1,764 1,639
$11,202 $10,802
IFRS 15
12

2023 2022
$ 806 $1,111
573 521
507 426
$1,886 $2,058

12

2023 2022
$2,188 $1,906
1,651 1,689
54 61
137 147
264 248
159 154

6S
1,139 1,090
863 724
6,455 6,019
GS
(319) (191)
$6,136 $5,828
GS GS
IFRS 15
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12

2023 2022
$5.6 $5.4
2.3 2.1
1.2 1.2
3.5 3.3
$9.1 $8.7

GS
GS
12

2023 2022
700 750
Ficc 690 773
730 851
357 566
947 902
3,424 3,842

2023 12 3,332 2022 12 3,882
12

2023 2022
$1,882 $1,638
262 222
42 42
2 4
$2,188 $1,906

2023 216 2022 103
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RSU

2021

2021 SIP 2021 29

2021 SIP 2021 SIP 1999
2021 SIP 2025
2023 334 2022 650
RSU RSU
GS

RSU

RSU

150%
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RSU
2023 12
872,454 3,700,126 $277.97 $261.02
574,879 572,878 $308.43 $317.83
(81,263) (25,112) $292.33 $284.72
- (1,729,787) $ - $263.88
(741,438) 741,438 $289.42 $289.42
(68,353) 76,384 $292.45 $295.29
556,279 3,335,927 $287.15 $276.32
2022 12
756,025 3,725,700 $243.70 $223.32
869,222 1,417,779 $301.06 $311.74
(132,657) (68,209) $274.34 $249.43
_ (2,006,662) $ - $229.13
(632,062) 632,062 $267.03 $267.03
11,926 (544) $248.53 $235.56
872,454 3,700,126 $277.97 $261.02
RSU 2023 313.12 2022 307.68 RSU
2023 2022
2023 5.01% 2022 5.6%
2023 423 2022 638
RSU 2023 12 2022 12
65,942 RSU 2023 12 2022
12 98,914
RSU 2023 12 240,909
2022 12 223,150 RSU 2023 12
361,364 2022 12 334,726
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12
2023 2022
$493 $532
158 (6)
250 232
901 758
14 147
- 49
- (®
14 188
$915 $946
2023 27.75% 2022
27.0% 2023
27.75% 2023 2023 31 27.0% 2023
2023 12 31 28.0%
12
2023 2022
$5,066 $4,974
27.75% 2022 27.0% 1,406 1,343
4 (16)
(395) -
AT1 78) (202)
(80) (239)
® 14
_ 2
5 9
158 14)
- 49
$ 915 $ 946
2023 2023 2
2024 GS
15%
GS
2024
2023 8.0% 3.0% 2022 2022
2022 49
2023 19.0% 25.0%
2021 2023 27.0%
28.0%
10
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12
2023 2022
$126,309 $129,433
136,508 106,363
$262,817 $235,796
1
12
2023 2022
$14,536 $19,200
58,352 59,767
$72,888 $78,967
2023 12 114 2022
12 170
12
29
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12

2023 2022
$ 20 $ 20
48,747 18,301
225 198
25,998 20,092
57,360 33,670
312 148
132,662 72,429
509,246 599,737
20,668 19,782
95,575 111,249
9,002 19,647
61,209 49,966
695,700 800,381
$828,362 $872,810

12

2023 2022
$ 27,935 $ 14,109
4,868 5,532
32,936 37,037
11 16
65,750 56,694
486,163 585,621
18,200 17,453
97,849 114,335
8,826 20,207
60,822 50,003
671,860 787,619
$737,610 $844,313
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29

12

2023 2022
$ 51 $ 45
238 235
$289 $280

12

2023 2022
$ 532 $ 683
114 136
1,515 1,274
2,161 2,093
5 5
518 560
7 8
15 - 40
16 456 385
35 43
150 121
4 4
1,175 1,166
$3,336 $3,259

IFRS
GS GS

GS
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2021 12 $16 $6 $22
@ — (O]
2022 12 12 6 18
2 - 2
2023 12 14 6 20
2021 12 9 4 13
1 — 1
@ — @
2022 12 9 4 13
1 1 2
2023 12 10 5 15
2023 12 $4 $1 $5
2022 12 $3 $2 $5
2021 12 $843 $253 $1,006
245 7 252
@ - (€D)
2022 12 1,087 260 1,347
258 ¢)) 221
() - (O]
2023 12 1,341 223 1,564
2021 12 543 - 543
245 - 245
@ - (€D)
2022 12 787 - 787
261 - 261
@ - @
2023 12 1,046 _ 1,046
2023 12 $295 $223 $ 518
2022 12 $300 $260 $ 560
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15

2008
31

UK

2023 12 31

%

IFRIC 14 1AS

59%

19

IFRS

2022 12

41%
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65

2016

2022 31
2023 12 91%
92%
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GS
AA
12

u 2023 2022
4.70 4.89
RPI 3.22 3.35
CPI 2.72 2.85
199 11 30 3.02 3.15
199 11 30 2.72 2.85
2009 4 5 2.50 2.50

65 65
23.8 24.3
25.2 25.6
45 65
25.0 25.5
26.5 26.9
2023 12 SAPS S3
2013 CMI 2022
1.25% 0.50%
COvVID-19 2020 2021
0% 2022 25%
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2023 12
2023 $1,233 $(1,193) $ 40
- (6)) (©)
62 (60) 2
an - an
- (€2 (€D
- (26) (26)
- 16 16
(15) 15 -
70 D [6))
2023 12 31 $1,273 $(1,353) $(80)
2022 12
2022 $3,249 $(2,938) $311
- @ @
57 (1) 6
1,733) - (1,733)
- @172) 172)
_ 1,657 1,657
_ 2 2
©@2) 22 -
(318) 289 (29)
2022 12 31 $1,233 $(1,193) $ 40
2022 12 40
2023 12 80
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2023 12
$ 9 $ — $ 9
1,259 (526) 733
- 1 1
183 - 183
133 117 250
$1,671 $(398) $1,273
2022 12
$ 199 $ - $ 199
850 (285) 565
- (334) (334)
517 — 517
154 132 286
$1,720 $(487) $1,233
12
2023 2022
$ 3 $ 2
2 (6)
1 (©)
77 1,733
31 172
26 (1,657)
(16) )
118 246
$119 $242
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% %
2023 12
0.25% $@7) (6.7 $83 6.1
0.25% $65 4.8 $(61) (4.5)
$37 2.7 $(39) (2.9)
2022 12
0.25% $(71) (6.0) $76 6.4
0.25% $59 4.9 $(55) (4.6)
$31 2.6 $(33) (2.8)
2016 31
2021 12 31
383 2023 2022
2022 12 60 2023 12 36
2024 12 31 2024 12 31
2023 12 2024 13 2022 12
2023 22
2023 12 25 2022 12 26
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12
2023 2022

$544 $576

22 (11)

(139) (149)

21 (31)

2 1

6 w

$456 $385

12

2023 2022

$ 576 $ 816

32) (240)

$ 544 $ 576

$ (1) $(103)

- 25

33 67

$ 22 $ (1)

$(149) $(161)

10 12

$(139) $(149)

$ (31 $ 55

52 (86)

$ 21 $ (31)

$ 1 $ (12)

13

$ $ 1

$ @ $

7 2

$6 $ @

$ 385 $ 592

s (188)

85 (19)

$ 456 $ 385
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2023 12 2022 12
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100%

250

2023 12

KY1-1104 PO Box 309
2196 18
12
2023 2022
$4,237 $4,106
$ 571 $ 527
$ (58 $ (49
$3,938 $3,835
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18
12
2023 2022
$124,125 $ 80,172
76,018 31,019
7,884 7,027
2,004 2,393
71 -
5,374 4,124
$215,476 $124,735
19
12
2023 2022
$ 1,305 $ 3,133
113,896 107,850
$115,201 $110,983
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oooooog
20
12

2023 2022
$ 100 $ 100
237 68
- MREL 32,474 19,519
— MREL 16,791 16,774
25,022 26,929
6,924 5,407
8,719 7,408
$90,267 $76,205

2023 12 69.2 2022 12 54.1 2023 12 68.8
2022 12 53.8 GSG UK
GS
PRA Tier 2 PRA
2029 12 26 2030
GS
DVA
12

2023 2022
$111 $(188)
(183) 301
@ (2)
$(76) $ 111

2023
2022
EURIBOR
2023 12
2022 12
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ooooood
12
2023 2022
_ $ - $ -
- 532 -
- 1,070 1,519
1,411 1,810
$3,013 $3,329
2023 0.97% 2022 2.05%
2023 12
$ 530 $ -
$2,227 $(201)
2022 12
$ 8 $ -
$2,866 $(291)
2023 12 2022 12
12
2023 2022
$ 85 $(363)
©9) 341
$(14) $ (22)
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21
12
2023 2022
$1,981 $2,000
294 240
7 9
1,952 1,949
4,234 4,198
197 3
371 395
15 80 —
648 398
$4,882 $4,596
2023 12 2022 12
2021 12 $1
8
©
2022 12 $-
2023 12 $—
22
2023 12 598,182,053 $598
2022 12 598,182,053 $598
2021 12 598,182,053 $598
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ooooood
23
AT1
AT1

2017 5,500 $5,500 9.00%
2018 11 - -
2023 12 5,500 $5,500
2017 5,800 $5,800 9.00%
2018 11 2,500 2,500 8.67%
2022 12 8,300 $8,300

AT1 GSG UK

GSG UK CET1 % AT1
2023 AT1 28 22.7
527
AT1 2023 643 2022 749
24

2023 GSG UK 2023 31 655 1.09 2023 11 30

10.3 1.72 16.8
2023 GSG UK 14.2

2022
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25
12
2023 2022
$35,689 $11,707
20 237 (68)
$35,452 $11,639
2023 12
2022 12 28.2
12
2023 2022
$ 5,066 $ 4,974
264 248
2 —
15 1 (O]
(1,566) 5,243
606 282
21 — 8
MREL 1,657 772
(25) 8
(1.424) —
4,581 11,531
(27,021) 21,570
6,079 7,168
44,448 (130,572)
48 176
141 697
23,413 (100,961)
90,741 (79,804)
4,218 (8,900)
(106,703) 149,331
12,178 (1,940)
(756) (978)
(322) 57,709
$27,672 $(31,721)
2023 231.1 2022
83.9 2022
2023 222.2 2022 75.7
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MREL MREL AT1
MREL
MREL AT1
2021 12 $23,602 $8,300 $31,902
(1,500) _ (1,500)
772 749 1,521
(693) (749) (1,442)
2022 12 22,181 8,300 30,481
- @.273) 2,273)
1,500 - 1,500
1,657 643 2,300
(1,623) (643) (2,266)
- 627 (527)
2023 12 $23,715 $5,500 $29,215
2023 AT1 28
26
12
2023 2022
$143,596 $119,659
45,173 72,086
3,372 4,821
$192,141 $196,566
2023 12
2022 12
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2014

2016

2023 12 15

12

BoP

2023
2015 12

2017

S.A.
2015 2015 12
S.A.
BE
2015
BoP
2018 BES
54
2018 10
104
11 GSI BoP
2015 11
2016 2018
2018 11 20
2019 13
2019 22
2014 11 25
15
2020 29
2023 27
2023 12

2023 21
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S

2018

BES

ooooooo
BoP
S.A. BES
835
S.A.
BoP 2015 12
BES
50
222
BoP 2015
2013
2008 2012
2013 2016
2023 12 28



2013
2023
24
2015
2024
GS

2022

2022

2023 11

26
2014
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2019 27
2020
2020 12 16
2021 17
2023 11
31
2021 30

2021 11

LLC
30

GS
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2016 12
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27
2023 12
$ - $ 35,689 $ 35,689
1,249 261,568 262,817
- 72,888 72,888
- 828,362 828,362
289 - 289
152 22 174
1,410 1,926 3,336
$ 3,100 $1,200,455 $1,203,555
$ 55,225 $ 160,251 $ 215,476
- 115,201 115,201
- 737,610 737,610
71,100 19,167 90,267
1,128 3,754 4,882
$127,453 $1,035,983 $1,163,436
2022 12
$ — $ 11,707 $ 11,707
1,200 234,596 235,796
- 78,967 78,967
- 872,810 872,810
269 11 280
220 2 222
1,251 2,008 3,259
$ 2,940 $1,200,101 $1,203,041
$ 38,521 $ 86,214 $ 124,735
- 110,983 110,983
— 844,313 844,313
56,180 20,025 76,205
1,097 3,499 4,596
$ 95,798 $1,065,034 $1,160,832

12

12
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28
GS
GS
EMC PRA FCA
12
2023 2022

$146 $158

1 2

162 68

$309 $228

72 2022 11

298/424
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2006
2008 410
12
2023 2022
$7 $7
$7 $7
12
2023 2022
$3 $3
$ $
$ $-
2023
2022
2023 2022
2023 2023 1.4
2022 1.9
2023
0.2 2022 2.2
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Ooooooog
GS
2023 12 $508,547 $490,225
2022 12 $585,390 $582,060
2021 12 $436,121 $434,577
2023 12 2022 12 $(76,843) $(91,835)
2022 12 2021 12 $149,269 $147,483
GS
12

2023 2022

$11,483 $ 9,607

$10,927 $10,246

GS
2023 12 130 2022 12 163.2
GS
2023 12 121 2022 12 144
GS
GS GSG UK
AT1 20 23 GS
14
GS
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ooooood
GS
12
2023 2022
$103,469 $ 69,118
36,514 52,324
218 —
$140,201 $121,442
2023 12
80 2023 2022 80
2022 12
GS GS
GS
GS
GS GS 2023
231 2022 124
@
Q)
2023 GS GSAMI
GSAMI
2023 14.2
15.7 149
2023
2023 12 2022 12
GS
2023 12
$ - $ 1,359 $ - $ 1,359
- 187,769 - 187,769
148 15,459 11 15,618
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2,048 514,404 — 516,452

— 170 — 170

263 1,686 - 1,949

$ 2,459 $720,847 $ 11 $723,317

$ - $148,582 $ — $148,582

100 31,535 — 31,635

929 489,370 11 490,310

32,384 27,257 — 59,641

1,950 1,530 - 3,480

$35,363 $698,274 $11 $733,648
2022 12

$ - $ 911 $ — $ 911

- 169,083 - 169,083

88 19,767 - 19,855

2,581 589,766 423 592,770

— 168 - 168

249 1,675 — 1,924

$ 2,918 $781,370 $423 $784,711

$ - $ 82,108 $— $ 82,108

1,137 24,904 398 26,439

789 581,281 26 582,096

30,603 14,445 - 45,048

2,044 1,360 — 3,404

$34,573 $704,098 $424 $739,095
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GS
2023 12
$ 270 $ 8,634 $— $ 8,904
2.234) (11,406) - (13,640)
- 350 - 350
- 19 - 19
$(1,964) $ (2,403) $_ $(4,367)
- J—- $ 218 $— $ 218
GS
- 1,140 - 1,140
GS
@ (315) - (319)
1 575 - 576
$ @ $ 1,618 $_ $ 1,615
2022 12
$ 129 $ 2,054 $1 $ 2,184
(1,045) (3,040) @ (4,089)
5 948 - 953
$ (911) $  (38) $(3) $ (952)
$ - $ 306 $— $ 306
6S
_ 1,000 - 1,090
GS
3) (188) - (191)
37 474 - 511
$ 34 $ 1,682 $— $ 1,716
IFRS 15

303/424



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

oOoOooodn
29
2023 12
$ — $ 35,689 $ 35,689
138,889 123,928 262,817
- 72,888 72,888
828,362 - 828,362
289 - 289
174 - 174
147 2,014 2,161
$ 967,861 $234,519 $1,202,380
2022 12
$ - $ 11,707 $ 11,707
151,739 84,057 235,796
— 78,967 78,967
872,810 - 872,810
280 - 280
222 - 222
156 1,937 2,093
$1,025,207 $176,668 $1,201,875
2023 12
$ — $106,784 $108,692 $ 215,476
- - 115,201 115,201
737,610 - - 737,610
— - 4,234 4,234
$737,610 $161,720 $263,458 $1,162,788
2022 12
$ - $ 77,539 $ 47,196 $ 124,735
- — 110,983 110,983
844,313 — - 844,313
- 40,247 35,958 76,205
- — 4,198 4,198
$844,313 $117,786 $198,335 $1,160,434
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ooooood
2023 LIBOR
FCA LIBOR LIBOR 2024
LIBOR LIBOR 2024
2023 12
LIBOR $ 98 $ 158 $ -
LIBOR 25 - -
5 - 835,351
$128 $ 158 $ 835,351
2022 12
LIBOR $636 $2,901 $5,699,410
LIBOR 7 - -
— 24 912,630
$643 $2,925 $6,612,040
IBOR
2023 12
2022 12 CDOR
SOR JIBAR WIBOR
TELBOR
IFRS
2023 12 38.3 41.8
2022 12 38.2 51.6
2023 12 2022 12
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2023 12

$ 387,810  $(124,993) $ 262,817  $ (95,063) $ (112)  $(165,128) $ 2,514
91,084 (30,182) 60,902 (7,432) (27,560) (13,338) 12,572
18,910 .71 11,199 (1,491) (3,070) (5,593) 1,045
705,666 (9,966) 695,700 (629,932) (37,504) 9,179) 19,085
724,576 (17,677) 706,899 (631,423) (40,574) 14,772) 20,130
117 - 117 - - Q1) -

1,955 (,426) 529 93) - - 436
1,205,542 (174,278) 1,031,264 (734,011) (68,246) (193,355) 35,652
171,116 - 171,116 - - - 171,116
$1,376,658  $(174,278) $1,202,380  $(734,011)  $(68,246)  $(193,355)  $206,768
$ 328,763  $(125.016) $ 203,747  $ (9,100)  $ (2,212)  $(103,096) $ 2,339
135,726 (30,207) 105,519 (7,432) (40,686) (29,490) 27,9011
681,801 (9.941) 671,860 (627,986) (25,263) (3,928) 14,683
681,801 (9.941) 671,860 (627,986) (25,263) (3,928) 14,683
14,540 (9.066) 5,474 (2,400) (85) - 2,989
669 8) 621 93) - - 528
1,161,499 (174,278) 987,221 (734,011) (68,246) (136,514) 48,450
175,567 - 175,567 - - - 175,567
$1,337,066  $(174,278) $1,162,788  $(734,011)  $(68,246)  $(136,514)  $224,017
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2022 12
$ 390,325 $(154,529) $ 235,796 $ (49,800) $ (450) $(183,869) $ 1,677
88,181 (24,791) 63,390 (3.886)  (39,025) (9,969) 10,510
16,976 (7,037) 9,939 (3,910) (742) (4,073) 1,214
813,860 (13,479) 800,381  (729,463)  (40,675)  (10,183) 20,060
830,836 (20,516) 810,320  (733,373)  (41,417)  (14,256) 21,274
118 - 118 - - (101) 17
2,407 (1,975) 432 (88) - - 344
1,311,867  (201,811) 1,110,056  (787,147)  (80,892)  (208,195) 33,822
91,819 - 91,819 - - - 91,819
$1,403,686  $(201,811)  $1,201,875 $(787,147)  $(80,892) $(208,195)  $125,641
$ 268,450 $(154,563) $ 113,887 $ (49,945) $ (1,933) $ (60,119) $ 1,890
119,725 (24,452) 95,273 (3,886)  (41,867)  (20,565) 28,955
801,435 (13,816) 787,619  (730,866)  (36,926) (2,208) 17,619
801,435 (13,816) 787,619  (730,866)  (36,926) (2,208) 17,619
13,791 (8,822) 4,969 (2,362) (166) - 2,441
754 (158) 596 (88) - - 508
1,204,155  (201,811) 1,002,344  (787,147)  (80,892)  (82,892) 51,413
158,090 - 158,090 - - - 158,090
$1,362,245 $(201,811)  $1,160,434 $(787,147)  $(80,892) $ (82,892)  $209,503
12
2023 2022
$702,507 $710,395
$655,098 $632,160
12
2023 2022
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$58,352 $20,708
$ 25 $ 3
$38,255 $23,895
$ 20 $ 29
2023 12 678.4 2022 12 661.7 2023 12
468.3 2022 12 527.4
30
IFRS
GS
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0TC 0TC
0TC 0TC
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310/424



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)
oOoOooodn

oTC
0TC

CVA
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2023 12
$ - $138,777 $ 112 $ 138,889
92,278 39,739 645 132,662

1 691,614 4,085 695,700
92,279 731,353 4,730 828,362
4 216 69 289
- 140 34 174
_ 147 - 147
$92,283 $870,633 $4,945  $ 967,861
$ - $106,295 $ 489  $ 106,784
59,775 5,955 20 65,750
37 669,492 2,331 671,860
59,812 675,447 2,351 737,610
- 49,273 5,663 54,936
$59,812 $831,015 $8,503  $ 899,330
$ (36) $ 22,122 $1,754  $ 23,840

2022 12
$ — $151,621 $ 118 $ 151,739
44,917 26,956 556 72,429

166 796,286 3,929 800,381
45,083 823,242 4,485 872,810
4 205 71 280
— 168 54 222
- 156 - 156
$45,087 $975,392 $4,728  $1,025,207
$ - $ 77,144 $ 395 $ 77,539
49,689 6,997 8 56,694
55 785,240 2,324 787,619
49,744 792,237 2,332 844,313
- 35,009 5,148 40,247
$49,744 $904,480 $7,875 $ 962,099
$ 111 $ 11,046 $1,605  $ 12,762
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2023 12 2022 12
$ 41 $ 49
4.0% 26.1% 11.9% 5.6% 21.3% 12.5%
35.5% 76.0% 44..6% 47.0% 76.1% 56.6%
1.4 7.0 4.2 1.3 8.0 2.4
$573 $444
5.0% 46.0% 12.8% 2.8% 48.0% 9.2%
7.3% 95.9% 26.6% 3.0% 87.0% 36.7%
0.9 27.0 3.4 0.3 12.3 4.6
$31 $ 63
4.8 4.8 4.8 5.8 5.8 5.8
$645 $556
$ 5 $ 15
7.3% 7.3% 7.3% 10.0% 57.2% 33.5%
$ 64 $ 56
0.4 7.0 6.0 1.5 6.0 5.3
$ 69 $ 71
$ 34 $ 54
N/A N/A 4.8% 4.8% 4.8%
15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0%

2023

2023

12 2022 12

12
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2023 12 2022 12
$ 151 $ 112
(10)% 26% 13%/25% (10)% 26% 13%/25%
bps 41 62 48/48 45 60 56/57
$1,835 $1,657
bps 7 1,750 134/90 5 686 167/125
0 90 18/7 (€Y) 90 19/5
20% 50% 43%/40% 20% 50% 41%/40%
$ (104) $ (76)
20% 90% 24%/23% 20% 23% 21%/21%
$ (140) $ (90)
70)% 100% 66%/69% (5% 100% 60%/67%
0% 80% 14%/13% 2% 74% 16%/18%
$ 12 $ 2
$1,754 $1,605
$5,663 $5,148
25% 26% 25%/25% 25% 26% 25%/25%
bps 183 183 183/183 N/A N/A
20% 68% 34%/23% 20% 23% 21%/21%
(16)% 96% 51%/52% B)% 99% 54%/54%
2% 106% 18%/15% 6% 66% 23%/21%

2022 12
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2023 12 2022 12
2023 12 2022 12
2023 2022

12
2023 2022

$102 $ 88
316/424
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3 4
387 355
$501 $462
$ 15 $ 29
2 4
1 11
178 155
$206 $199
2023 12 2022 12
2023 12 2022 12
12
2023 2022
$206 $190
311 157
(257) (141)
$260 $206
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12
2023 2022
$ 4,728 $ 5,760
849 (847)
608 1,008
(302) (309)
(928) (1,669)
262 1,490
(272) (705)
$ 4,945 $ 4,728
$(7,875) $(18,239)
(1,074) 1,780
36 76
(310) (469)
(2,246) (2,303)
2,956 5,322
67 (794)
581 6,752
$(8,503) $ (7,875)
2023 2022
2023 10.7 988
86 2022
17.8 16.2
162
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12
2023 2022
$ 118 $ 121
3 ®)
() -
$ 112 $ 118
$4,485 $5,479
836 (865)
600 1,001
(301) (309)
(900) (1,606)
262 1,490
(252) (705)
$4,730 $4,485
$ 7 $ 105
10 22
8 7
(€)) -
19 (63)
$ 69 $ 71
$ 54 $ 55
- @
(20) —
$ 34 $ 54
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12
2023 2022

$ (39%) $ (380)

G2 (66)
¢G22) @75)
280 326

$ (489) $  (395)
$(2,332) $ (3.722)
76) 281
36 76
(310) (469)
617 768
(151 (206)
265 940
$(2.351) $ (2,332)
$(5,148) $(14,137)
(546) 1,565
(1,929) (2,028)
2,059 4,228
(420) (588)
316 5,812
$(5,663) $ (5,148)

2023 12

2022 12

2023 12
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2022 12

2023 12 2,345.2 2022 12 1,766.7

12
2023 2022
$198,299 $144,021
65,159 54,314
$263,458 $198,335
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2023 12
$ 35,689 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 35,689
121,502 129,502 7,218 3,346 1,103 146 262,817
72,888 - - - - - 72,888
818,880 106 7,391 1,985 - - 828,362
- - - - 220 69 289
_ - - 22 118 34 174
1,667 10 40 52 114 1,222 3,105
$1,050,626 $129,618 $14,649 $ 5,405 $ 1,555 $ 1,471 $1,203,324
$ 38,460 $ 47,584 $39,789 $34,759 $ 53,654 $1,573  § 215,819
115,201 - - - - - 115,201
737,610 - - - - - 737,610
2,372 1,775 4,854 10,728 51,565 35,665 106,959
1,801 1,277 6 13 1,015 32 4,234
$ 895,534 $ 50,636 $44,649 $45,500 $106,234 $37,270  $1,179,823
$ 798 $139,390 $ 1,301 $ 2,107 $ - $ - $ 143,59
6 44,606 2 559 - - 45,173
3,369 1 - 2 - - 3,372
$ 4,173 $183,997 $ 1,303 $ 2,668 $ - $ - $ 192,141
2022 12
$ 11,707 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 11,707
89,770 130,603 10,973 3,250 877 323 235,796
78,967 - - - . - 78,967
872,810 - - - . - 872,810
7 - - 4 208 61 280
2 - _ - 183 37 222
1,430 10 425 9 47 673 2,594
$1,054,693 $130,613 $11,398 $ 3,263 $ 1,315 $ 1,004  $1,202,376
$ 22,830 $ 31,681 $10,753 $21,145 $ 37,013 $1,513  $ 124,935
110,983 - - - . - 110,983
844,313 - - - . - 844,313
1,935 2,325 4,573 8,573 37,018 33,572 87,996
1,780 1,308 7 6 1,059 38 4,198
$ 981,841 $ 35,314 $15,333 $29,724 $ 75,090 $35,123  $1,172,425
$ 2,107 $102,471 $ 5,337 $ 8,028 $ 1,716 $ - $ 119,659
82 68,956 9 1,606 1,433 - 72,086
4,245 - . 3 573 _ 4,821
$ 6,434 $171,427 $ 5,346 $ 9,637 $ 3,722 $ - $ 196,566
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12

2023 2022
$ 20 $ -
36,444 14,034
192 135
10,331 7,444
49,620 22,990
96,607 44,603
45 26
- 6
45 32
$96,652 $44,635

325/424



2023 12
$ — $ -
120 1,095
120 1,095
$120 $1,095
$ - $ -
) 693
G7) 693
$(57) $ 693
2022 12
$ — $ -
105 1,123
105 1,123
$105 $1,123
$ $ 2
43) 559
(43) 561
$(43) $ 561
2023 12
$ - $133
6 293
6 426
$ 6 $426
$ - $ 1
(25) (10)
(25) (©))
- @)
$(25) $ (10)
2022 12
$ - $133
24 287
24 420
$ 24 $420
$ 1 $ 1
@ 15
(10) 16
— (1)
$(10) $ 15
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY)
Income Statement

Yoar Ended December

5 i maleE Mot i ikres
Gaing of kases from Rnancsl instruments al Rir vales thiough prolt of loss ] 10,304 5 10,372
Fees and commessions 1,886 2058
Other income 1443 —
Mon-intarast incoma 13,633 12,430
Intarest income from financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss 10,362 4.013
Interest income from financial instruments measured al amodtised cost 12,304 3588
Intarest expense from financial instruments measured at fair value throwgh profit or loss [11.324) (4.634)
Interest expense from financial instrumeants measured al amartsed cost [13,773) (4.775)
Mot interest oxpense 2.431) {1.624)
Het revenuas 5 11,202 10,802
el operating expenses [ (6, 136) (5.828)
Profit before taxation 5,066 4.974
Income Lax expense 9 (915) [(948)
Prafit for the financial year 5 4151 & 4,028

Kl nvvnnues and profit bakan thxason of the company s dedd from conlicing opanabions in th current and prcd years.

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Yasiir Endibd Dhisoiimbsd

% in milions Mot 2023 e
[Profit for the financial year H 4151 5 4028
Other comprehensive Income

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Actuaial leas relaling te the persion scharms 15 [118) [248)
Detba valuation adjustment 20 (183) 21
UK. deferred tax abiributable 1o the companents of olher comprehensive ineomea 16 85 (19}
UK. curment tax attributable to the components of other comprehensive inoome {1) {1}
Other comprahensive incomal(loss) for the financial year, net of tax (217) 35
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 5 3834 5 4.083

Tha accompanying noles aoe an inbigral part of thess Snandal statamants

49
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GOLOMAN SACHE INTERMATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY )
Balance Sheet

Mg of Descesmbaeyr
3 in miliong et 023 iz
Ansots
Cash and cash equivalanis 25 5 356689 5 11,707
Collateraliged Agiesments 10 262,817 235,796
Custorner and othar receivables " T2.688 78,567
Teading assats (includes $58 352 and 520,708 pladged as collateral) 12 B28,362 ET2H10
Imvastments (ncludes $25 and 53 pledged as collateral) 13 849 280
Loans. 174 222
Othar assols 14 3,336 3.259
Total assats $ 1,203,555 § 1203041
Liabilities
Coliatpralisod financings 18 5 215476 5 124735
Customer and other payables 14 115,201 110,583
Trading liabilities 12 TITE0 B44. 313
Unsecuned bomowings 20 0,267 TE. 205
Cithier Eabililties 21 4,882 4.596
Toial liabilties 1,163,436 11600832
Shareholder's aquity
Share capital bl 598 548
Share premium account 5,568 5,588
Other equity instrurments 23 5,500 8.300
Ratained aamings 28,800 2TETD
Accumulated other comprahensve incoms [347) (127}
Tolal sharshoider's equity 40,113 42,208
Total liabilities and sharahalder's equity $ 1,203,555 § 1 200049

The financial statements were approved by the Baard on March 20, 2024 and signed on Rz behail by:

P ,5.{”4:5

L. A. Donnelly
Director
March 22, 2024

The accompanying noles ase an integral part of theso Snancal stalements
Company number, 0GRS5

50
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANTY)
Statement of Changes in Equity

35 in milioii Mot piirEl 2
Share capital

Baginning balance 5 598 5 598
Ending batance 598 548

Share premium account

Baginning balance 5,568 5.568
Ending batance 5,568 5568
Other equity instruments

Baginning balance 8,300 8300
Repurchasa of Additional Tier 1 noles 23 {2,800) —_
Ending batance 5,500 8300
Retained earnings

Baginning balance 27870 24,550
Prafif for the Fnancial year 4,15 4,028

Transfer of realisad debt valuation adjustment into retained esarmings, nat of tax 20 3 1

Dilferance babtwean cannying value and fair value of repurchased Additional Tier 1 noles 23 527 -
Intarest on Additional Teer 1 noles 23 [643) (T49)
Cash dividends paid 24 (1,684) —

Non-cash distribution 24 (1,424) -

Share-based payments 04 650

Managemaent recharge related o shane-based paymaenls [334) (650}
Ending batanca 28,800 2T AT0

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Baginning balance (127) (181}
Other comprehensive income/(loss) [217) 5

Transter of realised debl valuation adjustment inte retained sarmings. net of tix 20 {3 {1}
Ending balance (347) (127}
Tatal shareholders equity 5 40,119 5 42209

S Mote 24 for information aboul dividends and distributions.

This sccampanying noliss s an integral part of thess Snancial statements.

51
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Statement of Cash Flows

35 in miliov Mot piirEl 2
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated fromi{usad in) operations 25 5 27672 & [31.721)
Taxalion recsied 1 4
Taxalion paid (515) (1)
Med eash fromd[used in) operaling aclivibes 27,1548 (32.418)
Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditure for property, leasehold imgravements and equipment and intangible assets (223) (249)
Purchase of investments - [Fii]
Procaads from sales of invesimants 17 136
Met cash used in investing activities [ 0E) (139}

Cash flows from financing activities

Repurchase of Additonal Tier 1 noles 25 (2.273) -
Repaymend of MREL-eligible intercompany loans 25 - {1.500)
Receipts from issuing long-term subordinated loans 5 1.500 =
Intarest paid on Additional Tiar 1 notes 25 (643) (T43)
Interest paid on subordinated loans and MREL-gligible intercompary loans 5 (1.623) (&8}
Cash dividends paid 24 (1.684) _—
Payments for lease liabdities @) (1}
Met cash used in financing activites (4.725) (2.243)
Net incrgased(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, net of overdrafts .07 (35,500}
Cash and cash equivalanis, net of overdrafts, beginnéng balanca 11,6349 52408
Forgign exchangs gainsilosses) on cash and cash equivalints, net of overdrafls 1,586 {5,269}
Cash and cash equivalents, net of overdraits, ending balance 25 5 35452 5 11,639

Sl Note 25 fior information Aboul non-Cash ACSVLeES ridated 16 thi ransher of tha Company’s U K. ksl managemant busingss.

This sccampanying noliss s an integral part of thess Snancial statements.
52
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Motes to the Financial Statements

Mota 1,
General Information

The company is a private unlimited company and is
incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales, The address
of its registered office is Plumiree Court, 25 Shoe Lane,
Londen, EC4A 4ALU, United Kingdom.

The company's immediate parent undertaking is Goldman
Sachs Group UK Limited (GSG UK), a company incorporated
and domiciled in England and Wales. GSG UK together with
its consolidated subsidiaries form “GSG UK Group™.

The ultimate controlling undertaking and the parent company
of the smallest and largest group for which consolidated
financial statements are prepared is The Goldman Sachs Group,
Ing., a company incorporated in the United States of America,
Copies of its consolidated financial statements, as well as
ceriain regulatory filings, for example Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-0) and the Annual Report on Foem 10-K, that provide
furtlver information abowl GS Group and 55 business activities,
can be oblained from Investor Relations, 200 West Street, New
York, MY 10282, United States of America. G5 Group's
principal place of business, or at www goldmansachs com’
investor-relations,

Easel lll Pillar 3 Disclosures

The company s iscluded in the consolidated Pillar 3
disclosures of GSG UK, as required by the UK. capital
framework. GSG UK's December 2023 Pillar 3 disclosures will
be made available in conjunction with the publication of is

consalidated financial information ar www, goldmansachs, com’
disclosyres,
Country-by-Country Reporting

The company is incleded in the consolidmed country-by-
country reporting disclosures of GSG UK, as required by the
Capital  Requirements  (Country-by-Country  Reporting)
Regulations 2013, GSG UK's December 2023 Country-by-
Country Reporting will be made available by December 31,
2024 an www goldmansaghs,comidisclosures,

53
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Note 2.
Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with U.K.-adopted  international accounting  standards, the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006, as applicable to
companies reporting under those standards, and Intemational
Finuncial Reporting Standards (IFR5) adopted pursuant to
Regulation (EC) No 16062002 as it applics in the E.U. (IFRS
as it applies in the E.LL).

As of and for the year ended December 2023, UK. -adopted
intermational accounting standards, applicable io the company,
were consistent with IFRS as it applies in the ELL

These financial statements have been prepared under the
histarical cost basis (modified as explained in “Financial Assets
and Liabilities™ and " Pension Amangements™ below).

Gaoing Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going
concemn basis. The directors are satisfied that the company has
sufficient capital and resources to continue 1o operate for a
perod of @ least twelve momhs From the date of approval of
these financial statements. In reaching this conclusion, the
directors have considered the financial results of the company,
its capital management activities and liquidity as set out in Part
| of this annual repor.

Consolidation

The company has elected not 1o prepare consolidued financial
statements a5 permitted by Section 402 of the Companies Act
2006 as its subsidiaries are not material for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view. These financial statements are
separate financial statements,

331/424
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GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Motes to the Financial Statements

Nati 3,
Material Accounting Policies

Mew Standards, Amendments and Interpratations
Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements’ (IAS 1) and IFRS Practice Statement 2
‘Making Materiality Judgements® and IAS 12 ‘Income
Taxes' (lAS 12). The company has applicd the following
amendments:

+ Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to
145 1 and to IFRS Practice Statement 2 ‘Making
Materiality Judgements'). This amendment reguires the
disclosure of material accounting policies, replacing the
requirgment 1o disclose significant accouming policies, This
amendment had a  limited  impact on the company’s
accounting policies disclosures, but did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements,

International Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules
(Amendments to IAS 12). This amendment was
introduced i response to the Organisation for Ecomomic Co-
operation and Development Global Anti-Base Erosion Model
Rubes (Pillar Two), providing a mandatory  temporary
exceplion 10 recopnise and  disclose  mformation  about
deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two income
taxes and requiring disclosure of known or reasonable
estimable information about an entity’s exposure 1o Pillar
Twa meome taxes, See Note 9 *lncome Tax Expense” for the
company s Pillar Twe Model Rules disclosure.,

Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. MNet revenues include the net profit
arising from transactions, with both third parties and affiliates,
in derivatives, securities and other financial instruments, and
fees and commissions. This is inclusive of associated interest

and dividends,

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair
Value Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through
profit or boss are recornised ot fair value with realised and
unrealised gains and losses, as well as associated interest and
dividend income and expenses included in net revenues, with
the exception of changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss attributable 1o
own credit spreads (debt valuation adjustment or DVA), which
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless this would
create or enlarge an accownting mismatch in profit or loss,
Financial assets are marked 1o bid prices and financial liabilities
are marked to offer prices. Fair value measurements do not
include transaction costs, The company measures cerain
financial assets and liabilities as a portfolio (i.e.. based on is
net exposure to market and'or credit risks).

Unrealised gains and losses related to the change in fair value
of financial assets and labilities messured af fair value through
prafit or loss are recognised from trade date in net revenues or
other comprehensive income in the case of DVA.
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Contractual interest is included in interest imcome and expenss
for all instruments other than hybrid financial instruments at
fair value through profit or loss, for which contractual interest
is mcluded i gains and losses from fnascial instruments
mieasured at fair value through profit or loss,

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Revenues eamed from comracts with customers for services,
such as investment banking, investment management, amd
execution and  clearing  (confracts  with custemers) are
recognised when the performance obligations related 1o the
underlving transaction are completed.

Where the company recognises revenues in ils capacity as
principal to a transaction and incurs expenses 1o satisfy some or
all of its performance obligations under these transactions, it is
required by IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” (IFRS 13} to report these revenues gross of the
associpted expenses. Such revenue is included in netl revenues
and such expenses are mcluded in tramsaction based and other
expenses (known hereafier as "1FRS 15 expenses™).

The company is principal to the transaction if it has the primany
obligation to provide the service to the customer. The company
satisfies the performance obligation by itself, or by engaging
other GS Group affiliates 1o saisfy some or all of s
performance obligations on its behalf,

Met revenues are recognised as follows:

* Financial Advisery and Underwriting
Fees from financial advisory and underwriting engagements
are recopnised in prodit and loss when the services related o
the underlying transactions are completed under the terms of
the engagement.

+ Execution and Client Clearing Transactions
Revenue from commissions and fees from executing and
clearing client transactions on stock, options and futures
markets, as well as OTC fransactions is recognised in net
revenues on the day the trade is executed.

* Investment Management Services
Management fiees are recognised on an accrual basis and are
generally calculated as a percentage of a fund or a separately
managed account’s average net asset value, All management
fees wre recognised over the period that the related service is
provided.

Incentive fees are calculated as o percentage of a fund's
return or 4 percentage of a fund's excess return above a
specified benchmark or other performance target. Incentive
fees carned from a fund or a separately managed account are
recopnised when it is probable that a significant reversal of
such fees will mot occur, which is generally when such fees
are no longer subject to fluctuations in the market value of
investments held by the fund or separately managed account.
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Segment Reporting. The direciors manage the company's
busingss activities as a single operating scgment  and
accordingly no segmental reporiing has been provided,

Short-Term Employee Benefits. Shor-term emploves
henefits, such as wages and salaries, are measured on an
undiscounted basis and accrued as an expense over the period
in which the employee renders the service 1o the company.
Provision is made for discretionary year-end compensation
whether 1o be paid in cash or share-based awards where, as a
result of company policy and past practice, a constructive
obligation exists at the balance sheet date.

Share-Based Payments. Group Inc. issues awards in the
form of restricted stock units (RSUs) to the company’s
employees in exchange for employee services. Group Inc.
generally issues new shares of common stock upon delivery of
share-based awards and the company has no obligation 1o senle
the awards, The awards are therefore classified as equily
sefiled. As a resuli the cost of share-based transactions with
employees is measured based on the grant-date fair value of the
award, The company recognises the grant-date Fair value of the
award in compensation and benefits in the income statement,
with a coresponding credit direetly to equity. For share-based
awards that do not require future service (i.e., vested awards,
which include awards granted w0 retirememt  eligible
emplovees), the grant=date fair value is expensed immediaely,
For share-based awards that require future service, the grani-
date fair value is recognised over the relevant service period.
Expected forfeitures are included in determining the amount of
awards expected to vest and thus the share-based employee
compensation  expense, Cash dividend  equivalents, unless
prohibited by regulation, are generally paid on outstanding
RSLs,

The company has alse entered into a chargeback agreement
with Group Inc. under which it is committed to pay to Group
Ing., at the delivery date of the shares, an amount in cash equal
to {a) the grant-date fair value of those awards and (b}
subsequent movements in the fair value of those awards
between the grant date and ultimate delivery 1o employees
(subsequent to the vesting date). The company accounts for (a)
by recognising & pavable to Growp lisc. in other labilities based
on the grant-date fair value of the award, with a comesponding
debit directly o equity and for (b) by recognising the
subsequent movement in the fair value of awards between the
grant date and ultimate delivery to employees in compensation
and benefits in the mcome siatement, with a comesponding
increase or decrease in other liabilities. As a result, the share-
based pavenent transaction and chargeback agreement, in
aggregate, gives rise o a toal charge o the income statement
based on the grani-date fair value of the awards adjusted for
subsequent movements in the fair value of those awards up 1o
delivery.
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Current and Deferred Taxation. Current tax is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the countries where the company
operales and generates taxable income,

Deferred 1ax s recognised in respect of all temporary
differences that have originated, but not reversed at the balance
sheet date, where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more tax or a right
1o pay bess tax in the future with the following exceprions:

= Deferred tax assets are recognised only 1o the extent that it is
mare likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
from which the future reversal of the underying temporary
differences can be deducted,

* Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which
temporary differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted ot the balance sheet date,

Current tax and deferred tax is generally recognised in the
income statement of directly in other comprehensive income
sceording 1o where the associated gain or loss was recognised,
The income tax en interest on AT1 notes is recognised in the
income statement.

Dividends and Distributions. Final cash dividends are
recognised as a liability and deducted from equity in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the company's
shareholder, Imterim  cash  dividends are recognised and
deducted from equity when paid. Non-cash distributions are
recognised and deducted from equity when approved by the
company s sharcholder,

Cash and Cash Equivalents. This includes cash at bank
and highly liquid overnight deposits held in the ordinary course
of business,

Foreign Currencies, The company’s financial statements arg
presented in LS, dollars, which is also the company’s
fumctional currency.

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translued
inte UK, dollars st rates of exchange ruling on the date the
transaction occurmed. Monetary assets and liabilities, and non-
monetary  assets  and  liabilities measuwred at  fair  value,
denominated in foreign currencies are translated inte LS.
dollars at rates of exchange ruling ot the balimce sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit
before taxation.
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Financial Assets and Liabilities

Recognition and Derecognition

Financial asseis and liabilities, other than cash instruments
purchised or sold in regular way transactions, are recognised
when the company becomes party 1o the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the
coniractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire or if the company transfers the financial assel and the
transfer qualifies for derecognition. A transferred financial
asset qualifies for derecognition if the company transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asser; or if the company neither ransfers nos retaing
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset but does not retain control. Financial liabilities
are derecognised only when they are extinguished, ie., when
the obligation specified in the conract s discharged or
cancelled or expines,

Cash instruments purchased or seld in regular way transactions
are  recognised and  derecopnised wsing  settlemem  date
accounting.

Classification and Measurement: Financial Assels

The company classifies financial assets as  subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss
on the basis of both the company's business model for
managing financial assets and e contraciual cash  fow
characteristics of the financial assets. The business model
reflects how the company manages particular groups of assets
in order to generate future cash flows. Where the company’s
business model is 10 hold the assets 1o collect comractual cash
flows, the company subsequently assesses whether the financial
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Financial assets with embedded derivatives (hybrid
instruments) are also subject 1o the same assessment,
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows and have cash flows that represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost, The company considers whether the cash flows
represent basic lending armangements, and where contractual
terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility inconsistent with
a basic lending arrangement, the financial asset is mandatorily
measured at fair value through profit or loss (see below)
Financial assets measured ®l amortised cost are initially
measured ot fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a fnancial instrument and allocating the
interest imcome over the rebevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or,
when appropriate, a shorer periced 1o the net carrying value of
the financial assel. When calculating the effective inlerest
rate, the company estimates cash flows considering all
contractual terms of the financial asset but does not consider
futwre credit bosses. Fimance revenue is recorded in net
revenues, Financial assets measured al amortised  cost
include:

= Cash and cash equivalents;

+ Certain collateralised agreements, which consists of certain
resale agreements and the majority of securities borrowed,

= Customer and ather receivables: and

+ Certain other assets, which consists of certain intercompany
loans and substantially all miscellanecous receivables and
aither,

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value
through profit or loss, Financial assets that are noet held
for the collection of contraciual cash flows and/or do not have
cash flows that represent solely pavments of principal and
interest are mandatorily measured at fair valee through profit
or boss, Financial assets mandatorily measored a1 fair value
are initially measured at fair value with transaction costs
expensed in the income statement. Such financial assets are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in met revenues, Financial assets mandatorily
measurced at fair value include:

+ Certain  collateralised agreements, which consists  of
subsiantially all resale agreemenis and certain securities
arrowed;

= Trading assels, which consists of trading cash instruments
and derivatives;

= Investments,

+ Loans; and

+ Certain other assets, which consists of certain intercompany
lans and an investment in a subsidiary.
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Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities
The company classifies its financial liabilities into the below
categories based on the purpose for which they were acquired
or originated.

¢+ Financial liabilities held for trading. Financial liabilities
held for trading are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently a1 fair value through profit or boss, with gains o
Iosses recopnised i net revenues, Financial liabilities held for
trading include trading liabilities, which consists of:

* Trading cash instruments; and
= Derivatives.

« Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss. The company designates cenain financial
liakilities at fair value through profit or less, Financial
liabilities designated @ fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured ot fair value and subsequenthy at fair value
through profit or loss, with DVA being recognised in other
comprehensive income, if it does not create or enlarge an
seeounting mismatch, and the remaining changes in the fair
vilue being recognised in net revenues, Amounts recognised
in other comprehensive income atinibutable to own credit
spreads are not subsequently transferred to the income
statement, even upon derecognition of the financial liabiliy.
The primary reasons for designating such financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are:

# To climinate or significamtly reduce a measurcment of
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
mesuring assels or labilities or recogmising the gains and
losses on them on different bases: and

* The group of financial liabilitics, or financial assets and
linbilities, is managed and its performance evaluated on a
favir vislue basis,

Fimangial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
lass inchede:

* The majority of repurchase agreements;
* Certain securities loaned:

* Segured debt securities isswed, intercompany loans, bank
Ioans and other borrowings, which consists of hybrid
financial instruments, transfers of assets accounted for as
financings rather than sales, cermain prepaid commodity
contracts: and

+ Certain unsecured borrowings, which consists of certain
debt securitics issued, substantially all other borrowings,
certain imercompany loans and cerain prepaid commodity
contracts.
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Hybrid financial instruments are instruments that contain
embedded derivatives that are able to be bifurcated. The
company can either bifurcate the embedded derivative from
the associated debt or designate the entire hvbeid financial
instrument at fair value through profit or loss. If the company
bifurcates the embedded derivative from the associated debd,
the derivative is accounted for at fair value and the host
contract is accounted for o amortised cost,

*

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Financial liabilitics measured at amortised cost are initially
measired at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently
measured at amortised cost wsing the effective inlerest
method. See “Financial assets measured at amortised cost”
above for further information on the effective interest method.
Finance costs, including discounis allowed on issue, are
recorded in met interest income  and inlerest  expense.
Finangial lHabilities measured at amortised cost include:

+ Certain - repurchase  agreements and  substantially  all
securities loaned,

« Cerain intercompany loans:
* Customer and other pavables;

« Certain unsecured borrowings that have ot been designated
at Fair value through profit or loss; and

= Other libilities, which primarily consists of compensation
and benefits and accrued expenses and other.

Impairment

The company asscsses the expected credit losses associated
with fimancial assets measured at amortised cost on a forward-
lpoking basis in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9,
Expected credit losses (ECL) are recorded in net revenues, As
of both December 2023 and December 2022, the company’s
expected credit losses were not material.

The company”s impaimrment model is based on changes in credit
quality since initial recognition of financial assets measured at
amaortised cost and incorporates the following three stages:

+ Stage 1. Financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not credit-impaired on initial recognition and where there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, The ECL is measured a1 an amount equal to the
expected eredit bosses that result from defiult events possible
within the mext twelve months.,

= Stage 2. Financial assets measured at amortised cost where
there has been o significant increase in eredit risk since initial
recognition, however not vet deemed to be credit-impaired.
The ECL is measured based on expected credit losses on a
lifetime basis,

+ Stage 3. Financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
in default, or are defined as credit-impaired. The ECL is
measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis,
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Dretermination of the relevant staging for each financial asset is
dependent on the definition of *significant increase in credit
risk" (stage 1| to stage 2} and the definition of ‘credit-
impaired” (stage 33 The company considers a financial asset o
have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when
certain quantitative or qualitative conditions are met. The
company considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when
it meets Credit Risk's definition of default, which is either
when the company censiders that the obligor is unlikely 10 pay
its credit obligations to the company in full, without recourse
by the company io actions such as realising security (if held), or
the obligor has defaulied on a payment andfor is past due more
than 90 days.

The ECL is determined by projecting the probability of defaul,
loss given defiult and exposure ot default for exch individual
exposure, To calculate expected credit losses these three
components are multiplied together and discounted back to the
reporting date, The discount sate wsed in the ECL calculation is
the original effective interest rte, The probability of default
represents the likelihood of a bommower defaulting on s
financial obligation. The loss given default is the company’s
expectation of the extent of loss on the default exposure, and
takes imo consideration, amongst other things, collateral on the
financial asser. The exposure at default is the amount the
company expects to be owed at the time the financial obligation
defaulis. The company uses internal credit risk ratings that
reflect the assessment of the probability of default of individual
counterparties. The company uses multiple macroeconomic
scenurios within the ECL calculation, the weightings for which
are subject to ongoing intemnal review and approval.

The ECL model takes into account the weighted average of a
range of forecasts of future economic conditions. The forecasis
include baseline, favourable and adverse economic scenarios
over a three-vear pericsd, To the extem the company has
financial assets in Stage 2 or Stage 3 which have an expected
life bevond three vears, the model reverts to historical loss
information based on a non-linear modelled approach, The
company applics judgement in weighing individual scenarios
each quarter based on a variety of factors, including internally
derived  economic  outlook.,  market  consensus.  recent
macrocconemic conditions and industry trends.

Forward-looking information, such as key cconomic variables
impacting credit risk and expected credit bosses, is incorporated
into both the assessment of staging and the caleulation af ECL.

The company writes off financial assets, in whole or in pan,
when it has coneluded that there is o reasonable expectation of
MeCovery.
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Classification of Financial Liabilities and Equity
Financial liabilitics and equity instrumenis are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangemenis. A
fimancial liability is any lability that is a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another
entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the
entity. An equily instrumen s any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all
liakilities. Instruments are cvaleated to determine if they
contain both liability and equity components. The  initial
carrving value of a compound financial instrument is allocated
first to the liability component, measured at fair value, and the
equity is assigned the residual amount.

Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
presented in the balance sheet where there is:

= Currently a legally enforceable right 1o set-0fT the recognised
amounts; and

+ Imtent to scttle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Where these conditions are not met, financial assets and
liabilities are presented on a gross basis in the balance sheet,

Fair Value Measurement
See Note 30 for details abour the fair value measurement of the
company s financial assets and liabilities,

Fair Value Hedges
The company applies bedpe accounting under 1AS 39

‘Finamcial Instruments: Recopnition and  Measurement”  for
ceriain interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate
exposure of certain fixed-rate unsecured long- and short-term
borrowings, To qualify for hedge accounting. the derivative
hedge must be highly effective at reducing the risk from the
exposure being hedged.  Additionally, the company must
formally document the hedging relationship at inception and
assess the hedging relationship & least on a quanerly basis 1o
ensure the derivative hedge continues 1o be highly effective
over the life of the hedging relationship.
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The company applics a statistical method that  atilises
regression analysis when assessing the effectiveness of its fair
value hedging relationships in achieving offseiiing changes in
the fair values of the hedging instrument and the risk being
hedged (ie., interest rate risk). An interest rate swap is
considered highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value
anributable to changes in the hedged risk when the regression
analvsis results in a coefficient of determination of 80% or
greater and a slope between 8% and 125%. Possible sources
of incffectiveness on these hedges include:

+ Differences in timing of cash flows between the hedged item
and hedging instrument.

+ Differences in discounting between the hedged item and the
hedging instrument, as cash collateralised derivatives are
discounted wsing Overnight Indexed Swap discount curves,
which are mon consistently applied 1o the hedged ftem,

+ Counterparty credit risk impacting fair value movements on
uncollateralised inerest rate swaps but not the underlying
hedged item.

For qualifving fair value hedges, gains or losses on derivatives
and the change in fair value of the hedged item anribuable 1o
the hedged risk ane incleded in net revenees. When a derivative
is no longer designated as a hedge, any remaining difference
between the carrying value and par value of the hedged item is
amortised over the remaining life of the hedged item using the
effiective interest method,

Collateralised Agreements and Collateralised
Financings

Collateralised agreements  include resale  agreements  and
securities  bormmowed.  Collateralised  financings  include
repurchase  agreements, securitics  loaned, secured  debt
securities issued, intercompany loans and other borrowings,
See “Classification and Measurement: Financial Assets™ and
“Classification and Measurement: Financial Liabilities™ above
for details on the classification and measurement of these
instruments. Collateral received or pested can be in the form of
cash or secerties. Cash collateral is recopnised derecognised
when received’paid. Collateral posted by the company in the
form of securitics is not derecognised from the balance sheet,
whilst collateral received in the form of securities is naot
recognised in the balance sheet. I collueral received is
subsequently sold, the obligation to retum the collateral and the
cash received are recognised in the balance sheet.
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Pension Arrangements. The company is a sponser of a
defined contribution pension plan, and a hybrid pension plan
for the benelit of certain employees, The hybrid pension plan
hias both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined

contribution section. These are accounted for as follows:

* For the defined contribution pension plan and the defined
contribiition  séction  of the  hybrid pension  plan,  the
contributions pavable for the period are charged o net
operating  expenses,  Differences  between  contributions
pavable for the peried and contributions actually paid are
shown as either sccruals or prepayments in the balance sheet,

For the Plan, the amounts charged 1o net operating expenses
are any past service costs, administration costs and any gains
or losses on settlements and curtailments. These amounis are
incleded in compensation and benefits, The met interest is
ingheded in net interest income{expense), Actuarial gains amd
losses are recognised immedistely in other comprehensive
income. Plan asscts are measured at fair value and Plan
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis uwsing the
projected wnit credin method and  discounted a1 a e
equivalent 1o the current rate of retum on & high-quality
corporate bond of equivalent currency and term o the Plan
lighilities. Full actuarial valuations are obtained at least
triennially and updated at each balance sheet date, Any
surples or deficit of Plan assets over Plan liabilities s
recognised in the balance sheet as an asset (surplus) or
liahility {deficit).

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and provision for impairment.
Subject to the recognition criteria in 1AS 38 ‘Intangible Assets'
being met, o1z incurred during the period that are directly
attributable to the development or improvement of new
business application software are capitalised as asscts in the
course of construction, Assels in the course of construction are
transferred (o computer software once completed and ready for
their intended use.

Computer softwarg is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life. which is three vears, No amorisation is
charged on assets in the course of construction. Amortisation is
included in net operating expenses and the amortisation policies
are reviewed on an annual basis,

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances suggest thal an asset’s of assel
group’s carrying valwe may not be fully recoverable,

337/424

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Motes to the Financial Statements

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Agsets. Provisions are recognized in the financial statements
when it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle a present (legal or constructive) obligation,
which has arisen as a result of past events, and for which a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Legal obligations that may asise as a result of proposed new
laws are recognised as obligations only when the legislation i
virtually certain to be enacted as drafied.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will be confirmed enly by the
OCCURTENCe of non-occurmence of one or more uncertain futbure
events not wholly within the control of the company or a
present obligation that arises from past events but is not
reconised because either an outflow of economic benefits is
not probable or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliobly
measured.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that anses from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
oCcurTence of non-occurrence of one oF more uncertain fulwre
events not wholly within the control of the company,

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised
in the financial statements, However, disclosure is made for
centingent liabilities unless the probability of settlement is
remote.

Equity Instruments. The company’s ATI notes have been
classified as equity instruments. Associated interest s
reconised directly in retained eamings when paid,
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Note 4,
Critical  Accounting  Estimates  and
Judgements

The preparation of financial stalements requires management Lo
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts recognised in these financial statements. The nature of
estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those
estimates. The following estimates have had the most
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Fair Value Measurement

Certain of the company™s finangial assets and liabilities mcluds
significant unobservable inputs (i.e., level 3). See Mote 30 for
information about the carrying value, valuation techniques and
sighificant inpins of these instruments,

Defined Benefit Pension

The cost of the Plan and the value of the Plan liabilities are
determined using actuarial valwations, This invalves making
assumptions about discount rates, future salory increases,
moriality rates and future pension increases. Due 1o the
complexity of the wvaluation, such estimates are subject 1o
significant uncertainty. See Node 15 for further information
about the company s Plan.
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Mot 5.
MNet Revenues

Met revenues inglude net imterest expense and non-interest
income. Met interest expense includes interest and dividends on
financial instruments measured at fair value and amortised cost,

The table below presents the company’s net revenues.

s Erwchend Discambar

3 i millioms 2023 Flirr]
Hon-inberest Mnooms
Firancial irgin, b =l iy d af

tair vinkal thigrugh peofs o sk $ 13M3 5 948
Firarial iFvitnasepnts designated o ter vakes

through profit or loss (3359 T2
Fpos and commssions 1885 2,088
Other income 1,443 =
Hon-inbedast i 13E33 12,430
Intarost incams
Firancial ifminasants madgnsd 81 fic vl

through profi or loss 10382 4,003
Financial imstnaments moasured a8 amoriised cost 12304 3,568
Totsl Eberast | prd 7,981
Inlarest pxpense
FrtirZinl iFlnasinls iniddunid 81 7 vilkag

through prolt of loss (113343 (4.834)
Firancial instnaments maeasuned 8% amorissd cosl 1 477
Total inisrust sxpense @Een) (a008)
el intereat oy 2A3)__ (1628)
Hel revenues 5 11302 5 10BN

In the table above:

» Moneinterest income from financial instruments mandatorily
mieasured at fair value through profit or loss primarily relates
o non-interest gains  and  losses on  trading  assets,
investments,  loans, trading  liabilities  and  cernain
collateralised agreements,

-

Mon-interest income from financial instrumems designated at
fair value through profit or loss primarily relates to non-
interest gains and losses on cenain unsecured borrowings and
collateralised financings.

Fees and commissions. primarily relates to net revenues from
cerfain financial advisory and underwriting engagements,
executing and clearing client  transactions and ceriain
INVESIMEND MAnagement services,

Other income primarily includes the gain of $1.42 billion for
2023 related to the transfer of the company’s UK. asset
management business, See “Executive Overview — Transfer
of LLK, Asset Management Business™ in Part | of this annual
report for further informatien.

Financial instruments designated at fair value through profit
of loss are frequently economically hedged with financial
instruments measured mandmosily at fair value through profit
or loss. Accordingly, gains or losses that are reported in
financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or
loss can be partially offset by gains or losses reported in
financial instruments measured mandmorily #t fair value
threugh profit or loss.

al
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Geographic Information

Due to the highly integrated nature of intermational financial
markets, the company manages its businesses based on the net
revenues of the emterprise as a whole. The methodology for
allocating net revenues to geopraphic regions is dependent on
estimates and management judgement.

Geographic results are generally allocated as follows:

+ Investment Banking: location of the client, investment
banking team and underlying risk.

= FICC and Equities: location of the market-making desk or the
primary market for the underlying security.

* Investment  Management:  location  of  the  investment

managemen! team,

The mable below presents the company’s met revenues by
geographic region allocated based on the methodalogy referred
o above,

Year Ended December
§ in malliong 2023 2022
EMEA - TETS 5 T4
ATreag 1.7T63 1712
Aain 1764 1639
Total £ hd § 10800

Revenue from Contracts With Customers

The table below presents the company™s revenue from contracts
with customers subject to IFRS 15, which are included in fees
and commissions within non-interest income,

Your Endsd Docambar
5 i rallsons 2023 2022
Finnnzinl achvasory and underatiting engagemants 5 BDE 5 1111
Exiasson and (e cligring transactions e 21
Irremstmin] maragamant seryions T A
Todal 5 1EBE 5 20
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Mobe 6.
Met Operating Expenses

The table below presents the company’s net  operating
EXpenses,

s Erwchend Discambar
3 i millioms 2023 Flirr]
Comperanbion and benafits 5 2188 5 1,506
Temngerloe Basid fEpanaas 1651 1,689
Rlarhnt cipeirkpemant E2] &
Camemricatons s lechnolgy 137 147
Depraciation and amorieation Fitl 248
Professonal foes 159 164
Maragemant charges from G5 Group afikates 1138 1,080
Othaer s 851 ™
Dpeeating oxp EALE 090
Maragemant charges to G Group affilales 319 [1g)
Kot operating enpenses SNy e

In the table above:

* Management charges includes charges relating to operational
and administrative suppert and  management  services,
received from and provided 1o GS Group affiliates,

« (hher expenses  primarily  includes IFRS 15 expenses,
miscellancous taxes, provisions for liabilities, regulatory fees
amd charitable contributions,

The table below presents the fees payable to the company’s
auditors, which are included in professional fees,

s Ervdesd Dcambar
5 iy s 2023 202
Al Wk 5 58 § 54
Al rplated ERSURNGCE SONACHS 23 21
CHNhOr ARLTRNGY BRMOEE 1.2 1.2
Tolal See for non-gedil Drvicis 33 3.3
Total fnes 5 3.9 5 [

In the table above:

* Audit related assurance services primarily related to client
money and assel reporting.

» Chher assurance services included the company’s share of
fiees related 1o certain services provided by a network firm of
the company s auditors to various G5 Group affiliates. These
fees were apportioned 1o the various GS Group affiliates,
including the company, by reference 1o each entily’s assel
sl
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Hote 7.
Compensation and Benefits

The mable below presents the company's average monthly
employee headcount, including executive directors.

for the
Yot Enchisd Dascapribare
Number 2023 2023
Irreeiamianl Banking 700 750
FICC ] T3
Exgusties. Ta0 851
Irrestiment Maragemant asT 566
Support Funcions 947 B2
Todal average hoade ount 3424 3842

Total headcount was 3,332 as of December 2023 and 3,882 as
of December 2022,

The table below presents compensation and bencfits costs
incurred by the company, including those relating to directors.

“finar Ended Decembar
5 i mallons 2023 2022
Wages and saleres 5 1882 5 1838
Saainl wicufily CO6lE o e
Peraicen coaty:

Darfirad] contriteton plan s defined

coninbuticn seciion of the hybod pension plan 42 42
IDeslinedl benafil section of the hybed pension plan H 4
Tedal 5 2iBR 5 iG0e

In the table above, total compensation and benefits included a
charge of $216 million for 2023 and a credit of $103 million for
2022 representing changes in the fair value of share-based
payment awards recharged from Group Inc. during the year.
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MNobe B,
Share-Based Payments

Stock Incentive Plan

Group Inc. sponsors a stock incentive plan, The Goldman
Sachs Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (2021)
(2021 SIPY, which provides for, amongsl others, grants of
RSUs, restricted stock. dividend equivalent rights and incentive
stock options, esch of which may be subject to terms and
conditions, including performance or market conditions. On
April 29, 2021, Group Ine’s sharcholders approved the 2021
SIP, The 2021 SIP is a successor 1o several predecessor stock
incentive plans, the first of which was adopted on Apnil 20,
1999, and each of which was approved by Group Inc's
shareholders. The 2021 SIP is scheduled o terminate on the
date of Group Inc,s annual megting of shaseholders that occurs
in 2025,

The company recorded share-based compensation in respect of
the amortisation of granted equity awards, net of forfeitures, of
£334 million for 2023 and $650 millicn for 2022, The resultant
credit 1o equity arising from these share-based payments has
been offset in equity as a result of the recognition of a liability
for amounts arising under the ems of the chargeback
agreement with Group Inc. under which the company is
committed to pay to Group Inc. the grant-date fair value, as
wiell as subsequent movements in the fair value of these awards
to Growp Ing, a1 the time of delivery 1o s emplovees,

Restricted Stock Units

Growp  Inc, grants  RSUs  (incleding  RSUs  subject 1o
performance  or market  conditions) 1o the company’s
cmployees, which are generally valued based on the closing
price of the underlying shares on the date of grant after taking
into account a liquidity discount for any applicable post-vesting
and delivery ransfer restrictions, The value of equity awands
also considers the impact of material non-public information, if
any, that G5 Group expects to make available shortly following
grant, RSUs not subject 1o performance or market conditions
generally vest and underlying shares of common stock are
delivered (net of required withholding tax) over a three-vear
peried as outlined in the applicable award agreements. Award
agreements generally provide that vesting is accelerated in
certain circumstances, such as on retirement, death, disability
and, 1 certain cases, conflicted employment. Delivery of the
underlying shares of common stock is conditioned on the
grantees satisfying ceriain wvesting and other requiremenis
outlined in the award agreements,

RSUs thar are subject to performance or market conditions
generally are senled after the end of a three= 10 Ave-vear period.
For wwards that are subject to performance or market
conditions, generally the final award is adjusted from zero up to
150% of the original grant based on the extent 1o which those
conditions are satisfied. Dividend equivalents that accrue on
these awards are paid when the awards settle,
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The table below presents the activity related 1o RSUs,

Winghted Averngh

Geanl-Date Fair Valse of
Ristrictod Stock Riritrtod Saock
Units Cutsianding Urils Cutstanding

Fulure Mo Futume

Sericy Saraice Sonric Snvicn

Riesguired Fiosqusmd Requined Rquired
Begginning balance BT2484  ATO0ABE F ITVAT 3 a2
Granted 574,879 ET2ETE & IDB4Y § TE
Forfailed {84,263} (25,117 § 292II 5 IEATR
Dbt — (1,720,787} % — §  pExEa
Visted (71438 TEIA3E § 2ER42 3 AR
Transiss 168.383) THIB 5 248§ MEM
Endirg balance 556,270 3335097 § 2 ZETS §  ITEID
Yoar Ended Dopember 2032
Bsginning balanoe TH6,025 175700 & 2430 % TERE
Granied BES 222 1417718 § 30105 & 314
Foriind {132,857} BR20D) 5 IT4M 5 M43
Db — (2006862 5 — § xRl
Vasted (62,062 BAN0EZ 26703 5 MEYV.OD

Transters 11,926 (B4 & 24REY § FXRES
Erkng bakanon Bra5e 3. 10, 126 LTTET 5 PELOE

In the table above:

* The weighted average grant-date fair value of R5Us gramed
was S313.02 during 2023 and 5307.68 during 222 The
gramt=dite fair value of these RSUs included an average
liquidity discount of 5.01% during 2023 and 5.6% during
2022, to reflect post-vesting and delivery transfer restrictions,
generally of | year for both 2023 and 2022,

The aggregate fair value of awards that vested was 5423
million during 2023 and $638 million during 2022,

The ending balance included R5LUs subject 1o future service
reguirements and performance of marketl conditions of 65,942
R5LUs as of both Decembser 2023 and December 2022, and the
maximum amount of such RSUs that may be camed was
98,914 as of both December 2023 and December 2022,

The ending balance also incleded BSUs not subject 1o future
service requiremients but subject to performance conditions of
240,909 R5Us a5 of December 2023 and 223,150 R5Ls as of
December 2022, and the maximum amount of such R5Us that
may be eamed was 361,364 RSUs as of December 2023 amd
334,726 R5Us as of Decemiber 2022,
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Mote 9.

Income Tax Expense

The table below presents an analysis of the company’s income
HX expense.

Yiear Emchend Decambar
3 i millions 2023 ]
Current tax
UKL Basntion 5 453 5 532
Adjuilrriby i spect of pror iy 153 18
Db Laxation 50 32
Total curnent tax [l T
Delerred tax.
Origiraton and reversal of lempomry diferences 14 147
Effiect o decriasid combingd LK.

COMPrNEoN L rale - 40
_Adju o reapint of prioe pevicds — 18)
Total deferred tax 14 L
Tokal income lax expense 5 CIEEE] g8

The table below presents a reconciliation between income tax
cxpense and the amount calculated by applying the weighted
average combined UK, corporation tax rate (including banking
surcharge) applicable o the company for 2023 of 27.75%
(2022 274%%) o profit before taxation. The company’s
weighted average combined UK. corporation tax rate for 2023
of 27.75% included three months from January 1, 2023 io
March 31, 2023 at 27.0%: and nine months from April 1, 2023
o December 31, 2023 a1 28.0%%,

Your Ended Decambar
5 iny ot 2023 ey
Profit balons Bcaton - 048 § 4,874
Profit multpled by combined UK. oomporation tax
rate of 27.75% (2022 27.0%) 1408 1,343
TR i PGl A Maasuamant of
chpfiarrid i diaty 4 (1983

Blorr-Laable gain retatid 1o transfor of UK. assal

managamant businass 55 —
Tax dedhactitée on interest onAT1 notes [ [202)
BosnsLnable Fo0mia On indanked

Grninmant bonds 2 1233
Diha el SlamnoE L] 4
[Effnca of Fighar Bixes on Grsnbeis aamings — 2
Exchangs diflerences and offwsr - ]
Adjustments i respect of prioe periods. 158 4y
[EMect of decraadgied combingd LUH.

P Lnx ehy - k]
Toksl incomse tax sxponds ] 915 § [ET

In July 2023, the Finance (Mo, 20 Act 2023 enacted certain
provisions of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development Global Anti-Base Erosion Maodel Rules (Fillar
Twa), including a Domestic Minimum Top-LUp Tax, which will
apply 1o G5 Group from January 2024, Pillar Two aims 1o
ensure that multinational companies pay a minimum effective
corporate tax rate of 15% in each jurisdiction in which they
operate, The company does mot expect a material impact to its
2024 anpual effective tax rate, absent a significant change in
GS Group's UK. profitability or mix of eamings, based on its
current understanding of these rules. The company has applied
the exception o recognising and disclosing information about
deferred tax assets and liabilities related 1o Pillar Two income
Lixes,
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The Finance Act 2022, which decreased the bank surcharge
applicable to the company from §.0% to 3.0% from April 1,
2023, was enacted in February 2022, As a result, during 2022,
the company’s deferred tax assets were rememsured and a
deferred tax expense of 549 million was recognised in the
income statement. This change, coupled with the increase in the
LK. corporate tax main rate from 19.0% 1o 25.0% from April
1. 2023, enacted in June 2021, resulied in the combined UK.
corperation tax rate (including banking surcharge) applicable to
the company increasing from 27.0% to 28.0% from April 1,
2023,

Hote 10,
Collateralised Agreements

The wmble below presents the company’s  collateralised
AETCCIIETS.

As of Decamber
5 i mallions: FLFE] FIFF]
Fosaln agresmaents § 1263\ 5 122423
Saciinilies bomosnd 136,508 1088 353
Tetal § 62817 5 L7

Note 11.
Customer and Other Receivables

The table below presents the company’s customer and other
receivables.

As of Decomber
5 in malions = goza o0z
Rucetvakios feom Dokerdnakes and cearnng
OIPANERALIoT 5 145 5 19,300
Risgapivaisling faom ] I SHIS2 SATET
Tedal $  TIEER S TESET
In the table above:

+ Total customer and other receivables primarily consists of
receivables resulting from collateral posted in connection
with ceriain derivative transactions, customer margin loans
and balances related 1o listed derivative activity,

+ Receivables from customers and counterpartics includes
receivables from contracts with customers, which were 5114
million a3 of December 2023 and S170 million as of
December 2022,
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Nate 12,
Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities include rading cash instruments
and derivatives held in connection with the company s market-
making or risk management activities, including securitics held
for liquidity risk management purposes. Trading assets includes
pssets  pledged a5 collateral, See Nete 29 for  further
information.

The table below presents the company s trading assets,
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Note 13,
Investments

Investments includes debt instruments and equity securities that
are accounted for at fair value and are generally held by the
company in conmection with its long-term investing activities.
Investments includes assets pledged as collateral. See Mote 29
fir further mformation,

The table below presents information aboul the company's
investments,

A% 0f Dabcsinritae! Ag of Dacambag
& iy miillicrat 2023 L] § in malians 2023 2022
Trading cash Instnamanis Corporate debt insfruments £ =M E 45
Moy marke! instrumants H n & Fiil Eqpuity socurites Fal ] Fal- 1)
Govemment and agercy cblasons 4B T4T 18,304 Todal 5 F I 20
A e St Beasiil-bchind ke And
ST 5 108 .
c debt et 1909 20002 In the table above:
Equity securities “—:ﬁz 31‘:-:: « Corporate  debd  instruments  primarily  includes  senior,
“Total trading cash inatn 132662 TZAZT mezzanine and distressed debt,
[T —— 245 506,737 + Equity securities consists of the company™s public and private
Condin 0884 10,762 uity-related investments in corporate enfities.
Curmencies 55T 1112040 equity
Commmicaities. 9,002 15,647
Equi 61209 45966
Totsl dorhvatives B35, 700 200,381
Toksl irsding suists 3 &M 5 TR
The tzble below presemis the company s trading liabilities.
As of December
it Hels 2023 Er
Trading cash instnaments
Lo B ey olblig 3 TS 5 14,109
Caporsts dibl ifrstnarsants 4843 5532
Equity soorfios 12508 Ar.0ar
Cosmimoities. 11 16
Total trading cash instrumants 65,750 EE
Dprivcatives
Iregrinst ranes. 435161 S5
Cradit 18300 17453
Cawmencies ST A4G 114,335
Cowmimoaiees. ¥ . 20,7
Equitars 60,832 50,003
Totsl dorivatlives E71.880 TR
Tatal trading liahilition 3 __TITEND § 644,393

In the tables above:

* Corporate debt instruments includes corporate loans, debt
securitics, converiible  debeniures,  prepaid  commodity
transactions and transfers of assets accounted for as secured
loans rather than purchases.

* Equity sccuritics includes public oguitics and exchange-
traded funds,

i
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Mabe 14,
Other Assets

The table below presents the company s other assets by typs,
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Property, Leasehold Improvements and Equipment
The table below presents the movements in property, leasehold

in % improvements and equipment during the current and prior year.
ey Gans ) 7 5 [CE] )
vt in gbaidiary 114 136 Fixtures,
Amcallanacus recervabins and offer 1.51% 1274 . A icniiria fitings and 1
Total Enancal assets z.181 Iy Lz impraveenbnt __ equipmant sl
Property, leasehold imposements and equipment 3 5
Wbl 35681 518 550 s of Dncemiteer 2021 5 6 % 65 z
Raght-cduse axests 7 3 Addtions. -— — —
Pansicn surphis (3oa Nels 15) - 4 - (4] = 3
Ciseerad tax assets (sse Mots 18] . 185 s of Docember 2022 12 [ 18
Prepayments ard accrued incoms Rt 43 Adtions 2 - 2
Tasrelated assots 150 121 Dispossls = = =
s s, @Ol B e ey 4 4 Az ol Dopmiber 2123 14 [] FL)
Tokal eeehi ey 1478 1986 A lated deproclaticn
Total 3 334 5 1050 A of Decemter 2021 L] 4 13
Charge for the: yoar 1 - 1
v Disposals 1 = (1
In the table above oy FEr] 3 3 T
+ The company’s investment in subsidiary has been measured Charge for the puar 1 ! 2
at fair walue in accordance with IFRS 9. Mhdm FrE] T 3 %
« Miscella ] ivabl nd other incleded n fi ial Nt book value
(BT I'I?Ul:lb_ﬂ..‘t'::lw es and o ||1cr in financial ol — " 4% s s
assets  primarily  includes  receivables  from G5 Group P& of Decemier 3023 T TE T L s

affiliates, including receivables for allocation of net revenues
among G5 Group affiliates for their participation in GS
Giroup’s business activities,

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the
useful econpmic life of the asset or the remaining life of the
lease when the asset is brought into use, Fixtures, Attings and
equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, which is between 3 to 7 vears,

Intangible Asseats
The table below presents the movements in intangible assets,
related o compater software, during the current and prior year.

Asiais in tha
Compeutier counss of

¥ in mallioag e R ] Tiztal
Coat
A of Dcaniter 2021 3 Bl 5 253 § 1006
Addtiorn Tracslons 245 T 2

— L1 — (1
A of Decemiter 022 1087 ] 147
AddtioeTrarslons 53 37 2
Dmris (4 = [4)
A of O 2023 1341 fr2] 15464
Accumulated amartination
As of Drecember 2021 43 - k]
Gharge for the: yoar 245 - 5
Disposals () = )
A ool Chbiaiestiteget 022 Tar - 8
Charge for tha yiar Hed - A
nsposais ed] = i}
s of Decesmiter 2023 1046 - 1045
Het book valse
s of Dwoesmiber 2023 3 255 5 21§ 518
A of Docemier H22 5 I ] =]
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Mote 15,
Pension Arrangements

The company sponsors a pension plan with a hybrd strecture,
having both a defined benefit section (the Plan) and a defined
coniribution section. The Plan provides retirement benefits on
the basis of members’ final salary, with a normal retirement age
of @3 for most members, The Plan is funded. with the assets of
the scheme held separmtely from those of the company, in
separate trustee-administered funds.

The Plan was closed to new entrants with effect from Apnil 1,
2008, and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. As of
March 31, 2006, the Plan was closed to fuiure benefit accruals
fior existing participants,

The Plan operates under wust law and is managed and
administrated by the Goldman Sachs UK Retirement Plan
Trustee Limited (the Trustee) on behall of the members and
beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed
and Rules and relevant legislation. The Trustees act on behalf
of the members and beneficiaries and have the responsibility
for semting the investment strategy and agreeing funding
requirements with the company through the valuation process.

A full acwarial valustion of the Plan was cormied out by a
qualified independent actuary as of December 31, 2023 using
the projected unit credit method based upon membership data
as of July 31, 2022, As of December 2023, Plan liabilities
consisted of 91% in respect of future beneficiaries and 9% in
respect of current beneficiaries. As of December 2022, Plan
liabilities consisted of 92% in respect of future beneficiaries
and 8% in respect of current beneficiaries.

There is no asset ceiling imposed on the amount of pension
surplus recognised in the financial siatements as the company is
able 1o utilise the Plan swrplus in the scenartos set oul in
“IFRIC 14 - [AS 1% - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction™.

Severnl valuations are prepared for the Plan,  including
valuations on an accounting basis (in line with IFRS), on a
funding basis (used by the Trustees to manage the funding of
the Plan) and on a discontinuance basis (used to determine the
funding level if the Plan were to wind up immediately). The
two main differences between the accounting valuation and
funding valuation is the method used to determing the discownt
rale assumption and the margins of prudence required.

L
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Investment Strategy of the Plan
The Plan may make use of three kev tvpes of investments as
considered appropriate at various stages of the Plan’s life:

= A range of instruments that provide a broad match 1o changes

in liability values.
+ A portfolio of secure income assets.
« A diversified portfolio of relurm-seeking assets,

The Plan Trustees monitor the liability profile of the Plan and
regularly review the appropriatensss of its investment sirlegy
in relation to the nature and duration of the Plan's labilities,

The Plan Trustees have a long-term asset allocation strategy to
invest 41% of assets in retumn secking investments (such as
equity funds/indices, altermative fnvestments and fixed income
securities) and 9% i lability matching assets (such as Gilis,
swaps and resale'repurchase  agreements). The primary
objective of the Plan's hedging programme is to hedge the
majority of the Plan's interest rate and inflation exposure based
on the funding valuation of Plan labilities,

Risks of the Plan
The main risks of the Plan are:

« Funding Sheortfall. Additienal contributions  will  be
required if the investment returns are not sufficient to pay for
benefits, The level of equity returns will be a key determinant
of overall investment retum: the investment portfolio is also
subject to a range of other risks rypical of the asset classes
held, in particular interest rate risk and inflation risk on

bonds.,

« Asset Volatility. A consequence of the Plan's investment
strategy, with a significant proportion of the assets invested in
equitics and other return-secking assets, is that the difference
between Plan asseis and Plan liabilities may be volaiile. In
addition, whilst lability maching instruments contribute to
volatility in Plan assets due to changes in market conditions
(see below], they seck to minimise the difference between
Plan assets and Plan liabilities. In the event of market
violatility, the Plan has put in place a revolving credit facility
with a G5 Group affiliate 1o mitigate the risk of having o sell
assets in distressed markets to meet collateral calls.

Plan Liabilities Sensitivity. Plan liabilities are sensitive to
the assumptions made about future inflation and life
expectancy. [t is also sensitive to the discount rate, which
depends on market vields on sterling-denominated AA
corporate bonds,
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Financial and Mortality Assumptions

The table below presents the significant financial and mortality
assumplions used to determine the present value of the defined
benefit obligation,
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The company’s net pension surplus of $40 million as of
Drecember 2022 decreased to a deficit of 580 million as of
December 2023, primarily due to the impact of credit spreads
tightening on the discount rate used in the accounting valuation
of Plan liabilities.

As of Dacambarn
B por arnur, axcapl moality aEsumplions 2033 0
- — Fair Value of f'lan Assots o
P ——— AT0 ARG The table below presents the fair value of Plan assets.
Faite of price inflabion - FF1 a2 235
Fenite of pracis flalion — CF1 272 285 § i s Cuoled  Unguated Tetal
ety of incrofse in ponaions in payments As of December 2023
(post-havamber 30, 1996 accrusl) 302 315 Exquity furds/indeoes. 5 9% 5 - & 95
Rate of increase in pensions in defemaent Gilts and resalsreperchass ngresmaents 1,259 [528) T3
{post-Hovembar 30, 1566 sccrual) aTe 285 Srwig. — 11 11
Fate of incroase in pensons in dokement Caih and cagh gquivalonts 183 — 183
(pasi-feal 5, 2008 I} 250 2.50 Cthae 133 17 50
Meartality Joaal 36N s pens 1
Lifiy e ¥ 8L 65 for B cufenify a2 55 Az of Drepember 2022
hags IiEyeans 743 peas Epusty urds/inaiecess 5 156 § -5 155
Farmules 252 yearn X508 years Gils and resalyreporchass agreemaenis 5] [Z85) RS
Life mopeectancy at 65 for & member cumentty at 43 = — (X34 [334)
Maes 50 years 255 yoars Cash and ciih aquivalants 57 - 517
Fomakes 6.5 years  I6.5 poars Othar 154 1% o]
Total [ 1730 & (447 & 1. ZXY

In the table above, the monality assumptions adopied as of
December 2023 were the “SAPS 53 very light (All Pensioners)
series” base table with an allowance for future improvements
from 2013 onwards in line with the CMI 2022 core projections
with a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25% per annum and
an initial addition to mortality improvement parameter of
0.50% per annum. This assumption allows for no weighting on
morality experience m 2000 and 2021, and only 25% on
experience in 2022 in light of higher than expected mortality
experienced during the COVID- 1% pandemic.

Reconciliation of Pension Surplus/({Deficit)
The table below presents a reconciliation of Plan assets, Plan
liabillities and the net pension surplus/(deficii),

2]
prericn
Fran Flan  surplus!
3 iy millions aserls  labibles [dedicit)
Year Ended December 2033
As ol January 1, 2023 § 1233 § (1,197 & 4n
el inComa i ] 62 (B0 2
Raturn on Plan assnts s than
discount rate i - (k]
Actuanal loss - b bdity mopesrienon - (=11} )
Actuarial gainfloss) = linancial assumpions - (28] (26)
Aclunniad gain — Semographa RESUMBLoNS - 18 16
Banafits paid {15 i8 —
Fomign exchange gainflloss) Li) {71] LI}
s ol Decamber 31, 2023 § 1273 8 (153 % a0y
Yoo Erdesd Dapcambeor 2083
A5 of January 1, 2022 & 32e8 & (200 % an
Adminstratos oost -— 2} k3]
el inComm o pan s 57 (51} 3
Ratwrn on Plan assots es than
dEcount rate 1. 733 - (.73
Actuanial loss - knbdity mopesriencn -_ T2y [ra
Actusnial gaint{kess) = finsncial assumplions. - 1657 1,687
Actunnial gan — demogragh it -_ 2 2
Banafits paid 22 Fr] —
Fomign eachingd cnikees) (318} 250 2%
Aa ol Docambar 31, 3003 5 1233 % (1193 3 4l

it

In the table above, other primarily consists of investments in
altermative investments and fixed income securities.

Defined Benefit Cost
The table below presents the defined benefit lossi{gain) related
to the Plan recognised in the income statement and in other
comprehensive income.

oar Endied Docembar

3 iy ralliovas 2023 2022
Incema slatarment
Adrinisirative cosl % 3% 2
inferest income [l 178
Todal chai cresd o thee incomae staiemand 1 4
‘Ofher comprehensive incoma
Rirturm o0 Plan asists bss San dicount mby ™ 17353
Actunrial ogs - BBty Gxporients 1] 172
Actuan ipin} — financial assomg E] (1657
Actuirial gain = doimopriphic ausmptioes 114) 2
Todal loss recognised in other

comprehiensive ineoms 118 T4E
Total dafinei bsnwit iois N RS-
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Sensitivity Analysis
The table below presents a sensitivity analysis of Plan liabilities
for each significan actuarial assumption,

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

Hote 16,
Deferred Tax Assets

The table below presents the componems of the company s

Irecnc 10 Flan Listsbi
Inctisiias i [ deferred tax assets.
Eacery assampbon
& in millicns % §in milons * s of Dracaiber
g of Decembar 2023 [y — 2023 FTEH
024% change in dscount rafe § TS B 61 “Delemed compansation C TR T
OZ5% change in prce kfabion § 5 48 § 1] 4.5 Peal-sslramens Banafils e 1
1 ypinr chingn in ke axp 5 I 2T s [ L] Progasrty, heabahid imp [N Po—
a3 ol Decambar 2007 and intangibly aksats (139 [145)
QFEm changn in dedount rate ¥ r) @A) % L Dbl watluation: adpustment 3| 31
.35 changs in price infation H] B 48 5 (a8 (4.6) Initestcoerecanyy cured funding ¥ 1
1 ywar change in e expectancy  § Nn_ 265 (35 .8 Ot iy Sl ] (1
Lol P43

In the table above, the sensitivities are based on o change in
cach assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.

There are inheremt limitations in the sensitivity analysis, a5 such
idiosyncratic  movements  are  unlikely  to occur. The
methodology used to calculate the sensitivities is consistent
across e two periods presemted in the table above,

Mature of Future Cash Flows

Since the Plan's closure 10 futere accruals from March 31,
2006, the company has ceased to make regolar comributions
into the Plan but will continue to assess the funding
requirements of the Plan with the Trustees on a periodic basis.

Om a triennial basis, & formal funding valuation of the Plan is
performed for e Trustees 1o assess the Tunding needs of the
Plan. This valuation differs from the acarial valuation
required for accounting purposes due to the use of different
BESUMplions.

The most recent triennial funding valuation of the Plan was
performed by a qualified independent actuary as of December
31, 2020, which indicated that the Plan was in 8 funding
surplus of 5383 million. During 2023, the estimated funding
valuation of the Plan has improved from a deficit of S60
million as of December 2022 1o a deficit of 536 million as of
December 2023, following a significant decrease in 2022, The
next formal funding valuation of the Plan is due as of
December 31, 2024, If the funding valuation is still in a deficit
as of December 31, 2024, the company and the Trustees will
agree a plan o remediate any deficit,

As of December 2023, the company expected 513 million of
benefins 1o be paid ow of the Plan to members in 2024 and as of
December 2022, the company expected $22 million to be paid
out of the Plan to members in 2023,

The weighted averspe duration of Plan  habilities was
approximately 25 wears a5 of December 2023 and
approximately 26 vears as of December 2022,

L]

The table below presents changes in each component of the
company s deferred tax asses,

Yinar ended Dacemibs

iy iy 2025 2022
Daoferred compansation
Beginning balancs 5 56 5 313
Transker 1o the inoome statemant
Endire balanse [ ] 4 5 ETE
Post-retiremnent benalits
Bsegannieeg Balangy - (1) 5 (103)
Tiranaber o/ thn imcome sabsmant = i1
Transhsr o olhir comprahisni incoms B ar
Ending balance § ) [
Froparty, leaschodd improvements and sgulprsnt

and inlangible assols
Baginnisy Balangs 5 45 (181
Transter o the Boome Rl iz
v balarce R MG
Dbt walusticn adjusimant
Beginning balance H (3 & 5
Transter o other comgeehensive income 52 [85)
Intercompany sacuned funding
Beginninsg balance 5 1% 1z
Tranghe io tha incomn sialsmant 1 13
Endirg halancs [] FIl] 1
Dehar lemgorary diffenénci
Beginnicg balance § s (1]
Transter 1o the incoma statamant T 2
Ending balance 5 & 5 11
Todal
Epaniniegy Balnngs 3 BE 5 =
Trangker i th incoma siabamant (Sea Nola 9) [14) [183)
Tranghe o other compeahaniing NG -] (15
Endirg) balance § [T fr5]

Im thee tables above, deferred compensation is mainly in respect
of share-based compensation.

347/424

oOoOooodn
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Nate 17,
Interests in Other Entities

The table below presents the subsidiaries over which the
company exercised control as of both December 2023 and
December 2022,

Hleling
and
proporton  Class of
Bwro Counbry of  of volng shares. Shanes  Nabuno of
Goddmae Sachn
| Cayman Caryman Orclinainy Finangial
Lorrsitisd Klands 100 share 250 senalas
Financial
Griffes Trust Seomatn Advicas * - ]

* This subsidiary undertaking is controlled other than through
voting rights attached to shares.

The registered office addresses of the company’s subsidiaries
a5 of December 2023 are:

+ Goldman Sachs {(Cayman) Limited: the offices of Maples
Corporate Services Limited, PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grund Cayman, KY 1-1104, Cayman Islands.

+ Ciniffin Trust: 1st Floor, Boundary Place, 18 Rivonia Road,
o, Sandion, Gauteng, 2196, South Africa.

The company las interests in a number of special purpose
entities and capital guarameed funds which do not meet the
definition of o legal subsidiary, but give rise to the risks and
rewards that are, in substance, no different than if they were
legal subsidiaries. The activities of these special purpose
entities and capital guaranteed funds consist of the issuance of
loan notes under the tems of a repackaging programme, These
specinl purposes entitics and capital guaranteed funds ane
consolidated in the financial statements of Group Inc.

Unconsolidated Structured Entities

The company has inferesis in structured entities that it does mot
comtrol {unconsolidated structured entities), which prirnarily
includes: senior and subordinaied debt:  derivatives  and
guarmees, Structured entities generally finance the purchase of
assets by issuing debt securities that are either collateralised by
or indexed 1o the assets held by the structured entity. The debt
securities issued by a structured entity may include ranches of
varving levels of subordimation. The company™s imvolvement
with structured entities primarily includes the purchase and sale
of beneficial interests issued by morgage-backed structured
emtities  in conmection with market-making  activities and
derivatives the company has entered into with  structured
cntitics, such as todal retumn swaps. In cerain instances, the
company provides guarantees, including derivative guarantees,
v uncensolidated strectured entities or holders of imerests in
unconsolidated structured entities,
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The table below presents a summary of the unconsolidated
structured entities in which the company holds interests.

Ak of Dipciniibsind
3 iy revelficvng: FLFE] 2022
Assets in stnuectured entites 3 4237 % 4,108
Camying walue of inlorests - assots ] 5T % BET
Gamying valus of inlerests - kabdites 3 (55 § [44)
Wani I bk ] 198 3 3835
In the table above:

* The carrying values of the company’s interests are included in
the balance sheet in trading assets or irading liabilities,

The company s maximum exposure 1o loss is mainly a result
of derivatives, commitments and guarantees, for which the
maximum exposure to loss is the notional amount, which
does not represent anticipated losses and also has not been
reduced by unrealised losses already recorded. As a result, the
maximum exposure to loss exceeds liabilities recorded for
derivatives, commitments and guarantees,

MNote 18.
Collateralised Financings

The tble below presents the company’™s  collmeralised
financings.

As of Decombaer
5 in rallong 2023 2022
Ripunchiy pgrseremis 3 125 5 E0TZ
Siscuritens. ki Te0E .0
inercormpany ioans. Thkd ToET
Dobt securites ssued 2,004 230
Bk Boees ™ =
Othat Berowings 8374 4134
Total S MEATE & 1ALV

In the table above, intercompany boans, debd sccurities issued,
bank loans and other borrowings are secured by securities
which have been pledped as collmeral, This pledged collameral
i5 either recognised in trading assets or  collateralised
AETECMENS.

Hote 19,
Customer and Other Payables

The table below presents the company’s customer and other
payables.

At of Dacomber
£ in millons: 2023 FLFF]
Paynbdes o brokoendeakes and cheaning
pANERALNTS. L] 1,305 § Rk
Payribries 10 tuslomaens and countspartes 11380 10T.&50
Total £ 115a § 1100580

Imi thee table above, tal customer and other payvables primarily
consists of cash collateral received in connection with certain
derivative transactions, customer credit balances related to the
company”s prime brokerage activities and balances related 1o
listed derivative activity,
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Note 20,
Unsecured Borrowings

The table below presents the company s unsecured bormowings.

As of Duponrritae
& iny millors 2023 e
Bank lcans ] w0 5 ]
Overdralts nr ]
iercompany kans — ron-MREL-ghgith I2ATH 19,519
Intgrcompany ibans - MREL-pigiia 18,191 16,774
Dot Aivieritng pud 5002 16929
Subandnatid keics L] 5.407
hther borowings | ] T.a08
Total 3 H.E_iT 5 mﬁ

In the table above:

* Payments on debt securities issued and other borrowings
instruments are tvpically referenced o underlving fnancial
wssts, which are predominately interest rates. equities and
currencies-related.

Subordinated loans of 56.92 hillion as of December 2023 and
5541 billkon as of December 2022 comsists of long-term
loans of $6.88 billion as of December 2023 and $5.38 billion
as of December 2022 from GSG UK and associated accrued
interest. These loans are unsecured and carry inberest at a
margin over the LS, Federal Reserve's Federal Funds rate.
The margin 15 resel on o pericdic basis o reflect changes in
GS Group’s weighted average cost of debt. These loans
constitute Tier 2 regulatory capital as approved by the PRA
amnd are repayable subject to PRA approval, These loans are
repavable between December 26, 2029 and Septembser 9.
20310,

Debt Valuation Adjustment

The company calculates the fair value of deba securities issued
that are designated at fair value through profit or loss by
discounting future cash flows ai a rate which incorporates GS
Group's eredit spreads. The table below presems information
about the company’s cumulative net pre-tax DVA gains/
(losses) en such financial liabilities, which is incleded in
accumulated other comprehensive income.

Y Erwcdesd Discambar
!i'rrn.oﬂu 2023 ity
Baginning balance 5 m s [188)
Dt wabuston adjustmant far th pir 12y Eo
Teangder 1 falaiosd sarnings 14 [Fd]
Erling balance 3 [18) 5 111

In the table above, net gains of 54 million (53 million, net of
tax) for 2023 and net gains of 52 million (31 million, net of tax)
fior 2022 realised upon early redemplion of certain such
financial labilities, have been transferred from accumulated
other comprehensive income to retained camings.

7
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Hedge Accounting

The company designates certain interest rate swaps as fair value
hedges that are used to manage the interest rate exposure of
certain fixed-rate ensecured long- and short-term debt, These
interest rate swaps hedpe changes i fair value atributable to
the relevant benchmark  interest rute (ep., EURIBOR).
effectively converting fixed-rate obligations into floating-rate
obligations.

The carrying wvalue of hedging instruments, classified in
derivatives within trading assets in the balance sheet, was 2
million as of December 2023 and 53 million as of December
2022,

The table below presents the notional of hedging instruments
by contractual maturity date.

Ak of Daciinbid
£ iy ey FLFE] 202
1 = 3 moeihs 5 -5 -
3 mones - 1 year 532 -
1 =S ynans 1.0m0 1519
Grodir than 5 yiars 1411 1810
Tetal ] 3013 3 339

The average fixed rate of (e company’s hedging instruments
wars 0,97% for 2023 and 2.05%% for 2022,

The table below presents the camyving value of hedged items
that are designated in a hedging relationship and the relaed
cumulative hedging  adjustment  (increasef{decrease))  from
current and prior hedging relationships included in such
carrying values,

Camulartrn

Camyng  hedging

3 in mlliong vilun  adjasimaent
s of Decembar 2023

Unsacund shord -term bormowings § % % -

Unsacured long-lom borowings: £ 2.2ET 5 [Fik]
iy of Depemiter 20122

Unsscured shor-ienm boerowings 5 g5 -

Linsscuned lang- lnnm borrwings ] 2588 & [Z91)

In addition, cumulative hedging adjustments for itemis o
longer designated in @ hedging relationship was 56 million as of
Decemnber 2023 and $8 million as of December H022,

The table below presents the company's gains(losses) from
interest rate derivatives accounted for as hedges, the relaed
hedged bormowings and the hedge incffectiveness on these
derivatives recognised in net revenues,

Your Endsd Decambar
5 in mallbons 2023 2022
Irdenst Eabn Moo 5 &5 5 [3£3)
Voo & 3 ) 1
Hudge Ewlfectivengns E] (14] § [FET
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Nate 21,
Other Liabilities

The table below presents the company’s other liabilities by
type.

A5 of Decomiber
3 i millioms 2023 Flirr]
T tion and banalis 5 1981 5 2,000
Beanimiis LSl Il 04 240
Lopciay babditaps 7 ]
At empanii and othar 1942 1.940
Total Snancial kabdies 4334 4,158
Iroome lnx-etried katdSos 187 ]
Dther aes and o0l Seosty oosls m 395
Pansin daficil (50 Mot 15) 80 —
Testial szw B T 43 308
Toeal ] Adsd 5 4,508

In the table above, accrued expenses and ather includes
comtract lmbilities, which represent consideration received by
the company in connection with its contracts with customers
prior (o providing the service. As of both December 2023 and
Drecember 2022, contract liabilities were mot material.

Provisions

The table below presents provisions, which are in respect of
legal and regulatory proceedings in which the company s
involved.

5 irv oy

As ol Decembar 2021 [
Chawga during The year

Utilisnd during The year

Mg ol Docember 2022 5
Chaega during T yaar

Uitliiad dufing the yaar

Ay of Decembar 2023 5

-
B o -

MNote 22.
Share Capital
The table below presents the company’s share capital.

Ordinary shans
o §1 gach § it milliong
CREET A 508
SOE 1R § 504
SO 1ER 0§ 554

Alioited, calbed up and fly paid
As of Dezambar 2023

7z
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Note 23.
Other Equity Instruments

The table below presents information about the company s
unsecured ATI notes,

Pl o
Maonth of issuvance AT notes § malons  Indennst rate
Junax AT 5500 % 5500  0.00% p.a.
Mnatimbar 2018 — —
As of D ber 2023 5500 § 5,500
Sy 2047 a5 5800 Q0epa.
Hovermber 2018 2500 2500  BETS pa.

A ol Deosmiber 302 l.g & R0

The company’s AT1 notes of §1 million each have been issued
to GS5G UK. They have no fixed maturity date and are not
callable,

The ATI notes will be irrevocably written-down in the event
that the CETI capital ratio of the company or the GSG UK
Group Falls below 7%,

Druring 2023, the company repurchased and cancelled 5280
ballion of its ATI notes at their Fair value of $2.27 billion. The
difference between the camrving value and fair value of these
repurchased notes of 5527 million was recognised in retained
camings.

In addition, the company paid interest of 5643 million for 2023
and 8749 million for 2022, on its ATI| notes, which was
recognised directly in retained earnings. The associated nax
effect was recopnised n incoms 1ax expense,

Mote 24.
Dividends and Distributions

During 2023, the company paid cash dividends of $1.68 billion
1o GiSGe LR

= 5655 million on May 31, 2023, representing $1.09 per share.

+ 51.03 billion on Movember 30, 2023, representing 51.72 per
share,

In addition, dwuring 2023, the company made a non-cash
distribution of £1,42 billion 10 GSG UK, for the consideration it
received from the tramsfer of s UK. asset management
business.

Mo cosh dividends were paid and no distributions were macde
fior 2022,
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Mabe 25,
Statement of CGash Flows Reconciliations

The table below presents the company's cash and cash
equivalents, net of overdrafis for the purpose of the statemient
of cash flows. Overdrafis have been included as they are a part
of the company’s cash management,
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Reconciliation of Cash Flows From Financing
Activities Excluding Lease Liabilities

The company inchedes MREL-eligible borrowings as financing
sctivity for the purposes of its statement of cash flows, which
consists of its ATl notes, subordinated loans and MREL-
eligible intercompany loans. Both the principal and interest
related to these borrowings is classified as financing activity.
The table below presemts 3 reconcilistion of cash flows fram

A of Duoterites financing activities excluding lease liabilities.
3 i millors 2023 ]
‘Cash and cash equimbets 5 15889 5 1,000 Subardinued lbans
Cveetirants {560 Note 20} a7 {68 and MREL-pligitie
Jord 3 35452 5 1IR3 $in mllics intorcompany loang __ AT1 s Ttal
A of December 2021 § e § 8300 % 1502
In the table above, cash and cash equivalents included cash that Repaymentiepurchase (1,500 - (1.500)
is resiricted for use by the company of §2.23 billion as of v 2 - e
December 2023 and 52,82 billion as of December 2022, et puticd {683} (74a) [1.443)
Cothae — — —
Reconciliation of Cash Flows From Operating A of Docerier 2022 FERI] 0300 A8
Activities Repaymentmepurchase - (2,273 [FE2]]
The wfl:nle belcuf- presents o reconcilistion of cash Mows from' Ep—— :# g43 ;.';:
(used in) operating activities. Iribintne puaied 1,823) {24 ]] (2268
Oithaye - (527] (327
Your Ended Doosmber As of Decembar 2023 § EHH [ E.Lﬁﬂ 5 e ik

4 iy il 2023 s
Profi balony tachton §  S0BE 5 4074
Adjustmants for
Degwecation and amorisation (see Nole §) 264 288
Loss on disposal of intangitée nssats 2 -
Chspal{oradil) for dafingGd bl plan | pes Mot 15] 1 14
Formign eachhngh keans!|gairs) {1.5686) 5243
Shang-tarsd compimation dapanss D6 i ¥
Prroviniong (e Nobe 21) - B
Inferst on subcrdinated loans and MAEL -ligible
IniBrcompany Kans 1,657 e
LoRSa/[aing] on inwisimanis [Fd1] B
Qi eolabgd b3 idedfor of LLE. Bl managimidl
Ensirprs {1424 —
Cash g barfore TS N O g Aasets
el linbilies. I,E'I 'I'I.ﬂ:l-_l_
Changes in operating assets
o [incroass] in colitamlsnd by ! [27021) LS
D " nd ot el 6,079 1168
Dicrgddallindranie) n redng isats A AL (130570
Decreass in loans &R 178
Mmﬂu} i pthier assets [141) Ba7
Changes in operalng nssets 23413 [100,561)
Changes in operating labilitios
i i ol d Frsecirgs 90,741 [T9.804)
Jin v ol puryab 42118 18,8000
in trading {106,703 14530
Ircreasa/[decmase] in unseoured bormowings 12,178 [1,540)
Docrease in ot Anblites (756] [578)
el i Op i It [EEH] &7, 709
Cash ] in aligng §_ITHETR § (3.7I)

In the table above:

# Cash generated from'(used in) operations included interest
paid of $23.11 billion for 2023 and $8.3% hillion for 2022
{comparitives have been restated 1o update interest paid for
2022), and interest received of $22.22 billion for 2023 and
5757 billion for 2022,

* Foreign exchange losses/{gains) primarily relate io ithe non-
cash revaluation of British pounds and Eure cash balances,
primarily held in cemtral banks for liquidity management
purposes.  The revaluation of cash balances and other
monetary assets and liabilities is recognised in profit before
raxation,

73

In the table above, other relates o the difference between the
carrving value and fair value of the S2.80 billion of AT notes
that the company repurchassd during 2023,

Hote 26.

Financial Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments
The table below presents commitmemls,

As of Decomber
§ in maliong 2023 0z
Colalraliid dgrements 3 M 5 1Teese
Colalsralised francings 48173 Ta 0
Dithar 2372 4821
Todal 5182141 5 15 BER

Collateralised  agreements commitments  includes  forward
starting resale and securitics borrowing  agrecments, and
collateralised  financings  commitmems includes  Forward
starting repurchase and secured lending agreements that settle
at a futwre date, generally within three business  days.
Collateralised  agreements  commitments  also  include
transactions where the company has entered into commitments
1o provide contingent financing 1o its cliems and counterparties
through resale agreements. The company's funding of these
commitments depends on the satisfaction of all contractual
conditions to the resale agreement and these commitments can
expire unused,

Crher commitments primarily relate w collateral, underwriting
and lending commitments as of December 2023 and collateral
and lending commitments as of December 2022,

In additien, there are registered charges on the company®s
assets which have arisen in the ordinary course of business,
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Legal Proceedings

The company is involved in a number of judicial, regulatory
and arbitration proceedings (incleding those described below)
conceming matlers arising in connection with the conduct of
the company’s business. Except as noted in the first matter
below, it is not practicable to reliably estimate the possible
financial impact in excess of provisions, if any, of these
proceedings on the company,

Banco Espirite Sante 5.A. and Oak Finance. In
December 2014, September 20015 and December 2015, the
Bank of Portugal {BoP) rendered decisions 1o reverse an earlier
transfer to Movo Banco of an 5835 million facility agreement
(the Facility), structured by the company, between Oak Finance
Luxembourg S.A. (Oak Finance), a special purpose vehicle
formed in connection with the Facility, and Banco Espiritoe
Santo S.A. (BES) prior to the failure of BES. In response, the
company and, with respect to the BoP's December 2015
decision, Goldman Sachs International Bank commenced
actions beginning in February 2015 against Novo Banco S.A,
(Movo Banco) in the English Commercial Court and the BoP in
Portuguese Administrative Court. In July 2018, the English
Supreme Court found that the English couris will net have
jurisdiction over the company’s action unless and until the
Poruguese Administrative Count finds against BoP in the
company’s parallel action. In July 2018, the Liguidation
Comminee for BES issued a decision secking to claw back
from the company 554 million paid 1o the company and 350
million allegedly paid 1o Oak Finance in connection with the
Facility, alleging that the company acted in bad faith in
extending  the Facility, including because the company
allegedly knew that BES was at risk of imminent Failure. In
October 2008, the company commenced an action in Lishon
Commereinl Court challenging the Liquidation Committee’s
decision and has since also issued a claim against the
Portuguese  State  seeking  compensation  for  losses  of
approximately 5222 million related w the failure of BES,
together with a contingent ¢laim for the S104 million sought by
the Liguidation Committee. On April 11, 2023, GSI
commenced administrative proceedings against the BoP,
secking the nullification of the BoP's September 2015 and
December 201 5 decisions on new grounds,

74
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Imterest Rate Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company is
among the defendants named in a putative amiinsi class action
relating to the wrading of imerest rae swaps, filed in November
20015 and consolidated in the U5, District Court for the
Southern District of NMew York. The company is also among the
defendants named in two antitrust actions relating 1o the trading
of interest rate swaps, commenced in April 2006 and Jung
201 8, respectively, in the US. Disrict Court for the Southern
Dristrict of New York by three operators of swap execution
facilities and certain of their affiliates. These actions have been
consolidated for pretrial proceedings. The complaints generally
assert claims under federal antitrust law and state common law
in connection with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants
to preclude exchange trading of interest rate swaps. The
complaints in the individeal actions also assert claims under
state antitrust law, The complaints seek  declarmtory  anmd
injunctive relief, as well as treble damages in an unspecified
amount. Defendants moved to dismiss the class and the first
individual action and the district court dismissed the state
common kaw <laims asserted by the plaingiffs in the first
individual action and otherwise limited the state common law
claim in the putative class action and the antitrust claims in
both actions to the period from 2013 to 2016, On Movember 20,
2008, the court granted in part and denied in pan the
defendants’ motion 1o dismiss the second individual action,
dismissing the state common law claims for unjust enrichment
and tortious interference, but denying dismissal of the federal
and state antitrust claims. On March 13, 2009, the court denied
the plaintiffs® modion in the putative class action 1o amend their
complaint to sdd allegations related to conduct from 2008 to
2012, but granted the motion to add limited allegations from
20013 to 20016, which the plaintiffs added in a fourth
consalidated amended complaint filed on March 22, 2019, On
[December 15, 2023, the court densed the plaintiffs’ motion for
class certification, and on December 28, 2023, the plaintiffs
filed a petition with the U5, Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit secking interlocutory review of the district court’s
denial of ¢lass cemification.
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Commoedities-Related Litigation. The company is among
the defendants mamed in putative class actions relating 1o
rading in  platinum  and palladiem, fled beginning on
Movember 25, 2004 and most recently amended on May 15,
2017, in the LS. District Court for the Sewthem District of
Mew York. The amended complaint gencrally alleges that the
defendants violated federal antitrust laws and the Commodity
Exchange Act i connection with an alleged conspiracy 1o
manipulate a benchmark for physical platinum and palladium
prices and seek declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as
treble damages in an unspecified amount. On March 29, 2020,
the court granted the defendants” motions 10 dismiss and for
reconsiderstion, resulting in the dismissal of all claims, and on
February 27, 2023, the U.S, Court of Appeals for the Second
Circuit reversed the district court’s dismissal of cerain
plainiiffs" antitrust claims and vacated the disirict count’s
dismizsal of the plaintiffs’ Commodity Exchange At claim, Cn
April 12, 2023, the defendants’ petition for rehearing or
rehearing en banc with the U5, Count of Appeals for the
Second Circuit was denied. On July 21, 2023, the defendants
filed a motkon for judgment on the pleadings,

The company is among the defendants in a number of putaiive
class and imdividual actions filed beginning on August 1, 2003
and consolidated in the US. District Court for the Southern
District of Mew York. The complaints generally  allege
violations of federal antitrust laws and state laws in connection
with the storage of aluminium and aluminium rading, The
complaints seek declaratory, injunctive and ether equitable
relief, as well as unspecified monetary damages, including
treble damages. In December 2016, the district court granted
defendants” motions to dismiss and on August 27, 2019, the
Second Circuit vacated the disiier coun’s dismissals and
remanded the case to district court for further proceedings. On
July 23, 2020, the district court denied the class plaintiffs’
motion for class certification, and on December 16, 2020 the
Second Circuit denied leave o appeal the denial, On February
17, 2021, the district court granted defendants’ motion for
summary judgment with respect to the claims of most of the
individual plaintiffs, and on November 1, 2023, the U.S. Court
of Appeals for the Second Circuit affirmed the district count’s
Judgment. On May 31, 2022, the two remaining individual
plaintiffs entered into a settlement with the defendams. The
company has paid the full amount of its contribution to the
settlement,
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Credit Default Swap Antitrust Litigation. The company is
amaong the defendants named in a patative antitrust class action
relating io the setilement of credin default swaps, filed on June
30, 2021 in the LLS. District Count for the District of New
Mexico. The complaint generally asserts claims under federal
antitrust law and the Commodity Exchange Act in connection
with an alleged conspiracy among the defendants to manipulate
the benchmark price used to value credn default swaps for
setllement. The complaint also asserts a cluim for unjust
enrichment under state common law. The complaint sceks
declaratory and injunctive relief, as well as unspecified
amounts of treble and other damages, On November 15, 2021,
the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the complaint, On
February 4, 2022, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint and
voluntarily dismissed Group Inc. from the action. On June 5,
2023, the court dismissed the claims against cerain foreign
defendants for lack of personal jurisdiction but denied the
defendants” motion to dismiss with respect to Goldman Sachs
& Co. LLC, the company and the remaining defendants. On
Jamusary 24, 2024, the court granted the defendants’ motion to
stay the proceedings pending the resolution of the motion filed
by the defendants on Movember 3, 2023 in the US. District
Court for the Southern District of Mew York to enforce a 2015
setilement and release among the parties. On January 26, 2024,
the L5, District Coun for the Southern District of MNew York
granted the defendants’ motion 1o enforce the senlement and
release and enjoined the plaintiffs from pursuing any claims
against the defendants in the MNew Mexico action for amy
alleged violation of law based on conduct before June 30, 2014,
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Regulatory Investigations and Reviews and Related
Litigation. Group Inc. and certain of its affiliates, including
the company, are subject 10 a number of other invesiigations
and reviews by, and in some cases have received subpoenas
and requests for documents and information from. various
governmental and  regulatory  bodies and  self-regulatory
organisations and litigation relating to various maiters relating
o G5 Group's businesses and operations, including:

* The securities offering process and underwriting practices;
* Investment management and financial advisory services:
» Conflicts of interest:

* Transactions invelving government-related financings  and
other matters;

* The offering, auction, sales, wrading and clearance of
corporate and government securities, currencies, commadities
and other financial products and related sales and other
communications and activitics, as well as GS% Group's
supervision and controls relating o such activities. including
compliance with applicable short sale rules, algorithmic,
high=frequency and quantitative trading, futures trading.
options  trading. when-issued  trading, transaction  and
regulatory  reporting,  technology  systems and  controls,
sgcurities  lending  practices, prime  brokerage  activities,
trading and clearance of credit derivatives and interest rate
swaps, commodities activities and metals storage, private
pacement practices, allocations of and trading in securities,
and trading activities and communications in conmection with
the establishment of benchmark rates, such as currency rates:

Compliance with the LK. Bribery Act and the U5, Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act;

* Hiring and compensation practices;

System of risk management and controls; and

Insider trading, the potential misuse and dissemination of
material non-public information regarding corporate and
governmental developments and the effectiveness of nsider
trading contrels and information barriers.

In addition, investigations, reviews and litigation involving the
company’s  affilianes and  such  affilises” businesses  and
operttions, imcluding various matters referred to above but also
other matters, may have an impact on the company’s businesses
and operations,
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Hote 27,
Maturity of Assets and Liabilities

The table below presents the expected maturity of the
company s assets and liabilities.

3 in mlions Mor-garmant Gunmanl Total
A5 of December 2023

Assets

Cash and cash squivaking 1 — § 35689 § 15639
Colaloraliad sghvamants 1,240 B BER AT
Customae s o diopovaliing - THEEE Tiaa
Trading ssssts - p.ri re
Isestments o] -— it
Lodwres. 152 2 174
Cther sesets 1,410 1,906 1338
Total sisets 8 3700 § 1700455 § 1poa888
Liabsiitien

Colatpralied francrgs k] S5.E25 F 160331 3 154TE
Customar and offer papables - 118301 1182301
Trading Eabdios - TITEG TITE0
Unsecured bormrowings 71,100 19,167 0267
Cther Rntddics 1,128 3,754 43383
Tedal linbili 12T 1 11

&8, of Dceenbete 2022

Anpals

Cash and cash squivalants: £ - % 1T 5 11707
Colaloralised agreements 1,200 it aiy- ]
Gustomer and ofher meosivaties - T8 95T TE.SET
Trading masets - ET2E10 ETZE0
Irraativiniti 20 1" s
Lecuiures. i) F Fred
Cthar assets 1.251 2008 pin ]
Total nssots H 2840 5§ 1200101 5 120041
Liabaties

Colalnrsed fnancngs - ms 5 85214 § 124735
Custormus foed Ol (uinrabd = 1105ES 11053
Trating kel S — 4313 41T
Unsacuned bomowings 56,160 MOES Th.S
Gthaer nbitios 1.7 ) o o
Total Rabditaes S 95708 £ VOSSO £ 1 1E0ER
In the table above:

« Curremt assets and liabilities  include amounts that the
company expects 1o realise or settle in its normal operating
cvele and mcludes assets and habilitees held for trading
purposes and cash and cash equivalents.

* Mon-current assets are amounts that the company expects to
be recoversd after more than twelve months and primarily
inchedes certain collmeralised agreements, substantially all
investments, certain loans, intangible assets, deferred fax
assets, pension surples and certain intercompany loans,

« Mon-current liabilities are amounts tha the company expects
e be settled after more than twelve months and primarily
includes collateralised financings and unsecured bomowings
with contractual maturities greater than one vear, with the
exception of comracts that have rigger events thal are not in
the contral of the company, which are clussified as current.
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Mobe 28.
Related Party Disclosures

Parties are considered to be related if one party hos the ability
to directly or indirectly control the other party or exercise
significant infleence over the party in making financial or
operational decisions, The company”s related parties inclisde:

* The company s parent entities:
= (her GS Group affiliates;
* Key management personngl of the company;

» Kev management personnel of the company's parent entities;
amd

* (nther related parties, which includes the company™s defined
bemelit scheme and associates of GS Group,

key management personnel are defined as those persons having
authority and  responsibility  for  planning, directing  and
controlling the activities of the company. Key managemient
personnel of the company inclede the directors of the company.
members of the EMC who are emplovees of the company and
members of senior management who are  designated as
managers under the PRA and FCA's Senior Managers and
Certification Regime.

Key Management Compensation

The table below presents the compensation paid or pavable by
the company for emplovee services to key management
persannel of the company and iis parent entities,

it Exrechind DZambsar
5 iry il 2023 202
Salarii and othor shor-seem banibty [] 148 5 158
Prost-amploymant banelits 1 2
Share-based compensation 162 L1
Total 3 J-E 5 ﬁ

In the table above:

+ Salaries and other short-term benefits includes foes paid 1o the
non-gxecutive directors of the company,

+ Share-based compensation included a charge of $72 million
for 2023 and a credit of 511 million for 2022 representing
changes in the fair valee of share-based payment awards
recharged from Group Inc, during the vear.
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Directors’ Emolumeants.

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, directors’
emoluments represent the proportion of total emoluments paid
of pavable in respect of qualifving serviees only. This total only
includes the value of cash and benefits in kind, and does not
include the value of equity awards in accordance with the
provisions of Schedule 5 of the Statutory  Instruments
2008410, Directors also receive  emoluments  for  non-
qualifving serviees which are nod required to be disclosed,

The iable below presents the company’s direciors” emolumenis,

Yoar Ended December
5 i malhovs 2023 2022
Aggrogits drlumants ] TS T
Compainy ponscn conitations 1 Moy
pwchass schames — —
Todal 5 T 5 i

The table below presents emeluments for the highest paid
company s director.

Year Ended Docembar
5 in mallions 2023 2t
Agoregaie emolumenis E 135 3
COMTTY PR DRSS 8 iy
prrchucs) schamas ] — 5 —
A anousl pensisn ot and of the year ] — & —

Twa directors were members of a defined contribution pension
scheme and one director was a member of both a defined
contribution pension scheme and a defined benefit pension
scheme for 2023 (2022 two directors were members of a
defined contribution pension scheme and two directors were
members of both a defined contribution pension scheme and a
defined benefit pension scheme). Three directors including the
highest paid director for 2023 (2022 four directors including
the highest paid director) have received or are due 1o receive
Group Inc, shares in respect of long=term incentive schemes,

The aggregate emoluments of the ning non-gxecutive directors
fisr 2023 (2022 seven non-executive directors) who were
members of the Board for all or pan of 2023 was
approximately 514 million {for all or part of 2022:
approximately $1.9 million), Additional engoing fees in respect
of advisary services provided by cerain  non-executive
directors was approximately $0.2 million for 2023 (2022:
approximately $2.2 million).
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Transactions with Related Parties
The company’s transactions with related parties primarily
include the following.

Risk Management and Market-Making Activity

The company routinely enters ino derivatives and buys and
sells  securities and loans with relaed paries for risk
management  and market-making  purposes,  which  are
recognised in trading assets and trading liabilities.

The table below presents the company s outstanding derivatives
with related parties, substantially all of which are with other GS
Group affiliates, The change in derivative assets and derivative
liabilities s driven by new trades, terminations, expiries and
gains or losses, including any associated cash flows,

Darvatror Dhrivatood

3 i milicrs ausals abdtas
Ax of December 2023 $ AT 5§ 490,223
A5 of December 2022 § S25350 5§ 582,060
g ol 1Dk o 2021 S 435171 § 434577
Duszivrnbsar F0ED wistiark. Dupcnmis 2022 3 (TEB43) 5§ (91835
D bt G visiiark D 2021 3 149065 § 147483

The 1able below presents the company”s groas outstanding buys
and sells of regular-way securities and loans from'to other G5
Group affilistes.

A of Decambar
& i millioms FLFR] Fiire]
Ouistarading requinrwary buys of secunbes and loars. § 11483 § 5607
Ouistarsing raguinrwvay sells of seounibies and loasns  § 10927 £ 10,046

The company also holds securitics in, and makes corposate
loans to other G5 Group affiliates, which are classified in
trading assets, The company also exchanges cash and securily
collateral in connection with derivative transactions. Cash
collateral received is recognised in customer and other
payables, Cash collateral paid is recognised in customer and
other receivables, The company posted security collateral 1o
related parties of $13.00 billion as of December 2023 and
S16.32 billion as of December 2022,

In addition, the company alse executes and mtermediates listed
derivatives with other GS Group affiliates, resulting in the
exchange of margin, which is recognised in customer and other
receivables and customer and other pavables,

The company has also received securitics of 5121 million as of
December 2023 and 5144 million as of December 2022 from a
subsidiary under a securities lending agreement.

Funding Activity

The company rowtinely enters into collateralised agreements
and collaternlised financings with G5 Group affiliates,
primarily to source securities and fund inventory on a secured
basis,

In addition, a significant portion of the company’s unsecured
borrowings is from G5 Group affiliates, including the
company’s AT1 notes issued 1o GSG UK. See Notes 20 and 23
fior further details. The company has alse made loans to certain
G5 Group affiliates, See Mote 14 for further details.
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Interest-bearing instruments are typically priced based on the
term, currency, sire, subordination and whether the instrument
is secured or unsecured.

Cash Management Services

The company receives cash management services from other
G5 Group affilistes and places cash deposits with them in the
normal course of business which is recognised in cash and cash
equivalemts,

Commitments and Guarantees
The table below presents the company's commilments with
other G5 Group affiliates,

A of Dacimbnr
3 in milions 2023 2022
Colataralised agramants % 10348 3 EDTE
Colalealsed francrgs 36,514 2
Cothar _ s =
Todnal 5 1%1 5 121.44.&

Cdher commitments relate to an underwriting commitment as of
December 2023,

The company has received a guarantee from Group Inc. related
to transactions entered into with certain of its counterparties for
up 1o 58 billion of exposure @ defaul. During 3023, the
guarantee was unutilised. During 2022, up to 58 billion of
exposure at default was guaranteed, redecing to Snil as of
December 2022,

Transfer Pricing and Management Charges

The company participates in the allocation of net revenues
among G5 Group affiliates for their involvement in GS
Group's business activities, In addition, the company incurs/
receives management charges to'ffrom GS Group affiliates
relating to  operational and administrative support  and
MATEAZENENE Services.

Taxation

The company receives group relielf from other GS Group
allfilimes, The company received tax-effected losses from other
GS Group affilistes of 5231 millien for 2023 and 5124 million
fior 2022 for which consideration will be paid in full.

Share-Based Payments

The company has entered into a chargeback agreement with
Group Ine, under which it is committed 1o pay 1o Groap Inc. (a)
the grant-date fair value of those awards and (h) subsegquent
movements in the fair value of those awards between the grant
date and wltimate delivery to employees (subsequent to the
vesting date). See Motes 7 and 8 for furiher information.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Certain key management personnel and their close family
members have brokerage and'or discretionary sccounts at the
company. They are provided services in the ordinary course of
business on commercial terms, and in each case in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations,
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Close familv members of certain kev management personnel
are employved by the company. The amount of compensation
paid to the family members was determined in accordance with
the company’s standard compensation practices applicable 1o
similarly-situsted employees.

Transfer of UK. Asset Management Business

On April 1, 2023, the company transferred its UK. asset
management business to GSAMI, GS Group’s primary LK.
assel management entity. As consideration for the transfer, the
company received a non-controlling interest in GSAMI's
immediate parent undertaking, which the company measured at
fair value through profit or loss. As a result, the company
recognised a net gain of 51.42 billion in net revenues for 2023,
This net gain comprised a gain of S1.57 billion equivalent 1o
the fair value of this business on transfer, partially offset by o
loss of 5149 millisn recognised on revaluation of the
company's interest. The total consideration received by the
company was distributed in the fourth quarter of 2023 via a
non-cash distribution, As such, there was no change in the
company’s  shareholder's equity a5 of December 2023,
compared with December 2022,

Related Party Assets and Liabilities
The table below presents the company’s assets and liabilities
with related parties,

Othir Dtk

Parent G5 Goup  reladed
& iny e anlizes  alflisds.  partes Tostal
As of Decambar 2023
Apsris
Cash and cash equimbents § =§ 138 § = § 1358
Collatembsid SFOOMENS = 187,763 = 187,769
Cuslomar and othar PeCevabies 148 15459 " 15,618
Temdig axasts 2048 514404 —  $8.452
Irrryirrery - ] - 7o
Loans - - - -
Other assets 263 1 - 1
Tobtsl xssels 5 2459 TZDB4T 5 11 JAT
Linbilitees.
Collptmbsnd Enancings 13 — § 148582 § — 5143537
Carilmar and cthar payabie 100 31,535 — HE¥E
Trisding liskultiors 929 &BRITO 1 80310
Urmacussd bomowings 32084 ar2er — 25,541
Other lisbibtes 1,930 1,530 - LI
Toksl Eabiliies GRE 5 11 G548
A5 ol Dogembar 2007
Asdeln
Caih and cash aqui bt 5 — § 11 5 — &5 m
Coilatiraksid Sgroonmpnts —  1600ES — 168043
Customar and cther receivabiles 1] 18,67 = 16,854
Trading assets .5 L] 473 852,770
Errvniatmeents - 168 - 168
Liars — = - —
Hhor asiats G 1675 - 1034
Total sty § 2o § TR1AMD §  4X) STH4TI
Liabilitees.
Collateralssd fnancings 5 - & 2108 £ - & B2 08
Casstomar and other paymibles 1,137 2480 353 2,435
Temdaeg ikt B 581281 B 52209
Urriicativd borrawings 603 14445 — 45048
Hhor ligbiktiey .04 1360 e hAl
Tolal latelos S5T) 5 TOA00N 5 404 75088
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Related Party Income and Expense
The table below presents the company's income and expenses
related 1o transactions with related parties other than Key

Management Personnel,

Citsr  Othar
Parprl G5 Group  neladed

& i mlang enlbes affiiates  pares Total
Year Enched Docomber 3023
Ml Fivinises
IFrM T el § 0§ BEM § — § 3304
Iribistinsd g el (2234 {11.408) —  (13E4
Transhsr pricing nivenei - 350 - e
Othar income ] 1% — %
Todal nat revenues % [1.964) § Eﬂi - & [4.1E7)
Het cperating exponses
Transnction based soperses 5 o | e 5 = 8
Manggemant chargas fom

G5 oo AifElatns — 1,140 — 1040
Mansgrent chans 1

G5 Group atliates (L1 (35 - (39
Dther exponses 1 575 - 578
Todal net operating oxpenses 5 |35 1618 § = 5§ 1815
Yoar Ended Dopamber 2022
Mk Fir i Nisid
It incorey § 15 205 5 15 2984
Iribisfivsd B p i (1.045) (30400 4 (408
Transber pricing revenuss 5 B — 553
Tmmmrnvun_u 5 |§1!]S [T E;s ['96_21
Het cperating expanses
Transncton based saes 5 =5 305 5 — § 08
Manugemsnt chargas kom

G5 Gean AitElatns — 1080 — 1.090
Management chanes 1

G5 Geoup a¥ilates ] 411 - [181)
mmm ar T4 = 211
TBHIMEE' N S 5 34 5 1& 5 — 5 1?'&

In the table above, transaction based expenses and other
expenses primarily include IFRS 15 expenses,
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Mote 29,
Financial Instruments

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category
The tables below present the camrying value of company’s
financial assets and liabilities by category.

Financial Assets
Mandatonly  Arsorised

& i s al fak vadus cosl Tatal
An ol Dectrnbrar 2023

Crsh and Gash equimbenis ] — & &9 5 568
Coilaleraksed agrosments 130885 113508 ForA b
Casiomar and othar recevables - Tzama 72,888
Temding ansets HZE BB - 823,382
Ln ] T - a9
Lo 174 — 174
Dther assets 147 a4 AL
Tokal 5 BGTREY 5 FM9 § 1002380
g ol Decambar 2002

Cash and cash squivakeris £ - % 1T &5 1,700
Collatmbsid SOLTHRIS 151,738 B4.057 225,796
Cuslomar and cthar eChivables - TES5ET TR.96T
Teisdirsg vty AT2E10 —_ ATLAID
Irreifreerts =0 - 280
Loans s - Frrs
Ohor assets 155 1,507 2,053
Total 5 1,EBZI? 5 1TEEES E 'I.?‘D'IIB-TS

Financial Liabdites
Hoid for Designated  Amorised

& iy millicres Irasfing a1t walug ! Total
An af Decembar 2023

Collataralssd Snancings H — § 104784 S108682 5 MaTE
Customar and othar paymbles. - = 118,201 115201
'I'rldrqm TITHID = -— TI7.690
Ursspcurid bomowings - 54,935 35,3 90,267
Hhar lakakt. — — 4,254 4,234
Tatal TITE10 % 161,730 5263456 31163788
ol Descarmbar 20EE

Collaterbsed Snancings H — § TG 5 4786 5 1MTMS
Customar and othar paymbles -_— - 110,883 110,583
Trnding liatsktios B4 313 = - B44.393
Ursspcurad bomowangs = 40,247 35,958 TE205
Ohar ks — — 4,198 4.198
Todal Shid 313 § 117788 S 10BA RS §1 160,434
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Interest Rate Banchmarks Subject to Reform

As of Julv |, 2023, the publication of all London Interbank
Offered Rate (LIBOR} settings as representative rates has
cemsed. The FCA has allowed the publication and use of
swnthetic rates for cerain GBP LIBOR settings in legacy GBP
LIBOR-based contracts through March 2024 and for 3 month
USD LIBOR settings in legacy USD LIBOR-based contracts
through September 2024,

The table below presents the company’s exposure to interest
rate benchmarks subject to reform.

Han-dafain [Non-darratean Dopriviiton
§in mallicvng firancial assats financil knbdites  noticral amount
As of Decembaer 2023
USD LIBOR ] 94 % 194 % -
GEP LIBOR % - —_
Dthar _E = Ll
Todal ] 128 § 158 § £15151
A5 of Dot 2022
USD LIBOR 5 B36 § 2501 § 58410
GEP LIBOR 7 — —
Oithaye - H 212630
Ttal £ [CFIE] 2008 § [TAFLT
In the table above:

+ Mon-derivative financial assets comprise of trading cash
instruments, loans and collateralised agreements. Non-
derivative fnancial labilities comprise of trading cash
instruments,  collateralised  financings  and  unsecured
bormowings.

# Derivative notionals excludes amounts for which fallbacks
apply, of amounts for which all future cashilows have already
been fixed, as the company has no ongoing 1BOR exposure
related to these transactions.

« Derivative notionals with exposure to other interest rate
benchmarks subject 1o reform primarily consisis of exposure
e the Canadian Dollar Offered Rate (CDOR), Singapore
Dollar Cdfer Swap Rate (SOR). Johannesburg Interbamnk
Average Rate (JIBAR), Warsaw Interbank Offered Rate
(WIBOR) and Tel Aviv Interbank Offer Rate (TELBOR) as
of both December 2023 and December 2022,
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The tables below present financial assets and liabilities that ane
subject 1o enforceable neiting agreements and  offseiting.
Amounts are only offset in the balance sheet when the company
currently has a legally enforceable right 1o set-off the
recognised amounts and an intention either to settle on a net
basis, or o realise the asset and senle the liability
simultanesusly, In the tables below:

v Gross amounts exclude the effects of both counterparty
netting and collateral, and therefore are not representative of
the company 's eConamic exposure.

» Amounts ot offset in the balance sheet mclude counterparty
netting (i.e.. the netting of financial assets and liobilities for o
given counterparty when a legal right of sei-off exists under
an enforceable netting agreement), and cash and security
collateral received and posted under enforceable credit
support agreements, that do not meet the criteria for offsctting
under IFRS.
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= Where the company has received or posted collmeral under
credit support agreements, but has net yet determined whether
such agreements are enforceable, the related collateral has not
been included in the amounts not offset in the balance sheet.

= (iross amounts for the company included derivative assets of
$3.83 billion and derivative Rabilities of 34,13 billion as of
December 2023 and derivative assets of 5382 billion and
derivative liabilities of $5.16 billion as of December 2022
which are not subject to an enforceable netting agreement or
are subject to a neting agreement that the company has not
yet determined 10 be enforceable,

*

Substantially all resale agreements and securities borrovwed
within collateralised agreements and repurchase agreements
and securities loaned within collateralised fnancings are
subject 1o enforceable nening agreements as of both
December 2023 and December 2022,

Asnoiunts nol oiisat in T balance shaol

Amgunts Ml amount
cffsal in the  prosented in

Greds 1 builk Ci ety Cash Sacurity L
& in millicns shaet shool nating collaterml amaunt
&g of December 2023
Finamcisl aadets
Collptpmbsnd Saampnt §  ETE0 § (1249030 % JERET § (95,083} § (113 §  [185128) § 2,514
L& driall G villag 1,084 {30,182} (=R s {7432} {75600 [13,3348) 12,572
Trading cash instrumants 18510 {LFi) 1.1 (1.481) [RX-10] 15.993) 1045
Drivatives TS5 0966 ER5.T00 529,832 S0 178 15,085
Trnding assets T24,5T6 {17,677} TOE299 634,423} (40,574 [14,772) 20,130
Loans n"7 - 17 - - 17y -
Dthar Assety 1955 {1.426) prs ] {93p - _ 436
Francial asanls subjsst I b 1005542 (1T42TH) 1031 T34,011) (6 24E) 193,355y 35852
Firanacial assats fol subjsct 1o anforaabls natting soreaments 1118 — T8 — = — 1118
LT 3IOTERM (TN S AHOI80 § (TAA01)E (EAIE)  (183.344) & J0RTER
Finartisl Kabillies
Coilitinksid Snancags $ METEY § (1250160 % BATAT § (U000 § (RIH S (03096 §  23M
L& el e Bl 13470 {30,207} 105.51% {7432} (40 EBE) (29,4040} Ir.ei1
Tradieg cash natrumants - - - - - - -
Dorivatives .80 {B.841) [ Tl 0] 6T B86) [25.263) {3.828) 14683
Trmting liabikties 21,801 {9,841} B71.860 627,986} (25,263 {3,928) 14,683
Ursecund bomowings 14,540 {9,066) 5AT4 (2,400} =5 - 2,558
Dthir liskikit 659 [l & {93) - _ 528
Francial kb BBiee b anl [sly PRTNG BY 1161499 {174,278} TN 734,011) (B 24E) (138,514 4B 450
Firincial kabiities nol duledt b anforcaable [ 1744987 — 1TE.EEY — — — 1TE.56T
Total finarcial Rabilities § 10v0es § (1T4ITH S LIERTEE § (T30} F (GBI §  (136.514) §  3a4017
g ol Dooember S0G7
Finarcisl a448ts
Collptiraksid SEaaminnte § 0335 5 (MS45M) S TR 5 (40800 5 (450} §  (183.889) § 1677
o aniadl e villog a3 184 (24,701 k) {3.808) [ lar ] 15,0600 10510
Trading cash instrumants 15578 {7037 9.9k {38100 [T42) 14,073) 1214
Dorvatives 513 {13.478) 0031 (T28,463) (0 ET) (10, 183 20,060
Trndirg aasets 530,836 {20,516) B10.330 (733,373) (41,417 [14,256) 21,274
Lodrs 18 - 118 - - 04y 17
Dithir aspats 2407 {1.075) 437 {88} — — 344
Francial assals subject o ek raaiting S 1511887 (200811 11100EE (L SR [F (304, 185) L]

Francial assats nol su 1o snforosabis 511G - S1.815 - -— - 1018
Totnl Snancal assets £ 1400685 5 1201&1“5 1Z0VETS S (TET 14T} S (B0FSw) £ [208.105) 5 125641

Finartisd Eabil lies
Collativakand Enancngs 5 M40 5§ (1545630 %5 MIEET 5§ (MBS E (183X 5 (BONID) S 1,800
[ anaf clher payables 110,735 (24 452) BRI (3.688) (418ET) (. 585) 2H.055
Trading cash nstrumants — - - — - — -
Dorvatives B01.438 {13,816) TET B15 (730,866) (35 52 2.2048) 17618
Trndiryg habiktes B01,435 {13,816) TET.519 (730,B66) (36,925 (2,208) 17,618
Urchacunid bomowings 13791 8.822) 456559 2.362) (1855) - 2441
Char kit TE4 {158} S 188} - — 508
Firtaarcial lal iakiject i ek b reeing o) 1204155 (200811 1Dk (TAT 4T (0B (8. 892) 51413
Firancial kabdities nol subject i enforcaabls reting agreements 154 05 — 158 G - - — 1 5l (e
Total Snancal knbdites $ LMIHs 5 (MAINS 118040 & (THTHAT) S (BOSSe) £ [BIHGY) § 209503

b
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Collateral Received and Pledged

The company receives cash and securitics {e.g., govemment
and agency obligations, cosporate debi securities, equity
securities) as collateral, primarily in connection with resale
agreements, securities borrowed, derivative transactions and
customer margin leans. The company obtains cash and
securities as collateral on an upfront or comingent basis for
derivatives and collpteralised agreements 10 reduce its credil
exposure to individual counterparties.

In many cases, the company is permitted 1o deliver or repledge
financial instruments received as collateral when entering into
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements,
primarily in connection with secured client financing activity.
The company is also permitted o deliver or repledge these
financial  instruments  in connection  with  other  secured
financings, collsteralised derivative transactions and meeting
company or customer scttlement requirements.

The company also pledges certain trading assets in connection
with repurchase agreements, securities lending agreements and
other secured financings 10 counterpartics who may or may not
hawve the right 1o deliver or repledge them,

The table below presemis financial instruments received as
collmeral that were available 10 be delivered or repledged, and
that were delivered or repledged.

As of Duarriteie
2 iy milorss 2023 2
Collaterl avniiable io be deltvered or repledged § 702807 § 710,386
Collaternl Sad was delvored or ragiedg 5 655098 5 632160

The table below presents information about assets pledged.

Aa of Duonmibes
5 irv milliorms 2023 plirr]
Pladged to counterpartses that had the reght 1o deliver or repledge
Trading assets 5 58352 5 10,708
ISty 5 %5 3
Pladged to counterparties that did nat have the right 1o deliver ar repledge
Trading ssets 5 HIM 5 NS
Imsnsiments. - 5 i3

The company has received cash collateral of 567.84 billion as
of December 2023 and $66.17 billion as of December 2022,
and posted cash collateral of $46.83 billion as of December
2025 and $52.74 billion as of December 2022, Amouns
received and posted are mainly in respect of trading assets and
trading liabilities.

B2
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Note 30,
Fair Value Measuremant

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amoun that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, Financial assets are marked 1o bid prices
and financial lisbilities are marked 1o offer prices, Fair valug
micasurements do not include transaction costs. The company
measures certain financial assets and liabilitics as a portfolio
(i.e., based on its net exposuse to market and'or credit risks),

IFRS has a three-level hierarchy for disclosure of fair value
measurernents. This hierarchy prioritises inputs to the valuation
techniques used 10 measure fair value, giving the highest
priority to level 1 inputs and the lowest priority o level 3
inputs. A financial instrument’s level in this hicrarchy is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant 1o s fair value
MEAsSUrermenl.

The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Lewvel 1. Inputs are unadjissted queted prices in active markets
to which the company had access at the measurement date for
identical, unrestricted assets o liabilities,

Level 2, Inputs 1o valuation techniques are observable, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3. One or more imputs to valution techniques are
significant and unobservable.

The fair values for substantially all of the company's financial
assets and labilities that are fair valued on a recurring basis arg
based on observable prices and inputs and are classified in
levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hicrarchy. Certain level 2 and
level 3 financial assets and liabilities may require valuation
adjustments that a market participant would require 1o amive at
fair value for fectors such as counterparty and the company s
and G5 Group's credit quality, funding nisk, transfer
restrictions,  liguidity and bid'offer spreads.  Valuation
adjustments are generally based on market evidence,
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Waluation Techniques and Significant Inputs

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
Valuation technigues and significant inputs for each level of the
fanir value hierarchy include:

Level 1

Level | instruments are valued wsing quoted prices for identical
unrestricted  instruments  in active markets. The company
defines active markets for equity instruments based on the
average daily trading volume both in absolute terms and
relative 1o the market capitalisation for the instrument. The
company defines active markets for debt instruments based on
both the average daily trading volume and the number of days
with trading activity.

Leval 2

Level 2 instruments can be wverified 1o quoted prices, recent
trading activity for identical or similar instruments, broker of
dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources with reasonable
levels of price transparency. Consideration is given to the
nature of the quotations (e.g.. indicative or firm} and the
relationship of recent market activity to the prices provided
from altemative pricing sources,

Valuation adjustments are typically made o level 2 instruments
(1) if the instrument is subject to transfer restrictions and’or (i)
for other premiums and liguidity discounts that a market
participant would require to arrive at fair value. Valuation
adjustments are generally based on market evidence,

Level 3

Level 3 instruments have one or more significant valuation
inpits et are fol observable, Absent evidence 1o the contrary,
level 3 instruments are imitially valued ot transaction price.
which is considered to be the best initial estimate of fair value.
Subsequently, the company uses other methodologies 1o
determing  fair value, which vary based on the type of
instrument, Valustion mputs and assumplions are changed
when corroborated by substamtive  observable  evidence,
including values realised on sales of financial asseis.

B3
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Valuation technigues of level 3 instruments vary by instrument,
but are generally based on discounied cash flow techniques.
The valuation techniques and the nature of significant inputs
used 1o determine the fair values of each type of level 3 trading
cash instrument, investments and loans are describod below:

« Mortgages and Other Asset-Backed Loans and
Securities. Significant inputs are penerally  determined
based on relative value analyses and include:

= Market vields implied by transactions of similar or related
asseds;

* Transaction prices in both the underlying collateral and
instruments with the same or similar underlving collateral;

« Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recovery assumptions it a default occurs; and

+ Timing of expected future cash Mows (duration) which, i
certain  cases, may  incorporate the impact of  other
unobservable inputs (e.g., prepayment speeds).

Corporate Debt Instruments, Government and
Agency Obligations and Loans. Significan inputs are
generally determined based on relative value analyses, which
incorporate comparisons both to prices of credit default swaps
that reference the same or similar underlying instrument or
entity and to other debt instruments for the same of similas
issuer for which observable prices or broker quotations are
available. Significant inputs include:

+ Market yiclds implied by transactions of similar or related
AssENS,

= Current levels and changes in markel indices, such as the
iTraxx and CDX (indices that track the performance of
conporate credit);

= Current performance of the borrower or loan collateral and
recavery assuniptions iF a defaull occurs;

+ Maturity and coupon profile of the instrument; and

« Market and transaction muliiples for corporane  debt
instruments with convertibility or panticipation options.

Equity Securities. Equity securilies consists of private
equity securitics. Recent third-party completed o pending
Iransactions (e.g. merger proposals, tender offers, debt
restructurings) are considered to be the best evidence for any
change in fair walue. When these are not available, the
following valuation methodelogies are used, as appropriate:

= Industry multiples and public comparables;
* Transactions in similar instruments; and

+ Discounted cash flow techniques.
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Derivatives. Derivatives may be wraded on an exchange
(exchange-traded) or they may be privately  negotiated
contracts, which are usually referred to as OTC derivatives.
Cenain of the company’s OTC dervatives are cleared and
settled through central clearing counterparties (OTC-cleared),
while others are bilateral contracts between bwo counterparics
(bilateral OTC),

The company’s level 2 and level 3 derivatives are valued using
derivative pricing medels (e.g.. discoumed cash Mlow models,
correlation models, and models that incorporate option pricing
methodologies, such as Monte Carlo simulations).  Price
transparency of derivatives can generally be characterised by
product type, as described below.,

+ Interest Rate. In gencral, the key inputs used to value
interest rate derivatives are transparent, even for most long-
dated conitracts. Interest rate swaps and options denominated
in the cumencies of leading industrialised nations are
characterised by high trading volumes and tight bid/offer
spreads, Inerest rte derivatives tha reference indices, such
as an inflation index, or the shape of the vield curve (e.g., 10-
vear swap rate vs, X-yvear swap rate) are more complex, but

the key inpats are generally observable,

Credit. Price transparency for credit default swaps, including
both single names and baskets of credits, varies by market
and underlying reference entity or obligation. Credit default
swaps that reference indices, large corporates and major
sovereigns generally exhibit the most price ransparency. For
credit default swaps with other underliers. price transparency
variecs based on credit rating, the cost of borrowing the
underlving reference obligations, and the availability of the
underlving reference obligations for delivery upon the default
of the issuer. Credit defult swaps that reference loans, asset-
backed securities and emerging market debt instruments tend
to have less price transparency than those that reference
corporate  bonds,  In addition, more  complex  credit
dervatives, such as those sensitive 1o the correlation between
two or more underlying reference obligations or to sccured
funding spreads, generally have less price transparency.

Currency. Prices for currency derivatives based on the
exchange rates of leading industrinlised nations. including
those with longer tenors, are generally transparent. The
primary  difference between the price transparency  of
developed and emerging markel curmency derivatives is that
emerging markels tend to be only observable for contracts
with shorter tenors.

Equity. Price transparency for equily derivatives varies by
market and underlier. Options on indices and the common
stock of corporates included in major equity indices exhibit
the mast price transparency. Equity derivatives generally
have observable markel prices, except for contracts with long
tenars or reference prices thit differ significantly from current
market prices. More complex equity derivatives, such as
those sensitive 1o the correlation between two or more
individual stocks, generally have less price transparency.
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Ligquidity is essential to the observability of all proeduct types.
If transaction wvolumes decline, previously transparent prices
and other inputs may become unobservable, Conversely, even
highly structured products may a1 tmes have trading volumes
large encugh to provide observability of prices and other
inputs.

Level 1

Level 1 derivatives include short-termn contracis for future
delivery of securities when the underlying security is a level |
instrument, and exchange-traded derivatives if they are actively
traded and are valeed a1 their quoted market price.

Level 2

Level 2 derivatives include OTC derivatives for which all
significant waluation inputs are comoborated by  market
evidence and exchange-traded derivatives that are not actively
traded and'or that are valued using models that calibrate to
market=clearing levels of OTC derivatives.  In evaluating the
significance of a valuation input, the company considers,
among other factors, a portfolic’s net risk exposure 1o that
inpur.

The selection of a particular model to wvalue a derivative
depends on the contractual terms of and specific risks inherent
in the mstrument, as well as the availability of pricing
infermation in the market. For derivatives that trade in liquid
markets, model selection does mot  involve  significant
managenment judgement because calputs of models can be
calibrated to markel-clearing levels,

Valuation moedels require a variety of inputs, such as
comtractual terms, market praces, vield curves, discount rses
(including those derived from interest rates on collateral
received and posted as specified in credit support agreements
for collateralised derivatives), credit curves, measures of
volaiility and cormelations of such inputs. Significant inpuis to
the valuations of level 2 derivatives can be verified to market
transactions, broker or dealer quotations or other aliemative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of price transparency.
Consideration is given 1o the nature of the quotations (eg.
indicative or firm) and the relationship of recent market activity
to the prices provided from altemnative pricing sources.

Level 3

Level 3 derivatives are valued using models which wtilise
observable level 1 andor lewvel 2 inputs, as well as
unobservable level 3 inputs, Unobservable inputs include
certam correlations, ilhquid eredit and secured Tunding spreads,
recovery rates and centain equity and interest rate volatilities.
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Subsequent to the initial valeation of a level 3 denivative, the
company updates the level | and level 2 inpuis to reflect
observable market changes and any resulting gains and losses
are classified in level 3. Level 3 inputs are changed when
correborated by evidence such as similar marketl transactions,
third-party pricing services and’or broker or dealer quotations
or other empirical market data. In circumsiances where the
company cannol verify the model value by reference 1o market
transactions, it is possible that a different valuation model could
produce a materially different estimate of fair value. See below
fior further information about significant unobservable inputs
used in the valumtion of bevel 3 derivatives,

Where there is a difference between the initial transaction price
and the fair valwe caleulated by imemal models, a gain or less
is recognised after initial recognition only 1o the ¢xtent tha it
arises from a change i a factor (including time) that market
participanis would consider in setting a price.

Valuation Adjustments

Valuation adjustments are integral to determining the fair value
of derivative portfolios and are used to adjust the mid-market
vatluations produced by derivative pricing models o the exit
price  valuation. These adjustments incorporate  bid/offer
spreads, the cost of lguidity, CVA and funding wvaluation
adjustments, which account for the credit and funding risk
inhierent in the uncollateralised portion of derivative portfiolios,
The company also makes funding valuation adjustments 1o
collateralised derivatives where the terms of the agreement do
not permit the company to deliver or repledge collateral
received. Market-based imputs are  generally wsed when
calibrting valuation adjustments 1o market-cleaning levels,

In  addition, for dervatives  that  include  significant
unobservable inpats, the company makes model or exit price
adjustments to account for the valuation uncertainty present in
the transaction.

Other Financial Assets and Liabilities. Valuation
techmigues and significant inputs of other financial assets and
liabilities include:

* Collateralised Agreements. The significant inputs to the
valuation of resale agreements and securities bomrowed are
funding spreads, the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows and interest rates,

+ Other Assets. Other assets measured at fair value consist of
an unsecured intercompany loan and an investment in
subsidiary, The significant inputs to the valuation of this
unsecured intercompany losn measaired al fair value are the
amaunt and timing of expected futwre cosh flows, imerest
rates and the credit spreads of G5 Group. The significant
inputs to the valwation of this investment in subsidiary
mgasured ai fair value are equity prices and foreign exchange
[Fli=

B
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* Collateralised Financings. The significant inputs to the
valuation of repurchase agreements and securitics loaned are
funding spreads, the amount and timing of expected future
cash flows and interest rates, The significant inputs 1o the
valuation of secured debt securities issued, other borrowings
and intercompany loans measured at fair value are the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows, interest rates,
funding spreads, the fair value of the collateral delivered by
the company (which is determined using the amount and
timing of expected future cash flows, market prices, market
yields and recovery assumptions), the frequency of additional
collateral calls and commaodity prices for prepaid commodity
Iransections,

* Unsecured Borrowings. The significant inputs 1o the
valuation of unsecured borrowings measured at fair valuee are
the amount and timing of expected future cash Mows, nlerest
rates, the credit spreads of G5 Group and commodity prices
for prepaid commodity transactions. The inputs used to value
the embedded derivative component of hybrid financial
instruments ase consistent with the inputs wsed 10 valee the
company s other derivative instruments,

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Level
The table below presents, by bevel within the fair valug
hierarchy, the company’s financial assets and  liabilities
measured at fair value on a recurring basis,

£ in mlions Lervel 1 Lovel ¥ Lewvel 3 Total
As of December 2023
Fimsncinl aseis
Colatnraled ag I 5 — §1BTIT § 13 § 13D
Trading ¢ash rdlnamants 92.378 T (o] JEF TR
Cryrrvatnvrs 1 6064 4 05 ERET00
Trading asssts 8227 TIN5 4,730 [r BT+
Irsstmasnis. 4 16 L5 g
Lecumires. — 140 HH 74
that st —_ 147 — 147
Tetal $ 92281 § BTOESS 8§ 4045 3 BETEE
Firancial lisbilities
Colataralised francings. $ — § 106205 § 4B 3 10ETE
Trasfing cash nstnamants 7T 5955 F= [EXE]
Dervaioes a7 GED, 23 671 B0
Trading Eabeditas 59,817 BTS 44T 235 TITED
u d| bt il - 40,273 5663 HLG1E
Tota 3SR S BN BT WA
Hut desivati ] (381 % 22122 § A7 3 R840
Firanclal assets
Golaloralised agoements & — & 151621 5 118 § 151739
Trafing cash rslnmanis 44,517 25955 =] T4
Dhiirediivirh 166 TOE.28E I8 B00.331
Traditg sty 45043  BR3242 4 AR 2810
Irrenstmsts. L] 205 tal 0
Lowres: - 168 Sl g
Gther assets = 156 = 186
Todal 5 45087 5 OIS FE 5 478 5 105307
Fimancisl labilities
Colatpraled rancegs 3 — § TIAM §F ¥ §F 0 OTTES
Trasding ¢ash dlnamants 45638 6007 & I
Crvrrvaivers 35 TAS.240 v ] TET.A19
Trading kabdsas 45,744 frFFET 2 [TTRIE]
Uinsaouned bormromasngs — EM !|.14-_'! 4-0_?41
Total 5 42.?'44 & m& i FEF‘& E p vl )
Hal dorivatives § 111 5 11045 § 1805 & 1Z7ER
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Significant Unobservable Inputs Used in Level 3 Fair
Walue Measurements

Trading Cash Instruments, Investments and Loans.
The table below presents the company’s level 3 trading cash
instrument  assets, investments and  loans and ranges and
weighted averages of significant unobservable inputs used to
value level 3 irading cash instruments, invesiments and loans,

As ol Decamber 2023 s of Dipcambar 2022

5 in milliorms, Asnount of Weighbed Amounl or  ‘Wsghted
awcapl inpufs Rangs Average Range  Awerags
Morigages and other assei-backed loans and securities
Lol 3 adsens 5 a 5 48
R 4.0% 16 26.1% 119% SE%lrs 12.5%
Rpscirvnry ity A% e Ta0% bt AT 0 TE. 1% 5.6%
Drraition (years) 148 e 7.8 4.2 1.5 b B 24
Corporate debt ard g and agency ]
Lewvel 3 assets 3 573 5 L4
Wi 5.0% 1o 46.0% 128%  25%1040.0% 2%
Roisziviety ikl 3% 16 05.0% EE% 30 0BT kLN
Drurinkioe {yaars] 0.081a 378 34 (] RFE] 48
Equity secusities
Lewel 3 assets 5 k= | 5 &3
Chrnbion (psars) 481048 4.8 58 ho 5.8 58
Toksl 5 645 5 556
Iy esimsnls
Corporate dobt inslruments
Lol 3 ity ¥ £ ¥ 15
Bepcovery rale TA%WIIN  TI%  00%0ETIN  335%
Equity sscurities
Ll 3 aasmets 5 64 5 55
Muttighes 0.4 b T Bl 1.5 4o 6 0w 5.3
Totat 3 & 3 It
Loars
Corpodate
Lewnl 3 amsets 5 34 ] k2
iedd M M o4 % to & 8% 4.8%

ratn A5.0% 0 15.0%  150%  15.0% 0 15.0% 15.0%

In the table above:

* Ranges represent the significant unobservable inpats that
were used in the valustion of each tvpe of cash instriment
and weighted averages are caloulated by weighting cach input
by the relative fair value of the instrument.

* The ranges and weighted averages of these inpuls are mot
representative  af the appropeiate inputs 1o use  when
calculating the fair value of any one trading instrument. For
example, the highest yield for morgages and other asset-
backed loans and securities is apgropriate for valuing a
specific mortgage bul may nol be appropriate for valuing any
other morgages. Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not
represent uncerfainty in, or possible ranges of, fair value
measurements of bevel 3 trading cash instruments.

Inereases in vield or duration used in the valuation of level 3
instruments would have resulted in a lower fair value
measurement, while increases in recovery rate or multiples
wonld have resulted in a higher fair value measurement as of
December 2023 and December 2022, Dug 1o the distinctive
natwre of each level 3 instrument, the interrelationship of
inputs is not necessarily uniform within cach product type.
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« Mortgages and other asset-backed loans and  securities,
corporate debt instrumenis and government and agency
obligations and loans are valued using discounted cash flows,
and equity securities are valued using market comparables
and discounted cash Nows,

The fair value of any one mstroment may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques. For example, market
comparables and discounted cash flows may be used together
o determine fair value, Therefore, the level 3 balance
encompasses both of these techniques,

* Yield was not significant to the valuation of level 3 loans as
of December 2023,

Derivatives and Unsecured Borrowings. The table
below presents the company's bevel 3 net derivatives and
unsecured borowings and ranges, averages and medians of
significant unobservable inputs used to value level 3 derivatives
and unsecured bormowings,

An of Decombar 2023 A of Dy e R

$ i dlicng, Amount or | Averagel Amciantor | Avomgal
ucopl inpeds Range Madian Rl Madan
Digrivalives

Interest rates, net 5 51 5 1z

Complation (0% t0 26%  1%WEFR  (10)%w2% 13%E5%
Vilasity (ps) 11662 Alan 45 12 60 SA/5T
[== T H 1,835 H 1657

Crodit spresds (Bpa) Tle17s8  134m0 Si068E  1BTIIS
Uplrent credit points 0o 50 17 o s 195
RipLownry falis 20% to 50% 43N 20% b 50% 410N
Currencios, nat 8 104} 5 )
Complation 20% o B0% 4%V 20% 0 2% MR
Equities. net [ (LN [ (50)
Comedation (TO)% b0 100%  BES/EHS  (THP% o 100%  AORETY
Vil 0% o BO%.  14%M3% 2% o TA% IERIEN
[= citien, net § 12 5 2
.l 3 1754 i L5805

Unaecianed borrowings

Leirwl 3 Risblitiss L 4.683 ] 5148

Imiernst rales

oomelation 25% fo 26%  250WSZSW 26% bo 0% MDY
Grodit spreads [Bpa) 18310183 1BI1B3 A Mik
Cumeris
coralasion 20% o BE%  JWNAIYR W wdn RN

Eqaitiens coeralation  (16)% to 08%  S1%MSX%  (3D)% w00 SNG4,
Eqguitiers volatility % fo 106%  10%MEN A% o Bi% X%
In the table above:

+ Met derivative assets are shown as positive amounts and net
derivative liabilitics are shown as negalive amounts,

* Runpes represent the significant unobservable inputs that
were used in the valuation of each tvpe of derivative.
Averages represent the arithmetic average of the inputs and
are not weighted by the relative Tair value or notional of the
respective Nnancial instrumients, An average greater than the
median indicates that the majority of inputs are below the
average.

364/424

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Motes to the Financial Statements

* The ranges, averages and medians of these inputs are not
representative of the appropriate inputs to use when
calculating the fair value of any one derivative, For example,
the highest correlation for equity derivatives is appropriate for
valuing a specific equity derivative but may not be
appropriate  for wvaluing any other equity  derivative.
Accordingly, the ranges of inputs do not represent unceriaindy
in, or possible ranges of, fair value measuremens of level 3
derivatives,

* Interest rates, currencics and equities derivatives are valued
using option pricing models, and credit devivatives are valued
using oplion pricing, comelmtion and discouned cash flow
miodels.

* The fair value of any onc instrument may be determined
using multiple valuation techniques, For example, option
pricing models and  discounted cash Mows models are
tvpically wsed together to determing fair value. Therefore, the
level 3 balance encompasses both of these techniques.

« Correlation within cwrrencies and equities includes cross-
product type correlation,

* Credit spreads was not significant to the valuation of level 3
unsecured borrowings as of December 2022,

Range of Significant Unobservable inputs

The following provides information about the ranges of
significant unobservable inputs used o value level 3 derivatives
andd unsecured borrowings:

» Correlation. Ranges for correlation cover a variety of
underliers both within one product type (2.g., equity index
and equity single stock names) and across product 1vpes (e.2..
correlation of an interest rate and 2 curmency) as well as
BCROSS Fegions.

= Volatility, Ranges for volatility cover numerous underliers
weress @ variely of markets, maturities and srke prices. For
example, volatility of equity indices is generally lower than
volatility of single stocks.

-

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. The mnges for credit spreads, upfront credit points and
recovery rates cover a variety of underliers (index and single
names), regions, sectors, maturities and credit qualities (high-
vield and investment-graded and alse includes secured
funding spreads. The broad range of this population gives rise
to the width of the ranges of significant unobservable inputs.
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Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in
Significant Unobservable Inputs

The following is a description of the directional sensitivity of
the company’s level 3 fair value measurements 1o changes in
significant unobservable inputs, in isolation, as of each year-
end:

= Correlation. In general. for contracts where the holder
benefits from the convergence of the underlving asset or
index prices (e.p. interest rates, credit spreads, foreign
exchange rates, inflation rates and equity prices), an increase
in correlation results in a higher fair valie measurement,

Volatility. In general, for purchased options, an increase in
volatility results in a higher fair value measurement.

Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates. In general, the fair wvalue of purchased credit
protection increases as credit spreads or upfront credit points
increase or recovery rates decrease, and the fair value of
secured funding capacity increases as secured funding spreads
increase, Credit spreads, upfront credit points and recovery
rates are strongly related to distinctive risk factors of the
underlying reference obligations, which imclude reference
entity-specific factors such as  leverage, volatility and
industry, markel-based risk factors, such as borrowing costs
or ligquidity of the underlving reference obligation, and
macroeconomic conditions.

Due 1o the distinetive nature of each of the company™s level 3
derivatives and unsecured borrowings, the interrelationship of
inputs is not necessarily uniform within each product type.

Collateralised Agreements. As of December 2023 and
[recember 2022, the significant unobservable inputs wsed to
value level 3 collateralised agreements are incorporated into the
rading cash instruments disclosures related 10 unobservable
inputs. See “Trading Cash Instruments, Iwvestments  and
Loans™ above.

Collateralised Financings. As of December 2023 and
[recember 2022, the significant uncbservable inputs wsed to
value level 3 collateralised financings are incorporated into the
derivatives  disclosures related o unobservable inputs, See
“Denvatives and Unsecured Borrowings™ above,

Transfers Between Level 1 and Level 2 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Dwring both 2023 and 2022, there were no significant transfers
between level 1 and level 2 financial assets and liabilities
mieasured at fair value on a recurring basis,

365/424

oOoOooodn



GOLDMAN SACHS INTERNATIONAL (UNLIMITED COMPANY)
Motes to the Financial Statements

Fair Value Financial Assets and Liabilities Valued
Using Technigues That Incorporate Unobservable
Inputs

The fair value of financial mssets and labilities may  be
determined in whole or part using a valuation technique based
on assumptions that are not supported by prices  from
observable current market ransactions in the same instrument
or based on available observable market data and changing
these assumptions will change the resulant estimate of fair
value.

In determining reasonably possible altemative unfavourable
assumpdions, a detailed business and position level review has
been performed to identify and gquantify instances where
potential uncertainty exists, This has taken imo account the
positions” fair valug as compared 1o the range of available
mearket information.

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO000O00DbDO000DOOdnoo(eessrs)

The table below presents the amounts not recognised in the
income statement relating 1o the difference between the fair
value of financial asseis and liabilities ai initial recognition
using the valuation techniques and the transaction price (day |
Pé&LY

Yoaur Endisd Datambar

£ i mllians 2023 FIIFF]
Begunning balancs % 06 % 180
Mira Irnaactions 31 157
ACunis Mo in i incoma stbemnt

ity Bap e (257) [141)
Ending balance ¥ 05 Fits)
Level 3 Rollforward

The table below presents a summary of the changes in fair
value for all level 3 financial assets and labilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis.

. . . . Year Ended December
The mable below presemts the potential impact of using 5 i mealions 2023 022
reasonable possible altermative assumptions for financial assets mﬂmbd:rum s amms s
PR N - i ey 3
and liabilitics valued using techniguees that are unobservable, Gains) ) i st
Purchasas (2] 1.00%
Az of December Salos [eir] fRle]
5 i millors 2023 2022 Semements (925) (1.553)
Favourabile changes Transbs into kel 3 ] 1,450
Tending cash instrumants % 102 5 Ba Tranabin ot of liresl 3 37y [l
Termstrensy ': 15 Erdirg balancs $ dmi s 47
Loans &
Ethers o . Total financial liabilhtins
Towsl 3 01 5 =3 Beaginning Balange 5 (TATH & (1R
— i Gains\losses) (1.074) 1,780
Unfavourable changes Purchasns 6 TE
Tending cash instrumanis 5 15 5 b Sl (310 [4E%)
Eenuahmanty 2 4 Issuances [.246) (2303
Lo N i Semlements 1% 5322
Othars 178 155 Transtens into el 3 571 (78]
Jotal £ 06 5 158 Transters cat of kevel 3 s X3
Endire balarce 5§ (RSN E 7w
In the table above:
In the table above:

# (nhers include the favourable and wnfavourable changes
related 1o derivatives, unsecured borrowings, collateralised
agreements and collateralised financings, These have been
presented net, consistent with their net risk being used in the
calculation of favourable and unfavourable changes due to
econgmic hedging between these instruments,

= As of both December 2023 and December 2022, the impact
for favourable changes was primarily driven by changes in
valuation adjustments related to equity and fixed income
derivatives and changes in assumptions related 1o the
varluation of secured funding spreads and equity securities,

As of both December 2023 and December 2022, the impact
for unfavourable changes was primarily driven by changes in
the assumptions related to the valuation of secured funding
spreads, volatility and cormelation mputs, and credin spreads.

bt

« IT a financial asset or financial lability was transfered 1o
lewel 3 during a reporting period, its entire gain or loss for the
period is classified in level 3. For level 3 financial assets,
increases are shown as positive amounts, while decreases are
shown as negative amounis. For level 3 financial liabilities,
increases are shown as negative amounts, while decreases are
shown as positive amounts,

* Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are
recognised ai the beginning of the reporting period in which
they occur, Accordingly, the tables do not include gains or
losses for level 3 financial assets and liabilities that were
transfierred out of level 3 prior to the end of the period.
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* Level 3 financial assets and liabilities are  frequently
cconomically hedged with level | and level 2 financial assets
amnd liabilities, Accordingly, level 3 gains or losses that are
reported for o particular class of financial assel or financial
liability can be partially offset by gains or losses atiributable
to lewel 1 oor level 2 in the same class of financial asset or
financial liability or gains or losses anributable o level 1,
level 2 or level 3 in a differemt class of financial assel or
financial liability, As a result, gains or losses included in the
level 3 rollforward do not necessarily represent the overall
impact on the company’s results of operations, liquidity or
capital resources.

-

Gamns/{(losses) are predonminstely attributable to changes in
unrealised gains or losses relating to level 3 financial assets
amd financial liabilities.

* The net gainsi{losses) on level 3 financial assets for both

2023 and 2022 are reported in *MNet revenues™ in the income
statement.

-

The net losses on level 3 financial liabilities of $1.07 billion
for 2023 included losses of S988 million reported in “MNet
revenses” in the income stafement and losses of 386 million
reported in “Debt valuation adjustment™ in the statement of
comprehensive income. The net pgains on level 3 financial
liabilities of S1.78 billion for 2022 included gains of 51,62
billion reported in “Net revenues™ in the income statement
and gains of 5162 million reported in “Debt valuation
adjustment™ in the statement of comprehensive income,

The table below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information for the company's financial asseis included in
the summary table above,

Wit Exrvciad Duszsmibsr
& it il 025 R
Collateralised agreamenis.
Baginning balancy H] 18 § Fil
Gains/josses) 3 [
Seltiaments =
Ehl‘.llﬁ balance 5 112 5 1'&
Trading kssels
Baginfurky balhny 3 4435 5 5479
Gain/(lossos) a4 1845)
Purchases. L] 1004
Sales. () 1308
Settloments [3) (1,504
Temnsfers inlo vl 3 i 1.450
Tennafers oot of ol 3 [705)
Ending balance [] 470 § 4,485
Investmants.
Baginning balance 5 ™ 5 105
Gakrailossas) R[] 2
Purchases. a2 7
Sabis ) —
Satthisriisrity. 1% 183)
Eruling halance 3 [F ] T
Loars
Baginning balance H 54 5 85
Garsilosses) - m
Temnafers cut of koo 3 (i) —
Ending balance T S
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The table below disaggregates, by the balance sheet line items,
the information fior the company's financial liabilities included
in the summary table above,

Yaar Ended Docsmbar
5 i el 2023 2022
Collateraliand financings.
Beeginning balance % (i) § (300
Gains{lossas) (k] (1)
IssuAnCes ] [E75)
gl ik 250 )
ZEnding balance 5 e s
Trading linbilities
L R3O  (ATED
Gainsiosses) (478 Fodl
Purctases T 3
Lains 3] [485)
Esffomanis BT TER
Tiransbiers inle Moo 3 (151) (0]
Tirangbirs cnd of ket 3 28 fealt]
Endirg balance [T 23R
Unsacwrad borrowings
Besginnineg Balance 5 (504 5 (14037
Gainsiosses) (548) 1555
Issunnoes i1,524) [Fdur]
Semomants 2059 4338
Tirangtors inbe kel 3 (40 (5a3)
Transhiss cut of krvil 3 36 L8312
Ending balance £ (S6EX E (Sl

Transfars Between Level 2 and Level 3 of the Fair
Value Hierarchy

Transfers between level 2 and level 3 generally occur due to
changes in the transparency of level ¥ inputs, A lack of market
evidence leads 1o reduced transparency, wheress an ineréase m
the availability of market evidence leads 1o an increase in
fransparcncy.

Financial Assats

Year Ended December 2023

Trading Assets. Transfers into level 3 wading assets
primarily reflected transfers of cenain equity derivatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced price transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs, transfers of certain credit
derivatives  from  level 2, principally due o reduced
transparency of cerain credit spread inputs, and ransfers of
certain cash instruments from level 2, prncipally due 1o
reduced transparency of certain yield inpants.

Transfers out of level 3 trading assets primanly reflected
transfirs of certain cquity derivatives 1o level 2, principally due
to increased transparency of certain volatility and correlation
inputs, and transfers of certain cash instruments o level 2,
principally due o increased transparency of cenain yield
inputs.
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Year Ended December 2022
Trading Assets., Transfers imto level 3 wrading assels
primarily reflected iransfers of cerain equity securities from
level 2, principally due to reduced price transparency as a resull
of a lack of market evidence, incleding fewer market
transactions in these instruments.

Transfers out of level 3 trading assets primarily reflected
transfers of certain equity derivatives to level 2, principally due
to increased transparency of cerain volatility and correlation
inputs, and transfers of cenain cash instruments o level 2,
principally due to increased transparency of certain vield
inputs.

Financial Liabilities

Year Ended December 2023

Trading Liabilities. Transfers imo level 3 rading liabilines
primarily reflected transfers of cenain equity derivatives from
level 2, principally due 1o reduced tramsparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs, and transfers of certain credit
derivatives  from  level 2, principally due to  reduced
transparency of certain eredit spread inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 trading liabilities primarily reflected
transfers of certain credit derivatives o level 2, principally due
to recuced transparency of certain credit spread inputs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Transfers imo level 3 unsccured
borrowings primarily reflected transfers of certain hyvbrid
financial instruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
transparency of certain volatility and correlation inputs.

Transfers out of level 3 unsecured borrowings  primarily
reflected transfers of certain hybrid financial instruments o
level 2, principally due to increased transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs,

Year Ended December 2022
Trading Liabilities. Transfers inte level 3 trading liabilities
primarily reflected transfers of certain equity derivatives from
level 2, principally due to reduced transparency of certain
volatility and correlation inputs,

Transfers out of level 3 trading liabilitics primarily reflected
transfers of certain equity derivatives to level 2, principally dug
o increased transparency of certain volatiliny and correlation
inputs,

Unsecured Borrowings. Transfers imto level 3 unsecured
borrowings primarily reflected transfers of certain hybrid
financial instruments from level 2, principally due to reduced
transparency of certain volatility and corvelation inputs,

Transfers out of level 3 unsecured bosrowings primarily
reflected wransfers of certain hybrid financial instruments 1o
level 2, principally due 1o 3 reassessment of the significance of
certain credit spread inputs,
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Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities Mot
Measured at Fair Value

The company had financial assets of 5234.52 billion as of
Drecember 2023 and S176.67 billion as of December 2022 that
are nol measured at fair value. Given that substantially all of
these balances are short-term in nature, their carrying values in
the balance sheet are a reasonable approximation of fair value,

The table below presents the company”s financial liahilities that
are not measured at fair value by expected maturity.

As of Decamber
5 in mallions 2023 2022
Curmes 5 BRI 5 144031
Hon-cumens 65159 34
Todal MGaASE §1HEXNS

In the table above:

* Curremt financial lakilitics are short-term in nature  amd
thercfore their carrying values in the balance sheei are a
reasonable approximation of fair value,

= Maon-current financial liabilities primanly related to long-term
intercompany loans and repurchase agreements. The interest
rales of these instruments are wariable in nature  and
approximate prevailing market interest rates For instruments
with simnlar erms and characteristics. As such, their carmyving
values in the balance sheet are a reasonable approximation of
fair value.

Note 31.

Financial Risk Management and Capital
Management

Certain disclosures in relation to the company™s financial risk
management and capital management have been presented
alengside other risk management and regulatory information in
Part | of this annual report and are identified as audited, where
relevant,
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Maturity of Financial Assets, Financial Liabilities and
Commitments

The iable below presenis an analysis of the cash flows of the
company’s  financial  assets.  financial  Diabilities  and
commitments by contractual maturity except for rading assets

Lk thuary
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and liabilities held for trading, which are classified as rrading/
on demand, reflecting the company™s role as o market maker,

3 months

Tending/on Totad
£ i mdlors demand 1 pmeonthy 1+ months = 1 yoar 1=% yoars & yoars
#g of December 2023
Finarcis assets
Cesh and cakh pquibng 5 I5EED 5 - — § — 5 - § - & 35,650
Coilptpraksid pgrooments 121,502 129,502 T2 1ME 1,103 144 262,817
o anadl Gthar Pecavall T2.hBE - - - - - TEEE
Trading assets B10.BB0 106 Tam 1985 - - LFlE )
Frrnatments -— - - - ] L] 289
Loans - - - 22 113 M 174
CHhaf ARsets 1,667 10 40 52 114 1282 3,105
Totsl 4 1,050 5 120818 % A4,549 % 5405 % 1555 % 1471 8 1,203 304
Finareisl Rabilitlos
Collptprabsed Enancings i iBE60 3 47584 % W § 780 & 58 3 1578 & HAmR
Customar and other payables 118,20 _ _ — - - 118,201
Trading Kabikties TATE10 -_ -— - -_ - TATE1D
Ursseoured bomowings 2,372 1,775 4,854 10,728 51,5985 35,665 106,953
Ohipr skt 1,601 1,277 B 13 1015 pr 4,234
Toesl 5 BOSSM 8 50,638 % 44 640 % 45500 § 10633 3 ar 1,1
Commitmsris
Coilatprabsed sgronments - TRE 3 139300 % 1301 5 007 5 = % — § LI
Collptsrabsed Snancings [ 44,506 F 359 - - 45,173
Othar 3,368 1 = 2 - - 1372
Tokal 5 4173 § 183,897 § 1303 § 2668 5 = 5§ = § 162,149
Finarci sasats
Cash and cash squimbents -3 11,047 & - & -5 - -4 -5 11,707
Collatembsed SQroements BE,TTO 130,603 1573 3250 e 23 235,798
Curslomar and clhar recsivaties 80467 — — — — — TR9ET
Teadirg ansets BT2.810 = = = = = BT2810
Irremitmeents T - - q Fad &1 280
Loans 2 - - = g1 ] B ]
Other assets 1430 10 435 & ar 12 2554
Jotal 5 1058693 5 130613 % 11,398 % 3263 5 1318 5 1084 5 1202376
Finarcisl Babilitias
Collptiakabd Enancngs 5 2283 § ME 5 753 5§ M45 5 T3 5 1513 § 124035
Carslioimay ared othar gayabhis 110,083 - - - - - 1108683
Teading Ealiltios Bad 313 - — - - - Bad 313
Linsscursd bomowings 1,835 2,028 4,57 BAT Al ] AnET2 BTk
Other liabdties 1,780 1,308 1 __ & 1,055 __» 4138
Tolal 5 OGAIBE1 5 35314 5 15333 5 7u7s4 5 7o060 5 35073 5 1172495
Commilmerils
Colptraksid pgrpoments - 2107 § 102471 % 5337 § a008 5 1.TE § — § 1A
Coilatprabsed Snancngs &2 60,856 8 1.606 1.4%3 = T2086
Othar 4245 - - 3 T3 = 4021
otal £ a3 § w7437 & 5386 & ST § 1§ — & 1065

In the table above:

# Cash flows by contractual maturity inclsde interest that will
seerue on inlereompany  loans (mcluded in other assets,
col lateralised financings and unsecured bormowings), and debt
securities issued messured at amortised cost (included in
unsecured  borrowings).  All other financial asseis  and
financial liabilivies, which are primarily measured at fair
value through profit or loss, have been disclosed ot their
camrving values, consistent with the values used in the
liquidity risk management of these instruments.

* Cash collateral received and paid has been classified as
tradinglon demand, consistent with the derivatives that it
primarily relates to.

a1

Liguidity risk on derivatives is mitigated through master
netiing agreements and cash collateral arrangements.

Uingecured borrowings include certain debt securities issued
that have trigger events that are mwot in the comrol of the
company and could be repaid earlier than their contractual
maturities.

The company manages lguidiy risk according o thres
principhes: (i) hold sufficient excess liquidity in the form of
GCLA to cover outflows during a stress persod: (i) maintain
appropriate Asset-Liability Management; and (iii) maintain a
viable Contingency Funding Plan, See “Liguidity Risk
Management — Liguidity Risk Management Principles™ in Part
1 of this annual report for further details.
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Mabe 32,
Transferred Assets

Assets Continued to be Recognised in Full. During
2023 and 2022, the company transferred certain financial assets
where the transfers failed 1o meet the derecognition criteria, as
comained in IFRS 9, and as a resuly of which the company
continues (o recognise these assets in full in the balance sheet.

The company transfers assets owned 10 counterpanties in the
ordinary  course  of business to collateralise  repurchase
agreements and other securities lending transactions. In these
transactions the transfierred assets continue to be recognised by
the company for accounting purposes because the transactions
requirg the financial instruments to be repurchased at maturily
of the agreement and the company remains exposed to the
price, credit and interest rate risk of these instruments. When
the company receives cash proceeds from the transfer of the
asset, a fnancial liability & recognised in respect of the
consideration  received  and  recorded  in collateralised
financings. When the company receives non cash collateral (in
the form of securitics) no liability is initially recognised. If
collateral received is subsequently sold, the obligation 1o return
the collateral is recognised as a Bability in trading Gabilities,

In addition 1o repurchase agreements and securities lending
agreements. the company obtains funding through the use of
other amangements that fail to meet the derecognition criteria.
For example, sales of securities with related derivatives, such as
total return swaps, through which the company refains
substantially all of the risk and reward of the iransferred assets,
A financial liability is recognised in such cases for the proceeds
receivied.

(nher financial assets transferred that continue 1o be recognised
on balance sheet for accounting purposes relate to pledges of
securities as collateral, primarily for derivative transactions.
The obligations under such derivatives are recorded in trading
liabilities,

92
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The table below presents the company s financial assets which
have been transferred but which remain on balance sheet for

aCoounting puUrposcs,

As of Docember
5 i ralleoins froira] 2022
Money markil indtnamants 5 05 -
Gerenmmant and agency cligaticns 16444 14004
Maorigage and ofhesr nssol-backed loans and seounitess 192 138
Coporaie debt insfrumenis 10,334 TA44
Expsity Socurivgs 49,620 22550
Tiraing cash nstrumants 96,807 44603
Coporate debt instruments. a5 Fi
Exgaity soouritas - &
Investments. a5 3z
Todal 5 OBESY § 44E1s

The carryving wvalue of the associated financial liabilitics
generally approximate the carrying value of the assets
transferred.

Derecognised Assets With Ongoing Exposure. The
company has continuing invelvement in the form of derivative
ransactions  amnd  guarantees  with  certain  unconsolidmted
structured entitics to which the company had transferred
financial assets. These derivatives may be credit-linked to the
assel transferred and result in the company retaining specific
risks in the transferred asset or require the company 1o make
payments to the structured entity to compensate losses on the
asset if certain contingent events oocur.

In addition, the company transfers financial assets to
securitisation vehicles. The company generally receives cash in
exchange for the transferred assets but may have continuing
invelvement with the transferred assets, including ownership of
beneficial interests in the securitised financial assets, primarily
in the form of debt instruments. The company may also
purchase  senior or subordinated securities  issued by
seeuritisation vehicles in connection with secondary market-
misking sctlivities,

Where the company’s continuing involvement in trnsfermed
assets 15 through derivatives or guarantees, the maximum
exposure to loss is the notional amounts of the derivative or
guarantee, For retained or purchased interests in securitised
assets, the company's risk of loss is limited 10 the fair value of
these interests, Inall cases these retained interests are carried at
fair value.

The company accounts for assets pending transfer at fuir value
amd therefore does not typically recognise significant gains or
losses upon the transfer of assets. The company does not have
continuing  involvement that could require the company Lo
repurchase derecognised financial assets,
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The tables below present information about the company's
exposure through continuing invelvement and the gains or
losses related to those transactions,

LT
Carrying DO
5 iy midlicrad withui lo el
iy of December 2023
Arsels
Trading cash instrumaents E3 - § -
Dty 120 1,095
Tending Aty 120 1,095
Toesl [] LFE] 1,095
Liabilitis.
Teading cash insbrumants 3 — § —_
Dysraalisns 57 633
Jmiing kabilts CE
okl 3 i -
45 o Dotembar 2002
Asteln
Teaditg il ingtrumanti 5 — § —
Dasrivatioes 05 1123
Traddrg assets 0% 1123
Tolal [ 108 5 1123
Liabilitkes
Temding csh instrumants % - & z
Dt 23] 559
Trisdirsg kptaltios [CET] 1
Tolal ] [43) § 1
Incomel  Cumulatve
[xpans) incoen
& i millors n the year [mapsrsa)
Ap of Dectimbar 2023
Asseis
Temding cish instrumants 5 — & 133
Dwrstreis 293
Tradrg assety EFL
Tokal ] 5 a2
Liabilitees
Trading cash instrumaenits H - § 1
Dty 25) L]
Temdieg Rkt 25 [E]]
L= and it parmb - (L]
Tokal [] [] [T
i ol Decambar P02
Arseis
Temdang cashi insfrumanits -4 - 5 133
[+ i 24 287
Tediey Exasts Fil 420
Total 5 H 5 4
Liabilities
Trading cash instrumants. -] 15 1
Drreatiees (1) l_:':_.
Trnding kabsbties 10 16
Caril and cthar parylies — i
Total ] (100 § 15
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2024

2024

2024

2024

12

12

12

12

IFRS

2024

29

5,400.4

2023

2024 12 31
1.11 2023 12
702.7
GCLA
1.07 2023 12
457.8
263.9
134.6
402.2 2023 12
27.8
Tierl AT1 495
12
2024 12 31
5,052.0

IFRS
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2024 12 31 2024
2024 12

$ - $ 11,601 $ 11,601

913 191,633 192,546

- 76,886 76,886

- 826,082 826,082

1,735 2,024 3,759

$ 2,648 $1,108,226 $1,110,874

$ 71,763 $97,933 $169,696

- 107,164 107,164

- 711,221 711,221

56,631 20,180 76,811

1,669 4,096 5,765

$130,063 $ 940,594 $1,070,657
2023 12

$ - $ 35,689 $ 35,689

1,249 261,568 262,817

_ 72,888 72,888

- 828,362 828,362

1,851 1,948 3,799

$ 3,100 $1,200,455 $1,203,555

$ 55,225 $160,251 $215,476

- 115,201 115,201

- 737,610 737,610

71,100 19,167 90,267

1,128 3,754 4,882

$127,453 $1,035,983 $1,163,436
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Independent auditors’ report to the member of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s financial statements:
give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance sheet as at 31
December 2023; the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the GSI Board Audit Committee.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

Asexplained in Note 2 ‘Basis of Preparation’ to the financia statements, the company, in addition to applying UK -adopted
international accounting standards, has also applied international financia reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

In our opinion, the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)"), International Standards
on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“1SAS") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) and ISAs are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statementsin the UK, which includesthe FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities, and
the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by either the FRC' s Ethical Standard or
Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 6 ‘Net Operating Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.
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Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope

We perform a full scope audit of the financial statements of the company as a whole as a single component. The scope of
the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financial statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or
error). In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of critical
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value.

Materiality

Overall materiality: $413 million (2022: $404 million) based on approximately 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources.

Performance materiality: $309 million (2022: $303million).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
Statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resourcesin the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements asawhole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Thisisnot acompletelist of all risksidentified by our audit.

The key audit matters below are consistent with last year.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value

Refer to Note 30 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 3
Material Accounting Policies to the financial statements, the
majority of financial assets and liabilities are recorded in the
balance sheet at fair value and changesin fair value are recorded
in net revenues. Total financial assets and liabilities at fair value
were $967.86 billion and $899.33 hillion, respectively, as at 31
December 2023. The audit of the valuation of financial assets
and liabilities required significant audit resources and is an area
of estimation uncertainty and therefore represents a key audit
matter.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financia
assets and liabilities measured at fair value detailed in Note 30
Fair Value Measurement’ are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The valuations of derivative financia instruments are
calculated by financial models using avariety of inputs.

The company aso enters into complex and less liquid cash and
derivative financial instruments where a limited or no active
market exists. In these instances, there is less observable
evidence to support the valuations and hence there is greater
estimation uncertainty. When one or more valuation inputs are
unobservable and significant, the financia instrument is
classified aslevel 3inthe valuation hierarchy. Level 3 financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value were $4.95 billion
and $8.50 hillion, respectively, asat 31 December 2023.

We performed a risk assessment of the financia instruments
held by the company using our industry experience and
knowledge of the company’s business. We used this analysis to
identify areas of greater judgement and focus our testing. We
concluded that the higher assessed risks of materia
misstatement relate to the valuation of certain credit and equity
derivatives. Within credit derivatives, this included the
vauation of a portfolio of financia instruments sensitive to
secured funding spreads, the methodology for which involves a
number of assumptions in developing the estimate, and within
equity derivatives, a portfolio of financial instruments sensitive
to correlation and stochastic volatility inputs.

We understood and evaluated the design and implementation of
key controls over the valuation of financial assets and
liabilities. These controls included:

« Vadlidation of new and existing models by a specialist team
within the risk function, as well as access and change
management controls in respect of modelsin use;

e The price verification process performed by the Product
Control function using prices and model inputs sourced from
third parties; and

« Calculation and approval of key valuation adjustments.

We tested the operating effectiveness of these controls and
noted no significant exceptions and we determined we could
rely on these controls for the purposes of our audit. In addition,
we performed the substantive testing described below.

We tested the valuation of a sample of cash instruments to third
party sources. We utilised internal valuation experts to revalue
asample of derivative and cash financial instruments, including
level 3 instruments, using independent models and inputs to the
extent available.

In relation to a portfolio of credit derivatives in level 3, we
utilised our internal valuation experts to:

* Assess the appropriateness of fair value by identifying
potential alternative funding spreads using externa sources and
evauating the difference in valuation;

e Test a sample of management’s valuation inputs to externa
sources; and

Reperform the valuation of a sample of positions using our
own models and, to the extent available, independent inputs.
Where we utilised management’s inputs to revalue the
instruments, we assessed the reasonabl eness of the inputs used.

Additionally, we valued a sample of equity derivatives
sensitive to correlation and stochastic volatility inputs and, to
the extent available, independently sourced inputs. For samples
where we utilised management's inputs to revalue the
instruments, we assessed the reasonabl eness of the inputs used.

We evaluated the methodology and underlying assumptions
used to determine valuation adjustments. We tested a sample of
valuation adjustments as at the period-end.

Based on the work performed, we found management’'s
estimates of the fair value of financial assets and liabilitiesto be
within a reasonable range and supported by the evidence
obtained.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 30 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ regarding significant unobservable inputs and the
fair value hierarchy and found them to be appropriate.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates.

The company provides financia services to clients worldwide. The company also operates a number of branches and
representative offices across Europe, the Middle East and Africato provide financial services to clients in those regions. We
consider the company and its branches to represent a single audit component. Traders based in overseas group locations enter
into transactions on behalf of the company. In these circumstances, certain internal controls relevant to financial reporting
operate in those locations. In addition, there are a number of centralised functions operated by the ultimate parent company,
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. (“Group Inc.”), in the U.S. or in group shared service centresin other locations that are
relevant to the audit of the company. We determined the scope of the work required in each of these |ocations and issued
instructions to PwC network firms. We interacted regularly with the firms responsible for the work throughout the course of
the audit. Thisincluded making visits to certain overseas PwC network firms, reviewing key working papers and discussing
and challenging the results of work in higher risk areas of the audit. We concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf
were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

The impact of climate risk on our audit

As part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on the
company’s financial statements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for any indicators of the impact
of climate risk. Our procedures did not identify any material impact as aresult of climate risk on the company’s financial
statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as awhole as follows:

Overall company materiality | $413 million (2022: $404 million).

How we determined it Approximately 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources
Rationale for benchmark The company is awholly owned subsidiary of Group Inc. We consider the primary users of the
applied financia statements to be Group Inc., regulators and market counterparties, who are focused on

whether the company has sufficient capital resources to meet minimum regulatory requirements,
fulfil its future market obligations and absorb any future losses should they arise. Overal
materiality amounts to $413 million, approximately 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2022: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to $309
million (2022: $303 million) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was

appropriate.

We agreed with the Board Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatementsidentified during our audit above
$41,000,000 (2022: $40,400,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

Performing arisk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting;

Evauating the company’s current financial position and financial forecasts, including the substantiation of the financial
resources available to the company at the balance sheet date;

Understanding and evaluating the company’s current capital and liquidity position and reviewing the results of stress testing
performed by management of both liquidity and regulatory capital, including considering the severity of the stress scenarios
that were used;

Considering the results of procedures performed by the group auditor to support the going concern assessment for Group
Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries; and

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statements in relation to going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises al of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financia statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is amaterial misstatement of the financia
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the year ended 31 December 2023 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal reguirements.
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In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilitiesin respect of the Financial Statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statementsin accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied

that they give atrue and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control asthey determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as agoing
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for presenting the financial statementsin compliance with the requirements set out in the
Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assuranceis
ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) and ISAs will always
detect a materia misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsihilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA™), and
we considered the extent to which noncompliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered
those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and corporate
tax legislation. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting of
inappropriate journal entries and management bias through the manipulation of the valuation of financia instruments held at
fair value. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Discussions with management, including Internal Audit, and those charged with governance in relation to known or
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

Evaluating and testing of the operating effectiveness of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect fraud in
financia reporting;

Assessing matters reported on the company’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s investigation of
such matters,

Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities (the FCA and the PRA);

Identifying and testing selected journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management, account
owners, individuals in particular departments (including front office) and unusual account combinations with a credit to
revenus;

Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their critical accounting estimates, in particular in relation
to the valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value; and

Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.
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There areinherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of

noncompliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing compl ete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting alimited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,
we will use audit sampling to enable usto draw a conclusion about the population from which the sampleis selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statementsin accordance with ISAs (UK) islocated on
the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

As part of an audit in accordance with | SAs, we exercise professiona judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the company audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them al relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communi cated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s member as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We have checked the compliance of the financia statements of the company as at 31 December 2023 with the relevant
statutory requirements set out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to financia statements. That is, for the company:

The financial statements are prepared in avalid xHTML format.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the company as at 31 December 2023, identified as gsinternational-12-31-23-
financial-statements.xhtml, have been prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the requirements laid down in the
ESEF Regulation.

Appointment

We were appointed by the directors on 22 September 1988 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 24 November,
1989 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 35 years, covering the years ended 24
November 1989 to 31 December 2023.

Goldman Sachs International is not a UK public-interest entity, and as such mandatory firm rotation requirements do not apply.
Other matter

In the event that the English version of this report and atranglation of it into alanguage other than English differ, the English
version shall prevail.

Nick Morrison (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 22, 2024
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Independent auditors’ report to the member of Goldman Sachs International (unlimited
company)

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Goldman Sachs International’s financial statements:
give atrue and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of its profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the balance sheet as at 31
December 2024; the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the
statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Goldman Sachs International Board Audit Committee.

Separate opinion in relation to international financial reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No
1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union

Asexplained in Note 2 ‘Basis of Preparation’ to the financia statements, the company, in addition to applying UK -adopted
international accounting standards, has also applied international financia reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

In our opinion, the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international financial
reporting standards adopted pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 as it applies in the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“1SAs (UK)"), International Standards
on Auditing issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (“1SAS") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under ISAs (UK) and ISAs are further described in the Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statementsin the UK, which includesthe FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public interest entities, and
the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that nonaudit services prohibited by either the FRC's Ethical Standard or
Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in Note 6 ‘Net Operating Expenses to the financial statements, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company or its controlled undertakings in the period under audit.
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Our audit approach

Overview
Audit scope

We perform a full scope audit of the financial statements of the company as a whole as a single component. The scope of
the audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures were determined by our risk assessment, the financial
significance of financial statement line items and qualitative factors (including history of misstatement through fraud or
error). In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of critical
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Key audit matters

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value.

Materiality

Overall materiality: $378 million (2023: $413 million) based on approximately 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources.

Performance materiality: $283 million (2023: $309 million).

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
Statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or
not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the
allocation of resourcesin the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we
make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements asawhole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Thisisnot acompletelist of all risksidentified by our audit.

The key audit matters below are consistent with last year.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair
value

Refer to Note 29 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ in the financial
statements.

In accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 3
Material Accounting Policies to the financial statements, the
majority of financial assets and liabilities are recorded in the
balance sheet at fair value and changesin fair value are recorded
in net revenues. Total financial assets and liabilities at fair value
were $898.11 billion and $841.94 hillion, respectively, as at 31
December 2024. The audit of the valuation of financial assets
and liabilities required significant audit resources and is an area
of estimation uncertainty and therefore represents a key audit
matter.

The fair values for substantially all of the company’s financia
assets and liabilities measured at fair value detailed in Note 29 *
Fair Value Measurement’ are based on observable prices and
inputs and are classified in levels 1 and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The valuations of derivative financia instruments are
calculated by financial models using avariety of inputs.

The company aso enters into complex and less liquid cash and
derivative financial instruments where a limited or no active
market exists. In these instances, there is less observable
evidence to support the valuations and hence there is greater
estimation uncertainty. When one or more valuation inputs are
unobservable and significant, the financia instrument is
classified aslevel 3in the valuation hierarchy.

We performed a risk assessment of the financial instruments
held by the company using our industry experience and
knowledge of the company’s business. We used this analysis to
identify areas of greater judgement and focus our testing. We
concluded that the higher assessed risks of materia
misstatement relate to the valuation of certain credit derivatives,
complex commodity financing transactions and structured notes
sensitive to equity correlation and equity volatility inputs.
Within credit derivatives, this included the valuation of a
portfolio of financial instruments sensitive to secured funding
spreads, the methodology for which involves a number of
assumptions in developing the estimate of the forward funding
curve.

We understood and evaluated the design and implementation of
key controls over the valuation of financial assets and
liabilities. These controls included:

« Validation of new and existing models by a specialist team
within the risk function, as well as access and change
management controlsin respect of modelsin use;

* The price verification process performed by the Product
Control function using prices and model inputs sourced from
third parties; and

« Calculation and approval of valuation adjustments.

We tested the operating effectiveness of these controls and
determined we could rely on these controls for the purposes of
our audit. In addition, we performed the substantive testing
described below.

We tested the valuation of a sample of cash instruments to third
party sources. We utilised internal valuation experts to revalue
asample of derivative and cash financial instruments, including
level 3 instruments, using independent models and inputs to the
extent available.

In relation to a portfolio of credit derivatives in level 3, we
utilised our internal valuation experts to:

* Assess the appropriateness of fair value by identifying
potential alternative secured funding spreads using external
sources and evaluating the difference in valuation;

* Test a sample of management’s valuation inputs to externa
sources; and

*Reperform the valuation of all material positions, both
individually and in the aggregate, using our own models and, to
the extent available, independent inputs. Where we utilised
management’s inputs to revalue the instruments, we assessed
the reasonableness of the inputs used.

Additionally, we revalued an extended sample of structured
notes sensitive to equity correlation and equity volatility inputs
and complex commodity financing transactions using our own
models and, to the extent available, independently sourced
inputs. For samples where we utilised management’s inputs to
revalue the instruments, we assessed the reasonableness of the
inputs used.

We evaluated the methodology and underlying assumptions
used to determine valuation adjustments. We tested a sample of
valuation adjustments as at the period-end.

We read and assessed the disclosures in Note 29 ‘Fair Value
Measurement’ regarding significant unobservable inputs and the
fair value hierarchy.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the
industry in which it operates.

The company provides financia services to clients worldwide. The company also operates a number of branches across
Europe, the Middle East and Africato provide financial services to clientsin those regions. We consider the company and its
branches to represent a single audit component. Traders based in overseas group locations enter into transactions on behalf of
the company. In these circumstances, certain internal controls relevant to financial reporting operate in those locations. In
addition, there are a number of centralised functions operated by the ultimate parent company, The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
(“Group Inc.”), inthe U.S. or in group offices in other locations that are relevant to the audit of the company. We determined
the scope of the work required in each of these |ocations and issued instructions to PwC network firms. We interacted regularly
with the firms responsible for the work throughout the course of the audit. Thisincluded making visits to certain overseas PwC
network firms, reviewing key working papers and discussing and challenging the results of work in higher risk areas of the
audit. We concluded that the procedures performed on our behalf were sufficient for the purposes of issuing our opinion.

The impact of climate risk on our audit

As part of our audit we made enquiries of management to understand the extent of the potential impact of climate risk on the
company’s financia statements, and we remained alert when performing our audit procedures for any indicators of the impact
of climaterisk. Our procedures did not identify any material impact as aresult of climate risk on the company’s financial
statements.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent
of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as awhole.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as awhole as follows:

Overall company materiality | $378 million (2023: $413 million).

How we determined it Approximately 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources
Rationale for benchmark The company is awholly owned subsidiary of Group Inc. We consider the primary users of the
applied financial statements to be Group Inc., regulators and market counterparties, who are focused on

whether the company has sufficient capital resources to meet minimum regulatory requirements,
fulfil its future market obligations and absorb any future losses should they arise. Overal
materiality amounts to $378 million, approximately 1% of total Tier 1 capital resources.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope of
our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for example in
determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2023: 75%) of overall materiality, amounting to $283
million (2023: $309 million) for the company financial statements.

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment
and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our normal range was

appropriate.
We agreed with the Goldman Sachs International Board Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements

identified during our audit above $38 million (2023: $41 million) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view,
warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.
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Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:

Performing arisk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting;

Evauating the company’s current financial position and financial forecasts, including the substantiation of the financial
resources available to the company at the balance sheet date;

Understanding and evaluating the company’s current capital and liquidity position and reviewing the results of stress testing
performed by management of both liquidity and regulatory capital, including considering the severity of the stress scenarios
that were used;

Considering the results of procedures performed by the group auditor to support the going concern assessment for Group
Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries; and

Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial statements in relation to going concern.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of
at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections
of thisreport.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises al of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financia statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is amaterial misstatement of the financia
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is amaterial misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based
on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions
and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and
Directors Report for the year ended 31 December 2024 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal reguirements.
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In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilitiesin respect of the Financial Statements, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statementsin accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied

that they give atrue and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control asthey determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as agoing
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for presenting the financial statementsin compliance with the requirements set out in the
Delegated Regulation 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation).

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements as awhole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assuranceis
ahigh level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) and ISAs will always
detect a materia misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered materid if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsihilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) and Prudential Regulation Authority (“PRA™), and
we considered the extent to which noncompliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered
those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006 and corporate
tax legislation. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial
statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting of
inappropriate journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates, including those related to the valuation of financial
instruments held at fair value. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

Discussions with management, including Internal Audit, and those charged with governance in relation to known or
suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud;

Evaluating and testing of the operating effectiveness of management’s controls designed to prevent and detect fraud in
financia reporting;

Assessing matters reported on the company’s whistleblowing helpline and the results of management’s investigation of
such matters,

Reviewing key correspondence with regulatory authorities (the FCA and the PRA);

Identifying and testing selected journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted by senior management, account
owners, individuals in particular departments (including front office) and unusual account combinations with a credit to net
revenues;

Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their critical accounting estimates, in particular in
relation to the valuation of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value; and

Incorporating unpredictability into the nature, timing and/or extent of our testing.
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There areinherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of

noncompliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations,
or through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing compl ete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing
techniques. However, it typically involves selecting alimited number of items for testing, rather than testing complete
populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases,
we will use audit sampling to enable usto draw a conclusion about the population from which the sampleis selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statementsin accordance with ISAs (UK) islocated on
the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors report.

Itisalso our responsibility to assess whether the financial statements have been prepared, in all material respects, in
compliance with the requirements laid down in the ESEF Regulation.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the company to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the company audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We aso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Use of this report
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This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s member as a body in accordance with

Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.
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Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We have checked the compliance of the financia statements of the company as at 31 December 2024 with the relevant
statutory requirements set out in the ESEF Regulation that are applicable to financia statements. That is, for the company:

The financial statements are prepared in avalid xHTML format.

In our opinion, the financial statements of the company as at 31 December 2024, identified as gsinternational-12-31-24-
financial-statements.xhtml, have been prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the requirements laid down in the
ESEF Regulation.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Goldman Sachs International Board Audit Committee, we were appointed by the
directors on 22 September 1988 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 24 November 1989 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 36 years, covering the years ended 24 November 1989 to 31
December 2024.

Goldman Sachs International is not a UK public-interest entity, and as such mandatory firm rotation requirements do not apply.
Other matter

In the event that the English version of this report and atranslation of it into alanguage other than English differ, the English
version shall prevail.

Nick Morrison (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

March 21, 2025
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